

# Kennedy School Review

An HKS Student Publication Visit us online harvardkennedyschoolreview.com The *Kennedy School Review* (ISSN: 1535-0215) is a student publication at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. All views expressed in the journal are those of the authors and interviewees only and do not represent the views of Harvard University, the Harvard Kennedy School, the staff of the *Kennedy School Review*, or any of its affiliates.

Copyright 2020 by the President and Fellows of Harvard College. All rights reserved. Except as otherwise specified, no article or portion herein is to be reproduced or adapted to other works without the expressed written consent of the editors of the *Kennedy School Review*.

Kennedy School Review John F. Kennedy School of Government Harvard University 79 John F. Kennedy Street Cambridge, MA 02138

Telephone: (617) 495-8934

E-mail: harvardksr@gmail.com

### harvardkennedyschoolreview.com

### Staff

**Editor-in-Chief** Vandinika Shukla

#### Managing Editors

*Print* Margaret Kadifa Nikhil Kumar

*Digital* Hilary Gelfond Stephanie Nussbaum

*Podcast* Phoenix McLaughlin Prachi Naik

*Strategy* Amanda Patarino Associate Editors Alex Domash Alexander de Avila Anders Corey Andrea Alvarez Marin Christie Lawrence Daniel Remler David Hicks Derrick Flakoll Hugh Verrier Inayat Sabhikhi Jaylia Yan Jess Northend Kanika Verma Katie Miller Katie Stenclik Kevin Frazier Lucy O'Keeffe Nagela Nukuna Nathaniel Kim Samantha Batel Sarah Jacobs Simon Borumand Vinith Annam Zac Smith Zayba Abdulla

**Publisher** Martha Foley

Faculty Advisor Richard Parker

Layout & Design Liliana Ballesteros

**Copy Editor** Tracy Campbell

Contributors Aaran Patel Adam Barsuhn Aisha Iqbal Alex Domash Alexander de Avila Alina Clough Ana Ramos Bochen Han Chu Wang Daniel Hernández Aldaco

Daniel Remler Daniela Philipson García Deeneaus Polk Derrick Flakoll Desmond Polk Esther Brito Ruiz Eva Heinstein Gabriela Lastres Gabrielle Hubert Gaia van der Esch Ghida Ismail Holly Ransom Jean-Baptiste Féline Jeremy Ney Jihae Lee Joshua Baltodano Joyce Ng Lindsay Ashby Devonas Lucy O'Keeffe Marina Kusumawardhani Melina Anlin Nalini Tata Nathaniel Kim Sarmad Ishfaq Simon Borumand Stephanie Nussbaum Will Hickey

#### Special Thanks

Nancy Gibbs Shorenstein Center on Media, Politics and Public Policy

### **Editors' Note**

This journal marks the 20th anniversary of the *Kennedy School Review*. Twenty years of ideas, voices, and bold visions to change the face of policy.

The first edition of the *Kennedy School Review* opened with the reflection that "we stand on the edge of a world we barely recognize." As the world around us is on trial, we once again find ourselves at the edge of the unknown. As homes, lives, and identities are displaced, democratic institutions struggle to endure. Yet in that displacement, we each have something to teach one another about freedom, equality, and *Veritas*. There is hope in the grassroots, and thus our journal for the new decade locates policy recommendations in those lived experiences.

The journal you are holding is the culmination of countless hours of research, on-the-ground reporting, difficult and emboldening conversations, and writing and editing from nearly 75 people. Our passionate and driven staff went through a record number of submissions to curate these 32 pieces. Our contributors tackle topics ranging from contradicting narratives about Mississippi's prisons to the rise of the evangelical right in Brazil. They offer lessons on polarization, election security, human-centered policy decisions despite disagreement, responsible and ethical technology, inclusion of the arts and sports in public policy, and the climate-driven migration crisis. Our journal breaks into new forms of storytelling, including photo essays, business ecosystem maps, and narratives from migrants in shelters far from home, reimagining not only policy but also communication for the next decade.

The hope and resilience in this journal's vision for public policy sets this edition apart. In our 20th year, the *Kennedy School Review* grew in its size and determination to promote bold ideas and elevate new voices. We have recruited more editors and published articles with more ambition in our print journal and our digital edition, harvardkennedyschoolreview.com, than ever before. The digital journal expanded its content reach, curating a special series on the 2020 US election and publishing insights on topics including the transatlantic freeze to the Hong Kong protests. Now in its third season, our podcast released first-hand accounts from the front lines of equitable pedagogy and interviews on right-wing extremism.

We are grateful and proud to be conduits for the power of words and ideas. We hope you keep reading and find faith in the revolutionary capacity of our collective voice.

Vandinika Shukla Editor-in-Chief

Margaret Kadifa and Nikhil Kumar Managing Editors, Print

### Contents

#### **Elections Under Pressure**

In Guarding Democracy, Hindsight Really Will Be 2020: The Tabletop Exercise as a Model for Securing American Elections <i>Alina Clough and Alexander de Avila</i>	4
Polarization and Hope: What Can the United States Learn from Italy? <i>Gaia van der Esch</i>	10
Lessons from the World's Largest Single-Day Election: How Indonesia Governed the Political Narrative during the 2019 Election <i>Marina Kusumawardhani</i>	14
Which Truth Will Set Brazil Free: Political Lessons from the Rise of the Evangelical Right Ana Ramos	20
"Bathrooms and Boycotts": HB2, LGBT+ Nondiscrimination Protections, and Political Misinformation Gabrielle Hubert	25
Coercion and Enticement: How the Indian Media Lost Its Soul to the BJP Sarmad Ishfaq	30
Living with Climate Change	
The Forgotten Climate Migrants: How an Outdated International Legal Framework Is Leaving People Behind <i>Alex Domash</i>	33
Upending the US Wind Industry, Offshore Lindsay Ashby Devonas	41
Sustainable Cities in an Era of Climate Change Joyce Ng	44
Making a Move on Climate Migration Policy in Africa Lucy O'Keeffe	47

### Contents

#### **Confronting Borders**

Is the World Ready for Global Citizens? Toward Citizenship(s) for the 21st Century Derrick Flakoll and Bochen Han	51
The Iceberg: Immigration Policies under Trump Gabriela Lastres	58
The Shifting Global Economy	
The Pull Out of the Poverty Trap Ghida Ismail	62
Book Review: The Triumph of Injustice by Emmanuel Saez and Gabriel Zucman <i>Daniel Remler</i>	65
The World Was Not Built for Negative Interest Rates <i>Will Hickey</i>	68
The Case for a Digital Dollar: Security at Home and Abroad <i>Jeremy Ney</i>	74
China's Belt and Road Initiative in Southeast Asia: A Practical Pathway to Economic Prosperity—If Done Right <i>Melina Anlin</i>	79
Technology & Privacy: Nowhere to Hide	
Consumer Product Safety in an Ever-Connected World Nathaniel Kim	84
Protecting Digital Privacy: Why the United States Should Follow Europe's Lead and Pass Federal Legislation	87

Forget the Surveillance State—We're Living in the Surveillance Estate Jean-Baptiste Féline 92

Aisha Iqbal

### Contents

#### Cities of the Future

Mumbai's Stories in Stone: Urban Heritage Conservation in the Maximum City <i>Aaran Patel</i>	100
Revitalizing America's Food Deserts Stephanie Nussbaum	108
Lessons from the Mission District to Combat Housing Displacement in San Francisco and Beyond Joshua Baltodano	113
A Rising Tide Sinks Some Boats: Policy Approaches to Reverse the Effects of Tech-Growth-Induced Homelessness Simon Borumand	117
A Tale of Two Districts: A Small Business Snapshot of Economic Inequality <i>Jihae Lee</i>	123
Reimagining Policy for the Next Decade	
Fulfilling the Image that Society Creates for Us: A Conversation between Brothers on Criminal Justice Reform Deeneaus and Desmond Polk	128
Preventing World War III in Space with Global Governance <i>Chu Wang</i>	133
More than a Game: The Untapped Potential of Sports Policy Holly Ransom and Adam Barsuhn	140
Democracy in Mexico Needs a Law Enforcement Oversight Body Daniel Hernández Aldaco and Daniela Philipson García	146
Abandoning the "Failed State" Esther Brito Ruiz	149
A Case against Legalization Nalini Tata	153
Creative Governance: How Artists Can Build Pathways for Civic Participation <i>Eva Heinstein</i>	156



### In Guarding Democracy, Hindsight Really Will Be 2020: The Tabletop Exercise as a Model for

The Tabletop Exercise as a Model for Securing American Elections

Alina Clough and Alexander de Avila When it comes to securing US elections against foreign interference, training humans may be the best investment.

On 19 March 2016, John received a work email with the subject line "Someone has your password." It read:

#### "Hi John,

Someone just used your password to try to sign into your Google Account. Google stopped this sign-in attempt. You should change your password immediately." Change password: [Link]

Just to be sure this email was authorized, John forwarded the message to an aide for review. The aide scanned it and sent back the go-ahead message, writing, "This is a legitimate email." Reassured, John clicked the link and changed his password.

Only the aide had mistyped. He meant to say, "This is an *ill*egitimate email" but instead sent the message "This is a legitimate email" by accident. With a single click, Russian hackers gained access to thousands of staff emails and eventually accessed Democratic National Committee (DNC) servers.

Unfortunately, this is how Russian hackers weaponized stolen information after targeting and successfully phishing John Podesta, the chairman of Hillary Clinton's 2016 presidential campaign. All it took was two letters mistyped (or autocorrected) out of one word to change the course of history.

201 201 201

This article focuses on one way to avoid a story like the one above—a stranger-than-fiction tale of a human campaign staffer using technology to make an honest mistake that opened the door to foreign interference. We begin with a review of the US intelligence community's conclusion that foreign actors interfered in America's electoral process. Next, we introduce one model for heading off misinformation and disinformation campaigns: the tabletop exercise, built and implemented by the Defending Digital Democracy Project (D3P), an initiative at Harvard's Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs. We close with an assessment of the state of election interference in the 2020 race for president.

Though several things went wrong in 2016, many were due to human error. As primaries are already underway and another general election inches closer, US election security efforts have focused on technological investment, while human investment has fallen by the wayside.<sup>1</sup> National priorities should include combating mis/disinformation campaigns and preventing US officials and political operatives from themselves becoming vulnerabilities in the face of attacks.<sup>2</sup>

# Lessons from the 2016 Presidential Election

In October 2018, the US Senate released volume II of its report on Russian interference.<sup>3</sup> Titled *Russian Active Measures Campaigns and Interference in the* 2016 Election, the 85-page report is heavily redacted but nonetheless clearly outlines numerous ways that Russian assets ran a sophisticated disinformation campaign to "influence the 2016 US presidential election by harming Hillary Clinton's chances of success and supporting Donald Trump at the direction of the Kremlin."<sup>4</sup>

The Russian government reportedly sent two operatives to the United States in 2014 to gather intelligence that they then used to target, phish, and influence, all with the goal of highlighting Hillary Clinton's unpopularity and sowing discord in American society. Issues of immigration, Second Amendment rights, and race were weaponized and turned back on citizens "in an attempt to pit Americans against one another and against their government."5 Russian operatives used Facebook, Twitter, and other social media accounts to generate fake news stories like Pope Francis endorsing Donald Trump and Wikileaks "confirming" that Hillary Clinton sold weapons to a terrorist organization. The two fake stories respectively received 960,000 and 789,000 comments, reactions, and shares.6

The most striking revelation from the Senate's

report is the ease with which mistakes can be exploited and low-cost methods used to turn an advantage. If we have learned anything from 2016, it is that election security does not begin and end at the ballot box. No single party, news network, state election apparatus, federal agency, or individual citizen is equipped to handle efforts to spread mis/disinformation among the American electorate.

#### The American Response

Technology took the brunt of the blame for America's electoral failings in 2016. It's easy to imagine a Russian hacker hunched over a computer, manually changing vote totals, surrounded by lines of code while bypassing all US safeguards. Hacking, as many believe, involves forces beyond government control that can only be repelled with stronger firewalls and smarter technology. While some hacks absolutely do exploit software and hardware vulnerabilities, missing in this illustration is the fact that foreign interference in 2016 primarily came down to exploiting social vulnerabilities, not technological systems.

"If we have learned anything from 2016, it is that election security does not beginand end at the ballot box."

A private consulting firm, Cambridge Analytica, along with Russian bots and other social media-based influence streams, sought to influence voters long before they arrived at polling locations. Even the DNC hack, which did involve technical interference, was the result of spear-phishing—a common email manipulation tool that tricks humans into clicking links—rather than exhaustively searching for ways to penetrate servers.

This is not to disregard widespread attempts by foreign actors to electronically break into US election systems. Russian actors successfully accessed voter rolls in 39 states to extract data on voters and did attempt to delete some of them from the rolls. Still, these efforts were unsuccessful and would have been mitigated given the organization of US election commissions at the county level. Russian actors were not sophisticated enough to get beyond public-facing databases in these hacks, much less alter the vote totals themselves.<sup>7</sup>

Other attacks, executed by Russia's foreign intelligence arm, attempted to spear-phish into county commissions and election software companies by directly sending malware to officials' emails. These phishing attacks underscore the importance of preventing humans from unintentionally opening gateways into sensitive systems.<sup>8</sup>

As the 2020 election nears, state election commissions are scrambling to save face with multimillion-dollar voting machine overhauls to make voters feel more secure about casting their ballots. From Georgia<sup>9</sup> to Pennsylvania,<sup>10</sup> states are racing to acquire new technology. Yet these big-ticket purchases do nothing to combat human error like forgetting to check your ballot, mistakenly activating phishing emails, or unknowingly spreading false messages on social media.<sup>11</sup>

#### The Value in Training Humans

Russian President Vladimir Putin said during a 2017 interview with NBC's Megyn Kelly when denying Russian election meddling, "IP addresses can be invented—a child can do that! Your underage daughter could do that. That is not proof."<sup>12</sup> A boldfaced denial of election meddling, it is the exact language Americans have come to expect from the leader of Russia, but there is a kernel of truth in Putin's deflection: influencing an election does not require sophisticated computer programs or hacking capabilities. Manipulating election results means manipulating people, not just the systems people use.

The bad news is that it is easy to set up and implement a mis/disinformation campaign. All it takes is a nuanced understanding of a country's hot-button issues, access to an internet connection to make fake social media accounts and news stories, and the will and ability to spread a message. It is not even necessary to run ads online. The Senate Intelligence Committee found that Russians spent just \$100,000 on online advertisements in the run-up to 2016.

While election machine purchases are headline items for policymakers, this approach is costly and fails to fully address the primary issues behind election interference. The actors interfering in US elections are both socially aware *and* technologically sophisticated, and the weakest chink in the election system armor cannot be replaced by new technology alone. The aide who answered John Podesta's question about the validity of the email he received did not intend to give nefarious actors access to DNC servers. However, had he been better trained, or at least more careful, the 2016 primary landscape would not have included thousands of hacked emails.

#### The Tabletop Exercise (TTX)

Eight American intelligence groups concluded that Russia interfered in the 2016 election.<sup>13</sup> Every election official, campaign manager, or state party leader worth their salt should be kicking and screaming for an effective way to train staff to detect and respond to attempts at mis/disinformation and foreign interference. The ultimate goal should be an election apparatus—including those who run, compete in, and report on elections—that is engaged, educated, and prepared to detect and deter mis/disinformation from foreign and domestic actors. The good news is that there is a low-cost, low-tech way to do it that doesn't require so much as an internet connection: tabletop exercises (TTXs).

A TTX describes any type of formal or informal activity meant to simulate how a particular event will go. It is essentially a dress rehearsal or prelude to the show. The military uses TTXs before consequential missions, often by collecting sand, sticks, rocks, and dirt to build a terrain model of the geography where a future operation will take place. Scenarios are then gamed out on the board with input from the individuals who will be on the ground making decisions.

TTXs are effective because of the real-time nature of the challenges. In the same way that servicemembers gather around a terrain model to rehearse, election officials, party leaders, and campaign staff gather to run through how an election season might look with the addition of full-scope mis/disinformation on the part of both foreign actors and other campaigns. Over the course of the exercise, TTX facilitators send players "injects" (short for "injections") of sensitive scenarios. These scenarios are notional and meant to elicit player thought, response, and follow-through. An inject could be something as simple as a campaign tweeting that a primary is rigged against their candidate or an election official noticing strange activity on the network at a caucus or polling site. The injects are delivered in the most accurate way possible, and facilitators observe how teams decide to respond to-or instead disregard-the action. Players can choose to respond by sending information up their organizational ladder, issuing an official statement, contacting cybersecurity vendors, holding a press conference, or any other action they see fit.

The TTX election security model is valuable because it trains both individuals and teams on best election security practices. The players debrief the exercise, and facilitators provide feedback and assess organizational strengths and weaknesses in the face of mis/disinformation. TTXs force participants to think about their role within the election apparatus and reckon with how they might detect and respond to attempts by malign actors to gain a foothold. If human error represents the greatest potential for foreign groups to gain access to our elections, then humans also offer the best hope for securing elections and maintaining the sanctity of America's electoral process.

Because they are effective, are low cost, and require few resources, the federal government would be wise to allocate grants to states to use for election training. This would incentivize senior state election officials to implement TTX trainings and get experience identifying and responding to injects in real time. It's a simple and effective way of both evaluating and

"Manipulating election results means manipulating people, not just the systems people use." training teams, and it could be deployed in time for the general election in November 2020.

#### Conclusion

As William Shakespeare said, "What's past is prologue." Policymakers ought to keep this in mind as they debate how to prevent Russia from influencing the 2020 election. Moreover, the list of countries and non-state actors taking a hard look at interfering in American democracy has grown beyond Russia.14 It would be naïve to think that other countries and non-state actors are not formulating low-risk, highyield ways to influence the 2020 elections.<sup>15</sup> Special Counsel Robert S. Mueller said as much in a July testimony to the House Permanent Select Committee on Intelligence: "It wasn't a single attempt. They're doing it as we sit here. And they expect to do it during the next campaign."16 The National Security Agency has reported the Russians are using stealthier methods to try and sow chaos in the 2020 election.<sup>17</sup> In October 2019, Facebook reported that it shut down four disinformation campaigns that Iran and Russia were running through the social networking site.<sup>18</sup>

TTXs are useful for challenges to electoral integrity originating inside the United States, too. The 2019 governor's race in Kentucky was impacted by a case of disinformation. Twitter user @Overlordkraken1 tweeted on election day that he ripped up mail-in ballots cast in favor of Republicans shortly after the Republican incumbent fell behind in the vote tally. Online bots retweeted the message, and the incumbent refused to concede until the votes were recanvassed.<sup>19</sup> Election officials were forced to respond to the incident. Then there was the 2020 Iowa Caucus. where irregularities affected delegate tallies after the Iowa Democratic Party attempted to collect statewide totals from precinct chairs using a new app that was meant to streamline reporting. Instead, errors with the app led to days of uncertainty over who would emerge the winner in the first-in-the-nation contest.20

All roads are leading to a bumpy finish to the 2020 campaign, but a TTX model can be an effective stabilizer. It provides a flexible, low-cost tool for those

in the free-and-fair election business to address the mis/disinformation and human-error-related issues already rearing their heads. TTXs do not solve all facets of the challenge America faces in holding elections free of malign influence. City, state, and federal governments must also invest in modernizing and securing voting systems. But that is not the whole story. In some cases, all it might take is one group of committed, well-trained election officials to ensure that a potential attack on American democracy is thwarted. Planning TTXs around real-world, up-todate threats is a powerful way to do this. Making sure your autocorrect is off might help too.

Alina Clough is a master in public policy student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. Prior to beginning her master's degree, she worked as a web developer, both for state and local political campaigns and at an election commission. At Harvard she focuses on technology and digital government, including at the Defending Digital Democracy Project (D3P) at Harvard's Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs.

Alexander de Avila is a Marine and master in public policy student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. His research focuses on international affairs and public service innovation, and he works for the Defending Digital Democracy Project (D3P) at Harvard's Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs.

#### Endnotes

- Matthew Rosenberg, Nicole Perlroth, and David E. Sanger, "Chaos Is the Point: Russian Hackers and Trolls Grow Stealthier in 2020," New York Times, 10 January 2020, https:// www.nytimes.com/2020/01/10/us/politics/russia-hacking-disinformation-election.html.
- 2 Here, we use "mis/disinformation" as a stand in for both misinformation, which is the unknowing spread of false information, and disinformation, meaning the purposeful spread of false information.

- 3 Zachary Basu "Senate Intel releases 2nd volume of report on 2016 Russian interference," Axios, 8 October 2018, accessed 2 February 2020, https://www.axios.com/senate-intelligence-committee-russian-interference-report-425274e8-1780-44c3-963a-cd839eflcbe5.html.
- 4 Russian Active Measures Campaigns and Interference in the 2016 Election: Volume 2: Russia's Use of Social Media with Additional View (report II6-XX; Senate Intelligence Committee), p. 4 [PDF file].
- 5 Russian Active Measures Campaigns and Interference (Senate Intelligence Committee), p. 6.
- 6 Russian Active Measures Campaigns and Interference (Senate Intelligence Committee), p. 9.
- 7 Alex Ward, "Russia hacked voting systems in 39 states before the presidential election," Vox, June 13 2017, accessed 10 January 2020, https://www.vox.com/world/2017/6/13/15791744/ russia-election-39-states-hack-putin-trump-sessions.
- 8 Gopal Ratnam, "Mueller report: Russia hacked state databases and voting machine companies," Roll Call, 22 April 2019, accessed 10 January 2020, https://www.rollcall.com/2019/04/22/ mueller-report-russia-hacked-state-databases-and-voting-machine-companies/.
- 9 Mark Niesse, "Georgie hurries to deliver new voting machines in time for election," Atlanta Journal Constitution, 16 January 2020, accessed 17 January 2020, https://www. ajc.com/news/state-regional-govt-politics/georgiahurries-deliver-new-voting-machines-time-for-election/ sjrPB5ZPbaBoO3ONBGqKgK/.
- 10 Kevin Flowers, "Political upgrade: Erie County's new voting machines," GoErie.com, 14 January 2020, accessed 17 January 2020, https://www.goerie.com/news/20200114/ political-upgrade-erie-countys-new-voting-machines.
- 11 Patrick Howell O'Niell, "New 'Secure' voting machines are still vulnerable — because of voters," *MIT Technology Review*, 8 January 2020, accessed 17 January 2020, https:// www.technologyreview.com/s/615019/new-secure-voting-machines-are-still-vulnerablebecause-of-voters/.
- 12 Alexander Smith, "Vladimir Putin to Megyn Kelly: Even Children Could Hack an Election," NBC News, 2 June 2017, accessed 8 February 2020, https://www.technologyreview. com/s/615019/new-secure-voting-machines-are-still-vulnerablebecause-of-voters/.
- 13 Karen Yourish and Troy Griggs, "8 U.S. Intelligence Groups Blame Russia for Meddling, but Trump Keeps Clouding the Picture," New York Times, updated 2 August 2018, accessed 8 February 2020, https://www.nytimes.com/ interactive/2018/07/16/us/elections/russian-interference-statements-comments.html.
- 14 Alex Hearn, "How the UN unearthed a possible Saudi Arabian link to Jeff Bezos hack," *The Guardian*, 22 January 2020,

accessed 3 February 2020, https://www.theguardian.com/ technology/2020/jan/22/how-the-un-unearthed-a-possiblesaudi-arabian-link-to-jeff-bezos-hack.

- 15 Rebecca Falconer, "Security agencies warn Russia, China, Iran aim to interfere in 2020 election," Axios, 6 November 2019, accessed 18 January 2020, https://www.axios.com/securityagencies-russia-china-iran-2020-election-7a404769-e952-449b-9588-3c464adcd4a9.html.
- 16 Grace Panetta, "Mueller warns that Russia is already meddling in the 2020 election and other countries may try it," *Business Insider*, 24 July 2019, accessed 17 January 2020, https://www. businessinsider.com/mueller-warns-russia-other-countries-willinterfere-in-2020-election-2019-7.
- 17 Rosenberg, Perlroth, and Sanger, "Chaos Is the Point."
- 18 Mike Isaac, "Facebook Finds New Disinformation Campaigns and Braces for 2020 Torrent," New York Times, 21 October 2019, accessed 16 January 2020, https://www.nytimes. com/2019/10/21/technology/facebook-disinformation-russia-iran.html.
- 19 Matthew Rosenberg and Nick Corasaniti, "Close Election in Kentucky Was Ripe for Twitter, and an Omen for 2020," *New York Times*, 10 November 2019, accessed 8 January 2020, https://www.nytimes.com/2019/11/10/us/politics/kentucky-election-disinformation-twitter.html.
- 20 Keith Collins, Denise Lu, and Charlie Smart, "We Checked the Iowa Caucus Math. Here's Where It Didn't Add Up," *New York Times*, 14 February 2020, accessed 15 February 2020, https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/02/14/us/politics/ iowa-caucus-results-mistakes.html.

### **Polarization and Hope:** What Can the United States Learn from Italy?

#### Gaia van der Esch

As an Italian living in the United States, every step of the vicious, divisive circle of today's American politics feels like *déjà* vu. The societal divide between pro- and anti-Trump supporters appears to be the new normal for the United States. Voters are rallying behind what seem to be opposing worldviews, and polarization is increasing by the day. But who is left to fight for common ground?

During my childhood in Italy, polarization was part of my daily life. Today, we are still trapped in it. Why? Because each political party fought to prevail over the other, not for common ground. This is why, at each election round, Italy found itself in the midst of deepening societal divides and increasingly extreme politicians. We became nostalgic for what seemed like a low point just a few years before. From the outside I fear that, at this rate, American liberals too may soon enough be nostalgic for the current low point, Trump.

Throughout all my school years (1994–2011), Italy had its Trump equivalent: Silvio Berlusconi. At the time, it was unconceivable for someone like me—from a liberal family—to be friends with a Berlusconi voter. What could I share with someone supporting a rich businessman turned politician? Berlusconi showed little respect for democratic institutions, offering instead macho comments, narcissism, and luxury parties. We thought he was the peak of our polarization. And, indeed, once Berlusconi lost power, nearly 15 years later, we went back to politics as usual. We called him a "bad chapter" and avoided asking ourselves how such a divisive leader was elected. This illusion of unity held true for a few years. But today, the divisiveness that Berlusconi embodied, and that we ignored, has found a new home in the League. This far-right party tripled its base in two years under the slogan "Italians first" and is today Italy's largest party. The divide is back, this time with more anger and frustration. And with even worse consequences for our society.

To understand this cycle of polarization, I borrowed my grandma's FIAT 600 and spent a few months traveling Italy.<sup>1</sup> I drove 2,500 kilometers across its mountains, villages, and coastlines, all in heavy summer heat, to interview 70 Italians in 17 different regions. To overcome polarization, we must start with addressing its core elements and roots: our Italian identity. And this can be done only by understanding the differing perspectives of this complex topic and by creating bridges across geographical areas, social classes, genders, generations, educational backgrounds, and political ideologies.

On my trip, I met Enzo Bianchini, a handyman. Gazing at the sea on a remote pebble beach in the region of Calabria, he told me he found himself unemployed at 54: "I feel left alone by my government, while migrants are not. I saw on TV that they receive housing, education, while I don't. I expect to be helped first." The liberal part of society could interpret his words as an anti-migrant statement, not as a symptom of other fears. He seemed afraid of migrants reaching Italy's shores, but when I asked more, I understood that this fear was masking another concern: unemployment. "If I would have a job, and



a welfare system that would support me in moments of difficulty, I would be happy to welcome migrants myself. After all, Italy has always been a crossroad of migration. But I am scared that today we can't afford it, and we should prioritize helping people like me that feel already left behind," he added.

Rapid societal changes are shaping our social ties, the bases of unity and trust among citizens, and creating a perceived conflict of values. By speaking to people like Enzo, I found that this divide—which occupies today's TV and newspaper headlines—is not rooted in deep political or ideological values or to specific "hot" topics, such as migration. The divide relates to the socioeconomic gap, to the worry of being left behind, which unaddressed, transforms into fear. This is how the vicious cycle of fear and division is ignited.

Veronica Di Leonardo, the cheerful owner of a small bar in the main square of my home village of Anguillara, put it this way: "We are angry with everybody and no one. We are losing social ties by "The divide relates to the socioeconomic gap, to the worry of being left behind, which unaddressed, transforms into fear."

accumulating anger instead of fighting together for our country."

Isolation, coupled with the lack of a modern Italian identity, leaves people to cling to certainties, which are often illusions. Be it the liberals with their moral high ground or conservatives with their symbols from the past. Many people told me this is why today they feel closer to the right than the left wing. "It's more rooted, it brings us back to our traditions and to the times when we were doing better."

This mix of fear and social isolation led me to think that throughout my trip I would find an upset country, unwilling to respond to my questions. Instead, every person I asked to interview—in bars, beaches, trains, fishing boats, and mountain refuges—opened up about their fears and hopes. And by understanding peoples' fears, be it their feeling of social isolation, the lack of dignified and safe jobs, or their anxiety to keep up with our fast-changing society, I discovered a new country: one that can turn the vicious cycle of polarization into a virtuous one.

I discovered a country full of resilience. Despite being divided by inequalities and disillusioned by the political class, Italians are doing well on a day-to-day basis.<sup>2</sup> And, despite complaining of the increasingly evanescent human relationships and of the ineffectiveness of our governments, they still feel proud of being Italian.<sup>3</sup> But this pride is defined by elements of the past, our grandiose historical, cultural, and artistic heritage. Nobody in my many interviews managed to identify contemporary elements that define us as Italians. Strengthening our common vision and identity as a modern country might be a starting point to reinforce this pride, a way of giving us a reason to belong to our present and not to cling to our past.

Day after day, I met a country that wants to define a modern Italian identity but lacks the social bonds to do so. The country of squares and chit-chats on benches is losing its capacity to communicate in traditional ways. Facebook posts replaced our capacity to discuss among ourselves in bars or in the park,

"What they seem in search of is rather someone who listens to them and communicates complex policies in an accessible way, someone who is coherent and who keeps his or her promises."

and Italians perceive themselves as increasingly individualistic people. If we define ourselves that way, we are destined to destroy our hyper-Italian values—such as family and solidarity.

But behind these fears and slogans, I found common values: all Italians I talked to cared deeply about loyalty and solidarity. And when asked to prioritize certain values, respondents put authority as the least important one. An interesting finding, as journalists and politicians claim that Italians are in search of a strongman in power. What they seem in search of is rather someone who listens to them and communicates complex policies in an accessible way, someone who is coherent and who keeps his or her promises. This does not necessarily translate into a longing for authority, and for a strongman, but for loyalty and vision.

Most of all I found a unity, which Italians struggle to see but which appears clear to me after 12 years of living abroad. It is just as clear as American unity appears to a foreigner living in the United States. And this unity can appear to anyone that reactivates social ties, by seeing others as part of our shared identity and not as an "other."

How might we rebuild those much-needed social ties?

As Veronica, the bar owner in my home-village, put it, "Let's start by talking to each other differently and finding our unity again. I try to do this every day with my bar, by creating a community and a sense of home that has been lost. Greeting people with a smile every morning is my social commitment, and a way to restore this much-needed dialog!"

I feel people are longing for this dialog, in Italy as in the United States, among the pro- and the anti-Trump. For an alternative narrative and vision to emerge, one that is capable of uncovering common values and building bridges between polarized perspectives, citizens and politicians must create social capacity to ask hard questions and to find the answers together.

The window of opportunity for America is now open. Upcoming elections are an opportunity to hold complex conversations at all levels—in families, communities, and Congress. Take the time to talk to people who have a different perspective from you and ask them why. Listen to their stories, to their hopes and their fears for their families, their communities, and their country. You can agree to disagree, but by giving space to this discussion you might find, just as I happened to, that you can rediscover the respect and empathy toward people who had very different life paths, which has impacted their world view. And, from this mutual respect and understanding, build the bridges that America needs to exit polarization.

With millions of conversations, Americans can build understanding and a common-identity narrative—a revisited American Dream.

This is exactly what we failed to do in Italy, as each party focused on gaining power rather than building common ground, leading to a disillusioned and disengaged society. And this is why the United States needs to start talking now. It's hard work, but after my conversations in Italy, I believe it can pave the way out of polarization.

Gaia van der Esch was born and raised in Italy to Dutch and Italian parents. She spent eight years working in international aid across the Middle East, Africa, and Europe. Following her role in the humanitarian response to the Syria and Irag crises, she was appointed as IMPACT's Initiatives Global deputy director (2015) and selected as one of Forbes' 30 under 30 in Europe (2017). She holds a bachelor's in philosophy from La Sapienza and a master in international relations from Sciences Po Paris. Today, she is a public administration master student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. After Harvard, she will return to Italy and contribute to sociopolitical change in her home country.

#### Endnotes

- Gaia van der Esch, "Confused (and happy): a snapshot of how Italians feel today," Corriere Della Sera, updated 14 September 2019, https://www.corriere.it/sette/attualita/19\_agosto\_30/ confused-and-happy-snapshot-of-how-italians-feel-today-4f9671b0-c9a2-11e9-89f2-27d7028d49f0.shtml?refresh\_ce-cp.
- 2 Interviewees rated their mood on average 8.3 out of 10. Gaia van der Esch, "Confused (and Happy): A snapshot of how Italians feel today," Ash Center for Democratic Governance and Innovation, 4 November 2019, https://medium.com/ challenges-to-democracy/confused-and-happy-38c6a45b3923.
- 3 Interviewees rated their pride of being Italian on average 8 out of 10. van der Esch, "Confused (and Happy)."

### Lessons from the World's Largest Single-Day Election: How Indonesia Governed the Political Narrative during the 2019 Election

#### Marina Kusumawardhani

Indonesia's elections are arguably the most complicated in the world. Indonesia's 190 million registered voters cast their ballots on the same day—the largest single-day election on Earth. The logistics are massive. Indonesia does not allow online voting, so paper ballots must be distributed to more than 800,000 voting centers by air, land, and water, involving more than 6 million election workers.<sup>1</sup>

Throughout the six months of campaigning that preceded the 2019 election, Indonesian policymakers grappled with the threat of disinformation. After a single manipulated video sparked a firestorm of racist and fundamentalist propaganda that marred the 2016 Jakarta governor's race, the government mobilized to contain the threat of radical narratives on a much larger scale. The 2019 election campaign became a battle between Indonesia's status-quo secular narrative and a competing religious conservative narrative, which used racist and extremist content to strengthen its position.

This article seeks to answer two key questions. First, how did Indonesia govern the political narrative during the 2019 national election and strike a balance between freedom and control of speech? If some measure of control was necessary, how should the country improve its implementation? Second, how did Indonesia maintain trust in the election process and government institutions, which eventually led to a successful election with 82 percent voluntary voter turnout?

#### Legal Environment and Backlash around Free Speech Regulation

Unlike in the United States, there is no First Amendment in Indonesia. The country's 1945 Constitution guarantees freedom of speech but states that its further implementation shall be governed and interpreted by "further laws." One of these further laws, Pasal 10 UU No. 9 (issued in 1998), permits police to monitor and regulate public expression of opinions (such as demonstrations). A key police regulation issued in 2012 (Perkapolri 7/2012) clarifies that publicly expressed opinions must not represent hatred or insults toward a particular group, must not tarnish one of the country's religions, and must not broadcast or distribute articles or drawings that include hatred or insults to another group.<sup>2</sup> As such, Indonesia follows Europe's model of "responsible freedom of speech," where anti-Semitic remarks and other hate speech are explicitly prohibited.

The Electronic Information and Transaction (ITE) Law, passed in 2008, further restricts online behavior. The law was designed to protect consumers in the online markets that were emerging at that time. However, under this law, anyone can be punished harshly for throwaway remarks online. According to SAFEnet, 245 people have been arrested since the parliament issued the law.<sup>3</sup> Many of these arrests were announced by government officials (usually coupled with defamation charges), leading many to assume that government and law enforcement

officials have abused this law to silence their critics. Many also argued that this law sabotaged the freedom of expression restored in 1998 after the fall of the dictator Suharto. The law was enacted during the presidency of Susilo Yudhoyono, but the number of people arrested increased under Joko Widodo's administration. According to Freedom House, the democratic ranking of the country, in which freedom of expression is an essential element, fell during Widodo's presidency, especially in 2014 and 2018.<sup>4</sup>

#### Indonesia without the Law: The 2014 Presidential Election and the Rise of Hate Speech

But imagine a world in which none of these laws exists. In 2014, one tabloid called "Obor Rakyat" spread through mosques and *pesantren* (Islamic boarding schools) in West Java, Indonesia's most populous province. The content was mainly fake news about then-presidential candidate Widodo, smearing him as a non-Muslim Chinese communist. Two lessons emerge from this phenomenon. First, Widodo, once held as a beacon of hope in Indonesian politics, saw his support drop from nearly 80 percent to 53 percent by the end of the election campaign. Second, and more worrisome, racial tension is still pervasive in Indonesia and could be reignited by propaganda.

The situation created widespread concern among the country's minorities that they would be targets of racial violence, similar to the 1998 riot where the ethnic Chinese were targeted, and that they would be unable to rise in politics. After decades of reform, most Indonesians thought that this kind of racism was long gone, only to discover that it still matters to a large portion of the population. The free circulation

"Through this process, traditional religious authority has been (re) claimed, and internet users are given a choice to model themselves after the non-radical ulamas instead of ISIS leaders." of fake news was an attack on other religions and ethnicities and threatened the very fabric of diversity in the country.

The racial issue reemerged in 2016 during the Jakarta governor election. Liberal Indonesians were surprised by the number of people protesting and demanding Jakarta Governor Basuki Purnama's resignation in 2016. Purnama, an ethnic Chinese Christian, was accused via a manipulated video of insulting the Quran. The governor repeatedly apologized for the misunderstanding, but the wave of protesters resulted in the biggest demonstrations in Jakarta in decades. Racist and radical propaganda threatened Purnama's supporters with hell or denial of Muslim funeral rites. Because of this aggressive campaign, the governor lost the election and was even jailed for two years on charges of blasphemy.

A study by the Syarif Hidayatullah Islamic State University found that millennials in Indonesia are seeking religious knowledge through social media and developing alarmingly radical and intolerant views compared to those who rarely go online. Around 88 percent believed that the government should ban religious minority groups, and 10 percent supported the establishment of an Islamic caliphate and would accept the use of violence as a means to defend Islam. Another study by the University of Indonesia also found that, of 75 convicted terrorists, it took 85 percent less than a year to move from discovering radical ideology in social media to committing acts of terrorism. Previously, it took five to ten years.<sup>5</sup> Unless it can be controlled, this wave of online radicalization may make the intimidation seen during the Jakarta governor's election look normal.

#### Initiatives to Combat Radicalism

Some grassroots initiatives have fought the worrying spread of radicalism. The Nahdlatul Ulama (NU) organization created a team of 500 volunteer "cyberwarriors" tasked with battling online radicalism with memes, comics, and videos. The cyberwarriors also flooded the internet with positive content. Their ulamas, the traditional figures of religious authority, are portrayed as hip counterstars, who shield the country from radicalism. Through this process, traditional religious authority has been (re)claimed, and internet users are given a choice to model themselves after the non-radical ulamas instead of ISIS leaders.<sup>6</sup>

Other initiatives aim to educate Indonesian users in digital literacy. Mafindo, a community-led NGO with five fact-checking staff, have organized 60,000 online members who monitor hundreds of potential hoaxes reported by the public.7 Mafindo also teamed up with Facebook on flagging efforts and with Google to set up a hotline number to publicly verify content spread through WhatsApp. CekFakta, a partnership of Indonesia's 22 most respected media outlets, brings journalists together to fact-check, verify, and report the results in mainstream and social media. Apart from journalists' efforts, the government's Ministry of Communication and Information holds weekly briefings on fake news and disseminates "weekly hoax" reports to the public. They also established a fake-news war room at the ministry, where dozens of employees actively monitor social media for signs of misinformation or fake viral content.8

Fact-checking by civil society, journalists, and even the government has its limitations. According to the leader of CekFakta, the debunking and clarification materials are not distributed enough, generally spread too slowly, and struggle to reach the scale of fake news distribution.<sup>9</sup> The NU cyberwarrior counter-posts also only received hundreds of likes at most on Facebook, while more radical content frequently hits more than 1,400 likes per post.<sup>10</sup> To Mafindo, distributing debunking materials to just 10–20 percent of fake news readership on "open" social media is considered a good result.<sup>11</sup> This number is even lower on encrypted social media like WhatsApp, where debunking materials spread even less due to the platform's "echo chamber" characteristics.

At the same time, the media landscape in Indonesia has also strengthened polarization. Indonesia's media revival after the fall of Suharto has created a media ecosystem widely regarded as relatively free and uncensored—and extremely "unruly." With "Apart from journalists' efforts, the government's Ministry of Communication and Information holds weekly briefings on fake news and disseminates 'weekly hoax' reports to the public."

around 40,000 media outlets,<sup>12</sup> Indonesia now has more publications, newspapers, and TV stations than any other country in the world. Unfortunately, many of these outlets are "junk media sources," which mix facts with fiction, religious dogma, or even outright fake news. Furthermore, research shows that it is often misleading junk news that (deliberately) goes viral on social media.

#### Social Media Crackdown

Considering that these initiatives can't solve the spread of fake news and radical content, people are turning to social media platforms. While the Ministry of Communication and Information cooperated with Facebook during the election campaigns in content removal policy, this attempt is simply not enough since it relies on user reports.

Facebook itself has worked on a more aggressive mode of content monitoring, using machine learning algorithms to detect and remove extremist posts automatically before any user sees it. According to an ASEAN report<sup>13</sup>, Facebook algorithms removed an average of 43 hours of dangerous content in Indonesia during one quarter. (The Facebook algorithm, as of November 2019, is responsible for 80 percent of hate speech and extremist content removal worldwide.) However, the machine learning method still struggles to identify content in Indonesia's "tribal" (ethnic minority) languages. Indeed, Facebook's hate speechdetection algorithm (or "classifiers") is functional in more than 40 languages worldwide, but Facebook simply does not have large enough datasets to train its machine in tribal languages.14 This challenge is acute in Indonesia, a country possessing one of the highest numbers of ethnicities in the world. Algorithms also struggle to understand "street language" or slang, even in the national language.

#### Police Crackdown

The police clampdown reflects authorities' mounting unease about the impact of disinformation. The intensification of arrests between 2014 and 2018, which tarnished Indonesia's democratic ranking, is consistent with the rise of online hate speech during the Jakarta gubernatorial and presidential elections.<sup>15</sup> Some degree of hate speech prosecution seems necessary as long as there are no reliable alternatives to slow the spread of hate speech throughout the country.

In 2018, Indonesian police arrested 14 members of a digital network group called the Muslim Cyber Army (MCA).<sup>16</sup> This group used hacking and hate speech campaigns to push the country in a more conservative direction by spreading inflammatory materials. They are using bots, software programs that run repetitive tasks, to magnify their message. In 2017, the police also detained three admins of a group called Saracen. The group was one of the country's worst producers of racist, sectarian, and downright fake news, with more than 800,000 followers on its Facebook page.<sup>17</sup>

The international community usually applauds Indonesia's pluralistic stance and the fact that relatively few citizens of the largest Muslim-majority country join ISIS in Syria. But often overlooked is that this success comes with a price, which comes with the massive clamping down of extremist narratives by force before they flourish to become a real political force. Indonesian people seem to be willing to trade the fall in some democratic and freedom-of-speech rankings in return for national stability and safety for ethnic minorities. Numerous studies in recent years have shown that public trust for the police force has only increased, in some cases even doubling from 40 percent in 2015 to 80 percent in 2019.<sup>18</sup>

## Trust in Institutions and Influence on Voter Turnouts

In 2019, Indonesia made history as the only large

democracy that could beat a candidate who had run on a right-wing narrative and a "Trumpian campaign." But unlike the campaigns in the United States, Brazil, or India, Indonesia has taken "concrete measures" to prepare for election disinformation,<sup>19</sup> not only with media or civil society but also through police action.

Moreover, the election saw an 82 percent voter-turnout rate, one of the highest in the world. Contrary to "democracy proponent"'s fears of a police crackdown, law enforcement has resulted in widespread public trust in institutions and their ability to create a reliable election system. The Edelman Trust Barometer rated Indonesia as the highest in the world when it comes to trust in the government and its institutions.<sup>20</sup> People believe that their conversations on social media, their frustrations against racial hate speech and fake news, were actually heard and acted upon by the institutions.

According to Pew Research Center, Americans rate fake news as a larger problem than racism, climate change, or terrorism. Eight out of ten respondents say limitations on false news (restrictions on free speech, in effect) are needed. However, 53 percent of the respondents still think that journalists bear the most responsibility for fixing the problem (rather than the government, tech companies, or civil society).<sup>21</sup> But in Indonesia, journalists have basically failed to fix the fake news problem. This failure is understandable, given the novelty of the field. But the study suggests that if the media fail, the public becomes less likely to accept information, creating a widespread apathy toward politics.<sup>22</sup>

#### Conclusion

Police and social media crackdown on radical groups is necessary, at least in Indonesia, so long as it doesn't go too far. There seems to be no substantial public support for eliminating the ITE Law. The general Indonesian public does not share the verdict of "authoritarianism" made by some international think tanks about the clampdown on disinformation and thinks that this measure is necessary to protect Indonesia from sinking into radicalism. The ITE Law, however, can still be improved. Policymakers need to end arrests that crack down on constructive criticism targeting corrupt officials and focus on real hate speech cases. The Constitutional Court should review the law and void the points that are prone to misuse. Some experts also think that punishments should be less dire. Arrests, although made to deter people from posting hate speech in the first place, might be too harsh for some offenders.

This is not to suggest that the law and police crackdown are ideal, but they remain a lesser evil so long as other actors cannot provide reliable alternatives. This approach applies to other countries as well, since it is hard to imagine any country operating successful elections without a trustworthy ecosystem. In the United States, where strict First Amendment free speech protections may preclude this strategy, policymakers must maintain public trust in institutions and the electoral process by other means, perhaps by disseminating best practices to the journalists the public considers responsible for fighting fake news. Such dissemination, unfortunately, will take time. For now, Americans can only hope their 2020 election won't fall into the problems Indonesia was desperate to avoid.

Marina Kusumawardhani has been working for the Indonesian President Joko Widodo for the past four years on his social media strategist/data analytics teameight and for the past 8 years as a tech consultant in the fields of politics, civic engagement, and inclusive development. Marina cofounded "Code4Nation," an Indonesian ICT association whose projects included organizing the world's largest hackathons and app/coding training in rural Indonesia. She also previously served as coordinator of the National Taskforce on Inclusive Innovation at the Ministry for Economic Affairs as well as adviser to Ridwan Kamil, the mayor of Bandung, on the city's infrastructure and international relations. She also serves as a consultant for various multilateral organizations (UNIDO, UNESCO, and the Asian Development Bank). She obtained

her bachelor's degree from Bandung Institute of Technology in Indonesia and a master degree from TU Vienna in Austria with first honor distinction, both in industrial engineering. Marina is also a national bestselling author in Indonesia, having published two acclaimed travel memoirs.

#### Endnotes

- Karishma Vaswani, "Indoneisa election: Why one vote could put a thousand Indonesians at stake," BBC News, 16 April 2019, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-47945625.
- 2 Badan Pembinaan Hukum Nasional, Kementerian Hukum dan Hak Asasi Manusia Republik Indonesia, https://lsc.bphn. go.id/konsultasiView?id=989.
- 3 Scholastica Gerintya, "Periksa Data- Jerat UU ITE Banyak Dipakai oleh Pejabat Negara," tirto.id, 18 October 2018, https:// tirto.id/jerat-uu-ite-banyak-dipakai-oleh-pejabat-negara-c7sk.
- 4 "Indonesia | Freedom in the World 2019," Freedom House, https://freedomhouse.org/country/indonesia/ freedom-world/2019.
- 5 "Social media is facilitating Islamic radicalisation in Indonesia," ASEAN Today, 9 August 2019, https://www.aseantoday.com/2019/08/ social-media-is-facilitating-islamic-radicalisation-in-indonesia/.
- 6 Leonie Schmidt, "Cyberwarriors and Counterstars: Contesting Religious Radicalism and Violence on Indonesian Social Media," Asiascape: Digital Asia 5, nos. 1–2 (2018), 32–67.
- 7 Jack Board, "Inside Indonesia's 'fake news' war room, fighting political hoaxes in election season", Channel News Asia, 13 April 2019, https://www.channelnewsasia.com/news/asia/indonesia-election-fake-news-war-room-fighting-political-hoaxes-11439398.
- 8 Board, "Inside Indonesia's 'fake news' war room."
- 9 Nithin Coca, "Will 'Fake News' Determine Indonesia's Next President?" *The Diplomat*, 9 November 2018, https://thediplomat.com/2018/11/ will-fake-news-determine-indonesias-next-president/.
- Social media is facilitating Islamic radicalisation in Indonesia," ASEAN Today.
- 11 Tse Yin Lee, "Analysis: How effective was Indonesia's war on fake news in its election?" BBC Monitoring, 16 May 2019, https://monitoring.bbc.co.uk/product/c200tfll.
- 12 Coca, "Will 'Fake News' Determine Indonesia's Next President?"
- 13 "Social media is facilitating Islamic radicalisation in Indonesia," ASEAN Today.
- 14 Billy Perrigo, "Facebook Says It's Removing More Hate Speech Than Ever Before. But There's a Catch," *TIME*, 27 November 2019, https://time.com/5739688/

facebook-hate-speech-languages/.

- 15 Scholastica Gerintya, "Periksa Data- Benarkah Intoleransi Antar-Umat Beragama Meningkat?" tirto.id, 15 February 2018, https://tirto.id/ benarkah-intoleransi-antar-umat-beragama-meningkat-cEPz.
- 16 Vincent Bevins, "Indonesian police arrest 14 suspected members of radical Islamist cyber network," Washington Post, 1 March 2018, https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/ asia\_pacific/indonesia-police-break-up-islamist-cyber-network-promoting-extremism/2018/03/01/ff575b00-1cd8-11e8-98f5-ceecfa8741b6\_story.html.
- 17 Adi Renaldi, "Saracen Is Shut Down. But Can We Ever Really Beat Fake News?" Vice, 25 August 2017, https://www.vice.com/ en\_asia/article/3kk7v5/saracen-has-been-shut-down-but-canwe-ever-really-beat-fake-news.
- 18 Lenny Hidayat, "Do Indonesians Trust Their Police?" The Indonesian Journal of Leadership, Policy and World Affairs Strategic Review, 30 December 2019, http://sr.sgpp.ac.id/post/ do-indonesians-trust-their-police.
- 19 Coca, "Will 'Fake News' Determine Indonesia's Next President?"
- 20 Joseph Tropiano, ed., 2019 Edelman Trust Barometer Global Report (Edelman Trust Management, 2019) p. 40 [PDF file].
- 21 Amy Mitchell et al., "Many Americans Say Made-Up News Is a Critical Problem That Needs To Be Fixed," *Pew Research Center* (blog), 5 June 2019, https://www.journalism.org/2019/06/05/ many-americans-say-made-up-news-is-a-critical-problem-thatneeds-to-be-fixed/.
- 22 David A. Graham, "Some Real News About Fake News," *The Atlantic*, 7 June 2019, https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/ archive/2019/06/fake-news-republicans-democrats/591211/.

### Which Truth Will Set Brazil Free: Political Lessons from the Rise of the Evangelical Right

#### Ana Ramos

"On climate, democracy, human rights, equality of rights and duties between men and women, and so on, all we need is this: to contemplate the truth, following John 8.32: 'And ye shall know the truth, and the truth shall make you free.' All our instruments, both national and international, should ultimately be directed towards this goal."

– President Jair Bolsonaro at the 74th United Nations General Assembly, 24 September 2019

The term "A Bancada da Bíblia" — "the Bible Block" in Portuguese-speaks to the extraordinary influence that evangelical Protestants have come to exert in the Brazilian political system, and any analysis of Brazilian politics must consider the consequences of their rise to Brazilian democracy. A brief look at the history of the "neo-Pentecostal" movements in Brazil reveals that evangelicals' political involvement will likely increase as their numbers grow, especially after the election of President Jair Bolsonaro. Increased democratic participation, even from a religious group, should not only be expected but also desired. In this case, the concern is less about the participation of a religious group in politics and more about the support of anti-democratic ideas as a way to impose the group's interests in public life.

"The state is secular, but we are Christians. Or, to plagiarize dear Damares Alves, we are terribly Christian." This phrase, uttered by President Bolsonaro during an evangelical service in Congress in 2019,<sup>1</sup> shows the prominence that the evangelical community has gained in the past decade. Despite the steep rise of people declaring themselves non-religious (from 1 percent of the Brazilian population in 1970 to 8 percent in 2010), the number of evangelicals exploded during this time. Forty-two million Brazilians—or 23 percent of the total—declared themselves evangelical in 2010.<sup>2</sup> In 1970, this figure was just 5 percent. According to the Pew Research Center, the proportion of evangelicals in Brazil may be even higher (26 percent),<sup>3</sup> which shows that the growth potential of this segment is not yet fully exhausted.

Although the profile of evangelicals is not completely homogeneous, they are most concentrated in areas with adverse economic and social conditions, affected by a serious lack of public services. According to Novaes,<sup>4</sup> Pentecostal evangelical churches managed to enter the fringes of society with a message of hope and prosperity that other religious segments, as well as the state, had failed to convey. The economic crisis Brazil has experienced over the past years may have also facilitated the increasing popularity of evangelism.<sup>5,6</sup>

# The Rise of Evangelicals and Their Involvement in Politics

Brazil's current constitution, published in 1988, makes clear that the country's citizens should enjoy the basic rights of religious freedom and liberty of consciousness. Moreover, article 19 prohibits the establishment of state churches and any dependency or alliance of public authorities with religious leaders.<sup>7</sup> Constitutionally, then, Brazil is a secular country. Historically, this has not been the case. The official separation between church power and state power in Brazil—first stated in the Constitution of 1891—happened at the same time that Catholicism was granted preeminence over other religions.<sup>8</sup> Evangelicals tended to defend state secularism as a means of protecting themselves. This included advocating for the separation of church and state, religious freedom, and secular teaching in public schools.<sup>9</sup>,<sup>10</sup> But the central role of the Catholic Church began to change in recent decades, especially during the military regime that ruled from 1964 to 1985. The growth of both evangelicals and non-religious people may have been influenced by this displacement of the centrality of the Catholic Church.<sup>11</sup>

According to Andrew Chestnut, a specialist in Latin American religion, Pentecostal evangelism has very successfully absorbed Latin American culture.<sup>12</sup> In only a century, Pentecostalism has become indigenous, or "Latin Americanized," to a greater extent than Roman Catholicism has in its five centuries in Latin America. For example, the music in Pentecostal churches has the same rhythms that people enjoy outside of church. It also aligns with some traditional African religions by promoting the practice of exorcism.<sup>13</sup>

"In this sense, evangelicals behave as a public religion with the intent to regulate the secular world."

As the religion grows, evangelicals do not intend to limit their conservative customs to the faithful congregation, instead working to influence society as a whole, contesting questions of public morality at the level of the legal norm. In this sense, evangelicals behave as a public religion with the intent to regulate the secular world. According to Montero,<sup>14</sup> several borders have been crossed for this phenomenon to happen—from the family level as the first transmitter of religious belonging to public spaces such as the annual March for Jesus.

Politically, evangelicals are the most traditional groups in Brazil with regard to family and sexuality.

The country has experienced considerable changes in terms of reproductive and sexual rights since the return to democracy in 1985. The shift has been largely progressive, with a growth in secularization and the adoption of liberal behaviors. In this context, public morality has come under dispute, since Christian communities value the sacralization of the family and the sanctity of life.<sup>15</sup>

Traditional family values are undoubtedly the most significant battlefield. Many Protestants who converted from Catholicism say they were looking for a church that "gives more importance to a life within morality."<sup>16</sup> Evangelicals are often opposed to abortion in any situation, including rape (46.7 percent), and have a negative attitude toward homosexuality (about 84.3 percent of evangelicals consider homosexuality a disease that should be cured). In general, Latin America is still walking slowly toward same-sex marriage rights, with only Brazil, Uruguay, Argentina, Ecuador, and parts of Mexico approving the policy.

By virtue of their moral and political stance, evangelicals (Pentecostal and non-Pentecostal) have formed a "new right" in Brazil.<sup>17</sup> In addition to defending traditional right-wing socioeconomic values (such as resistance to land reform or reducing the age of criminalization), they have a conservative moral compass. Pierucci and Prandi<sup>18</sup> show that the rejection of Lula's leftist candidacy and the choice for Fernando Collor's candidacy in the 1989 presidential election stemmed from the evangelical leadership's fear of two possible scenarios: the implantation of an "atheistic communism" if Lula won or the resumption of preeminence of the Catholic Church, especially in the sectors linked to Lula's Workers' Party. Since voting in Brazil is mandatory, the ballot box represents a strong lever for the evangelicals to advance their moral political positions.

#### A New Phenomenon: Evangelical Involvement in a Bolsonaro Presidency

The relationship between evangelicals and the presidency of Brazil is not new. The Universal Church, one of the main evangelical groups, entered the Workers' Party government in 2002 and remained there until a few weeks before President Dilma Rousseff's impeachment in 2014. Pastor Marcelo Crivella, another important evangelical leader and now mayor of Rio de Janeiro, was Rousseff's minister for fisheries and aquaculture from 2012 to 2014. Shortly after her impeachment, the PRB—a party controlled by evangelicals—got the ministry of industry, commerce and services. In the Bolsonaro government, however, Almeida<sup>19</sup> argues that the relationship tends to be more organic given deeper ideological alignment. Bolsonaro has bundled a value-based agenda with economic issues in order to advance his far-right agenda.

A retired colonel of the Brazilian Army, Bolsonaro is a former congressman who entered the public eye with a speech denouncing the corruption of old politics. He further consolidated his support in recent years by carrying the "antipetismo"<sup>20</sup> flag.<sup>21</sup> In a country where approximately 30 percent of the population is considered functionally illiterate,<sup>22</sup> using social media allowed him to gain popularity quickly.

Bolsonaro is Catholic by baptism, and his current wife, Michelle Bolsonaro, is an active evangelical Protestant. With her, he has participated in several religious demonstrations and was baptized evangelical. Bolsonaro seems to have built a solid and fruitful base of support with conservative evangelical segments over the years. While he was in Congress, Bolsonaro had a close relationship with Pastor Silas Malafaia.23 According to Malafaia, their friendship began around 2006, when they spoke out against PL 122, a bill that criminalized homophobia. Pastors feared prosecution if they preached "against gay marriage" after the text was approved. Evangelical media propagated the idea that opponents were trying to destroy the "traditional family" and that the Workers' Party would use textbooks to spread Marxism and gender ideology.24

Once elected to the presidency, Bolsonaro invited members of the military and technocrats to lead traditional ministries, but he also gave the ministry of women, family, and human rights to the evangelical community. The ministry is headed by Damares Alves, a former evangelical pastor and a parliamentary advisor who exemplifies the conservative agenda. In terms of science, for example, she defends the implementation of teaching methods based on a Christian worldview and protests against the "existent Marxist indoctrination in schools."<sup>25</sup>

With Bolsonaro's popularity currently in decline, the government has been promising even more benefits to the evangelical community. Thirty-six percent of Brazilians do not approve of the president's mandate, with a loss of support especially among the richest and the most educated.<sup>26</sup> Besides the nomination of evangelicals for public office, Bolsonaro has granted tax breaks to Christian temples, promised to appoint an evangelical justice to the supreme court, and is considering appointing a religious politician to the post of vice president in 2022.<sup>27</sup> Based on the increasing prominence of evangelicals in Bolsonaro's administration, it is evident that responding to the evangelical base will be essential for any candidate who wants to be viable in the next election.

#### Lessons from the Evangelical Wave: Religion in the Political Public Sphere

As evangelicals continue to grow their influence in various sectors of society, including through religious communication channels, it seems that religion and politics in Brazil will continue to walk together. While religious freedom and secularization were historically pivotal to the survival of the evangelical faith in the country, now that evangelicals find themselves in a position of political strength, democratic values have taken a hit. Bolsonaro and his allies have demonstrated anti-democratic practices, including the defense of the military dictatorship and the persecution of press agencies. Nevertheless, evangelical support continues, apparently as long as the ruling government remains allied with the bloc's moral agenda.

Some institutions have taken strong opposing stances on difficult topics. In June 2019, for example, the supreme court equated homophobia and transphobia with the crime of racism. At the same time, though, president Bolsonaro has defended the appointment of an evangelical justice during his mandate, which would be wholeheartedly supported by the Bible Block in Congress. Although president Bolsonaro's moves provoke strong reactions, the left seems disorganized. The imprisonment of former president Lula became a major focus of the left until his release in November 2019, and no consistent, strategic, and purposeful agenda seems to have arisen since then.

Whether or not the rise of evangelicals in politics threatens Brazilian democracy, their involvement (especially in Congress with the formation of the Bible Block) is an important part of the democratic process. If evangelicals vote in religious candidates because they are more aligned to their personal values, and this is done through a trustworthy electoral process, it will be fair game in democracy. However, this is only true as long as institutions are robust and democratic processes are respected.

In president Bolsonaro's case, the principal danger lies in the use of anti-democratic language to justify the imposition of values that the evangelical community defends (especially against abortion and same-sex marriage). The centrality of Christianity in this value system has divided the country in a phenomenon that looks similar to what has happened in the United States, where a more anti-religious left finds it hard to talk to a religious right. In the last few years, the left has taken more stances on the agenda of sexual and gender diversity. As the evangelical positions are clear in this respect, an anti-religious approach by leftist politicians has led evangelicals to align more with the right.

In this sense, both political sides have considered each other fanatics with whom you should not negotiate. Conservatives may feel that the left disrespects their values and dislikes religious people, and the left might believe that universal values should bring the country together. In the end, the two sides avoid the conservation altogether. Herein lies the main threat to democracy: the possibility of losing the capacity of dialog. As the number of evangelicals, as well as a reaction to secularism, rise, Brazilians need to get used to the place of religion in the public square. Platforms of democratic participation, such as councils and committees within government, should be encouraged to create space for all opinions, from the right and from the left, to be incorporated healthily into the public debate. In this process, people of faith should be treated as they are: citizens trying to voice their concerns, with whom we need to seek a rational and tolerant discussion.

Ana Ramos is a Brazilian MPA student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University and also a MBA student at The Wharton School/University of Pennsylvania. She is passionate about the connection between the public and private sectors, having dedicated her career to issues such as economic development and improvement of public management in the São Paulo City Hall and as public sector consultant at McKinsey. Her desire is that governments in Latin America be able to bring welfare to the population in a more efficient and sustainable manner.

#### Endnotes

- 1 "Bolsonaro says it plans to appoint a minister 'terribly evangelical' to the Supreme Court," AM Post, 10 July 2019, https:// ampost.com.br/en/2019/07/bolsonaro-afirma-que-pretende-indicar-um-ministro-terrivelmente-evangelico-para-o-stf/.
- 2 "População por religião (população presente e residente) (Population by religion [present and resident population])," Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística, n.d., https:// seriesestatisticas.ibge.gov.br/series.aspx2vcodigo=POP60.
- 3 Religião na América Latina Mudança Generalizada em uma Região Historicamente Católica (Religion in Latin America. Widespread change in a historically Catholic region) (Pew Research Center, 2014) [PDF file].
- 4 Regina Reyes Novaes, "A Divina Política. Notas sobre as relações delicadas entre religião e política (Divine politics: notes on the delicate relationship between religion and politics)," Política e Participação, no. 49 (2001): 60–81.
- 5 Anônio Flávio Pierucci and Reginaldo Prandi, "Religiões e voto: a eleição presidencial de 1994 (Religions and voting: the 1994 presidential election)," Opinião Pública 3, no. 1 (1995): 32–63.
- 6 Paula Montero and Ronaldo R.M. de Almeida, "O Campo Religioso Brasileiro No Limiar Do Século: Problemas e Perspectivas (Brazilian religion at the threshold of the century:

problems and perspectives)," in *Brasil No Limiar do Século* XXI, H. Rattner, ed. (Brazil: Edusp, 2000), pp. 325–40.

- 7 Constituição da República Federativa do Brasil: promulgada em 5 de outubro de 1988 (Constitution of the Federative Republic of Brazil: promulgated on 5 October 1988), Fourth Edition (São Paulo: Saraiva, 1998).
- 8 Montero and de Almeida, "O Campo Religioso Brasileiro No Limiar Do Século."
- 9 Ricardo Mariano and Ari Pedro Oro, "Introduçao ao dossiê:Religião, política, espaço público e laicidade no Brasil," Revista Cultura y Religión 7, no. 2 (2013): 4–12.
- 10 Ricardo Mariano and Ari Pedro Oro, "The Reciprocal Instrumentalization Of Religion And Politics In Brazil," in Annual *Review of the Sociology of Religion*, eds. Patrick Michel and Enzo Pace, vol. 2: Religion and Politics (Brill, 2011), pp. 245–66.
- 11 Simone R. Bohn, "Evangélicos no Brasil. Perfil socioeconômico afinidades ideológics e determinantes do comportamento eleitoral (Evangelicals in Brazil: Socioeconomic profile, ideological attitudes and the determinants of electoral behavior)," Opinião Pública 10, no. 2 (2004), doi: 10.1590/ S0104-62762004000200006.
- 12 David Masci, "Why has Pentecostalism grown so dramatically in Latin America?" Pew Research Center, 14 November 2014, https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2014/11/14/ why-has-pentecostalism-grown-so-dramatically-in-latin-america/.
- 13 Bohn, "Evangélicos no Brasil."
- 14 Paula Montero, "Religiões e dilemas da sociedade brasileira (Religions and dilemmas of Brazilian society)," in O que ler na ciência Social brasileira (São Paulo: Sumaré/ANPOCS/ CAPES, 1999).
- 15 Luiz Fernando Dias Duarte, "Valores cívicos e morais em jogo na Câmara dos Deputados: a votação sobre o pedido de impeachment da Presidente da República (Civic and moral values at stake in the House of Representatives: the voting of impeachment of the President of the Republic)," Religião e Sociedade 37, no. 1 (2017): 145–66.
- 16 Religião na América Latina Mudança Generalizada em uma Região Historicamente Católica (Pew Research Center).
- 17 Bohn, "Evangélicos no Brasil."
- 18 Pierucci and Prandi, "Religiões e voto."
- 19 Ronaldo de Almeida, "Bolsonaro Presidente: Conservadorismo, Evangelismo e a Crise Brasileira (Bolsonaro President: Evangelicals, Conservatism, and Political Crisis)," Novos estudoes CE-BRAP 38, no. 1 (2019), doi: 10.25091/s01013300201900010010.
- 20 Petismo refers to the movement in support of the leftist Workers' Party ("Partido dos Trabalhadores," or PT) in Brazil, which had the former president Lula as one of its founders in 1980. Lula is still its main leader, and the sentiment against petistas,

the followers of PT, increased after four consecutive successful presidential elections (2002, 2006, 2010, and 2014).

- 21 de Almeida, "Bolsonaro Presidente."
- 22 Roberto Catelli Jr. et al., Indicador de Alfabetismo Funcional: Resultados preliminares (Functional Illiteracy Indicator -Preliminary Results) (Açao Educativa and Instituto Paulo Montenegro, 2018) [PDF file].
- 23 Vanessa Leite, "Em defesa das crianças e da família': Refletindo sobre discursos acionados por atores religiosos 'conservadores' em controvérsias públicas envolvendo gênero e sexualidade ('In defense of the children and the family': Reflections about the discourses of 'conservative' religious actors in public controversies involving gender and sexuality)" Sexualidad, Salu y Sociedad, no. 32 (2019), doi: 10.1590/1984-6487. sess.2019.32.07.a.
- 24 Leite, "Em defesa das crianças e da família'."
- 25 Felipe Neves, "Como o 'Kit Gay' ajudou Damares Alves a chegar ao primeiro escalão (How the 'Gay Kit' helped Damares Alves reach the top administration ranks)," The Intercept\_Brasil, 11 December 2018, https://theintercept.com/2018/12/11/ kit-gay-damares-alves/.
- 26 Ricardo Balthazar, "Reação da economia freia perda de popularidade de Bolsonaro, diz Datafolha (Economic reaction stops Bolsonaro's loss of popularity, as Datafolha shows)," Folha de S.Paulo, 8 December 2019, https://www1.folha.uol.com.br/ poder/2019/12/reacao-da-economia-freia-perda-de-popularidade-de-bolsonaro-diz-datafolha.shtml.
- 27 Gustavo Uribe and Ricardo Della Coletta, "Bolsonaro intensifica contato com evangélicos para conter queda de popularidade (Bolsonaro intensifies contact with evangelicals to contain drop in popularity)," Folha de S.Paulo, 6 September 2019, https:// wwwl.folha.uol.com.br/poder/2019/09/bolsonaro-intensifica-contato-com-evangelicos-para-conter-queda-de-popularidade.shtml.



### **"Bathrooms and Boycotts":** HB2, LGBT+ Nondiscrimination Protections, and Political Misinformation

#### Gabrielle Hubert

In the summer of 2016, I and hundreds of others canvassed for a major local nonprofit in response to an anti-LGBT law in North Carolina that had begun attracting national attention. I was surprised by how little people seemed to know about the law, which was called House Bill 2. This dynamic of misinformation came more into focus the next spring, when a confusing and ineffective "repeal" wiped HB2 from the spotlight. A year later, I received a university grant to conduct an independent research study on how public mis- and disinformation shaped HB2 and its eventual dubious demise. What I found after months of interviews and polling was that reductive media framing caused an environment of widespread misinformation about the law, which shaped HB2's unusual trajectory.

#### Background on HB2

The Public Facilities Privacy & Security Act, more commonly known as HB2 or the "trans bathroom bill,"

was passed on 23 March 2016, in North Carolina's General Assembly. It was a response to a municipal nondiscrimination ordinance adopted by the City of Charlotte, which added sexual orientation and gender identity to the list of protected classes in dozens of policies affecting employment, housing, and public accommodations.1 The nondiscrimination ordinance prompted widespread backlash from rural conservatives and lobbying groups, which focused on the implications for access of transgender individuals to gendered spaces. For example, the ordinance required that trans people be permitted to use the bathroom that aligned with their gender identity. In response, the North Carolina General Assembly convened a one-day special session to pass HB2, which banned municipal-specific nondiscrimination ordinances like Charlotte's and set a statewide definition of protected classes that excluded sexuality or gender identity. It also required government buildings, including public schools and universities, to only allow people to use the restroom aligning with their "biological gender."2

Backlash to HB2 was as swift as backlash to the policy it nullified. Controversy came to a head when the NBA pulled its All-Star game from Charlotte and PayPal canceled a planned North Carolina headquarters. Two months after HB2's passage, one LGBT+ advocacy group asserted HB2 had already cost the state \$500 million. The Associated Press said HB2's economic consequences could near \$4 billion. Both figures were likely inflated, but both still dominated headlines.<sup>3</sup>

The damage both to North Carolina's reputation and its economy was such that HB2 became politically untenable. Furthermore, groups such as the American Civil Liberties Union, Equality NC, and even the US Justice Department filed court cases against the law. The US Justice Department even hinted that North Carolina's federal education funding could be in jeopardy. On 29 March 2017, less than a year after HB2 became law, legislators passed House Bill 142 as a compromise. The law repealed HB2, clarified that government entities, including universities, must be consistent with state policy with regards to access to gendered facilities, and placed a four-year moratorium on cities altering their nondiscrimination ordinances. This moratorium will end in December 2020.<sup>4</sup> Essentially, HB142 rewound the clock to before Charlotte had passed its ordinance and put protections in place to ensure nothing similar could happen for the next few years. Even so, it was ostensibly a political success: the boycotts stopped and national attention drifted away. Though pro- and anti-LGBT+ groups harshly criticized HB142, debate ended in the legislature and the public sphere.

#### Public Misinformation and HB2

Misinformation, and the ways that public opinion formation is hindered by information asymmetry, can be found at every step of HB2's trajectory. Charlotte's ordinance followed years of dialogue and public education efforts, but HB2 was passed in just one day. One Democratic representative quipped, "I'm not sure what is really in this bill. Is it a possibility that we could be given at least 5 to 10 minutes to read this for ourselves, from front to back?"5 The most informative coverage of HB2 deviated from typical journalism in favor of pieces that tried to explain the simple facts of the law, with titles like "HB2: What Does it All Mean?," "Understanding HB2," and "HB2 Explained." Will Doran,6 then the only North Carolina-dedicated writer for Politifact, remembers two months of nonstop coverage in 2016: "I had to do a dozen or so fact-checks on specific quotes about HB2, on top of overall explainers and Q&As."7

Stakeholders disagreed on the most prevalent misconceptions about HB2. Doran concluded the greatest misunderstanding was related to the scope of the law, which gave the state government preemption over municipal government decisions on

"One democratic representative quipped, I'm not sure what is really in this bill. Is it a possibility that we could be given at least 5 to 10 minutes to read this for ourselves?" employment regulations, such as local minimum wages: "A huge part of [the law] that affects way more people than the bathroom stuff is the impact it has on employment law: paid family leave, minimum wage, workplace discrimination lawsuits," Doran said.<sup>8</sup> Sarah McBride, the national press secretary of the Human Rights Campaign, echoed Doran's view: "the most damaging misconception was the messaging about who trans people are, but the most common was lack of understanding around the preemption piece."<sup>9</sup>

My research, in the form of an online opt-in poll with 1,213 respondents, sought to pinpoint what aspects of HB2 people understood the least and determine how they had developed these misunderstandings. Doran and McBride's hunches were correct: the question that respondents missed the most was whether HB2 affected a municipality's ability to change minimum-wage law. As for whether people fully understood the trans bathroom aspect of HB2, it was a mixed bag. Two questions specifically on this issue had the highest accuracy of responses; however, for both of these questions, still only 71 percent of respondents answered accurately.

Scholarly understanding of public opinion formation helps make some sense of the HB2 case. One cornerstone piece in the field, John Zaller's The Nature and Origins of Mass Opinion, is a useful starting point. Zaller rejects the idea that people have consistent and coherent political beliefs on which they base their decisions. Instead, individuals more often receive messaging on political issues, accept that messaging based on how it fits with opinions they already hold, and then "skim from the top" of those messages when asked for their opinion.10 My survey also included a "bias score" that calculated the ratio of answers that made HB2 sound "good" or reasonable and those that made it sound "bad" or unreasonable. True to Zaller's argument, I found that people were more likely to select answers that affirmed the opinion they already held about HB2, based on their initial self-reported bias.

Overall, misunderstandings were prevalent across all demographics. Those who opposed HB2 knew more about it, but only by a slim, albeit statistically significant, margin of 61.2 percent versus 59.6 percent. Disturbingly, there was no difference at all in the knowledge scores of LGBT+ and non-LGBT+ people. This manifested in potentially impactful areas: 33 percent of LGBT+ people did not know they could still file a discrimination case at the federal level, and 66 percent of trans people did not know that they could use the bathroom matching their gender identity if they had updated their birth certificate.

It is important to consider where misinformation may have come from. Doran estimated that "99 to 100 percent of national media coverage was about bathrooms and boycotts. . . . If there was anywhere the media fell down, it was the big national networks calling it a bathroom bill and losing the nuance."11 Tami Fitzgerald, executive director of the conservative NC Values Coalition, expressed similar frustrations: "All these outlets from outside North Carolina came in and shifted attention from what really mattered."12 According to the survey, news media had no effect on knowledge or bias score; people who learned about HB2 from word of mouth knew just as much as people who learned about it from print, radio, or TV news. The only people with a higher knowledge score were those who learned about it from partisan sources. Traditional media outlets were retelling the same simplistic story; the only source of further detail was lobbying groups.

When I spoke to people during my canvassing, they described HB2 as expensive and having something to do with bathrooms; that perception had broader consequences. "The characterization of it as a bathroom bill allowed HB142 to appear to be a full repeal when really it only touched on the bathroom stuff," said McBride. Furthermore, hyper focus on the boycotts meant that, once the boycotts were gone, so was pressure on North Carolina to fully rescind HB2's most damaging impacts. The trajectory of the law is clear: HB2 was passed by politicians weaponizing North Carolinian's unfamiliarity with trans issues and "terrified of losing ground following the legalization of same-sex marriage," according to "Misinformation, and the ways that public opinion formation is hindered by information asymmetry, can be found at every step of HB2's trajectory."

McBride.<sup>13</sup> Thanks to a perhaps well-intentioned media, it took on a new and misleading narrative as a justifiably contentious "bathroom bill" with drastic economic consequences. That focus on the bathroom and business aspects meant that a law addressing only those things without touching the actual problems at hand—the thousands of people still vulnerable to discrimination and the drastic overstep of the state government—was still celebrated as a solution. After the passage of HB142, the news outlets moved on, but discrimination was, and still is, the law in North Carolina.

Nondiscrimination protections are one of the key battlefields of the LGBT+ movement. They are an unambiguous way to take the nondiscrimination system already in place and bring it up to date with changing social attitudes. Explicitly inclusive nondiscrimination protections can be useful in most contexts where discrimination is experienced, such as in employment, housing, loans, and public accommodations.<sup>14</sup> They can be employed to combat service refusals, such as the recent bakery discrimination case that made it to the US Supreme Court, or as inclusive hate crime legislation to combat anti-trans violence. LGBT nondiscrimination policy often starts with local governments.15 But city ordinances fail to protect local residents or translate into statewide legislation unless the public is adequately informed.

There is an abundance of public attention to political misinformation and "fake news." However, this debate largely overlooks another insidious form of misinformation: lack of knowledge exacerbated by reductive framing. Policies affecting those with low political efficacy, such as LGBT+ people, are especially vulnerable to this type of damaging misrepresentation. Because LGBT+-affirming policies, especially nondiscrimination ordinances, are gaining rapid momentum, it is critical that we learn from the past. Media outlets and partisan groups need to rethink how they balance accuracy and advocacy when representing contentious policies like HB2, especially given what we know about how individuals evaluate political messaging. HB2 has demonstrated that slightly erroneous framing of a contentious political issue has tangible and extreme consequences that disproportionately affect vulnerable members of society.

What can supporters of a pro-equality agenda do in this situation? Mike Meno, former communication director of the ACLU of North Carolina, has a simple solution: "Facts are the best way to advocate."<sup>16</sup> Sarah McBride's philosophy is similar: "When trans people are understood in their full humanity, we win."

#### A Note on the Author's Methodology

University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill IRB Study #17-1585 was completed over a four-month period in summer 2017, and analysis was performed in R in March 2019. The faculty mentor was Rhonda Gibson, and it was funded by the UNC Office of Undergraduate Research and the Program for Sexuality Studies. Respondents were recruited via North Carolina community and political pages on Facebook (n = 1,012) and via mTurk (n = 572), with 1,213 responses of sufficient quality for analysis. Respondents were North Carolinians eligible to vote at the time HB2 was passed and who indicated they had heard of HB2. This survey overrepresented women and supporters of HB2 and has not been weighted to correct for this in order to avoid skewing regressions. The survey collected demographic information about respondents and asked them about their views on HB2 and sources of information on HB2. The quiz itself can be found here: go.unc.edu/HB2quiz. A series of interviews were conducted by phone and in person in Raleigh and Washington, DC, with leaders in the movements for and against HB2. Based on interviewee preference, they were recorded and transcribed or preserved only through note-taking.

Gabrielle is a senior at UNC Chapel Hill studying public policy and english literature with a concentration in social justice. Her previous research experiences include working for the Asia Foundation, the Danish Institute for Human Rights, and the LGBTQ Representation and Rights Research Initiative.

#### Endnotes

- Steve Harrison, "Charlotte City Council approves LCBT protections in 7-4 vote," Charlotte Observer, 22 February 2016, https://www.charlotteobserver.com/news/politics-government/ article61786967.html.
- Greg Lacour and Emma Way, "HB2: How North Carolina Got Here (Updated)," *Charlotte Magazine*, 30 March 2017, https://www.charlottemagazine.com/ hb2-how-north-carolina-got-here-updated/.
- 3 Camila Domonoske, "AP Calculates North Carolina's Bathroom Bill' Will Cost More Than \$3.7 Billion," NPR, 27 March 2017, https://www.npr.org/sections/thetwo-way/2017/03/27/521676772/ap-calculates-north-carolinasbathroom-bill-will-cost-more-than-3-7-billion.
- 4 Eliott C. McLaughlin, "North Carolina's HB142: Repeal? Compromise? What does it all mean?" CNN, 30 March 2017, https://www.cnn.com/2017/03/30/us/north-carolina-hb2-repeal-hb142-explainer/index.html.
- 5 Elizabeth Baier and Jeff Tiberii, "HB2: How Did We Get Here?" WUNC, 23 March 2017, http://wunc.org/post/ hb2-how-did-we-get-here#stream/0.
- 6 Will Doran, Sarah McBride, Mike Meno, and Tami Fitzgerald were each part of a series of interviews the author conducted in the summer of 2017.
- 7 Will Doran, interview with author, 25 July 2017.
- 8 Will Doran, interview.
- 9 Sarah McBride, interview with author, 27 July 2017.
- John Zaller, *The Nature and Origins of Mass Opinion* (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 1992).
- 11 Will Doran, interview.
- 12 Tami Fitzgerald, interview with author, 17 August 2017.
- 13 Sarah McBride, interview.
- 14 Ashe McGovern, Sarah McBride, and Sharita Gruberg, "Nondiscrimination Protections for LGBTQ Communities," Center for American Progress, 8 December 2016, https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/lgbtq-rights/reports/2016/12/08/294423/ nondiscrimination-protections-for-lgbtq-communities/.
- 15 Benjamin Gordon Larsen, "Cities take the lead: LGBT nondiscrimination policy adoption by local governments" (PhD diss., Northeastern University, 2018), https://repository. library.northeastern.edu/files/neu:cj82rd74n.
- 16 Mike Meno, interview with author, 25 July 2017.

### **Coercion and Enticement:** How the Indian Media Lost Its Soul to the BJP

#### Sarmad Ishfaq

Since the Bharatiya Janata Party (BJP) won the general elections in 2014, India's media has precipitously fallen from grace. The media's depreciation is intertwined with the rise of the BJP's controversial Hindutva agenda. Hindutva, an ideology of the BJP and other right-wing groups in India, aims to establish Hindu hegemony in India. Under BJP rule, Muslims and Dalits (formerly called "untouchables") have suffered mob lynching,1 hate speech, and lack of political representation.<sup>2</sup> The Indian media today is generally characterized by a lack of objectivity, as its reporting has become increasingly jingoistic and pro-BJP. For example, since the BJP and Prime Minister Narendra Modi came to power in 2014, the media has drastically reduced coverage about the humanitarian crisis in Indian-controlled Kashmir3 or lied about it.4 The media was caught blatantly lying after Pakistan downed two Indian MiG planes during the Pulwama Attack and about Indian forces bringing down a Pakistani F-165. India's dismal World Press Freedom ranking of 140 out of 180 countries can largely be attributed to the BJP's insidious political machinations. Employing the dual strategies of coercion and enticement to influence news production, the BJP has effectively transformed the Indian media into its personal propaganda machine.

#### Tactics of Coercion

Since the BJP took office, verbal and physical attacks on reporters have markedly increased. While talking to *Reuters*, some TV anchors and reporters said that they have been threatened "with physical harm, abused on social media and ostracized by Modi's administration."6 The plight of the female journalist in modern-day India is even worse than that of her male counterparts. Bloomberg News asserts that the BJP's IT Cell regularly disseminates rape and death threats to female journalists, such as Barkha Dutt, who challenge Modi's agenda.7 Under the BJP's rule, Hindutva fringe groups have become empowered to commit unabashed violence. A far-right Hindu group murdered editor Gauri Lankesh, a critic of right-wing politics and the BJP, outside her house in 2017. Between January 2016 and April 2017, an Indian media watchdog reported seven murders and 54 total attacks on journalists, primarily perpetrated by political party leaders and members.8 Out of 114 incidents of assaults on journalists in 2014, only 32 people were arrested.9

Under the pretense of financial fraud, the government has raided channels such as NDTV, a left-leaning network that took a position against a BJP spokesperson.<sup>10</sup> Media owners are also pressured into dismissing journalists who do not subscribe to the Hindutva ideology or condemn the lynching of Muslims.<sup>11</sup> In September 2017, Bobby Ghosh resigned as editor-in-chief of the *Hindustan Times*. Apparently, the newspaper's "Hate Tracker" — an online feature that depicted the proliferation of hate crimes across India since the BJP came into power—upset BJP officials. Bobby quit shortly after Modi met the owner of the newspaper. Two senior journalists said that they were told Modi was displeased with Ghosh's editorial policies.<sup>12</sup> Similarly, Prasun Bajpai, host of *Master Stroke* on ABP News, maintains that he was removed because government officials were displeased with his reporting of their wrongdoings.<sup>13</sup> In response, the BJP unofficially boycotted the channel, which led to the regular "mysterious" loss of satellite signal while the show was airing. The show lost significant revenue, which precipitated Bajpai's resignation. The satellite signal resumed normalcy after his exodus.

#### Strategies of Enticement

Part of the Indian media's susceptibility to coercion is its dependence on government advertisements as a major source of revenue. Sudhir Chaudhary, editor of Zee News, one of India's most popular channels, states that under such conditions, no news channel in India is able to be neutral.<sup>14</sup>

Although some media networks are supportive of the BJP's Hindutva alignment because their owners themselves believe in the ideology, others are more interested in government bribes and advertisement revenues. In 2016, according to the Broadcast Audience Research Council, the Indian government emerged among the top advertisers on television for the year. During elections, "paid news" or "advertorials," where channels and newspapers reportedly demanded cash for the coverage of politicians, became commonplace.15 When India's most popular and controversial BJP-supporting anchor, Arnab Goswami, launched Republic TV, questions arose regarding the channel's main financial backers, who happened to be BJP strongmen.16 The government primarily uses Republic TV as its mouthpiece,17 which has unsurprisingly become one of the most-watched English news channels in India. Following the money trail, one of India's largest channels, Times Now, has initiated its own regular programming of jingoistic, overtly pro-Modi and Congress-bashing content.18

Perhaps the most brazen indicator of the Indian media's corruptibility was emblematized by an investigative undercover operation by Cobrapost, an independent news organizations in India. Sending an employee posing as a Hindutva group member "Part of the Indian media's susceptibility to coercion is its dependence on government advertisements as a major source of revenue."

into the offices of major news networks, Cobrapost revealed that many channels were ready to strike business deals to promote Hindutva content and influence the 2019 elections coverage for a price.<sup>19</sup> The undercover "Acharya Atal" offered managers and owners of Indian networks money to implement his three-pronged strategy vis-à-vis Hindutva promotion.<sup>20</sup> Interestingly, many media houses openly told Acharya that they wholeheartedly agree with the agenda and ideology of the RSS, a right-wing paramilitary organization with close ties to the BJP, and would be honored to support the cause. Cobrapost stated that the organizations were willing to "not only cause communal disharmony among the citizens but also tilt the electoral outcome in favour of a particular party."<sup>21</sup>

#### Conclusion

A free, thriving media is the cornerstone of any working democracy. It is meant to hold the government accountable and truthfully inform the public of current events happening nationally and internationally. Unfortunately, due to the BJP's use of threats and violence on the hand and money and fame on the other, the Indian media has been reduced to a Hindutva-promotion tool of the ruling party. This has not only undermined India's democratic process but has also adversely affected minorities, whether the historically oppressed Kashmiris or the marginalized Dalits. Modi's resounding 2019 election victory saw him return as premier, which means it may become even more difficult for the media to break free from the BJP's grasp.

Sarmad Ishfaq works as a research fellow for the Lahore Centre for Peace Research. He completed his master in international studies and graduated as the "top graduate" from the University of Wollongong in Dubai. He has several publications in peerreviewed journals and magazines in the areas of counter-terrorism/terrorism and the geopolitics of South Asia and the GCC.

#### Endnotes

- Rana Ayyub, "Mobs are killing Muslims in India. Why is no one stopping them?" *The Guardian*, 20 July 2018, https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2018/jul/20/ mobs-killing-muslims-india-narendra-modi-bjp.
- 2 Daniel Wolfe, Dan Kopf, and Aria Thaker, "Why is Muslim political representation declining in India," *Quartz India*, 22 May 2019, https://qz.com/india/1617067/indian-election-2019why-few-muslims-make-it-to-the-lok-sabha/.
- 3 Moazum Mohammad, "The Resignation of a Senior Journalist Raises Questions About the National Media's Coverage of Kashmir," *The Caravan*, 1 September 2016, https://caravannmagazine.in/vantage/ resignation-journalist-national-media-kashmir.
- 4 Tavleen Singh, Kashmir: A Tragedy of Errors (New Delhi: Penguin India, 2000).
- 5 Lara Seligman, "Did India Shoot Down a Pakistani Jet? U.S. Count Says No," *Foreign Policy*, 4 April 2019, https://foreignpolicy.com/2019/04/04/ did-india-shoot-down-a-pakistani-jet-u-s-count-says-no/.
- 6 Raju Gopalakrishnan, "Indian journalists say they intimidated, ostracized if they criticize Modi and the BJP," Reuters, 26 April 2018, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-india-politics-media-analysis/indian-journalists-say-they-intimidated-ostracized-if-they-criticize-modi-and-the-bjp-idUSKBN1HX1F4.
- 7 Michael Riley, Lauren Etter, and Bibhudatta Pradhan, "A Global Guide to State-Sponsored Trolling," Bloomberg, 19 July 2018, https://www.bloomberg.com/ features/2018-government-sponsored-cyber-militia-cookbook/.
- 8 Sevanti Ninan, Geeta Seshu, and Shilpi Goyal, "The India Freedom Report, January 2016-April 2017," *The Hoot*, 7 May 2017, http://asu.thehoot.org/free-speech/media-freedom/ the-india-freedom-report-january-2016-april-2017-10080.
- 9 Geeta Seshu, "India 2016-17: The silencing of journalists," *The Hoot*, 30 April 2017, http://asu.thehoot.org/story\_popup/ india-2016-17-the-silencing-of-journalists-10070.
- 10 Aman Madan, "India's Not-So-Free Media," *The Diplomat*, 23 January 2019, https://thediplomat.com/2019/01/ indias-not-so-free-media/.
- Nupur Basu, "Indian Media: Turbulent Times," *The Round Table: The Commonwealth Journal of International Affairs* 107, no. 2 (2018): 238.
- 12 Gopalakrishnan, "Indian journalists."
- 13 Punya Prasun Bajpai, "Exclusive: Punya Prasun Bajpai

Reveals the Story Behind His Exit From ABP News," *The Wire*, 6 August 2018, https://thewire.in/media/ punya-prasun-bajpai-abp-news-narendra-modi.

- 14 Abid Hasan, "Today, no news channel is neutral; journalism is in bad shape – Sudhir Chaudhary," *exchange4media*, 10 May 2016, https://www.exchange4media.com/media-tv-news/ todayno-news-channel-is-neutraljournalism-is-in-bad-shapesudhir-chaudhary-64397.html.
- 15 Basu, "Indian Media: Turbulent Times," 239.
- 16 Sohaib Daniyal and Rohan Venkataramakrishnan, "Proud of all my partners': Arnab Goswami when asked about BJP influence in new venture," Scroll, 27 April 2017, https://scroll.in/ article/835842/proud-of-all-my-partners-arnab-goswami-whenasked-about-bjp-influence-in-new-venture.
- 17 Madan, "India's Not-So-Free Media."
- 18 Madan, "India's Not-So-Free Media."
- 19 The Wire Staff, "Cobrapost Sting: Big Media Houses Say Yes to Hindutva, Black Money, Paid News," *The Wire*, 26 May 2018, https://thewire.in/media/cobrapost-sting-big-media-housessay-yes-to-hindutva-black-money-paid-news.
- 20 Ranjona Banerji, "Cobrapost exposé shows Indian media is sinking. Now we can fight back or be drowned for good," *Scroll*, 27 May 2018, https://scroll.in/article/880384/cobrapostexpose-shows-indian-media-is-sinking-now-we-can-fight-backor-be-drowned-for-good.
- 21 Justin Rowlatt, "The story barely reported by Indian media," BBC News, 28 May 2018, https://www.bbc.com/news/ world-asia-india-44280188.
# **The Forgotten Climate Migrants:** How an Outdated International Legal Framework Is Leaving People Behind

### Alex Domash

On a cold night early in November 2018, Germán Nuñez,<sup>1</sup> a 28-year-old Honduran migrant, was explaining to me what he planned to do once he reached the US border. It was past 2:30 in the morning, and we were sitting outside on the synthetic track surface at the Estadio Jesús Martínez Palillo, a 1968 Olympic-stadium-turned-migrant-shelter, in Mexico City. Germán, who has an imposing figure but a gentle demeanor, had been travelling with his wife, Paola, and their two-year-old daughter, Rossy, for the last four weeks as part of the Central American migrant caravan. "We're planning to shut down the border," Germán said. "If we stop the flow of traffic, they'll eventually have to let us in."

Germán's wide-brimmed hat rested delicately atop the thin gray beanie that hugged his head. Two white socks covered his hands to provide protection from the cold, and a cigarette smoldered between his lips. He spoke to me earnestly as his wife cradled their daughter and sang her a soft lullaby. Around us, a thousand or so migrants who had already arrived at the stadium in Mexico City were bundled in several layers of donated jackets. A constant chorus of coughs rang out from the nearby kids, burrowed beneath their second-hand wool blankets. The occasional wailing of a baby rounded off the late-night clamor.

"What other options do we have?" Germán continued. "Hunger doesn't qualify us for asylum, and we don't have the money to pay for a *coyote* to smuggle us across. What would you do in our position?"

Germán's story was relatively common among

the migrants in the caravan. He and his family had left their home on the outskirts of Ocotepeque, a municipality located in the dry corridor of western Honduras, on October 12. They were a family of farmers who grew maize and beans on a hectare of land in their rural community. "It didn't rain last year," Germán told me. "Or the year before. My fields didn't produce a thing. We scraped enough to make a few tortillas and survive. But that was it." One evening in early October, Paola heard about the caravan on the local news, and the next morning the entire family was on a bus headed to San Pedro Sula to join the thousands of other migrants.

That night, as I lay shivering and exposed to the nighttime wind, I thought about Germán's desperation, and his idea to "shut down" the border. Under normal circumstances, we hope citizens have mechanisms to demand accountability from their government when something goes wrong. But where do you go as a citizen when culpability resides not only with your own government but also with the international community? How do you protest the lack of rain?

"Therefore, if an asylum seeker, such as Elder Ramirez, can prove his claim — 'if we go back home, we will die of hunger' — states could be obligated to grant asylum under international human rights law (though not international refugee law)."



A boy stares wearily ahead as he prepares for a two-day, 600-kilometer trek from Mexico City to Guadalajara. After resting for a few days in the capital city, the group of more than 5,000 migrants arise at 4 a.m. to continue their journey north, their life belongings strewn across their backs.

A lone teenage boy, maybe 18 years old, passed by and disrupted my momentary reflection. My eyes followed this young Honduran migrant as he walked into the distance. Quietly and solemnly, he approached a stray dog sleeping on the hard track surface and wrapped a gray blanket around its body. He then lay down, uncovered, and drifted off to sleep beside his temporary companion.

#### \* \* \*

Three months later, on 15 February 2019, President Donald Trump declared a national emergency on the southern border in order to obtain \$8 billion to build a border wall. It was the culmination of a months-long fear-mongering campaign by the president and his allies, who sought to portray the caravan as "crime infested" and the migrants as "invaders."<sup>2</sup>

The underlying forces that contributed to the surge of migration from Mexico and Central America,

however, garnered far less attention. "Mr. Trump can build a wall on the border, but that won't stop desperate people from coming," Miguel Perez told me as we marched north one morning with the rest of the caravan in the state of Querétaro, Mexico. Perez was a farmer from Concepción, a small village situated high in the Siete Orejas mountains in the department of Quetzaltenango, Guatemala. In his village, families traditionally harvest maize and potatoes. He explained how, in recent years, the climate had become increasingly arid, causing farmers to lose money on their potato harvests and reap little from their maize. "There's been very little rain over the last five years. When our harvests cannot produce for our families, we have no choice but to leave." He added, "And the situation will only get worse."

Although president Trump disputes its existence,<sup>3</sup> the pernicious effects of climate change have played an increasingly important role in driving Central American families from their homes. Many of the migrants traveling to the US–Mexico border come from the dry corridor of Central America, a tropical dry forest region stretching from the western provinces of Panama to the Pacific coast of southern Mexico. The region is known for its irregular rainfall and, according



Hundreds of migrants, including an eight-month-pregnant woman and several infants, cram into a caged transport truck on their way to Queretaro, Mexico.

to climate scientists, has become one of the most susceptible regions in the world to climate change.<sup>4</sup>

While low rainfall totals in the dry corridor are not uncommon, a prolonged five-year drought dating back to 2014 has led to unprecedented devastation.<sup>5</sup> In 2018, the UN Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) estimated that more than 280,000 hectares of beans and maize were eradicated in El Salvador, Guatemala, and Honduras.<sup>6</sup> Subsistence farmers in these three countries experienced crop losses ranging from 50 to 75 percent of their harvests.<sup>7</sup> In response, the governments declared states of emergency, and the UN World Food Programme warned that the loss of crops would mean that "families would not have enough food to eat or sell in the coming months."<sup>8</sup>

According to a report from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), there is increasing evidence that the strength and duration of these recent droughts is linked to human activity. Over the past few decades, Central America has become significantly hotter and drier. Rainfall declined by about 1 mm per day during the period from 1950 to 2008, and temperatures increased by 1.3–1.8 degrees Fahrenheit during the 40-year period that began in the mid-1970s.<sup>9</sup> A 2018 study found it very likely that "anthropogenic drying is already underway in the region."<sup>10</sup>

The result is persistent drought and regular crop failure, which left more than two million people in the dry corridor in urgent need of food assistance in 2018.<sup>11</sup> Many subsistence farmers were left with no choice but to migrate. The stories of farmers such as Germán Nuñez and Miguel Perez, whose flights north were driven by food insecurity, thus represent an urgent and growing category of displaced people in the region: climate migrants.

The International Organization for Migration (IOM) defines climate migrants as "persons or groups of persons who, for compelling reasons of sudden or progressive changes in the environment that adversely affect their lives or living conditions, are obliged to leave their habitual homes."<sup>12</sup> According to the UN, there are at least 20 million climate migrants worldwide—more than those displaced by war and political repression combined.<sup>13</sup> In Mexico and Central America alone, the World Bank estimates that climate change could lead to an additional 1.4 million people leaving their homes over the next three decades.<sup>14</sup>

"There are always a lot of reasons why people migrate," Yarsinio Palacios, an expert on forestry in Guatemala, told Jonathan Blitzer of the *New Yorker* in a feature on Central America's dry corridor. "Maybe a family member is sick. Maybe they are trying to make up for losses from the previous year. But in every situation, it has something to do with climate change."<sup>15</sup>

#### \* \* \*

On an afternoon in December 2018, a severe rainstorm in Tijuana, Mexico, flooded a makeshift refugee camp erected in the shadow of the US–Mexico border wall. Over 5,000 migrants, many of whom had been displaced from their permanent homes due to a lack of rain, now found themselves flooded out of their temporary shelter. The migrant caravan had arrived in Tijuana, a city with one of the highest homicide rates in the world, in late November, and while many of the migrants had expectations of applying for asylum on arrival, a controversial metering policy

A young boy stands alongside hundreds of migrants in the caravan, as they wait in the midday heat for an opportunity to hitchhike to the next destination. implemented by the US Customs and Border Patrol limited the number of asylum applications to around 40 per day. Thus, asylum seekers were forced to wait, usually upwards of three months, on the Mexican side of the border wall.

In response to the flooding of the migrant camp, the Tijuana government declared a health emergency and ordered the immediate closing of the tented city. Families once again gathered their belongings, slung their bags over their shoulders, and scattered around the streets of Tijuana-uncertain where they would spend the coming months as they waited for their number to be called. "I'm scared for the safety of my four-year-old son waiting here," a Honduran migrant, Elder Ramirez, told me. Elder was from a small mountainous town called Gracias in western Honduras. In Gracias, Elder had owned two cows and a few hectares of maize. I found him sitting with his son, Jossue, outside of a tent just beyond the flooded camp. "But there is nowhere for us to go now. Even these streets are better than Honduras. If we go back home, we will die of hunger." He paused, and then asked me gravely, "Do you think we will get the asylum?"

Under the current international legal framework,





After a severe rainfall, the Mexican government declared a health emergency at the temporary migrant shelter and required a full and immediate evacuation. The United States can be seen just beyond the netted fence.

their chances are very low. While the term "climate refugee" is often used in the media and in public discourse, the phrase does not formally exist in international law. The definition of refugee that forms the basis of both US and international law was outlined in the 1951 United Nations Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees (and amended by the 1967 Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees) and describes a refugee as someone fleeing persecution based on "race, religion, nationality, or membership of a particular social group or political opinion." Drafted in the immediate wake of the Holocaust and the mass displacement of World War II, the legal definition did not foresee the new dangers that would force people to become refugees in the 21st century.

The Refugee Convention's primary protective mechanism is the principle of non-refoulement, which forbids a country from forcing refugees or asylum seekers to return to a country where they will be in danger. In international refugee law, the interpretation of non-refoulement only applies to the five protected groups outlined in the 1951 Convention. However, some regional refugee instruments, such as the 1969 OAU Convention governing Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa and the 1984 Cartagena Declaration on Refugees, extend the principle of non-refoulement to persons fleeing "events seriously disturbing public order."<sup>16</sup> Under such provisions, persons fleeing sudden-onset natural disasters might be considered refugees.

Beyond international and regional refugee laws, complementary protections could also give rise to an obligation of non-refoulement under international human rights law. Article 6 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR), a multilateral treaty adopted by the United Nations General Assembly and part of the International Bill of Human Rights, recognizes the individual's "inherent right to life" and requires it to be protected by law.<sup>17</sup> As interpreted by the UN Human Rights Committee (HRC), this includes the obligation on states not to extradite, deport, or otherwise remove a person from their territory where there are substantial grounds for believing that there is a real risk of irreparable harm.<sup>18</sup> However, whether article 6 extends the scope of non-refoulement toward persons fleeing from environmental disasters had, until recently, remained untested.

In January 2020, the HRC ruled for the first time that governments may need to consider human rights violations caused by the climate crisis when assessing asylum applications.<sup>19</sup> In 2016, the New Zealand courts rejected that rising sea levels in Ioane Teitiota's home of Kiribati were sufficient grounds for protection as a climate refugee. Teitiota then took his case to the HRC, claiming that New Zealand's decision to refuse asylum, and subsequently deport him, violated his right to life under the ICCPR. Though the committee ultimately upheld the decision of the New Zealand courts, citing an inability to establish that there was a sufficient risk to Teitiota's life, it also recognized that "without robust international efforts, the effects of climate change in receiving states may expose individuals to a violation of their rights under article 6 of the Covenant, thereby triggering the non-refoulement obligations of sending states."20

# The border wall, which divides Tijuana from San Diego and extends out into the Pacific Ocean.

Therefore, if an asylum seeker, such as Elder Ramirez, can prove his claim — "if we go back home, we will die of hunger" — states could be obligated to grant asylum under international human rights law (though not international refugee law).

#### \* \* \*

The United Nations Global Compact on Refugees was adopted by 164 countries in December 2018 and recognized, for the first time, that "climate, environmental degradation, and natural disasters increasingly interact with the drivers of refugee movements."<sup>21</sup> Yet, most human rights experts and agencies, including UNHCR (the UN Refugee Agency) and IOM, do not endorse the term climate refugee, fearing that reopening the 1951 Refugee Convention, when even long-standing interpretations of international refugee law are being attacked, could fatally weaken the current refugee status.<sup>22</sup>

However, the shortcomings of the existing legal framework are clear. Aside from the lack of international consensus on the scope of non-refoulement, international law does not explicitly address whether and under which circumstances disaster-displaced persons should be admitted to another country, what



rights they have during their stay, and under what conditions they may be returned. In the context of environmental disasters, there are also no universally recognized criteria to distinguish between voluntary and forced displacement or how to categorize slow-onset natural hazards, which drive migration through a gradual erosion of resilience.

States, in coordination with international human rights bodies, must establish more coherent and consistent protections for people displaced by environmental disasters—be they sudden-onset or slow to develop. Such a framework would identify and define "persons displaced in the context of disasters and climate change," distinguish between voluntary and forced migration, ensure that at a minimum the non-refoulement principle is upheld, and establish a legal basis for these persons to stay for a defined period of time on the basis of temporary stay arrangements when needed.

The human cost of inaction is too high for further delay. Without the international community's coordinated action, millions of people like Germán and Elder will be forced to choose between severe food insecurity at home and the dangers of unauthorized migration abroad.

Back in 2018, during the late night at the Mexican City shelter, Germán mentioned a contingency plan if the United States rejected his claim as a climate refugee. "If we don't get asylum this time, we'll return with a mega-caravan of 50,000 people next time," he had told me. "So many people in Honduras are hungry and desperate."

In October 2019, Germán and his family were rejected entry into the United States and returned to Honduras. Knowing that climate change has jeopardized their way of life at home, they wait for another opportunity to make the dangerous trek north.

Alex Domash is a master in public administration in international development (MPA/ID) candidate at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. He previously worked as a journalist in Latin America, where he covered immigration and reported on the Central American migrant caravans in Mexico. He also has experience working with the World Bank in Uganda and conducting economic policy research in Kenya.

- 1 Germán and the other migrants in this story are identified by pseudonyms, as revealing their names could risk their safety.
- 2 Julia Carrie Wong, "Trump referred to immigrant 'invasion' in 2,000 Facebook ads, analysis reveals," *The Guardian*, 5 August 2019, https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2019/aug/05/ trump-internet-facebook-ads-racism-immigrant-invasion.
- 3 Lisa Friedman, "I Don't Know If It's Man-Made,' Trump Says of Climate Change. It is," *New York Times*, 15 October 2018, https://www.nytimes.com/2018/10/15/climate/trump-climatechange-fact-check.html.
- 4 Jordi Vaqué, "Chronology of the Dry Corridor: The impetus for resilience in Central America," Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Agriculture News from Latin America and the Caribbean, 6 January 2017, http://www. fao.org/in-action/agronoticias/detail/en/c/1024539/.
- 5 Adam Wernick, "Climate change is the overlooked driver of Central American migration," Public Radio International, 6 February 2019, https://www.pri.org/stories/2019-02-06/ climate-change-overlooked-driver-central-american-migration.
- 6 Benjamin Labatut and Elio Rujano, "FAO and WFP concerned about the impact of drought on the most vulnerable in Central America," World Food Programme, 24 August 2018, https://www.wfp.org/news/fao-and-wfp-concerned-about-impact-drought-most-vulnerable-central-america.
- 7 "Special Report: Second consecutive year of failed yields for subsistence farmers in Central America's Dry Corridor," Crop Monitor, updated 21 October 2019, https://cropmonitor.org/index.php/2019/10/21/ special-report-central-america-dry-corridor/.
- 8 "Central America and the Caribbean: Drought Jul 2018," United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA), n.d., https://reliefweb.int/disaster/ dr-2018-000106-slv.
- 9 Vincente R Barros et al., eds., "Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2014) [PDF file].
- Dimitris A. Herrera et al., "Exacerbation of the 2013-2016 Pan-Caribbean Drought by Anthropogenic Warming," Geophysical Research Letters 45, no. 19 (2018): 619–26.
- 11 Anastasia Moloney, "Two million risk hunger after drought in Central America – U.N," Reuters, 7 September 2018, https:// www.reuters.com/article/us-americas-drought-un/two-millionrisk-hunger-after-drought-in-central-america-u-n-idUSKCN-ILN2AY.

- 12 Discussion Note: Migration and the Environment (94th session; International Organization for Migration, 2007) [PDF file].
- 13 Stefan Lovgren, "Climate Change Creating Millions of 'Eco Refugees,' UN Warns," *National Geographic News*, 18 October 2005. Web. 13 March 2012.
- 14 "Groundswell: Preparing for Internal Climate Migration," policy note #3, World Bank Group, 19 March 2018, https:// www.worldbank.org/en/news/infographic/2018/03/19/ groundswell---preparing-for-internal-climate-migration.
- 15 Jonathan Blitzer, "How Climate Change is Fuelling the U.S. Border Crisis," *The New Yorker*, 3 April 2019, https://www.newyorker.com/news/dispatch/ how-climate-change-is-fuelling-the-us-border-crisis.
- 16 Summary of Deliberations on Climate Change and Displacement (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees [UNHCR], 2011) [PDF file].
- 17 Article 6.1, "International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights," UNHCR, n.d., https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/ccpr.aspx.
- 18 Advisory Opinion on the Extraterritorial Application of Non-Refoulement Obligations under the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees and its 1967 Protocol (UNHCR, 2007) [PDF file].
- "UN landmark case for people displaced by climate change," Amnesty International (blog), 20 January 2020, https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2020/01/ un-landmark-case-for-people-displaced-by-climate-change/.
- 20 Views adopted by the Committee under article 5 (4) of the Optional Protocol, concerning communication No. 2728/2016 (United Nations Human Rights Committee, 2020).
- 21 Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, "Part II: Clobal compact on refugees," United Nations General Assembly, Seventy-third session, Supplement No. 12.
- 22 "Climate change and disaster displacement," UNHCR, n.d., https://www.unhcr.org/en-us/climate-change-and-disasters. html.

# Upending the US Wind Industry, Offshore

#### Lindsay Ashby Devonas

Offshore wind potential off the US coastline is enough to power the entire country twice over.1 A largely unknown energy windfall, offshore wind is the use of wind farms built in bodies of water to harvest wind energy to generate electricity. Massive wind turbines over twice the size of the Statue of Liberty<sup>2</sup> can loom just out of sight of the beach, with the capacity to provide power to the over 40 percent of the US population that lives in coastal counties.3 Despite decades of political and cost barriers, pushback from fisheries, and a sweeping environmental review ordered by the Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM), state, federal, and private support of offshore wind has exploded. Careful stakeholder navigation can pave the way for this projected \$70-billion renewable industry<sup>4</sup> capable of powering US coastal and Great Lakes states nationwide.

Offshore wind in the United States may be a waking giant, but the industry is not new worldwide. Several nations, including Denmark, turned to harnessing alternative energy resources following the 1973 oil embargo. Meanwhile, the United States experienced over a decade of failed efforts to implement offshore wind in the early 2000s, largely due to economic and political opposition, most notably against the

"Careful stakeholder navigation can pave the way for this projected \$70-billion renewable industry capable of powering US coastal and Great Lakes states nationwide." proposed Cape Wind project off Nantucket Sound.

However, the tides are turning. In 2016, Rhode Island Governor's Chief of Staff Jeff Grybowski oversaw and operated the United States' first operational wind farm: 30 MW Block Island Wind. Since, the BOEM has auctioned some 15 parcels along the Atlantic coast for offshore development.5 A number of projects have secured federal offshore leases and revenue offtake contracts from utilities or states. The implications of development are monumental-if East Coast states build out their declared offshore wind pipeline of over 20 gigawatts (each gigawatt is the size of a typical conventional power plant), this will equal the entire global build of offshore wind today.6 The strongest and most consistent US offshore wind is between Washington, DC, and Boston,<sup>7</sup> where population density makes it difficult to build onshore energy infrastructure.

Offshore wind's historical visibility barriers are now industry strengths. All new offshore wind projects are awarded out of sight in federal waters more than 15 miles off the coastline. Previous projects, including Cape Wind, were less than five miles from the shore. Robert Kennedy Jr., whose family's compound was within sight of the proposed Cape Wind farm, exclaimed general support for wind power, which enjoyed an 81 percent approval rating from Massachusetts citizens,<sup>8</sup> but opposed this project in his own backyard.<sup>9</sup> Now, the East Coast denizens can have their cake and eat it too.

This new energy source also comes with a great sticker price. Massachusetts, Connecticut, and Rhode

Island projects are bidding in at prices that will save ratepayers money. The Massachusetts Vineyard Wind project rang in lower than the average power price and will save ratepayers \$1.4 billion during the first 20 years of the project.<sup>10</sup> US offshore wind project costs have fallen 75 percent since the 2014 Block Island Wind Farm in Rhode Island.<sup>11</sup> According to industry leader Ørsted, the "constructive interplay between visionary policymakers and industry . . . unlocked the financial resources needed to drive innovation and supply chain build out."12 Offshore development will also tap into the skills of workers in existing US oil and gas companies, which have decades of experience developing ocean energy infrastructure.13 Economic and environmental benefits make offshore wind a bipartisan boon.

The largest obstacle to offshore wind may be its own success. The BOEM is conducting an extensive review of the 1+ GW Vineyard Wind project given the surge in recent projects. "I'm not surprised the agencies aren't moving with lightning speed for the first utility scale offshore wind farm in America," noted Mr. Grybowski.14 While the draft environmental impact statement notes that the cumulative impact of seven proposed wind farms do not pose significant environmental risk, there may be moderate to major short-term economic impact on commercial and recreational fishing.15 This can be alleviated in the design phase of proposed projects. For example, turbine spacing and alignment considerations can allow vessels and fish to traverse farms. Additional and created solutions can be found through site-specific dialogs to ensure coexistence of business and offshore wind.

Offshore wind can blow carbon-reliant energy away. Federal agencies and the United States must respond to the national interest in this renewable energy bonanza to welcome a clean power future. and was designated an Emerging Leader in Environmental and Energy Policy (ELEEP) by the Atlantic Council and Ecologic Institute. She has moderated head-of-state-level economic development forums at the United Nations and in China and has presented at the UN, foreign ministries, and conferences multiple times. She was previously a law clerk at Smith and Downey P.A. and a legislative assistant in the Maryland Legislature. Lindsay received a bachelor of science from Johns Hopkins University, where she was a Rhodes Scholar candidate.

- Liz Hartman, "Computing America's Offshore Wind Energy Potential," Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy, 9 September 9, 2016, accessed 21 February 2020, https://www.energy.gov/eere/articles/ computing-america-s-offshore-wind-energy-potential.
- 2 "Haliade-X12 MW offshore wind turbine platform," GE Renewable Energy, accessed 25 February 2020, https:// www.ge.com/renewableenergy/wind-energy/offshore-wind/ haliade-x-offshore-turbine.
- 3 "Economics and Demographics," Office for Coastal Management, National Ocean and Atmospheric Administration, accessed 20 February 2020, https://coast.noaa.gov/states/fastfacts/economics-and-demographics.html.
- 4 Bob Woods, "US has only one offshore wind energy farm, but a \$70 billion market is on the way," CNBC Business News, updated 15 December 2019, accessed 21 February 2020, https:// www.cnbc.com/2019/12/13/us-has-only-one-offshore-windfarm-but-thats-about-to-change.html.
- 5 Jeff Grybowki, "Outlook for U.S. Offshore Wind Energy," Columbia SIPA Center on Global Energy Policy, 9 September 2019, accessed 14 February 2020, https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/outlook-us-offshore-wind-energy.
- 6 Grybowki, "Outlook for U.S. Offshore Wind Energy."
- 7 Hartman, "Computing America's Offshore Wind Energy Potential."
- 8 Liz Peek, "Congress Investigates Cape Wind," Nantucket Chronicle, 23 September 2012, accessed 20 February 2020, https://www.nantucketchronicle.com/columns/ congress-investigates-cape-wind.
- 9 Robert F. Kennedy Jr., "An Ill Wind Off Cape Cod," New York Times, 16 December 2005, accessed 21 February 2020, https:// www.nytimes.com/2005/12/16/opinion/an-ill-wind-off-capecod.html.
- 10 "Benefits," Vineyward Wind, n.d., accessed 21 February 2020, https://www.vineyardwind.com/benefits.

Lindsay Ashby is a MPP candidate at John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University and is a United Nations representative with the International Council for Women. She was the chief of staff at the World Energy Forum from 2013 to 2016

- 11 Mike O'Boyle, "Offshore Wind Prices Have Fallen 75% Since 2014 – Here's How To De-Risk Projects Even Further." Utility Dive (blog), 3 December 2018, accessed 26 February 2020, https://www.utilitydive.com/news/offshore-wind-prices-havefallen-75-since-2014-heres-how-to-de-risk-pro/543384/.
- 12 Making green energy affordable (Gentofte, Denmark: Ørsted) [PDF file].
- 13 "Offshore Wind," American Wind Energy Association, 2020, accessed 25 February 2020, https://www.awea.org/ policy-and-issues/u-s-offshore-wind.
- 14 Grybowki, "Outlook for U.S. Offshore Wind Energy."
- 15 Brian Krevor, Vineyard Wind Draft Environmental Impact Statement Public Hearings (Sterling, VA: Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, 2019) [PDF file].



# Sustainable Cities in an Era of Climate Change

#### Joyce Ng

Climate change is the crisis of our time. As engines of growth and life, cities around the world are developing measures to adapt to and mitigate the effects of climate change. With almost 70 percent of the world's population due to live in cities by 2050,<sup>1</sup> sustainable urban development will become an even more pressing issue in the era of climate change. Ranked by Mercer's 20th annual 2019 Quality of Living Rankings<sup>2</sup> as the most livable city in Asia, Singapore is often lauded as one of the global leaders in sustainable urban development.

A city-state of 721 square kilometers, equivalent to 228 square miles, with few natural resources, Singapore faces a dual challenge: delivering sufficient land for housing, transport, and recreation to meet the city's growing needs while reducing carbon emissions and ameliorating the impacts of climate change. Planning for sustainable urban development is a matter of survival. Singapore approaches this through a long-term, integrated, and comprehensive urban planning framework, led by the country's national planning agency, the Urban Redevelopment Authority. Since the launch of the Building Construction Authority's Green Mark Scheme in 2005, more than 30 percent' of Singapore's total built-up area has been environmentally friendly. Every two years, the World Cities Summit, held in conjunction with the Singapore International Water Week and the CleanEnviro Summit Singapore, invites city leaders to Singapore to share knowledge on urban planning with counterparts internationally.

Today, approximately 80 percent of Singapore's resident population of 4 million<sup>4</sup> live in Housing Development Board (HDB) flats across the island. "Under the Smart HDB Town Framework, these flats are fitted with real-time sensors that capture information such as temperature, humidity, and residents' energy usage to create cost-effective solutions, including smart lighting and more efficient water and waste management."

Under the Smart HDB Town Framework,<sup>5</sup> these flats are fitted with real-time sensors that capture information such as temperature, humidity, and residents' energy usage to create cost-effective solutions, including smart lighting and more efficient water and waste management. Singapore's government has also implemented minimum energy performance standards for household appliances to reduce energy use in homes.

More broadly, the HDB has undertaken a major program to install rooftop solar panels. Half the island's HDB flats will be fitted with rooftop solar panels by the end of this year,<sup>6</sup> and the country has pledged to ramp up its overall solar capacity to meet 4 percent of the total electricity demand.<sup>7</sup>

In an effort to make public transport greener, Singapore's Land Transport Authority has an ambitious plan to double the rail network in 15 years. Planning is based on the "45-minute city, 20-minute town" model.8 This means that nine in ten peak-period journeys to the city center will be completed in 45 minutes, and nine out of ten people will be able to access amenities in less than 20 minutes through walking or cycling. This will require more dedicated bus lanes and cycling paths to prioritize public transit. By 2030, the density of the rail network is expected to be comparable to London, New York, and Tokyo. More than 120 trains are expected to be procured, increasing the total fleet size by more than 40 percent. Cycling paths should double from 355 km in 2015 to more than 700 km by 2030 and 1,000 km by 2040. These policies collectively aim to increase the use of peak-hour public transport from 66 percent in 2015 to 75 percent in 2030 and 85 percent in 2050.<sup>9</sup> Additional policies that encourage electric-vehicle use and infrastructure, including around 2,000 charging kiosks, are planned to accompany these public transportation investments.<sup>10</sup>

The journey to adopt new technologies will require changes in consumer mindsets and will encounter resistance. While Singaporeans are aware of climate change, many still prioritize efficiency and convenience over mindful consumption habits. Implementing these polices will require close collaboration within the government, alongside commercial and industrial will. While there has been an increase in public consultation in recent years, more resources will need to go into public campaigns and sustained education to convince the general public, and businesses, of the need to mitigate against climate change—especially given that Singapore only contributes 0.11 percent to global greenhouse gases.<sup>11</sup>

The policies outlined here are not comprehensive, yet they show how a country with limited natural resources can be innovative in adapting to—and mitigating—the realities of climate change. The next challenge is to nudge Singaporeans toward climate-friendly choices and mobilize businesses to act.

A mid-career master in public administration 2020 candidate at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University, Joyce will return to the Singapore government upon graduation to develop infrastructure-related policies. Prior to HKS, Joyce was an urban planner with Singapore's national land-use planning and conservation agency, the Urban Redevelopment Authority, and worked on long-term strategic land-use polices, medium-term physical planning issues, and immediate local municipal infrastructure provision. Joyce graduated with a BSc in geography (first class honors) from the University College London and is an alumnus of summer programs with Yale University and Harvard Beijing

Academy. Joyce also enjoys playing the violin and is passionate about the flourishing of communities.

- 1 "68% of the world population projected to live in urban areas by 2050, says UN," United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (blog), 16 May 2018, accessed 12 December 2019, https://www.un.org/development/desa/en/news/population/2018-revision-of-world-urbanization-prospects.html.
- 2 "Vienna Tops Mercer's 21st Quality of Living Ranking," Mercer, 13 March 2019, accessed 12 December 2019, https://www. mercer.com/newsroom/2019-quality-of-living-survey.html.
- 3 Cheong Yi Wei, "The missing piece in Singapore's green building puzzle," Eco-Business, 21 August 2018, accessed 14 December 2019, https://www.eco-business.com/news/ the-missing-piece-in-singapores-green-building-puzzle/.
- 4 "Population and Population Structure," Singapore Department of Statistics, n.d., accessed 15 December 2019, https:// www.singstat.gov.sg/find-data/search-by-theme/population/ population-and-population-structure/latest-data.
- 5 "What are Smart Towns? | Smart Towns," Smart Nation Singapore, n.d., accessed 15 January 2019, https://www.smartnation. sg/what-is-smart-nation/initiatives/Urban-Living/smart-towns.
- 6 Low Youjin, "Singapore to ramp up solar energy production, with 1 in 2 HDB rooftops having solar panels by 2020," *Today*, updated 29 October 2019, accessed 20 December 2019, https:// www.todayonline.com/singapore-ramp-solar-energy-production-2030-hdb-rooftops-have-solar-panels-2020.
- 7 Ang Hwee Min, "Singapore sets solar energy target for 2030 that would provide enough power for 350,000 homes," *Today*, 29 October 2019, accessed 20 December 2019, https://www. channelnewsasia.com/news/singapore/solar-power-targetenergy-350000-homes-2030-hdb-rooftops-12042228.
- 8 "Land Transport Master Plan 2040," Land Transport Authority Singapore, n.d., accessed 15 January 2020, https://www.lta. gov.sg/content/ltagov/en/who\_we\_are/our\_work/land\_transport\_master\_plan\_2040.html.
- 9 Towards a Sustainable and Resilient Singapore (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2018) [PDF file].
- 10 "Parliament: Singapore to set up 2,000 electric vehicle charging points," Straits Times, 9 May 2016, accessed 30 January 2020, https://www.straitstimes.com/singapore/transport/parliamentsingapore-to-set-up-2000-electric-vehicle-charging-points.
- Singapore's Intended Nationally Determined Contribution (INDC) and Accompanying Information (United Nations)
  [PDF file], available at: https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/ndcstaging/PublishedDocuments/Singapore%20First/Singapore%20
  INDC.pdf.



### Making a Move on Climate Migration Policy in Africa

#### Lucy O'Keeffe

Climate change is rarely featured in discussions on economic growth. However, Dr. Ngozi Onkojo-Iweala, the former Nigerian finance minister and managing director of the World Bank, cited climate change, along with conflict and fragility, terrorism, and pandemics, as a major constraint to Africa's ability to reduce poverty during a talk at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University this past fall.<sup>1</sup> Accelerating droughts and extreme weather events, she explained, would exacerbate displacement and migration flows between states within Africa and even lead migrants to Europe.

Internal displacement within African states, however, is perhaps an even larger issue within climate-related migration. The World Bank estimates the number of individuals internally displaced by climate change in Africa will reach 86 million by 2050.<sup>2</sup> In 2018 alone, there were 2.6 million new disaster-related displacements, mostly attributed to storms, floods, and droughts.<sup>3</sup> Furthermore, back-to-back cyclones "A policy strategy is needed to address both internal and crossborder climate-related migration, one that ultimately can reduce forced displacement by enhancing African states' adaptive capacity.

Idai and Kenneth, which hit Mozambique in March and April 2019, internally displaced over 163,000 people in Mozambique, Zimbabwe, and Malawi, underscoring the severe disruption created by a sudden-onset event.<sup>4</sup>

A policy strategy is needed to address both internal and cross-border climate-related migration, one that ultimately can reduce forced displacement by enhancing African states' adaptive capacity. As not all cross-border movement can be averted, establishing legal clarity at the international level is imperative to ensure adequate protection of individuals forcibly displaced by the effects of climate change.

The United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees' (UNHCR) recent actions on the issue of climate-related migration signal a growing concern about the lack of clear international or regional legal frameworks governing this issue. In October 2019, the UNHCR High Commissioner, Filippo Grandi, speaking at the 70th session of the UNHCR's Executive Meeting in Geneva, called for a "bigger, broader" approach to manage a growing contemporary driver of displacement: climate change.5 More recently at the World Economic Forum in Davos, Grandi said, "We must be prepared for a large surge of people moving against their will."6 His statement followed an unprecedented ruling. The day before, the UN Human Rights Committee found in a New Zealand asylum case that "without robust national and international efforts, the effects of climate change in receiving states may expose individuals to a violation of their rights under articles 6 or 7 of the Covenant, thereby triggering the non-refoulement obligations of sending states."7 The principle of non-refoulement8 prevents states from returning refugees to their home countries, if "his [or her] life or freedom would be threatened."<sup>9</sup> According to Jane McAdam, a climate change and displacement legal scholar, the question now is how the UN Human Rights Committee's decision will be implemented. As McAdams writes, "The decision is not legally binding but the international obligations<sup>10</sup> on which it is based are."<sup>11</sup>

African states have additional obligations under the 1969 Organization of African Unity (OAU) Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa. The 1969 OAU Convention builds on the 1951 Refugee Convention's definition of refugee<sup>12</sup> to incorporate additional factors warranting protected status like "external aggression, occupation, foreign domination or events seriously disturbing public order."<sup>13</sup> "Events seriously disturbing public order" could be expanded to include natural disasters. The challenge for African states will be evaluating climate-change asylum cases considering the increased moral, if not legal, imperative to protect individuals facing perilous, climate-induced circumstances in the countries from which they fled.

African states must also tackle the more pervasive issue of internal migration. Focusing attention on adaptation and resiliency planning should be central to taking a bigger, broader approach to climate displacement. African states will require financing to reduce the heavy economic burden as the costs of climate adaptation in Africa are projected to be 5-10 percent of GDP by the end of this century.14 Focusing investment on highly populated coastal areas that are more vulnerable to sea-level rise and tropical cyclone activity, for example, may help mitigate the costs of sudden-onset displacement by spreading the costs across proactive planned relocation. Sea-level rise and extreme weather events are not the only detrimental impacts identified in the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change's Fourth Report. The panel also predicts climate change will cause water stress, decreased agricultural yields, and increases in arid- and semi-arid land in Africa, all of which may trigger migration.15

Flexible adaptation mechanisms, such as immigration reform at the continent level, may facilitate climate-change movement for individuals requiring temporary resettlement. As part of its Agenda 2063 framework, the African Union is working on an African passport and free-movement initiative.<sup>16</sup> This initiative aims to relax visa restrictions and liberalize cross-border movement as part of a broader economic integration strategy. The policy proposal does not explicitly consider migration related to climate change, but it could potentially be used to support short-term relocation of people displaced by the effects of climate change. This idea has been explored in recent research by the Platform on Disaster and Displacement, an organization focused on cross-border displacement from disasters and climate change. Their analysis suggests that the free-movement initiative could potentially fill some of the current protection gap in Africa.17

The human migration dimension of the climate crisis may place additional strain on the existing immigration policy frameworks. A robust policy response to climate migration in Africa should focus on three areas: securing legal protections for climate refugees, alleviating the burden on individuals displaced by climate change, and identifying opportunities to avert future displacement. Given the transboundary nature of this issue, the solutions and efficacy of policy responses ultimately depend on collaboration within the African Union and at the international level. There is no question that Africa needs to prepare for the likely increase in the number of refugees as a result of climate change. How African states can avoid the added burden on the refugee system through proactive planning will ultimately determine how well it can adapt.

Lucy O'Keeffe is a master in public policy student at John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. Prior to the Kennedy School, Lucy worked in Washington, DC, as a research assistant at Resources for the Future, conducting energy and environmental economics research. She has also worked at Harvard's Center for Health Decision Science on projects related to the economic analysis of public health and environmental policy interventions.

- Ngozi Okonjo-Iweala, "The Changing Face of Poverty: Can Africa Surprise the World?" Robert S. McNamara Lecture on War and Peace, moderated by Zoe Marks 15 October 2019, available at: https://iop.harvard.edu/forum/ changing-face-poverty-can-africa-surprise-world.
- 2 "Groundswell: Preparing for Internal Climate Migration," The World Bank, 19 March 2018, https:// www.worldbank.org/en/news/infographic/2018/03/19/ groundswell---preparing-for-internal-climate-migration.
- 3 "Sub-Saharan Africa," Global Report on Internal Displacement 2018 (Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre, 2018), available at: https://www.internal-displacement.org/global-report/grid2019/downloads/report/2019-IDMC-GRID-sub-saharan-africa.pdf.
- 4 "Cyclone Idai and Kenneth cause devastation and suffering in Mozambique," UNICEF, n.d., accessed on 12 February 2020, https://www.unicef.org/mozambique/en/cyclone-idai-and-kenneth; and Migration, Environment, and Climate Change: Evidence for Policy Glossary (Geneva: International Organization for Migration, 2014) [PDF file].
- 5 UNHCR staff, "Bigger, broader' vision needed to tackle forced displacement – UN refugee chief," UNHCR, 7 October 2019, https://www.unhcr.org/en-us/news/latest/2019/10/5d9b448a4/ bigger-broader-vision-needed-tackle-forced-displacement-un-refugee-chief.html.
- 6 Kristy Siegfried, "The Refugee Brief 22 January 2020," UN-HCR, 22 January 2020, https://www.unhcr.org/refugeebrief/ the-refugee-brief-22-january-2020/.
- 7 Views adopted by the Committee under article 5 (4) of the Optional Protocol, concerning communication No. 2728/2016 (International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Human Rights Committee, 2020) [PDF file].
- 8 Non-refoulement is defined in article 33 of the 1951 Refugee Convention.
- 9 Convention and Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees (UNHCR) [PDF file], available at https://www.unhcr. org/3b66c2aal0.
- 10 These international obligations include the 1951 Refugee Convention and its 1967 Protocol.
- 11 Jane McAdam, "Climate refugees cannot be forced back home," Sydney Moming Herald, 20 January 2020, https://www. smh.com.au/environment/climate-change/climate-refugeescannot-be-forced-back-home-20200119-p53sp4.html.

- Convention and Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees (UNHCR).
- 13 OAU Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa (UNHCR) [PDF file], available at: https:// www.unhcr.org/en-us/about-us/background/45dcla682/ oau-convention-governing-specific-aspects-refugee-problems-africa-adopted.html.
- 14 Lenny Bernstein et al., Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (Geneva: IPCC) [PDF file].
- 15 Bernstein et al., Climate Change 2007.
- 16 Agenda 2063: The AFRICA We Want (African Union Commission, 2015) [PDF file].
- 17 Tamara Wood, The Role of Free Movement of Persons Agreements in Addressing Disaster Displacement: A Study of Africa (Platform on Disaster Displacement, 2019) [PDF file].

#### **Confronting Borders**

### Is the World Ready for Global Citizens? Toward Citizenship(s) for the 21st Century

#### Derrick Flakoll and Bochen Han

#### Why We Care

A year after we married, Bochen flew hundreds of miles from Nanjing, China, to Guangzhou for her green card interview. In America, I (Derrick) waited, as I had for most of a year. This date was the culmination of months of cross-continental document wrangling and excruciating uncertainty—and of putting our lives together on hold.

It began when an official at Bochen's undergrad college in North Carolina accidentally rendered her ineligible for the post-graduation work authorization that international students can normally apply for. As a Canadian and American in love, simply being together became a hurdle. Once we'd married, we could begin planning a life together. But we quickly realized that applying for a green card from within the United States would require Bochen to neither work nor leave the country for at least seven months. Alternatively, applying from abroad would mean that simply re-entering the country before the process was complete would jeopardize the application. Bochen decided to return to Southeast Asia, where she had previously interned, and study in China while the case progressed.

Notwithstanding the difficulties of working with authorities across five countries, our case was repeatedly held up. First, authorities demanded Bochen's birth certificate when China, her birth country, didn't issue such certificates until a year after her birth.<sup>1</sup> It took several rounds of correspondence for them to accept her substitute (which is recognized on the National Visa Center's website<sup>2</sup>). On another occasion, officials demanded a police certificate for Thailand, where Bochen had lived for under a year-again, contrary to official language.3 Finally, the authorities made a timestamp error while transferring her case from Myanmar to China, nearly causing her to miss her critical interview. It soon became evident that Bochen's time abroad made the process infinitely more complex, as it seemed like the US immigration system, despite routinely processing roughly 500,000 applications annually,4 somehow could not accommodate a multinational work and residential history. Each holdup meant wrestling with unwritten rules and uncertain wait times, making us increasingly frustrated at the carelessness with which our lives were being treated. It appeared that we were being punished for Bochen's pursuit of global citizenship-of an identity unbounded by borders, connected to communities around the world, and (especially in our case) defined by a commitment to working for the wellbeing of humanity everywhere.

For all our difficulties accommodating an opaque, often arbitrary system, our story is neither exceptional nor the most harrowing. Yet we share it to show how agonizing the process can be, even for people who did everything right. This journey was a rude awakening for us: growing up American and Canadian, we rarely had to give our nationalities a second thought. Our experience revealed that legal status determined almost everything, from job prospects to the ability to be with loved ones, and that the liberal dream of global citizenship was far from being realized in our current system.

### Dominant Models of Citizenship: Conceptions and Pathways

Traditionally, *conceptions* of citizenship are divided into civic and ethnic. Civic citizenship is extended to any immigrant who agrees to obey a country's laws and principles. In Canada, for example, citizens are expected to endorse the same values of tolerance and inclusion from which they benefit. Ethnic citizenship requires both legal compliance and membership in one of a nation-state's dominant or traditional ethnic groups.<sup>5</sup> Certainly, more globally inclusive citizenships cannot be ethnically defined. The challenge confronting many countries is thus creating a civic concept that is both persuasive and durable.

Countries generally offer two major immigration pathways. The first, the merit-based immigration process that brought Bochen's family to Canada 18 years ago, prioritizes candidates who can best contribute to the economy based on factors like education, employability, language ability, and net worth.<sup>6</sup> Notably, in over 20 countries investors can secure citizenship, or the less privileged status of permanent residency, simply by investing substantial sums.<sup>7</sup> The other pathway, the core of the US immigration system and our route to Bochen's permanent residence, is family reunification, which prioritizes relatives of current citizens and residents. In practice, the two systems often coexist.

### Micro-level Problems: Excluded Lives and Frustrated Dreams

Deep inequalities in economic opportunity and security have driven more people to leave their home countries than any time since World War II.<sup>8</sup> As of 2019, 3.5 percent of the world's population, or 220 million people, are migrants.<sup>9</sup> Now, even facing a global anti-migrant backlash, 15 percent of humanity—775 million people—would move to another country if they could.<sup>10</sup>

For all the diversity of today's immigration avenues, they share a basic inefficiency, inequity, and insensitivity. Merit-based immigration systems, for example, effectively discriminate against poorer immigrants who lack the means to acquire degrees, invest large sums, or otherwise demonstrate economic value. Undermining the spirit of family reunification, family members of those born in major source countries might now wait 20-plus years for permanent residency, compared to mere months in the 1990s.11 For all their benefits, cultural citizenship tests and stringent vetting procedures can impose severe administrative burden on applicants if poorly designed,12 discouraging them from migrating, contributing to receiving economies, and improving their own lives. And in all of this, official discretion over who fulfills immigration requirements such as "good moral character" can render the process highly uncertain and unequal in application, especially if officials fail to care about immigrants' particular circumstances or understand the realities of a globalizing world.13 Confronted with systems insensitive to cosmopolitan values, even the best and the brightest migrants find insurmountable barriers to their flourishing and ability to contribute to their adopted economies.14

"Our experience revealed that legal status determined almost everything, from job prospects to the ability to be with loved ones, and that the liberal dream of global citizenship was far from being realized in our current system."

While obtaining permanent residence can take ages, citizenship can also take years to acquire —if it's offered at all; countries like China and the Gulf states virtually never naturalize foreigners.<sup>15</sup> To live in a state as a noncitizen is to live in heightened vulnerability; as Hannah Arendt observed, only citizenship offers "the right to have rights."<sup>16</sup> Second-class statuses like residency mean limited protections by the state. Despite treaty obligations, host countries have rarely been willing to provide refugees with adequate essential services like health and education.<sup>17</sup> Employers in countries from Qatar to America exploit migrants' fears of deportation to depress wages and impose abusive working conditions.<sup>18</sup> And nationalist movements deny citizenship to vulnerable minorities like Myanmar's Rohingya, leaving them effectively with no rights at all.<sup>19</sup>

But perhaps even more distressing than living with limited rights, noncitizens live in a constant state of non-belonging, as one's identity, whether perceived by oneself or others, remains tethered to national affiliation. Can one call oneself American without American citizenship, even if one has lived in the United States for decades, speaks English better than natives, and identifies wholly with American values? The incredible emotional toll of cultural exclusion can deter all but the most determined would-be migrants and leave lasting scars in those who do migrate.<sup>20</sup>

### Macro-level Problems: Social Injustice and a Disconnected World

Ironically, migrants' preferred destinations are often responsible for the political and economic instability that drive them out. People born in societies damaged by European and American colonialism and exclusion deserve reparative justice: a chance to experience the opportunities that might have been available at home in a fairer world.<sup>21</sup>

Beyond correcting historical injustices, the immigration system must be redesigned to better support international collaboration and exchange on current global problems like climate change. Solving our era's great challenges requires citizens who can freely move where their talents are needed, living and working together with more ingenuity and productivity than they could achieve alone.

In discussing facilitation of global labor exchanges, some argue that the Gulf Model, in which migrants have no prospect of citizenship, is an ideal immigration model as it not only provides a win-win economic relationship between migrants and the state but also helps curb global inequality without having to deal with the complexities of full inclusion.<sup>22</sup> Yet sociocultural exclusion of migrants, as with economic exclusion, can grow to threaten national stability<sup>23</sup> and increase the power of xenophobic and authoritarian strains of nationalism.<sup>24</sup> At the same time, failing to address concerns about immigration and cosmopolitanism within a liberal democratic framework will simply drive nationalist voters toward authoritarian populists.<sup>25</sup>

# Hints of a Way Forward: Immigration for Tomorrow

As the world considers how to grapple with increasingly mobile populations, it should look to the region that has best accommodated its transnational citizens: Europe. The signing of the Schengen Treaty meant that legal residents of signatory states—primarily European Union members—could travel and work visa-free across borders.<sup>26</sup> As governments experiment with permitting foreigners within Schengen to exercise even the most closely guarded privileges of citizenship (e.g., voting), citizenship within Schengen is approaching true transnational citizenship.<sup>27</sup>

Emulating Schengen, the African Union is implementing a continent-wide free-travel area as a forerunner to a similar common labor market.<sup>28</sup> Similarly, the Association of Southeast Asian Nations is considering expanding its visa-free travel into a freer labor regime.<sup>29</sup> Yet the overall record of EU "transnational citizenship" is mixed. Economically, the free movement of persons has helped match skilled workers to the best uses of their talents, reducing unemployment by up to 6 percent and raising GDP growth by up to 1 percent in some states.<sup>30</sup> Politically, it has driven much of the demographic change and populist backlash that led to events like Brexit.<sup>31</sup> Europe appears increasingly unable to handle the

"But perhaps even more distressing than living with limited rights, noncitizens live in a constant state of non-belonging, as one's identity, whether perceived by oneself or others, remains tethered to national affiliation." multiculturalism that has become inextricable from its society—one that could be respected and productively deployed but that has instead become an engine of division and resurgent authoritarian politics.<sup>32</sup>

Meanwhile, European countries like Estonia have sought to further expand Schengen's incipient transnational citizenship. Leveraging its digital prowess and the appeal of Europe's common market, Estonia has established an "e-Residency program" that has enlarged its economy by 14 million euros and attracted over 14,000 e-Residents since 2014.33 e-Residency is far from full citizenship, granting commercial rights like work authorization and business registration that permanent residents would expect but falling short of the civil and political rights that citizens are generally entitled to. Digital nomads who never set foot in Estonia may have no reason to care. However, these restrictions on rights make it harder for e-Residents to transition to physical residency, which would both support Estonia's economy and migrants. Still, it substantially expands working rights and legal protections in a critical world market and comes far faster and cheaper than traditional residency. In that sense, e-Residency represents a true step forward for would-be global citizens who want to contribute to different regions of the world.34

While Schengen and Estonia focus on immigration's potential for transnational collaboration and economic growth, Spain and Portugal recently attempted to make amends for historical injustice by offering citizenship to the descendants of expelled Sephardic Jews. While hundreds of thousands signed up, practical burdens such as documenting ancestry and Spanish language ability may have dissuaded many others. Notably, the program was skewed in favor of skilled young professionals seeking an EU passport, limiting reparative citizenship's ability to correct for the global inequalities that it allegedly exists to redress (except, perhaps, through migrant remittances).35 Even these privileged applicants with full formal equality may in effect become second-class citizens due to cultural exclusion if their ethnic, religious, or gender identity is seen as alien or undesirable-as is likely in Spain, where anti-Semitism remains all too common.<sup>36</sup> While this reparative citizenship proposal leaves much to be desired, it suggests a way to square the circle between transnational citizenship's economic and moral dimensions, not only recruiting skilled professionals to fill labor shortages in developed countries but effectively sharing wealth and opportunity with those whose homelands were decimated by colonialism.

Finally, Canada's inclusive citizenship model may offer an even broader solution to social and economic exclusion. In Canada, there is a public consensus in favor of immigration, because the system focuses on attracting highly educated and adaptable workers, linking their presence to economic growth.<sup>37</sup> The government's support for social integration, including official multiculturalism, strong human rights protections, and funding for ethnic community organizations and language classes, further enables migrants to contribute to Canada's economic and cultural life relatively unhindered by exploitation or exclusion.<sup>38</sup> Through mechanisms like apprenticeship programs and more flexible "provincial nominee" immigration quotas, thereby diversifying its criteria for "merit," Canada reduces discrimination within its merit-based system.<sup>39</sup> The system is by no means perfect; Bochen can attest that immigrants in Canada face hurdles. Racism still exists in Canada, and the country has not integrated unskilled workers as successfully as skilled ones.<sup>40</sup> But the United States and other countries could still learn much from Canada's relative success.<sup>41</sup>

#### Conclusion: Making Global Citizenship a Reality

Our schools and leaders ask us to think and act as global citizens: to take responsibility for and engage with humanity as a whole, undeterred by physical or cultural barriers. Unfortunately, we know firsthand the frustrations of trying to live and work as global citizens in a world that isn't built for it. We know, too, that many would-be global citizens have it harder than us. They're subject to longer waits for more restricted rights or barred from opportunities by political, ethnic, or cultural criteria. Simply put, our system of rights and guarantees continues to presume an exclusive, permanent connection between each person and a single state, and it needs to play catch-up with the realities and necessities of the 21st century.

Our moment demands a cultural shift amongst ordinary citizens and public officials alike. We need to ask how we can ensure that immigration systems avoid the inefficiencies, insensitivities, and inequities of the current process for those seeking secure lives abroad. More fundamentally, we need to ask how we can create more inclusive conceptions of citizenship while also allowing states to set reasonable immigration requirements that prevent populism, ethnocentrism, and other forms of "unmanageable disruption."<sup>42</sup> What does it mean to be a member of a national community? Without an answer to this, even citizenship is a kind of homelessness, leaving migrants adrift and potentially sparking alienation, polarization, and social conflict.

We know there are ways to redefine citizenship both legally and culturally—for a more mobile world. In the 1960s, fewer than one-quarter of countries allowed dual citizenship; in 2017, approximately two-thirds did. Roughly half of that change came relatively recently, after the 1990s.<sup>43</sup> Dual citizenship expanded in this way because migrants working abroad successfully organized to demand it.<sup>44</sup> With the emergent models of transnational free movement, e-Residency, reparative citizenship, and multicultural integration, today's aspiring global citizens have examples to point to as they advocate for more flexible and compassionate 21st-century citizenships.

Systemically supporting global citizenship is not just desirable, it's a moral imperative. We deserve a world where smart, driven, caring people are free to work where they can do the most good, and live wherever they can lead their best lives in common with their communities. Anything less needlessly stunts the potential of every person in the world, whoever or wherever they are. Derrick Flakoll is an MPP candidate studying technology and communications policy, political economy, and international affairs at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. Prior to HKS, he has worked as a Belt and Road Initiative researcher for The Asia Foundation in Myanmar, a congressional campaign finance consultant at Grassroots Analytics, and a security and medical risk analyst at VIGILINT, a global health consultancy. He graduated from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill with a double major in peace, war, and defense and public policy in 2016.

Bochen Han is a MA candidate at the Johns Hopkins School of Advanced International Studies, spending her first year at the Hopkins campus in Nanjing studying the intersection of law, politics, and culture. Bochen's work has centered on the three sectors of human rights, international development, and foreign affairs, with stints at the United Nations, Freedom House, The Diplomat Magazine, and the Council on Foreign Relations as well as forays into civil society and social enterprise in Thailand and Myanmar. Bochen holds a bachelor's degree in political science from Duke University.

- Canada: Immigration and Refugee Board of Canada, China: Information contained in birth and notarial certificates; reasons why a person would obtain a notarial certificate rather than a notarized copy of the original birth record, 8 July 2010, CHN103503.E, available at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/4dd20c572.html.
- 2 "China Reciprocity Schedule," US Department of State Bureau of Consular Affairs, accessed 1 January 2020, https://travel. state.gov/content/travel/en/us-visas/Visa-Reciprocity-and-Civil-Documents-by-Country/China.html.
- 3 "Immigrant Visa Process," US Department of State Bureau of Consular Affairs, accessed 1 January 2020, https://travel.state. gov/content/travel/en/us-visas/immigrate/the-immigrant-visa-process/step-5-collect-financial-evidence-and-other-supporting-documents/step-7-collect-civil-documents.html.
- 4 Worldwide Immigrant Visa Issuances Fiscal Years 2013-2018 (National Visa Center) [PDF file], available at: https://travel. state.gov/content/dam/visas/Statistics/Graphs/FY2013-2018%20

Worldwide%20IV.pdf.

- 5 Arjan Reijerse et al., "Beyond the Ethnic-Civic Dichotomy: Cultural Citizenship as a New Way of Excluding Immigrants," *Political Psychology* 34, no. 4 (2013): 613.
- 6 Tania Karas, "Can a 'merit-based' immigration system like Canada's or Australia's work in the US?" *Public Radio International*, 17 May 2019, https://www.pri.org/stories/2019-05-17/ can-merit-based-immigration-system-modeled-canada-or-australia-work-us.
- 7 Allison Millington, "23 countries where money can buy you a second passport or 'elite residency," Business Insider, 28 December 2019, https://www.businessinsider.com/ countries-where-you-can-buy-citizenship-residency-or-passport-2018-9.
- 8 Heaven Crawley, "Why understanding the relationship between migration and inequality may be the key to Africa's development," OECD Development Matters, 30 October 2018, https://oecd-development-matters.org/2018/10/30/why-understanding-the-relationship-between-migration-and-inequality-may-be-the-key-to-africas-development/.
- 9 "The number of international migrants reaches 272 million, continuing an upward trend in all world regions, says UN," United Nations Department of Social and Economic Affairs, 17 September 2019, https://www.un.org/development/desa/en/ news/population/international-migrant-stock-2019.html.
- Neil Esipova, Anita Pugliese, and Julie Ray, "More Than 750 Million Worldwide Would Migrate If They Could," *Gallup*, 10 December 2018, https://news.gallup.com/poll/245255/750-million-worldwide-migrate.aspx.
- 11 David J. Bier, Immigration Wait Times from Quotas Have Doubled (policy analysis no. 873; Cato Institute 2019), p. 7 [PDF file].
- 12 Pamela Heard and Donald P. Moynihan, Administrative Burden: Policymaking by Other Means (New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 2018).
- 13 Lindsey H. Steinberg, "New Policy Guidance on Good Moral Character Determinations," *National Law Review*, 10 January 2020, https://www.natlawreview.com/article/ new-policy-guidance-good-moral-character-determinations.
- 14 Jingnan Huo, "U.S. Degree? Check. U.S. Work Visa? Still A Challenge," NPREd, 10 July 2018, https://www.npr.org/ sections/ed/2018/07/10/599219792/u-s-degree-check-u-s-workvisa-still-a-challenge.
- 15 Adam K. Webb, "Not an Immigrant Country? Non-Western Racism and the Duties of Clobal Citizenship," Theoria 62, no.1 (2015): 3–4.
- 16 Hannah Arendt, The Origins of Totalitarianism (Cleveland: Meridian Books: 1962), 298–9.
- 17 Jacqueline Bhabha, "Toleration deficits: The perilous state of refugee protection today," *Philosophy & Social Criticism* 45,

no. 4 (2018): 505–6.

- 18 See Cathy Zimmerman and Ligia Kiss, "Human trafficking and exploitation: A global health concern," PLOS Medicine 14, no. 11 (2017): e1002437; and Nik Martin, "Migrants in the Gulf see dreams of higher wages ruined," Deutsche Welle, 18 June 2019, https://www.dw.com/en/migrants-in-the-gulf-seedreams-of-higher-wages-ruined/a-49211978.
- 19 Azeem Ibrahim, "Myanmar Wants to Tiack Rohingya, Not Help Them," *Foreign Policy*, 1 August 2019, https:// foreignpolicy.com/2019/08/01/myanmar-wants-to-track-rohingya-not-help-them/?\_ga=2.95387354.79384974.1579655176-585185646.1577284470.
- 20 Deepak Unnikrishnan, "The Hidden Cost of Migrant Labor," Foreign Affairs, 7 February 2020, https://www.foreignaffairs. com/articles/india/2020-02-07/hidden-cost-migrant-labor.
- 21 Webb, "Not an Immigrant Country?" 10–1.
- 22 Unnikrishnan, "The Hidden Cost of Migrant Labor."
- 23 Jeffrey G. Reitz, "The distinctiveness of Canadian immigration experience," *Patterns of Prejudice* 46, no. 5 (2012): 534–5.
- 24 Yascha Mounk, The People vs. Democracy: Why Our Freedom Is in Danger and How to Save It (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2018), pp. 199.
- 25 Mounk, The People vs. Democracy, pp. 199-200, 213-5.
- 26 See M. Whilborg and P. Jeffrey, *Easing legal and administrative obstacles in EU border regions* (case study no. 2; Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2017), p. 6 [PDF file]; and "Schengen Area," European Commission, accessed 11 January 2020, https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/borders-and-visas/schengen\_en.
- 27 Webb, "Not an Immigrant Country?" 5-6.
- 28 Protocol to the Treaty Establishing the African Economic Community Relating to Free Movement of Persons, Right of Residence and Right of Establishment (Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: African Union, adopted 29 January 2018) [PDF file], available at: https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/ borders-and-visas/schengen\_en.
- 29 Aiko Kikawa Taneka and Eric Suan, "Southeast Asian countries are realising the importance of high-skilled immigration," World Economic Forum, 28 August 2019, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/08/ southeast-asia-realising-importance-high-skilled-immigration/.
- 30 Rosamund Hutt, "The free movement of people: what it is and why it matters," World Economic Forum, 1 September 2016, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2016/09/ free-movement-of-people-explainer/.
- 31 Nils Zimmerman, "How costly would inner-European border controls be?" *Deutsche Welle*, 12 July 2018, https://www. dw.com/en/how-costly-would-inner-european-border-controls-be/a-44647255.
- 32 Pankaj Mishra, "How the New Immigration Is Shaking Old

Europe to Its Core," *New York Times*, 14 September 2017, https://www.nytimes.com/2017/09/14/books/review/crisis-of-multiculturalism-in-europe-rita-chin-immigration.html.

- 33 Nina Angelovska, "Estonia's E-Residency Contributed 614M To Its Economy--'E-Residency 2.0 Will Be A True Forerunner," Forbes, 25 April 2019, https://www.forbes.com/ sites/ninaangelovska/2019/04/25/estonias-e-residency-contributed-e14m-to-its-economy-e-residency-2-0-will-be-a-true-forerunner/#1f49cde9da55.
- 34 April Rinne, "One of Estonia's first "e-residents" explains what it means to have digital citizenship," *Quartz*, 1 April 2018, https://qz.com/work/1241833/one-of-estonias-first-e-residentsexplains-what-it-means-to-have-digital-citizenship/.
- 35 Kiku Adatto, "Spain's Attempt to Atone for a 500-Year-Old Sin," *The Atlantic*, 21 September 2019, https:// www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2019/09/ spain-offers-citizenship-sephardic-jews/598258/.
- 36 See Adatto, "Spain's Attempt to Atone for a 500-Year-Old Sin"; and Jean Beaman, "Citizenship as cultural: Towards a theory of cultural citizenship," *Sociology Compass* 10, no. 10 (2016): 851–2.
- 37 Reitz, "The distinctiveness of Canadian immigration experience," 523.
- 38 Reitz, "The distinctiveness of Canadian immigration experience," 528–30.
- 39 "Find Your NOC," Government of Canada, last modified 21 January 2020, https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/services/immigrate-canada/express-entry/ eligibility/find-national-occupation-code.html.
- 40 Reitz, "The distinctiveness of Canadian immigration experience," 533–4.
- Reitz, "The distinctiveness of Canadian immigration experience," 538.
- 42 Webb, "Not An Immigrant Country?" 19.
- 43 Maarten Vink et al., "The international diffusion of expatriate dual citizenship," *Migration Studies* 7, no. 3 (2019): 369–70.
- 44 Vink et al., "international diffusion," 365-6.



# The Iceberg: Immigration Policies under Trump

### **Gabriela Lastres**

After enduring years of severe domestic violence, Ana<sup>1</sup> made the painful decision to flee to the United States, leaving behind two of her four children because she could not afford to bring them. She arrived at a Texas port of entry and expressed her fear to return before being detained in a frigid immigration center. Although she was released to distant relatives in Houston, her immigration ordeal had just begun. Struggling to find stable work, she could barely make ends meet, much less afford an attorney to navigate the immigration system. Fortunately, she found legal representation from a nonprofit, and after commuting back-and-forth to her attorney for almost two years, and repeatedly reliving her trauma in preparation for her court hearing, Ana was finally granted asylum in December 2016.

While Ana faced many obstacles starting in 2014, if she were to arrive at the border today, she would face an even more draconian process. Over the past three years, the Trump administration has

made dozens of changes to the immigration system to deter immigrants from coming to the United States or prevent them from gaining lawful status. While policies like the Muslim ban or family separation have drawn nationwide protest, many other policies have gone unnoticed.

Since 1968,<sup>2</sup> the United States has admitted immigrants like Ana in accordance to international and US laws, which clearly state that people who claim a fear of returning to their country must be given an opportunity to present their asylum case.<sup>3</sup> The Trump administration, however, has adopted the "Remain in Mexico"<sup>4</sup> policy, preventing asylum seekers from entering the United States and applying for asylum.<sup>5</sup> Instead, asylum seekers must remain in dangerous camps where kidnapping and violence are rife and legal representation is nonexistent.<sup>6</sup> Since its adoption, there have been over 600 reported cases of assault, rape, or kidnapping in the camps, at least 130 of which were against children.<sup>7</sup>

In 2019, the Trump administration held a record number of immigrant children in detention.<sup>8</sup> Following the public backlash to the family separation policy, the administration filed to withdraw from the 1997 Flores Settlement Agreement, which prohibits detaining migrant children for more than 20 days.<sup>9</sup> If approved by a federal judge, the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) will have the legal authority to detain children indefinitely,<sup>10</sup> likely causing untold amounts of trauma.<sup>11</sup>

When potential asylum seekers are not simply turned away, they are given a credible fear interview (CFI). The CFI assesses whether their fear of returning is credible but is not meant to determine whether that fear is valid or merits a granting of asylum.<sup>12</sup> Currently, the Trump administration is turning asylum seekers away before they can apply for asylum or receive a CFI. Since summer 2019, CFI approvals have dropped massively.<sup>13</sup>

After passing their CFI, some asylum seekers are released without bond, but many languish in detention centers unable to afford either the bond (the median bond is \$7,500) or an attorney.<sup>14</sup> Unlike in criminal cases, there are no public defenders, and immigrants must find and pay for attorneys themselves.<sup>15</sup> Those who cannot afford bond, or are denied the opportunity to bond out, go through the asylum process in detention, which often takes years. Although approximately 99 percent of asylum seekers attended all their court hearings, the government claims detaining asylum seekers is necessary as they will never show up if released.<sup>16</sup>

Even after successfully filing an application, the odds of winning asylum are not favorable. While only about 31 percent of applicants were granted asylum in 2019,<sup>17</sup> the Trump administration continues to create new barriers to further lower that number. Ana, like many others, won asylum because victims of domestic violence have been recognized as a protected social group.<sup>18</sup> However, in 2018, Attorney General Jeff Sessions made it much harder for asylum seekers fleeing domestic or gang violence to win their cases after he overruled a Border of Immigration Appeals (BIA) decision that had established domestic or gang violence as grounds for asylum.<sup>19</sup>

"Over the past three years, the Trump administration has made dozens of changes to the immigration system to deter immigrants from coming to the United States or prevent them from gaining lawful status."

Since the average wait time for asylum cases is about three years,<sup>20</sup> work authorization is essential for survival and paying the thousands of dollars needed for legal representation. Recognizing how important it is for immigrants to have a job, the Trump administration has sought ways to create more barriers to legally work. Currently asylum seekers can apply for a work permit 150 days after filing for asylum,<sup>21</sup> but the administration has proposed to increase the wait to 365 days.<sup>22</sup> If approved, asylum seekers won't be able to legally work for six additional months, increasing the likelihood seekers take an abusive job, become homeless, incur debt, or become unable to pay their attorneys. Similarly, the Trump administration recently proposed implementing a \$50 fee for the asylum application, which is currently free, along with increasing the fees for residency and citizenship applications by 79 percent and 83 percent, respectively.<sup>23</sup> The administration also wants to eliminate or curtail fee waivers currently available to immigrants who cannot afford the filing fees.<sup>24</sup>

Recently, the Trump administration quietly published a new rule that would increase the scope of who is considered a burden to taxpayers, or a "public charge."25 In January, the Supreme Court allowed this change to go into effect, authorizing DHS to use applicants' work history, age, disability status, and use of benefits to deny residency and visa applications to the United States.<sup>26</sup> In addition to possibly preventing many immigrants from obtaining residency, the policy has scared thousands of immigrants. Shortly after the proposal was published, there was a noticeable decline nationwide in immigrants' use of benefits.27 Immigrants-including asylum seekers who are unaffected by the policy-began dropping off programs like Women Infants and Children (WIC) and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), which are excluded from the new policy.28 Even if legally unaffected by the change, hundreds of thousands of immigrants and their families will be scared from using needed benefits.

New policies like "Remain in Mexico," overturning legal precedent to protect victims of domestic or gang violence, or expanding the definition of a "public charge," as well as process changes to reject CFIs or increase the number of detained children and asylum seekers, may seem like tedious, administrative changes. It is crucial to remember, however, that these changes have long-lasting negative effects on immigrants. Fueled by anti-immigrant bias, they make the incredibly difficult task of getting lawful status in the United States even harder. The Trump administration has sought to deter immigrants at every step of the process, terrifying generations of immigrants. While these policies are reversible, the pain and suffering—and sometimes, death—they cause are not.

Gabriela Lastres is a master in public policy student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. Prior, Gabriela worked in Houston as an immigration organizer for the Texas Organizing Project, conducting community trainings and organizing immigrants for local policy changes. She also worked as a legal services coordinator for Human Rights First, coordinating pro bono asylum cases.

- 1 Ana's real name has been changed to protect her anonymity.
- 2 In 1968, the United States ratified the UN's 1967 Protocol on refugees, which was an updated version of the 1951 Refugee Convention that the United States was not a party to. US law thereafter enshrined some version of that Protocol's language on refugees and was updated in the 1980 Refugee Act.
- 3 Asylum, 8 U.S. Code § 1158 Asylum; "Convention and Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees," UNHCR, accessed 26 January 2020, https://www.unhcr.org/protection/basic/3b-66c2aal0/convention-protocol-relating-status-refugees.html.
- 4 John Bowden, "House to Investigate Trump 'Remain in Mexico' policy," The Hill, 14 January 2020, https://thehill.com/ homenews/house/478156-house-to-investigate-trump-remain-in-mexico-policy.
- 5 Shaw Drake and Edgar Saldivar, "Trump Administration Is Illegally Turning Away Asylum Seekers," American Civil Liberties Union, 30 October 2018, accessed 12 January 2020, https://www.aclu.org/blog/immigrants-rights/ trump-administration-illegally-turning-away-asylum-seekers.
- 6 Ashoka Mukpo, "Asylum-Seekers Stranded in Mexico Face Homelessness, Kidnapping, and Sexual Violence," American Civil Liberties Union, 2020, accessed January 12, 2020, https://www.aclu.org/issues/ immigrants-rights/immigrants-rights-and-detention/ asylum-seekers-stranded-mexico-face.
- 7 Julián Aguilar, "Report: Crimes against migrants waiting in Mexico to seek U.S. asylum continue to climb," *Texas Tribune*, 5 December 2019, https://www.texastribune.org/2019/12/05/report-crimes-against-migrants-waiting-mexico-continue-climb/.
- 8 Christopher Sherman, Martha Mendoza, and Garance Burke, "US held record number of migrant children in custody in 2019," The Associated Press, 12 November 2019, https:// apnews.com/015702afdb4d4fbf85cf5070cd2c6824.
- 9 Under the settlement children, must be released to a family

member or moved to licensed care within 20 days. Children who arrive unaccompanied (or with a non-parent relative) are usually placed in licensed care under the Department of Health and Human Services where they can be detained for longer than 20 days but with stricter guidelines. Maria Sacchetti, "Trump administration moves to terminate court agreement, hold migrant children and parents longer," *Washington Post*, 21 August 2019, accessed 12 January 2020, https://www.washingtonpost.com/immigration/trump-adminiistration-moves-to-terminate-court-agreement-hold-migrantchildren-and-parents-longer/2019/08/21/c268bb44-c28b-11e9-9986-1fb3e4397be4\_story.html.

- 10 Sacchetti, "Trump administration moves to terminate court agreement."
- 11 I interviewed mothers at a family detention center in Pennsylvania who said their children, some as young as three, were threatening suicide while at the facility.
- 12 "Credible Fear: A Screening Mechanism in Expedited Removal," *Human Rights First* (blog), 9 February 2018, accessed 12 January 2020, https://www.humanrightsfirst.org/resource/ credible-fear-screening-mechanism-expedited-removal.
- 13 Amanda Holpuch, "Asylum: 90% of claims fall at first hurdle after US process change, lawsuit alleges," *The Guardian*, 13 November 2019, https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2019/ nov/l3/asylum-credible-fear-interview-immigration-women-children-lawsuit.
- 14 "Three-fold Difference in Immigration Bond Amounts by Court Location," TRAC, last modified 2 July 2018, accessed 4 February 2020, https://trac.syr.edu/immigration/reports/519/.
- 15 "Right to Counsel," American Immigration Council, accessed 13 February 2020, https://www.americanimmigrationcouncil. org/topics/right-counsel.
- 16 "Record Number of Asylum Cases in FY 2019," TRAC, last modified 8 January 2020, accessed 3 February 2020, https://trac. syr.edu/whatsnew/email.200108.html.
- 17 "Record Number of Asylum Cases in FY 2019," TRAC.
- 18 "Gender-Based Asylum Claims: Before And After Matter of A-B-," National Immigrant Justice Center, accessed 4 February 2020, https://immigrantjustice.org/resources/ gender-based-asylum-claims-and-after-matter-b.
- 19 Reena Arya, "Attorney General issues precedent decision, Matter of A-B-, seeking to limit protection for asylum seekers," CLINIC, last modified 28 June 2018, accessed 12 January 2020, https://cliniclegal.org/resources/asylum-and-refugee-law/attorney-general-issues-precedent-decision-matter-b-seeking-limit.
- 20 "Record Number of Asylum Cases in FY 2019," TRAC.
- 21 "Asylum Application, Interview, and Employment Authorization for Applicants," Federal Register, 14 November 2019, accessed 12 January 2020, https://www.federalregister.gov/ documents/2019/11/14/2019-24293/asylum-application-inter-

view-and-employment-authorization-for-applicants.

- 22 "Asylum Application, Interview, and Employment Authorization for Applicants," *Federal Register*.
- 23 "Fee Schedule Changes," CLINIC, accessed 13 February 2020, https://cliniclegal.org/issues/fee-schedule-changes/
- 24 "Fee Schedule Changes," CLINIC.
- 25 "Public Charge" Immigrant Legal Resource Center, accessed 12 January 2020, https://www.ilrc.org/public-charge.
- 26 Robert Barnes and Maria Sacchetti, "Supreme Court allows Trump administration to proceed with 'wealth test' rules for immigrants," *Washington Post*, 27 January 2020, accessed 3 February 2020, https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/ courts\_law/supreme-court-allows-trump-administration-toproceed-with-immigration-rules/2020/01/27/6adb9688-412cllea-aa6a-083d0lb3edl8\_story.html.
- 27 Camilo Montoya-Galvez, "Immigrants are avoiding food, medical benefits because of proposed Trump rule," CBS News, 22 May 2019, accessed 12 January 2020, https://www. cbsnews.com/news/immigrants-are-avoiding-food-medicalbenefits-because-of-chilling-effect-of-proposed-trump-rule/.
- 28 "Public Charge Fact Sheet," US Citizenship and Immigration Services, last updated 27 February 2020, https://www.uscis.gov/ news/fact-sheets/public-charge-fact-sheet.



## The Pull Out of the Poverty Trap

#### Ghida Ismail

One warm afternoon in the historic Chawkbazar neighborhood of old Dhaka in Bangladesh, Shawkat, a 55-year-old rickshaw driver, was resting on the side of a road after hours of pulling his rickshaw in the day's insufferable heat. On the other side of the road, a 10-year-old girl was standing with a toddler in her arm, begging passersby for money. Shawkat, irritated at this scene, explained that he would never send his children to the streets. "A poor person's life cycle consists of working hard, burning yourself out, and investing in your children," he said. He doesn't plan to stop pulling the rickshaw, despite the physical strain, until he secures a stable future for his children. For him,

#### The Shifting Global Economy

this is the only way to support his family and pull them out of poverty.

Bangladesh has been praised over the past decades for its progress in alleviating poverty. Many economists believe that this poverty reduction has been driven primarily by a rapid structural transformation in which labor has moved from agriculture to manufacturing jobs, specifically in the garment industry. This structural transition has led to annual GDP growth of 6.5 percent over the past decade, higher than all other countries in South Asia, except India.1 Other experts point to targeted anti-poverty interventions such as poverty graduation programs, which provide the poorest with capital, assets, and/or training and have been shown to lead to higher income and consumption levels.<sup>2</sup> Comparatively less attention, however, has been given to the regulatory reforms that would be needed to support individuals such as Shawkat, who are fighting to lift themselves out of poverty.

In Bangladesh and around the world, many families resort to informal work, such as pulling a rickshaw, to earn an income and provide for their families. In November 2019, the Dhaka Transport Coordination Authority reported between 600,000 and 1 million rickshaws operating on the streets of Dhaka.3 According to some estimates, more than 60 percent of the global workforce, representing 2 billion people, are employed in the informal economy.4 Most of these workers constitute the working poor, who are trying to make ends meet in harsh conditions with little legal protection. Governments can thus accelerate their efforts to alleviate poverty by creating a regulatory framework that supports, protects, and rewards informal workers in their attempts to improve their own livelihoods. Such an effort would create a more inclusive economic system and could improve the welfare of millions of poor families around the world.

#### Poverty, Informality, and Marginalization in Bangladesh

In Dhaka, around 400,000 low-income migrants arrive annually from rural areas,<sup>5</sup> and rickshaw driving provides them with relatively easy access to the urban labor market. "I know [driving a rickshaw] is a very hard job, but considering that I am a poor person with no education, it's good that I can at least do this job to earn some money," said Azim with a resigned smile. He has been pulling a rickshaw for 15 years and mainly uses his earnings to educate his son.

Despite its benefit to hundreds of thousands of Bangladeshis, rickshaw pullers are not covered by Bangladesh's labor law. Only around 80,000 of the rickshaws in Dhaka are licensed, and no new licenses have been granted since 1986. Furthermore, rickshaw fares are only regulated in the elite area of Dhaka; the lack of price regulation in the rest of Dhaka means that rickshaw pullers are often underpaid for their efforts or cheated by customers. They also have little legal recourse in case of an accident. "We're the weakest on the streets," said Choburj, a 26-year-old rickshaw puller. "If a cari or a motorcycle hits a rickshaw, we can't do anything about it. We just have to accept this."

Most rickshaw drivers do not participate in government elections, as they feel excluded by public programs and policies. Pullers wish the government would give poor communities more support, "but, the government is busy with rich people problems," said Afsar, who has been driving a rickshaw for more than 15 years. "For example, the government was very responsive to student movements that occurred when a child was hit by a car last month. However, if it was ten rickshaw drivers that died in an accident, the government wouldn't have reacted."

"The government has failed to appreciate the importance of pulling a rickshaw in the informal economy and the economic opportunities it provides."

The government has failed to appreciate the importance of pulling a rickshaw in the informal economy and the economic opportunities it provides. They have banned rickshaws on major roads, and the Dhaka Transport Coordination Authority recently revealed its intention to remove all rickshaws from the streets in the next two years.<sup>6</sup> Such plans would disrupt the means of subsistence for millions of Bangladeshis and hurt Bangladeshi's efforts to alleviate extreme poverty.

#### A Regulatory Framework for the Informal Economy

Governments need to acknowledge the vast number of individuals who depend on informal work to earn their livelihood and invest in designing, implementing, and enforcing regulations that protect and support these workers in their efforts to exit poverty. In the case of rickshaw driving, this could include (1) issuing licenses to ensure pullers receive legal and monetary support in case of accidents, (2) setting price regulations that protect pullers' earnings, (3) regulating the terms between rickshaw owners and the drivers, and (4) establishing a grievance redress mechanism or strengthening unions to enable drivers to share concerns and complaints.

Other countries have successfully followed similar approaches to support informal workers. Mexico regularized shoe shiners on the streets of Mexico City and provided them with the legal right to work in public spaces with a valid permit. Accordingly, when shoe shiners were being evicted from the streets, they were able to legally reclaim public spaces to work in.<sup>7</sup> In Liberia, a street-vendor union was established to improve communication between street vendors and the municipal corporation, which led to a diminishment of police harassment.<sup>8</sup> A regulatory framework should reduce the obstacles and uncertainties facing the livelihoods of informal workers, which would in turn enhance their economic productivity and make economic growth more inclusive.

When Shawkat began pulling a rickshaw 20 years ago, he dreamed of saving enough money to send his children to school. Through his strenuous labor, he was able to achieve this vision. "While I can't read or write, my children now can. They are much brighter than I am," he said with a smile. It is pulling a rickshaw that permitted Shawkat to provide a better life for his children. Supporting the

informal economy, rather than suppressing it, could help millions of people like Shawkat escape poverty and earn a living through decent and dignified work.

Ghida Ismail is a researcher working on impact evaluations of development programs with Innovation for Poverty Action and the World Bank. Ghida's research has covered diverse issues including smallholder farmers' access to information and intra-household dynamics of poor rural households in Bangladesh.

- Bernard James Haven et al., "Bangladesh Development Update: Tertiary Education and Job Skills" (working paper no. 142479, The World Bank, 2019).
- 2 "Graduating from destitution," *The Economist*, 1 August 2015, https://www.economist.com/finance-and-economics/2015/08/01/graduating-from-destitution.
- 3 "Bangladesh's biggest city plans to ban cycle rickshaws," *The Economist*, 7 November 2019, https://www.economist.com/asia/2019/11/07/ bangladeshs-biggest-city-plans-to-ban-cycle-rickshaws.
- 4 WIEGO Annual Report April 2018 March 2019 (Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing, 2019) [PDF file].
- 5 Tim Mcdonnell, "Climate change creates a new migration crisis for Bangladesh," *National Geographic*, 24 January 2019, https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/2019/01/ climate-change-drives-migration-crisis-in-bangladesh-fromdhaka-sundabans/.
- 6 "Bangladesh's biggest city plans to ban cycle rickshaws," *The Economist.*
- 7 Carlin Carr, "Evicted: How Mexico City's Shoe Shiners Fought Displacement and Challened 'Future' Cities," WIECO (blog), 28 May 2019, https://www.wiego.org/blog/ evicted-how-mexico-city/E2%80%99s-shoe-shinersfought-displacement-and-challenged-%E2%80%9Cfuture%E2%80%9D-cities.
- 8 Sarah Orleans Reed and Mike Bird, "Liberia's Street Vendors Pioneer New Approach with City Officials", WIEGO (blog), 29 January 2019, https://www.wiego.org/ blog/liberia%E2%80%99s-street-vendors-pioneer-new-approach-city-officials.



### **Book Review:** *The Triumph of Injustice* by Emmanuel Saez and Gabriel Zucman

Daniel Remler

On 15 April 2016, the International Consortium of Investigative Journalists released documents detailing how Panamanian law firm Mossack Fonseca had enabled massive tax evasion by the rich and powerful from around the world. These documents, known as the Panama Papers, exposed how shockingly widespread, and even tolerated, tax evasion has become in the modern global economy. As portrayed in *The Laundromat*, a Steven Soderbergh film based on the scandal, Jürgen Mossack (played by Gary Oldman) gives a succinct summary of Mossack Fonseca's business model: "Tax evasion is a crime. But tax avoidance, that's what put us in business. And the line between the two, we like to say, it's as thin as a jailhouse wall."

Though national authorities around the world began investigating individuals named in the documents, calls for new legislation in the United States and Europe were few and far between. Economic inequality has moved to the center of political debates around the world since the global financial crisis. Mass protests against gas tax hikes in France and transit fare increases in Chile highlight increasing frustration over the divide between the rich and the rest. Even conservative political parties today speak the language of inequality. The question confronting leaders now is over how much and what kind of inequality has increased and, more urgently, what can and should be done. It is these challenges that economists Emmanuel Saez and Gabriel Zucman address in their latest book, The Triumph of Injustice.<sup>1</sup>

Saez and Zucman, both professors at the University of California, Berkeley, add yet more data to the mountain of evidence showing that wealth inequality has grown significantly in the United States. More controversially, they argue that this is exacerbated by the structure of the US economy and tax system, which they claim imposes a heavier tax burden overall on the poor than on the rich as a share of their aggregate income. This analysis has been fiercely debated in public, with economists like Larry Summers arguing it mischaracterizes the

data on wealth inequality in America.<sup>2</sup> But what has been less discussed, besides the signature wealth tax, are their audacious proposals to address wealth inequality that occupy the second half of the book. These would not only require significant changes in domestic policy but also an unprecedented level of international cooperation. They represent an alternate vision of American diplomacy, one that would make combatting inequality a top priority.

As longtime collaborators with economist Thomas Piketty, Saez and Zucman are consummate empiricists. Building on the research first made famous by Piketty's Capital in the 21st Century, Saez and Zucman make the case that the top 1 percent of the income distribution has amassed an unprecedented level of wealth. Their key empirical contribution is to show how the American tax code is not as progressive as it seems, for two principal reasons. First, the rich engage in significant tax avoidance. As Zucman documented in his first book, The Hidden Wealth of Nations, inconsistencies in macroeconomic and tax data suggest that the rich and corporations take advantage of offshore tax havens to significantly minimize the tax they owe the US government.3 Second, with sales taxes, gas taxes, property taxes, and the cost of health care taken together, and contrasted with tax avoidance by the rich, Saez and Zucman present a startling conclusion: for the first time since records began, the top 400 richest Americans pay less in taxes as a group than the bottom half of the income distribution.4

Where others would end there with some broad recommendations, Saez and Zucman devote almost half the book to policy proposals, including some they claim have never been proposed before. The centerpiece is a wealth tax levied on the ultra-rich, which would not only reduce wealth disparity and raise revenue for the government but also blunt the political power of the wealthy. This is coupled with establishing a new regulatory agency independent of the IRS, closing loopholes for individuals and corporations, abolishing the sales tax, integrating the income and corporate taxes, and more. These "The question confronting leaders now is over how much and what kind of inequality has increased and, more urgently, what can and should be done.

recommendations are meant to be complementary. But crucially, many of these proposals depend on international cooperation, or else risk the wealthy moving their money offshore, away from the prying eyes of US authorities.

So how might their proposals reshape international politics? First, they would necessarily turn some countries into new enemies. As Saez and Zucman argue, "each country is entitled to its laws, but when these laws have a major negative externality, victims are entitled to retaliate," proposing that the United States impose sanctions on tax havens that do not cooperate.<sup>5</sup> What goes unsaid is that some of the likely targets are Luxembourg, the British territories of Jersey and Anguilla, and Panama, all of which are American allies, partners, or their territories. However, as Saez and Zucman point out, several US states also display aspects of tax havens, so putting pressure on small states might appear hypocritical and weaken US leadership.

International cooperation would also imply cooperation with authoritarian states, at the same time as those states' elites are among the biggest beneficiaries of global tax evasion. As the source of some of the largest flows of dollars avoiding taxes, China and Russia would be critical to a truly global response. But both countries are too big to effectively coerce, and Saez and Zucman give no direction as to how Washington could work with Beijing and Moscow.

Overall, the diagnosis Saez and Zucman give of an American economy tilted in favor of the rich is persuasive and a valuable contribution to understanding inequality. Saez and Zucman worry that, left unchecked, rising inequality is transforming into augmented political power for the rich, further entrenching their grip on the economy and politics. Reversing this erosion of democracy is the task they set for their proposals. These proposals are novel and would have far-reaching consequences the authors only just begin to address, particularly on American diplomacy. They are worthy of further debate, and for that alone the book should be judged a triumph too.

Daniel Remler is an MPA student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University and an MBA student at the Wharton School. He previously worked at the Center for Strategic and International Studies and graduated from the University of California, Berkeley, with a BA in economics and history.

- Emmanuel Saez and Gabriel Zucman, The Triumph of Injustice: How the Rich Dodge Taxes and How to Make Them Pay, First Edition (New York: W.W. Norton & Company, 2019).
- 2 Lawrence H. Summer and Natasha Sarin. "Be very skeptical about how much revenue Elizabeth Warren's wealth tax could generate," *Washington Post*, 28 June 2019, https://www. washingtonpost.com/opinions/2019/06/28/be-very-skepticalabout-how-much-revenue-elizabeth-warrens-wealth-taxcould-generate.
- 3 Gabriel Zucman, The Hidden Wealth of Nations: The Scourge of Tax Havens (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2015).
- 4 Saez and Zucman, *The Triumph of Injustice*, 30.
- 5 Saez and Zucman, The Triumph of Injustice, 153.

### The World Was Not Built for Negative Interest Rates

#### Will Hickey

Since the 2009 financial crisis, two unlikely trends have dominated world markets: negative interest rates and inverted yield curves. Negative interest rates occur when customers pay banks to hold their money. Inverted yield curves occur when short-term interest rates are higher than future interest rates. This is no small matter. Today, over \$17 trillion, or 30 percent, of the world's fixed income debt issuance (bonds, sovereign notes, etc.), mostly held in the EU and Japan, are in negative-rate territory and growing (Figure 1). "I'm of the view that the world-wide suppression of interest rates over the past ten years has been not only inadvisable but, on moral grounds, something very near to a crime." –Jim Grant

Negative rates distort economic activity, inflating speculative bubbles in property and developing country currency, artwork, private equity, and stocks.<sup>1</sup> They encourage risk-taking in a world bereft with economic instability, usually for people who can least afford to take risks.

	3 month	1 year	2 year	3 year	5 year	7 year	10 year	15 year	20 year	30 year
Switzerland	-0.84	-0.72	-0.80	-0.80	-0.74	-0.71	-0.58	-0.41	-0.34	-0.20
Germany	-0.60	-0.61	-0.63	-0.66	-0.61	-0.55	-0.38	-0.24	-0.09	0.12
Netherlands	-0.67	-0.04	-0.63	-0.66	-0.55	-0.43	-0.23	-0.08	0.13	0.16
Japan	-0.21	-0.18	-0.19	-0.20	-0.20	-0.21	-0.09	0.10	0.26	
Denmark	-0.72	-0.55	-0.71	-0.64	-0.57		-0.34	-	+0.13	1.01
Sweden	-0.50		-0.36		-0.29	-0.21	-0.03	0.12	0.33	1.62
France	-0.59	-0.57	-0.62	-0.61	-0.44	-0.30	-0.06	0.20		
Ireland	-0.44	-0.39	-0.45	-0.45	-0.35	-0.15	0.06	0.33		
Spain	-0.54	-0.51	-0.42	-0.38	-0.13	0.07	0.40			
Portugal	-0.48	-0.45	-0.51	-0.33	-0.11					
Italy	-0.27	-0.11	-0.01	0.04	0.52					
Canada	1.66	1.70	1.57	1.56						
United States	1.61									
United Kingdom	0.75									
Australia	0.94									

#### Figure 1: Current sovereign bond yields as of November 2019

Source: Manulife, as adapted by Hickey<sup>2</sup>

Negative interest rates were pioneered by the Swiss in the early 1970s when the United States abandoned the Bretton Wood's gold standard and the US dollar fell. Investors frantically sought out a currency that was stable and not easily devalued by fiat<sup>3</sup> and poured their money into the Swiss franc, causing its value to soar and wreaking havoc on the Swiss economy by driving up borrowing costs.
## The Shifting Global Economy

The Swiss central bank tried several unorthodox moves to prevent these capital inflows such as not paying interest to nonresidents, but all failed. Not until 1982, when interest rates in the United States rose exponentially, did money inflows into Switzerland stabilize.<sup>4</sup>

### Negative Rates: A Policy Tool to Spur Economic Activity in Developed Economies

# Japan and EU: Low Growth, Anything to Get People to Spend!

The Bank of Japan had been the benchmark for a near-zero rate scheme until Sweden dropped into negative rates in 2009.<sup>5</sup> Rates began to go negative again in 2012 to encourage growth, with the Swiss, Danes, and Germans following suit.<sup>6</sup>

Negative rates are used to spur economic activity, particularly in high-cost economies like Switzerland, Denmark, and Germany, by incentivizing people to spend and borrow today, instead of holding cash. In Denmark, negative rates are forcing negative home loans, meaning the bank will pay borrowers to take out a loan in which borrowers will pay back less than their original loan. In Switzerland, large cash depositors are charged monthly deposit fees instead of earning interest on their accounts.<sup>7</sup> To stay afloat, banks use fees and charges to start and close real estate deals.

The banking system cannot function properly with negative interest rates, and correspondingly, neither can pension systems, the backbone of long-term social stability. For example, CalPERs, the state agency that manages \$350 billion in assets for California's state employees' pension and health benefits, had to adjust its ten-year expected returns from its pension fund from 7 percent to 6.1 percent. Nonetheless, it still maintains its 7 percent hurdle rate, the minimum rate required to pay its nearly 1.9 million pensioners without significantly drawing down on its holdings.<sup>8</sup> This gap, as described by CalPERS CIO Ben Meng, can only be made up by investing in more risky assets, such as a new investment portfolio split between stocks (50 percent), bonds (28 percent), tangible assets such as property (13 percent), private equity (8 percent), and cash (1 percent). This is an increase in risk from the historic, but now ineffective, benchmark of 60 percent stock and 40 percent bonds.<sup>9</sup> Other pension funds, including in the United Kingdom and Denmark, are also realizing they have to address the issue of ultra-low yields.<sup>10</sup>

### Graph 1: Comparing the two (historic and new) CalPERS Investment Models

Source CalPERS CIO Ben Meng, as adapted by Hickey







Lowering the cost of borrowing money to spur economic activity is no longer working either. European central banks, in particular, are struggling to jumpstart economic activity. Negative rates affect savers adversely, and low borrowing costs do not necessarily filter down to the consumer at a retail level. Banks with interest-rate shortfalls in a world of near or actual negative rates must charge their customers more, from higher overdrafts and remittance fees to exorbitant out-of-network ATM fees. Savers, in particular older people on fixed incomes, receive nominal payments for saving and thus struggle to make ends meet.

# The US and the Dollar System: Not Made for Negative Rates

Bond investment guru and ex-Harvard endowment fund manager Mohamed El-Erian said recently, "If the U.S. tries to operate under negative interest rates, something will probably break."<sup>11</sup> Negative interest rates in the United States, he argued, could cause systemic failure or a banking collapse.

Setting interest rates at zero or negative confounds long-term investment planning. The valuation measures used worldwide cannot be applied to financial systems with negative interest rates. These models, which include the Federal Reserve's monetary model and the Capital Asset Pricing Model, assume a positive return over time.

Currently, near-negative rates in developed countries have caused the dollar, with comparatively higher rates, to appreciate. This harms developing countries, such as Indonesia, Turkey, and Nigeria, that have borrowed heavily in dollars but are repaying in local currencies or commodities. The biggest loser has been emerging markets' economic growth. Now, there is almost no growth anymore in the world in aggregate when real interest rates for inflation are considered. The US Federal Reserve has been slow to cut rates, amplifying demand for the dollar. Chairman Jerome Powell said the Fed will not adjust interest rates because of low rates elsewhere. This is an unwise approach. Negative rates are draining dollars from the global system and hurting many of the Unites States' trading partners.

## The Mal-effects of Negative Rates

# In the Thirst for "Yield" . . . A Saver's Loss Is a Speculator's Gain

Because of low interest rates, money managers, pensions, insurance funds, and investment bankers around the world are desperately seeking "yield," or "Negative rates are draining dollars from the global system and hurting many of the United States' trading partners."

passive income on their holdings. This search for yield could prompt investors to make risky decisions, which could have dire costs. Negative rates push yield seekers into riskier bets to obtain a higher "alpha," or return on their investments in private equity, junk bonds, art, stocks, and opaque developing economy assets.<sup>12</sup> The strong dollar and corporate stock buybacks have been funding the US stock markets' ascendancy in 2019. Investors are chasing Facebook, Amazon, Apple, Netflix, and Google stocks, driving their values away from fundamental earnings.

## The Carry Trade: Borrowing in Low-Yield Currency to Gain Higher Yields Elsewhere

Risky bets have reintroduced the concept of borrowing in low-interest-rate currencies, such as the euro or yen, and investing them in bonds in other countries, such as in New Zealand or Argentina, to capture higher spreads. This tactic, called carry trade, has worked well between developed countries, where central banks ensure or guarantee their sovereign debt and investors arbitrage<sup>13</sup> the differences, such as between Japan and Spain. Later, this system spread to currency-related deposits, as they are more liquid, which works as long as the invested currency, usually in a developing country, remains stable against the investing currency.14 However, if a significant currency depreciation, devaluation, or default occurs, the losses can outpace any potential higher-interest-rate gains. For example, Argentina peso bank deposits can pay over 52.5 percent interest, the highest in South America. This seems like an astronomical amount<sup>15</sup> until one considers that the peso also lost more than half its value against the dollar in 2019, effectively zeroing out any real currency gains in US dollar terms.16

The carry trade has another issue. Large capital inflows into developing economies can cause distortions and create a "wealth effect" that precludes needed structural change, such as labor reform, increasing share of services in the economy and reducing dependence on imports. For example, as long as a nation's currency is high in value, people import more and domestic industry suffers.

## Why Would Anyone Buy a Negative-Rate Bond? Holding Cash Is a Problem

A basic economic assumption of debt is that interest is paid to lenders. The current global bond market has upended this expectation. In volatile times, financial institutions, such as brokerages, banks, and nations, opt not to invest money in active ledgers and instead purchase assets such as sovereign bonds, which are liquid and digitally tradeable. The average person does not buy negative-rate bonds, instead preferring corporate, municipal, or provincial bonds. However, their impact on the individual from financial institutions' investment in sovereign bonds is very real.

The threat of negative interest rates makes holding cash attractive, requiring large tenders.<sup>17</sup> Recently, the  $\varepsilon$ 500 note has made a resurgence in Germany and Austria, creating a high store of value on one note that will not be worth "less" in the future. This same rationale also applies to the Swiss franc CHF1000 note, where a recent Financial Times article recommends storing them in safe deposit boxes due to a cash-obsessed world of negative rates.<sup>18</sup>

## Implications

Recently, former US Fed Chairman Ben Bernanke said:

The Fed should also consider maintaining constructive ambiguity about the future use of negative short-term rates, both because situations could arise in which negative shortterm rates would provide useful policy space; and because entirely ruling out negative short rates, by creating an effective floor for long-term rates as well, could limit the Fed's future ability to reduce longer-term rates by QE or other means.<sup>19</sup>

Here, Bernanke argues the United States should not rule out a policy of negative rates in the future. Long-term negative rates have several, potentially negative, implications.

First, because investors will not get a return from depositing their money in banks, they will seek out riskier ways to invest their money that will bring them a higher yield. This money will find its way into high-yielding foreign currencies, distorting currency values in those economies and subjecting investors to currency risks. Second, lower yields in the EU have destabilized the pension safety net, threatening EU citizens' ability to retire at 62 with full benefits. This could lead to protests, first in Greece, Spain, and Italy and then spreading into northern states. France is already seeing paralyzing strikes over pension reform.<sup>20</sup> Only EU states with a rigorous production model such as Germany or Holland can overcome it. Third, most central banks will have compromised their primary tool to spur economic growth, making a future financial crash susceptible to serious impacts. Flooding the system with money through quantitative easing,<sup>21</sup> central banks' typical response to a contracting economy, may not be an option if interest rates are already negative. Finally, if US interest rates were to go negative, all bets would be off. A main driver of the US economic boom has been the Fed's policy of keeping rates marginally higher than the rest of the world, attracting capital inflows from across the globe, particularly the EU.

## Coda: Beyond Fiat Money: The Trend towards Alternatives like Cryptocurrency (Bitcoin, Libra)

In recent months, negative rates in some European countries turned slightly positive, but likely only temporarily.<sup>22</sup> Much depends on the Federal Reserve's actions and Trump's tariffs. Today's economic consensus is that negative interest rates do not spark more

economic activity than a low rate of, for example, 1 percent. Therefore, new ways to spur economic activity are sorely needed. Options include reducing regulations on small business creation, opening up economies, or trying cross-border cryptocurrencies.

We are in the digital age. Constructs such as cryptocurrency, social media, and artificial intelligence are forcing cross-border activities not beholden to any sovereign, where individuals can communicate and create directly and freely. The future may lie in a better store of value beyond dollarized paper currency dictated by central banks.

Postscript: At the time of writing, interest rates have cratered due to the coronavirus pandemic and collapse in oil prices. The US Treasury 10-year note now trades for less than 1 percent and looks to be heading toward zero. Without a reversal in fortunes, the world may soon be awash in negative interest rates.

Dr. Will Hickey is a visiting professor of management at Guangdong University of Foreign Studies in Canton, China, and former two-time US Fulbright Professor to Central (2003) and South Asia (2009). Dr. Hickey holds degrees and certificates from Harvard University, the University of Texas, and Penn State University with a PhD in HR/finance and is the author of The Sovereignty Game: Neo-Colonialism and the Westphalian System (Macmillan, 2020).

### Endnotes

- 1 Alternative investment tools compared to investing money.
- 2 John F. Addeo, "Generating income in the era of negative bond yields," Manulife Investment Management, n.d., https:// insight.manulifeim.com/global-intelligence/en-us/generatingincome-in-the-era-of-negative-bond-yields; John Ainger, "Bond World Is Backing Away From All That Negativity as 2019 Ends," *Bloomberg*, 23 December 2019, http://www.bloomberg. com/graphics/negative-yield-bonds/; and Andy Serwer and Max Zahn, "Negative interest rates are coming and they are downright terrifying," Yahoo Finance, 23 August 2019, http:// finance.yahoo.com/news/negative-interest-rates-japan-germany-france-150324580.html?guccounter=1.
- 3 Government-issued currency not backed by physical commodities but by the government that issued it.
- 4 Stephen Mihm, "Switzerland Tried Negative Rates in the 1970s. It Got Very Ugly," *Bloomberg*, 22 August 2019, https://www.bloomberg.com/opinion/articles/2019-08-22/ swiss-history-of-negative-interest-rates-is-ugly; and Naseem Aslam, "Is The End Looming For Fiat Money?" *Forbes*, 8 June 2018, http://www.forbes.com/sites/naeemaslam/2018/06/08/ is-the-end-looming-for-fiat-money/#677d50e07078.
- 5 Andrew Ward and David Oakley, "Bankers watch as Sweden goes negative," *Financial Times*, 27 August 2009, http://www. ft.com/content/5d3f0692-9334-11de-b146-00144feabdc0.
- 6 Shaun Richards, "Will the spread of negative interest rates create a new "Carry Trade?" Notayesmanseconomics's Blog (blog), 11 October 2012, https://notayesmanseconomics. wordpress.com/2012/10/11/will-the-spread-of-negative-interestrates-create-a-new-carry-trade/.
- 7 Patrick Collinson, "Danish bank launches world's first negative interest rate mortgage," *The Guardian*, 13 August 2019, https:// www.theguardian.com/money/2019/aug/13/danish-banklaunches-worlds-first-negative-interest-rate-mortgage.
- 8 "California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS)," Top1000Funds, n.d., accessed 12 January 2020, https://www.top1000funds.com/asset\_owner/ california-public-employees-retirement-system-calpers/.
- 9 Susan Rundell, "CalPERS prepares for market dislocation," *Top1000Funds* (blog), 24 June 2019, http://www.top1000funds. com/2019/06/calpers-prepares-for-market-dislocation/.
- 10 Anchalee Worrachate, "Pension World Reels From 'Financial Vandalism' of Falling Yields," *Bloomberg*, 27 August 2019, http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-08-27/ pension-world-reels-from-financial-vandalism-of-falling-yields.
- Larry Light, "US Negative Interest Rates Would Be a Disaster, El-Erian Warns," *Chief Investment Officer* (blog), 19 August 2019, http://www.ai-cio.com/news/ us-negative-interest-rates-disaster-el-erian-warns/.

## The Shifting Global Economy

- 12 Nicholas Spiro, "Negative interest rates are causing a major problem in the global economy," *South China Morning Post*, 12 May 2016, http://www.scmp.com/business/article/1943591/ negative-interest-rates-are-causing-major-problem-global-economy.
- 13 Arbritrage here means borrow in low-interest-rate currency and lend in high-interest-rate currency.
- 14 Natasha Doff and Martin Eder, "Carry Trade Defined, or Why Interest Rates Matter: QuickTake Q&A," Bloomberg, I June 2017, http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2017-06-01/ carry-trade-defined-or-why-interest-rates-matter-quicktake-q-a.
- 15 "Deposit Interest Rate in Argentina | 2017–2020," Trading Economics, accessed 17 January 2020, https://tradingeconomics.com/argentina/deposit-interest-rate.
- 16 Andres D'Alessandro and Chris Kraul, "The Argentine peso has lost half its value this year. Now the country is racing to prevent it from plunging further," *Los Angeles Times*, 1 September 2018, https://www.latimes.com/world/la-fg-argentina-peso-20180901-story.html.
- 17 Ethan Wolff-Mann, "The 500 euro-note phaseout could have an unintended consequences," Yahoo Finance, 9 September 2019, https://finance.yahoo.com/news/500-euro-bill-cash-negative-interest-rates-135948574.html.
- 18 Patrick Jenkins, "No one wins in the rabbit-hole world of negative interest rates," *Financial Times*, 5 August 2019, https:// www.ft.com/content/808lff4c-b52f-1le9-bec9-fdcab53d6959.
- Shaun Richards, "Will the US deploy negative interest-rates?" Notayesmanseconomics's Blog (blog), January 6, 2020. https://notayesmanseconomics.wordpress. com/2020/01/06/will-the-us-deploy-negative-interest-rates/
- 20 Angelique Chrisafis, "France grinds to halt in the biggest strikes of Macron's presidency," The Guardian, 5 December 2019, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/dec/05/france-braces-for-biggest-strike-of-emmanuel-macron-presidency.
- Quantitative easing is a monetary approach to injecting liquidity into the economy without changing interest rates. The central bank purchases long-term bonds or other financial assets.
- 22 Avantika Chilkoti, "Global Yields Climb as Trade Tensions Ease," Wall Street Journal, 7 November 2019, http://www.wsj.com/articles/ the-wave-of-negative-rates-starts-to-recede-11573140838.

## **The Case for a Digital Dollar:** Security at Home and Abroad

### Jeremy Ney

The US dollar must go digital. A digital dollar will not only benefit the US economy through financial stability at home, it will also improve America's financial security abroad, particularly in light of China's economic rise. In 2009, the late Paul Volcker quipped that the ATM was the most useful financial innovation in the last 20 years — more than a decade later, policymakers have the opportunity to create the next great financial innovation: central bank digital currencies.

Central bank digital currencies, or CBDCs, refer to the digital form of fiat money. Rather than issuing physical cash or coins, the government issues digital tokens whose value is backed by the full faith and credit of the government. Unlike Venmo balances or credit card accounts, CBDCs are the liability of the central bank, which in turn maintains deposits, reserves, and accounts rather than a private firm.<sup>1</sup>

America's interest in a digital dollar emerges from two spheres: financial security and geopolitical realities. First, a CBDC would allow Americans to deposit money directly at the Federal Reserve, thus creating a truly risk-free store of value. Second, China is currently pursuing its own digital yuan, which could undermine America's ability to implement sanctions effectively, particularly against North Korea.<sup>2</sup> America must therefore innovate in global payments not only to maintain critical diplomatic tools but also to ensure greater resiliency for the US economy.

#### **Domestic Financial Stability**

The most important benefit of CBDCs is the ability to

improve the safety and soundness of the US economy. The safest place that depositors can keep their money is at a central bank.

Most CBDC research has focused on monetary policy effectiveness and expected benefits in payments systems, but less research exists to highlight how CBDCs may impact financial stability. If depositors switch from holding their savings at commercial banks and instead keep these funds at central banks, America will see significant shifts in bank business models, lending, and risk allocation.

Current workarounds for risk-free money fall short. The closest approximation of security is the federal deposit insurance system, but this provides a less-than-full guarantee. While the FDIC deposit insurance fund totals \$41 billion, it is supposed to cover \$6 trillion in insured deposits.<sup>3</sup> This means that the \$250,000 FDIC cap could only reimburse 0.6 percent of deposits kept at banks in the event of default. As a result, bank runs may occur because depositors know that their money is not truly safe during crises. The government must therefore intervene during periods of distress via bailouts and new complex regulatory regimes.

Deposit insurance actually distorts market pricing in two ways. First, it explicitly lowers the risk premium charged by banks. In other words, banks know that the government is responsible for repaying losses to depositors in the event of a bank failure — thus, they do not accurately price their products according to the true risk they are taking. Economists have noted that this can distort the risk premium charged by banks by as much as 25 basis points.4,5,6,7

Second, FDIC deposit insurance implicitly reduces market discipline. The World Bank summarizes this effect well: "When deposits are insured . . . bank depositors lack incentives to monitor. The lack of market discipline leads to excessive risk-taking culminating in banking crises."<sup>8</sup> While insurance is helpful to defend against bad outcomes, the current system has incentivized poor risk-taking practices.

The goal of CBDCs, in turn, is to provide the same type of risk-free store of value without the subsequent market distortions. Rather than creating a convoluted set of intermediates that require heavy oversight and engender moral hazard, CBDCs can provide a truly risk-free store of value. CBDCs thus become the public policy good that was desired all along. The obvious next question is how we can ensure that CBDCs do not cause similar or worse market distortions.

The International Monetary Fund's (IMF) 2018 framework, Casting Light on Central Bank Digital Currencies,<sup>9</sup> sheds light on this exact question. The IMF categorizes the risks of rolling out a CBDC into two different scenarios: the risks of disrupting bank business models in tranquil financial times and the risk of bank runs in times of systemic financial distress. The report notes that CBDCs may reduce lending in the short term, but if implemented correctly, this economic shift will be counterbalanced by a longterm improvement in credit quality. In other words, deposits will flow out of commercial banks and into central banks, yet this will ensure that the lending that banks do engage in will be of a higher quality.

There are, however, some challenges in implementing CBDCs. First, the Federal Reserve would be responsible for executing such a policy, yet it would need to develop the technical capabilities to allow

"If China is the architect of this new global payments system, the United States may struggle to monitor transactions and maintain sanctions." all retail depositors to hold accounts there. Second, bank business models would have to evolve as these institutions lose a significant source of their funding to CBDCs. Deposits are considered a sticky asset, and banks may have to offer higher interest rates in order to attract regular deposits. Third, CBDCs may have disproportionate impacts in geographic locations in which community banks are especially reliant on deposits to fund their lending models. Despite these challenges, consumer safety and soundness remain paramount.

## National Security and Statecraft

America's international interests greatly outweigh any obstacles to implementing a central bank digital currency. America's influence in the global economy rests on two pillars. The first pillar is the strength of the US economy, which emerges from America's capacity to withstand financial shocks, to grow its GDP, and to maintain the US dollar as the global reserve currency. The second pillar is the financial infrastructure and payments processing that America and its allies rely on to track payments, including those by countries that violate sanctions. A digital currency created by a foreign country could weaken that second pillar of American influence if it became the standard for global payments. In such a scenario, countries could deploy digital currencies to bypass international sanctions, undermining a key instrument in America's foreign policy toolkit.

The largest threat to US economic primacy in international digital payments comes from China and its push to develop its own digital currency. The People's Bank of China (PBoC) has proposed<sup>10</sup> releasing a digital yuan and has filed over 50 patents<sup>11</sup> for a CBDC, which would allow anyone transacting in the new currency to operate outside of traditional payments infrastructure. This traditional infrastructure is currently operated by SWIFT, the Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommunication. Congressmen French Hill (R-Arkansas) and Bill Foster (D-Illinois) penned a letter to Federal Reserve Chairman Jerome Powell, noting that "the US dollar could be in long-term jeopardy from wide adoption of digital fiat currencies."<sup>12</sup>

China's economic strength and size makes the digital yuan much more potent. In a country where annual mobile payment volumes are nearly \$800 billion<sup>13</sup> (10 times that of the United States), a digital currency could be rapidly adopted.

Surveillance may be at the heart of China's decision to move forward with a digital currency. Privacy concerns have mounted as the PBoC has been compared to Big Brother<sup>14</sup> in its quest for insight into civilian transactions.

While a new global payments system may appear dangerous to US interests, the current system is not perfect either. SWIFT has come under considerable pressure in recent years, as notable cyberattacks, like the \$81 million theft by North Koreans against the Central Bank of Bangladesh,<sup>15</sup> have highlighted end-point weaknesses in payments infrastructure. In this case, North Koreans were able to compromise a SWIFT computer to route payments to bank accounts across the world and would have stolen \$1 billion were it not for several fortunate mistakes on the part of the hackers. As such, the infrastructure associated with a US CBDC could provide the technological rails to build a more secure ecosystem for transactions.

If China is the architect of this new global payments system, the United States may struggle to monitor transactions and maintain sanctions. For some nations (and non-state actors) that want to avoid US sanctions and oversight, the ability to skirt such regulations would be incentive enough to adopt the digital yuan. Former chief economist of the IMF Ken Rogoff has pointed out these threats: "Just as technology has disrupted media, politics, and business, it is on the verge of disrupting America's ability to leverage faith in its currency to pursue its broader national interests."<sup>16</sup>

The United States may increasingly need to rely on military force if American economic influence wanes. Since September 11, America has deployed "smart sanctions,"<sup>17</sup> which focus on arms embargoes, capital restraints, and asset freezes. President "America must therefore innovate in global payments not only to maintain critical diplomatic tools but also to ensure greater resiliency for the US economy."

George W. Bush's passage of executive order 13224 and section 311 of the Patriot Act gave the Treasury Department broad powers to engage in sanctions. Several economists have noted<sup>18</sup> that sanctions are a non-violent solution that reduce the propensity toward war; actions that diminish the effectiveness of sanctions as a policy tool may spur the United States to rely increasingly on kinetic options.

China is not alone in trying to develop a new economic system beyond US control. Russia,<sup>19</sup> Iran,<sup>20</sup> and Venezuela<sup>21</sup> have all announced that they are considering developing (or have already developed) digital currencies to liberalize the flow of money into their countries. President Maduro has claimed<sup>22</sup> that the Venezuelan digital currency, dubbed the "Petro," has raised over \$3.3 billion since its launch in February 2018. President Trump signed an executive order banning Americans from purchasing crypto Petro.

Other cryptocurrencies, like Libra or Bitcoin, do not pose as serious a threat to US economic primacy. Today, roughly 5,000 digital currencies have a total market value of over \$263 billion.<sup>23</sup> Of these, Bitcoin has the largest circulation, but it pales in comparison to the \$1.75 trillion US dollars in circulation.<sup>24</sup> "While we debate these issues, the rest of the world isn't waiting," Mark Zuckerberg, the Facebook chief executive, said during his testimony in front of the House Financial Services Committee. "If America doesn't innovate, our financial leadership isn't guaranteed."<sup>25</sup>

In sum, the Federal Reserve, US Treasury, and Congress can work together to help America outmaneuver China. Former Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) chair Christopher Giancarlo and former CFTC chief innovation officer Daniel Gorfine argue that just as the Soviet launch into space threatened US technological dominance, "recent developments in digital currencies similarly threaten the dollar's dominance." They posit that "a network of Beijing-dependent states trading a digital yuan . . . could end the delicate world economic order Americans have long taken for granted."<sup>26</sup>

Economic statecraft remains a critical tool in any country's arsenal. The above agencies must ensure that China does not gain the upper hand in soft power competition.

## Conclusion

The US financial system can be restructured by giving universal direct access to credit risk-free central bank money. In the ten years since the financial crisis, technological advancements and regulatory tools have laid the foundation for the emergence of central bank digital currencies.

American policymakers must understand three key benefits and threats that digital currencies pose. First, digital currencies created by competing states may threaten economic primacy by allowing countries to bypass sanctions that provide a critical tool for American economic diplomacy. Second, digital currencies may improve US financial stability by providing a risk-free store of value for retail depositors. Third, policymakers at the Treasury Department and Federal Reserve ought to consider how CBDC design implications may disrupt bank business models, lending, and certain communities in America. As the global economy becomes increasingly interconnected and as technology continues to shape economic statecraft, CBDCs have emerged as a method to fundamentally reshape the financial system and promote long-term financial stability.

Jeremy is a dual-degree graduate student at MIT Sloan and the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University (MBA/ MPA) studying the intersection of technology, policy, and income inequality. He previously worked at the Federal Reserve Bank of New York focused on developing new approaches to forecasting and crisis readiness.

## Endnotes

- "Digital Currency Wars: A National Security Crisis Simulation," Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs, 19 November 2019, https://www.belfercenter.org/dcw.
- 2 Kenneth Rogoff, "The High Stakes of the Coming Digital Currency War," Project Syndicate, 11 November 2019, https:// www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/global-battle-for-digital-currency-supremacy-by-kenneth-rogoff-2019-11?barrier=accesspaylog.
- 3 Terry Burnham, "Is your money safe at the bank? An economist says 'no' and withdraws his," PBS (blog), 30 January 2014, https://www.pbs.org/newshour/economy/is-your-money-safeat-the-bank-an-economist-says-no-and-withdraws-his.
- 4 Viral V. Acharya, Deniz Anginer, and A. Joseph Warburton, "The End of Market Discipline? Investor Expectations of Implicit State Guarantees," 1 May 2016, available at SSRN: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1961656.
- 5 Asli Demirgüç-Kunt and Harry Huizinga, "Market discipline and deposit insurance," Journal of Monetary Economics 51, no. 2 (2003): 375–99.
- 6 Jan Bartholdy, Clenn Boyle, and Roger Stover, "Deposit insurance and the risk premium in bank deposit rates," *Journal* of Banking & Finance 27, no. 4 (2003): 699–717.
- 7 Jan Bartholdy, Glenn Boyle, and Roger Stover, "Deposit Insurance, Bank Regulation and Interest Rates: Some International Evidence," 26 August 1999, available at SSRN: https://ssrn. com/abstract=5802.
- 8 Deniz Anginer, Asli Demirgüç-Kunt, and Min Zhu, "How does deposit insurance affect bank risk? Evidence from the recent crisis," *Journal of Banking & Finance* 48 (2014): 312–21.
- 9 Tommaso Mancini Griffoli et al, "Casting Light on Central Bank Digital Currencies," Staff Discussion Notes, International Monetary Fund, 12 November 2018, https://www.imf. org/en/Publications/Staff-Discussion-Notes/Issues/2018/11/13/ Casting-Light-on-Central-Bank-Digital-Currencies-46233.
- 10 Bloomberg News, "Why China's Rushing to Mint Its Own Digital Currency," Bloomberg, 10 September 2019, https:// www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-09-10/why-china-srushing-to-mint-its-own-digital-currency-quicktake.
- 11 Brenda Goh and Samuel Shen, "China's proposed digital currency more about policing than progress," *Reuters*, 1 November 2019, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-markets-digital-currency/chinas-proposed-digital-currency-more-about-policing-than-progress-idUSKBNIXB3QP.
- 12 French Hill and Bill Foster, "Letter to the Honorable Jerome H. Powell on the Clobal State of Digital Currencies" (Congress of the United States of America, 2019) [PDF file].
- 13 Kevin Wei Wang et al., "Digital China: Powering the economy to global competitiveness," McKinsey Global Institute, December 2017, https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/

china/digital-china-powering-the-economy-to-global-competitiveness.

- 14 Raymond Zhong, "China's Cryptocurrency Plan Has a Powerful Partner: Big Brother," New York Times, 18 October 2019, https://www.nytimes.com/2019/10/18/technology/china-cryptocurrency-facebook-libra.html.
- 15 Joshua Hammer, "The Billion-Dollar Bank Job," New York Times, 3 May 2018, https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2018/05/03/magazine/money-issue-bangladesh-billion-dollar-bank-heist.html.
- 16 Rogoff, "The High Stakes of the Coming Digital Currency War."
- 17 Jonathan Masters, "What Are Economic Sanctions?" Council on Foreign Relations, 12 August 2019, https://www.cfr.org/ backgrounder/what-are-economic-sanctions.
- 18 David J. Lektzian and Christopher M. Sprecher, "Sanctions, Signals, and Militarized Conflict," *American Journal of Political Science* 51, no. 2 (2007): 415–31.
- 19 Max Seddon and Martin Arnold, "Putin considers 'cryptorubble' as Moscow seeks to evade sanctions," *Financial Times*, 1 January 2018, https://www.ft.com/ content/54d026d8-e4cc-1le7-97e2-916d4fbac0da.
- 20 Iranian Virtual Currency Activity and Risks to Financial Institutions (Standard Chartered Bank, 2019) [PDF file].
- Simon Shuster, "Exclusive: Russia Secretly Helped Venezuela Launch a Cryptocurrency to Evade U.S. Sanctions," *Time*, 20 March 2018, https://time.com/5206835/ exclusive-russia-petro-venezuela-cryptocurrency/.
- 22 Brian Ellsworth, "Special Report: In Venezuela, new cryptocurrency is nowhere to be found," Reuters, August 2018, https:// www.reuters.com/article/us-cryptocurrency-venezuela-specialrepor/special-report-in-venezuela-new-cryptocurrency-is-nowhere-to-be-found-idUSKCN1LF15U.
- 23 "All Cryptocurrencies," CoinMarketCap, February 2020, https://coinmarketcap.com/all/views/all/.
- 24 "How much U.S. currency is in circulation," Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, January 2020, https://www. federalreserve.gov/faqs/currency\_12773.htm.
- 25 Cecilia Kang, Mike Isaac, and Nathaniel Popper, "Facebook's Zuckerberg, Accused of Lying, Withstands a Washington 'Beating'," *New York Times*, 23 October 2019, https://www. nytimes.com/2019/10/23/technology/facebook-zuckerberg-libra-congress.html.
- 26 J. Christopher Giancarlo and Daniel Gorfine, "We Sent a Man to the Moon. We Can Send the Dollar to Cyberspace," Wall Street Journal, 15 October 2019, https://www.wsj.com/articles/ we-sent-a-man-to-the-moon-we-can-send-the-dollar-to-cyberspace-11571179923.



## China's Belt and Road Initiative in Southeast Asia: A Practical Pathway to Economic Prosperity—If Done Right

## Melina Anlin

China's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) is a collection of highly ambitious global infrastructure projects that can be found on historical Silk Road trade routes,<sup>1</sup> spanning from East Asia to Europe.<sup>2</sup> China is expected to spend over \$1 trillion on BRI infrastructure projects by 2027,<sup>3</sup> in an experimental effort to bring prosperity to parts of the world that have been left out in the new global economy. However, amidst the shifting balance of power between the United States and China, some argue that China is using the BRI as "debt-trap diplomacy" for achieving its end goal of global supremacy. This might not necessarily be the case.

Ever since Chinese President Xi Jinping's announcement of the BRI in Indonesia in 2013,<sup>4</sup> there have been a number of notable BRI projects in Southeast Asia, including the Sihanoukville Special Economic Zone in Cambodia and the on-and-off Bandar Malaysia mixed-development project. Host countries in Southeast Asia have had varying opinions "Historical relations serve as fundamental building blocks that shape present-day perceptions about BRI between China and its host countries."

about the benefits of BRI, given the predominantly unfavorable narratives of BRI projects portrayed by Western media as well as the degree of success or failure for each project. However, at the end of the day, the BRI is a practical alternative for making a country more economically prosperous. Countries have to determine which type of financing, Chinese or Western capital, works best for their own interests depending on individual projects and circumstances. This article specifically explores how historical relations, alternate sources of investment, and domestic affairs play into decision making on whether or not BRI investment is viable for Southeast Asian countries and, more broadly, any host country partnering with China.

# Understanding Historical Relations with China

Historical relations serve as fundamental building blocks that shape present-day perceptions about BRI between China and its host countries. A historically strong relationship with China accelerates the introduction and progress of BRI projects in host countries. China is eager to select a host country that will welcome its BRI efforts with open arms, so that it can showcase initial BRI "success stories" to other countries. Likewise, a historically rocky relationship will carry its ghost from the past to present-day bilateral relations and complicate the development of BRI projects in host countries. Cambodia's strong relationship with China illustrates the former point. Cambodia's "eager embrace" of the BRI is due in part to China's role as a close defense ally, particularly when China sided with Cambodia to protect it from Vietnam's and Thailand's invasions.5 Since then, Cambodia has been an early proponent of BRI. After the revitalization of Sihanoukville, a Cambodian city that transformed "from a village into a town like Macau,"<sup>6</sup> China has been touting its ability to successfully deliver on infrastructure projects. Pilot projects like Sihanoukville can be showcased to other Southeast Asian countries in order to get buy-in on BRI.

On the other hand, Indonesia had a complex relationship with China during former president Suharto's term, cutting off diplomatic ties for decades due to differences in political ideologies.<sup>7</sup> Even though economic interests have driven subsequent Indonesian presidents to restore Indonesia–China relations,<sup>8</sup> Indonesia's deep and dark history of suspicion, mistrust, and anti-Chinese sentiments still impacts today's bilateral relations, and it complicates the development of Chinese-led projects in the country. To date, the Indonesian government has not recognized any BRI programs,<sup>9</sup> revealing the country's cautious stance toward China.

## Seeking Alternate Sources of Investments

The importance of China and BRI for a country's economic development is dependent on how much leverage and how many investment options that country has. For countries that did not receive aid based on the Washington Consensus, a set of reforms in the 1980s<sup>10</sup> for promoting economic prosperity in developing countries, China's BRI presents a quick and feasible option for achieving economic growth with tangible results on the ground. In the case of Myanmar, which has a history of US and EU economic sanctions, China's (and later Japan's<sup>11</sup>) eagerness to build a deep seaport and industrial park in one of the country's poorest regions<sup>12</sup> will help increase foreign direct investment and trade in the future. As a result, Myanmar does not have to rely entirely on the Western world to find economic prosperity-but neither does it have to be solely dependent on China to bolster its economic development. Japan has been investing in the country too, with successful initiatives such as the Thilawa Special Economic Zone.13

## Getting Involved in Host Countries' Domestic Affairs

Each country's domestic affairs, nationalistic sentiments, and project expectations can raise tensions over embracing China's BRI. In addition, Western and local media's portrayal of the BRI, as well as social media, can further complicate the situation, since these platforms can easily shape and sway public perceptions of China's initiative. Indonesia serves as a prime example where China needs to understand the complexities nested in host countries' domestic affairs. It is not surprising that Indonesia has been a high priority for China, given that the country is Southeast Asia's largest economy, with GDP of over \$1 trillion<sup>14</sup> and a domestic population of over 260 million.15 However, given differences in the two countries' political ideologies, and the history of anti-Chinese sentiments that are still present to this day, the Indonesian government's legitimacy lies partly in not being seen as too pro-China. Furthermore, a growing wave of nationalism has given rise to the spread of anti-Chinese/BRI propaganda in majority-Muslim Indonesia. To appease these nationalist sentiments, the current administration must at least show that it is paying attention to domestic national interests and exercise caution in promoting BRI projects in Indonesia. In July 2019, for example, the Indonesian government announced that BRI projects in the country are to be re-labeled as BRI-GMF (Global Maritime Fulcrum) to reflect the synergies between the two countries.16

In addition, insight into how previous Chinese-led projects have been implemented, managed, and perceived on the ground has huge implications for

"In order to gain the trust of host countries, China must make a concerted effort to ensure that project management and quality are held to the same standards as projects done domestically in China." the future of BRI in host countries. In the case of the high-profile \$6 billion Jakarta-Bandung high-speed railway project in Indonesia, the project has been delayed multiple times. As former Head of Indonesia's Investment Coordinating Board (BKPM), Tom Lembong, put it, "What has plagued the project over the last three years is just mismanagement, plain and simple. We had not even the B team in there. Possibly not even the C team, but the D team."17 This type of negative sentiment does not reflect well on Chinese companies' image in the country, which only makes it tougher for China to sell the merits of BRI throughout the world. In order to gain the trust of host countries, China must make a concerted effort to ensure that project management and quality are held to the same standards as projects done domestically in China.

## Lessons and Future Vision

An analysis of different Southeast Asian countries shows that one cannot naïvely generalize the impact of BRI on Southeast Asia as a whole. Unique and subtle differences exist from country to country in the region. Lessons from Cambodia show that China can more easily implement BRI projects in countries that share similarly authoritarian political regimes. However, in a democratic country like Indonesia, public opinion matters. In this particular case, China needs to pay attention to how their projects are being perceived by local communities and how they can get implicated in the host country's domestic affairs. It would be wise for China to realize that each country needs a tailored BRI approach.

Given that countries nowadays are increasingly interdependent on one another, China needs to understand that how it handles its own domestic affairs will influence other nations' perceptions of China's diplomacy and projects abroad. For instance, when China's ambassador Bai Tian denounced China's internment of Muslim minorities in Xinjiang, outrage and anger worsened among Muslims in predominantly Muslim Malaysia.<sup>18</sup> Malaysian political analyst Azmi Hassan also added that negative perceptions of China could "cloud one's thinking"<sup>19</sup> and have a trickle-down effect on how BRI projects are perceived by the Malaysian public. As a result, Malaysians may lose sight of the BRI's practical benefits.

While China has its own fair share of learning and adjustments to make regarding the BRI, it is important for government officials and key private sector players in current and potential host countries to think about how they could use the BRI to their advantage. Host countries should focus on ways that they could leverage the BRI to benefit their countries' human capital development and economic growth, rather than getting caught up in Western media narratives of whether or not the BRI is debt-trap diplomacy. Governments should consider setting the rules of the game for BRI in their own countries and take the lead in controlling BRI narratives for their own people. To the former point, governments could mandate that any BRI project is to be done on a business-to-business basis, thereby avoiding government exposure to default. They could also encourage BRI deals to be structured as investments in which Chinese companies take equity ownership, instead of merely providing loans and contracts. Finally, host countries should define what BRI success means for themselves and take active steps to realize it. If success means that BRI will bring China's technological know-how and knowledge transfer to host countries for improving workforce skills and productivity, then it is crucial that domestic players fight for local employment opportunities and get the A team from their Chinese counterparts. After all, any aid, loans, or investments in BRI countries can only be economically beneficial with the active involvement of the host government.

This article is written based on learnings and reflections from Professor Willy Shih and Professor Meg Rithmire's course, IFC Asia: China's Belt and Road Initiatives, which is taught at the Harvard Business School. Several BRI project examples are taken from a research paper written by Melina Anlin, Lea Gee-Tong, and Hanh Nguyen, as part of the final project for the course. Melina Anlin is a master in public policy and master in business administration student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government and Harvard Business School. Previously, she worked in consulting at Bain & Company and venture investing at Sequoia Capital. She has also spent some time working in the Jakarta Governor's Office and is passionate about investment and entrepreneurship in Indonesia.

#### Endnotes

- The modern-day overland and sea-based routes are known as Silk Road Economic Belt and Maritime Silk Road, respectively.
- 2 Andrew Chatzky and James McBride, "China's Massive Belt and Road Initiative," Council on Foreign Relations, last updated 28 January 2020, https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/ chinas-massive-belt-and-road-initiative.
- 3 "Inside China's Plan to Create a Modern Silk Road," Morgan Stanley, 14 March 2018, https://www.morganstanley.com/ideas/ china-belt-and-road.
- Iskandar Hadrianto, "China's Belt and Road Initiative: Indonesian Response," *Jakarta Globe*, 17 May 2017, https://jakartaglobe.id/opinion/ chinas-belt-road-initiative-indonesian-response/.
- 5 Thearith Leng, Underlying Factors of Cambodia's Bandwagoning with China's Belt and Road Initiative," *East Asia* 36 (2019): 243–53.
- 6 Interview with a Cambodian government official who has requested to be anonymous.
- 7 Dewi Fortuna Anwar, "Indonesia-China Relations: To Be Handled With Care," *ISEAS Perspective* 2019, no. 19 (2019) [PDF file].
- 8 Anwar, "Indonesia-China Relations."
- 9 Current Affairs Correspondent West Asia, "The struggle to define the Belt & Road Initiative in Indonesia," *Belt & Road News*, 30 July 2019, https://www.beltandroad.news/2019/07/30/ the-struggle-to-define-the-belt-and-road-initiative-in-indonesia/.
- 10 Stephen R Hurt, "Washington Consensus," Encyclopedia Britannica, https://www.britannica.com/topic/ Washington-consensus.
- Willy Shih and Dawn Lau, "Myanmar: Special Economic Zones," Harvard Business School Case 620-027, October 2019.
- 12 Shih and Lau, "Myanmar: Special Economic Zones."
- 13 Shih and Lau, "Myanmar: Special Economic Zones."
- 14 "Indonesia," The World Bank, https://data.worldbank.org/ country/indonesia.
- 15 "Indonesia," The World Bank.

## The Shifting Global Economy

- 16 Ko Lyn Cheang, "The struggle to define the Belt and Road Initiative in Indonesia", *Jakarta Post*, 24 July 2019, https://www. thejakartapost.com/news/2019/07/24/the-struggle-to-definethe-belt-and-road-initiative-in-indonesia.html.
- 17 Nur Asyiqin Mohamad Salleh, "Jakarta-Bandung high-speed rail project back on track, says Indonesia's investment chief," *Straits Times*, 8 May 2019, https://www.straitstimes.com/asia/ se-asia/jakarta-bandung-high-speed-rail-project-back-on-tracksays-indonesias-investment-chief.
- 18 Amy Chew, "In Malaysia, China's PR blitz on Uygurs in Xinjiang sparks anger," This Week In Asia, 20 December 2019, https://www.scmp.com/week-asia/politics/article/3042877/ mahathirs-malaysia-chinas-pr-blitz-uygurs-sparks-anger-among.
- 19 Chew, "In Malaysia, China's PR blitz."



## Consumer Product Safety in an Ever-Connected World

### Nathaniel Kim

The alarm rings at 7:00 a.m. Rubbing your eyes, you mutter, "Alexa, I'm awake." The Amazon Echo begins your morning routine, explaining weather and traffic conditions for your commute and activating the smart kettle for your tea. Everything is going as expected, except for one thing. Someone has hacked your smart kettle and removed its built-in safety restrictions, causing it to dangerously overheat. Instead of water boiled to a perfect temperature for your earl grey, you find your kitchen engulfed in flames.

This scenario is both hypothetical and real. It's hypothetical because there have been no smart-kettle-related safety incidents in the United States . . . yet (knock on wood). But it's also very real — at a European conference in 2018, a cybersecurity expert gave a live hacking demonstration showing how easily a smart kettle can be rendered dangerous to consumers.<sup>1</sup>

If hackable kettles do not immediately terrify you, consider this: anything connected to the internet can be hacked, and thousands of products are being connected to the internet every day, adding to the rapidly growing Internet of Things (IoT). Some estimates expect 50 billion devices to be connected by 2030.<sup>2</sup>

The explosion of the IoT market comes with similarly large risks to the public. Competitive pressures are pushing smart-product manufacturers to introduce thousands of new devices that lack even the most basic security features. This has brought IoT products to the center of serious security incidents, ranging from hacked home surveillance cameras used to harass children in their bedrooms<sup>3</sup> to hundreds of thousands of IoT devices overloading regional Internet servers.<sup>4</sup>

As a result, cybersecurity issues such as hacking or unexpected system failure—concerns once associated with government espionage and traditional computers—are now highly relevant for consumer protection. However, existing consumer product safety policies may not be sufficient to address the challenges brought on by the IoT.<sup>5</sup>

The first policy challenge involves terminology and definitions that don't reflect the hybrid nature of consumer products today. Product safety laws typically treat "goods" (hardware) and "services" (software) as distinct categories. IoT devices fall into both of these categories, and this gray area will only continue to grow.

Information asymmetry is another problem: producers naturally know more about a product and its potential risks than consumers. Product labels have commonly helped solve this issue by signaling to consumers that certified products were safe. However, labels may not be compatible with the Internet of Things, given its dynamic nature. Unlike traditional products that remain unchanged throughout their lifecycle, smart products regularly receive software updates that add or remove functionality. We can no longer declare that a product is complete and ready for certification with certainty.

There is also the hairy question of liability. Assigning responsibility for harm during the use of an IoT device is complicated. Take, for example, the smart security camera being used to spy on children. Who is responsible for any resulting harm? The hardware manufacturer or the software developer? Is the parent responsible for not changing the default password to a stronger one? What counts as a strong enough password? Who decides?

No single solution will be able to address all these problems. However, three things are important to include in any policy solution.

First, smart products should be treated as categorically different from their "dumb" cousins. As security expert Bruce Schneier puts it, a regular fridge is a container that keeps food cold, while a smart fridge is a computer that also happens to keep food cold.<sup>6</sup> Product safety policies should be updated to account for the realities of digital security. This includes the fact that software will always have bugs and that security risks cannot be eliminated. Risk management should therefore be an ongoing process throughout a product's lifecycle, instead of a one-and-done quality assessment that declares a product to be safe after a single inspection.

Second, the responsibility for product safety should

be held by suppliers. Software vendors have historically avoided this responsibility by writing provisions freeing them from liability into contracts or license agreements, thereby placing a disproportionate burden of risk on consumers. Policymakers should rethink liability for smart products, perhaps following the California Supreme Court's reasoning in the 1940s: "Public policy demands that responsibility be fixed wherever it will most effectively reduce the hazards to life and health inherent in defective products that reach the market."<sup>7</sup>

Finally, governments should coordinate cross-border efforts. As with most high-tech products, IoT devices have global supply chains: components are manufactured and assembled then marketed and sold around the world. Enforcement of security standards is a global challenge with transnational repercussions, and standards should be negotiated and managed with this international scope in mind. Europe made promising progress on this front last year, when the European Telecommunications Standards Institute (ETSI) released the first globally applicable safety standards.<sup>8</sup>

As the smart kettle scenario outlined at the beginning of this article suggests, it is not an exaggeration to say that public safety and human lives are at stake when it comes to securing the Internet of Things. While it is certainly important to consider the implications for defending against cyberattacks and securing critical infrastructure, they should not overshadow the equally serious task of protecting millions of everyday consumers from unsecured products.

Nate Kim is a master in public policy student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University focusing on international and global affairs. He worked at the OECD's Digital Economy Policy division last summer, where he produced research briefs on product safety policy challenges of the Internet of Things. He holds a BS in brain and cognitive sciences from MIT.

## Endnotes

- Executive summary International Product Safety Week 2018 (Brussels: European Commission, 2018), available at: https:// ec.europa.eu/consumers/consumers\_safety/safety\_products/ rapex/alerts/repository/ipsw/documents/ipsw.2018.report.pdf.
- 2 "Number of internet of things (IoT) connected devices worldwide in 2018, 2025 and 2030," statista, 19 February 2020, https://www.statista.com/statistics/802690/ worldwide-connected-devices-by-access-technology/.
- 3 Allyson Chiu, "She installed a Ring camera in her children's room for 'peace of mind.' A hacker accessed it and harassed her 8-year-old daughter," *Washington Post*, 12 December 2019, https://www.washingtonpost.com/nation/2019/12/12/she-installed-ring-camera-her-childrens-room-peace-mind-hackeraccessed-it-harassed-her-year-old-daughter/?arc404=true.
- 4 A distributed denial-of-service (DDoS) attack disrupts a host connected to the internet by flooding the host's server with requests by multiple machines. A famous example is the Mirai IoT botnet attack in 2016, which disrupted internet access across East Coast. Elie Bursztein, "Inside the infamous Mirai IoT Botnet: A Retrospective Analysis," *Cloudflare* (blog), 14 December 2017, https://blog.cloudflare.com/ inside-mirai-the-infamous-iot-botnet-a-retrospective-analysis/.
- 5 A 2018 OECD report serves as a useful reference for policymakers around the world who are tackling this problem. Consumer product safety in the Internet of Things, OECD Digital Economy Papers, No. 267 (Paris: OECD Publishing, 2018) [PDF file].
- 6 Bruce Schneier, Click Here to Kill Everybody: security and survival in a hyper-connected world. (New York: W.W. Norton & Company, 2018).
- 7 Escola v. Coca-Cola Bottling Co., 24 Cal.2d 453, 150 P.2d 436 (1944).
- 8 Sophia Antipolis, "ETSI Releases First Globally Applicable Standard for Consumer IoT Security," ETSI (blog), 19 February 2019, https://www.etsi.org/newsroom/press-releases/1549-2019-02-etsi-releases-first-globally-applicable-standard-for-consumer-iot-security.



## **Protecting Digital Privacy:** Why the United States Should Follow Europe's Lead and Pass Federal Legislation

## Aisha Iqbal

Since the 2016 election, the right to digital privacy has emerged as a fundamental issue in the United States, as reports have detailed the way technology companies such as Google and Facebook are potentially violating consumer rights in how they collect, analyze, and sell user data.<sup>1</sup>

Despite public concern following events such

as Cambridge Analytica's involvement with the 2016 election and the Equifax credit data breach, government action in the United States has been limited. It wasn't until the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA), which went into effect 1 January 2020, that substantive privacy regulation was enacted on a statewide level. At the federal level, legislators

have proposed several digital privacy bills, but none has received the support of both political parties.

By comparison, the European Union implemented major privacy regulation legislation in 2018, the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), giving EU consumers greater agency over how companies use their data. Without similar federal legislation, the United States is not only compromising its constituents' right to privacy, it is allowing big tech to grow without the necessary consumer safeguards. As California Congresswoman Zoe Lofgren highlights, "a legal framework for digital privacy is needed to protect consumers from the ever-growing data-collection and data-sharing industries that make billions annually off Americans' personal information."<sup>2</sup>

## **Europe's Digital Privacy Regulations**

The GDPR established fundamental digital privacy rights for its citizens and residents, which have served as a model for national legislation elsewhere, including in Brazil. Due to the size of the European market, GDPR regulations have prompted tech companies to change their data standards in Europe.<sup>3</sup> For example, Facebook began asking users if they wanted to see certain ads or share their profile information with its advertising partners.<sup>4</sup> Many see changes in Europe as a first step toward broader, global privacy updates. "If we can export [these changes] to the world, I will be happy," said Vera Jourova, the European commissioner in charge of consumer protection and privacy, who also helped draft GDPR.<sup>5</sup>

Under the GDPR, any public or private entity handling data must have "appropriate technical and organizational measures" to protect individuals.<sup>6</sup> The entities must design information systems that ensure

"Without similar federal legislation, the United States is not only compromising its constituents' right to privacy, it is allowing big tech to grow without the necessary consumer safeguards." consumers cannot be identified and their information is not publicly available. Further, they cannot process personal data unless it falls under specific legal bases, which include contract or legal requirement.<sup>7</sup>

In addition, to collect and use data, companies must disclose the lawful basis for its processing, the length of data retainment, and whether data are to be shared to any third party or party outside of the EU.<sup>8</sup> European consumers can request a copy of their data and have their data erased under some circumstances.<sup>9</sup>

The GDPR requires some public and private authorities that use data collection to employ a data-protection officer to manage compliance with the legislation.<sup>10</sup> Companies must also report data breaches to each member state's supervisory authorities within 72 hours if there is impact on user privacy.<sup>11</sup>

## US State and Local Response

One of the first states to enshrine a "right to privacy" in its constitution, and the first to pass a data-breach-notification law, California also passed the first comprehensive digital privacy legislation in the United States.<sup>12,13</sup> Similar to GDPR, the CCPA requires companies to disclose to customers what data they collect and how consumers can request the company delete or stop selling their data.<sup>14</sup> Companies cannot deny service if consumers opt out from data collection.<sup>15</sup>

CCPA's passage has already impacted how technology companies operate in the United States. In late 2019, Microsoft was the first company to announce that it would abide by the new regulations in every state, calling privacy a "fundamental human right."<sup>16</sup>

As of August 2019, at least 25 states and Puerto Rico had introduced digital privacy bills, though California's is still the only success. New York's failed privacy bill was even more expansive than California's. It introduced in the United States the concept of private right of action, allowing individuals to sue technology companies for data breaches instead of depending on collective action.<sup>17</sup> GDPR does allow private right to action, but it is not clear whether each

### Technology & Privacy: Nowhere to Hide

"Federal legislation without a preemption clause is necessary to ensure universal and consistent consumer privacy in the United States."

EU member state can actually enforce the action within its domestic court system.<sup>18</sup>

States and localities have found greater success in specialized data-protection legislation. Illinois, Texas, and Washington passed biometric privacy laws targeted at the increased public use of facial recognition technology.<sup>19</sup> Nonetheless, Al Gidari, a privacy professor at Stanford Law School, told the *New York Times* that "absent a very strong federal privacy law, [the American public] is screwed."<sup>20</sup>

#### **US Federal Response**

Historically, the federal government has responded to consumer data through more specialized protection acts, including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), and Children Online Privacy Protection Act (COPPA).<sup>21</sup> As with the case of data regarding health, education, and minors, federal guidance is required to restrict an unequal privacy landscape from emerging.

Multiple proposed federal pieces of legislation have failed to make it through Congress due to two issues: private right to action and federal pre-emption. Republican legislators say inclusion of private right to action, giving individuals the right to sue companies, would harm the business community and clog up the judicial process. Many Democratic legislators assert that it is essential to the passage of a comprehensive bill.<sup>22</sup>

Legislators have introduced numerous bills based on the inclusion or exclusion of federal pre-emption, according to which federal law preempts state law when the laws conflict.<sup>23</sup> If a weak federal privacy law is enacted with pre-emption status, it would nullify relatively strong legislation such as CCPA, a concern of privacy activists.<sup>24</sup> However, a national standard, similar to the GDPR model, would reduce costs associated with implementation as it would be uniform across states, a favorable position for several technology companies.<sup>25</sup>

### **Policy Options**

Federal legislation without a pre-emption clause is necessary to ensure universal and consistent consumer privacy in the Unites States. Building upon the global model set by GDPR, federal legislation must promote an individual's right to control his or her digital data, set critical transparency standards, and establish accountability measures—without undermining states' efforts.

Legislation such as the Consumer Online Privacy Rights Act, introduced by Indiana Senator Maria Cantwell in November 2019, would give consumers the right to view, correct, and delete their data while also presenting them with the private right to action.<sup>26</sup> It also lacks a federal pre-emption clause. Unfortunately, current partisan divides have stalled the bill's progress. Despite barriers, bold legislation like Senator Cantwell's is fundamental for the protection of the 21st-century American consumer.

Aisha Iqbal is currently a master of public policy student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University studying emerging technology and digital privacy. This past summer, she explored blockchain use cases and refugee privacy regulations for UNFPA in Turkey. Prior to HKS, Aisha was a public sector consultant for IBM's Global Business Services, where she assisted in analytics and optimization projects for numerous international development and humanitarian response clients.

### Endnotes

 According to a 2017 Pew Research study, 64 percent of Americans have reported a data breach, and roughly 50 percent stated that they do not trust the federal government or private companies with their personal data. Aaron Smith, "American and Cybersecurity," Pew Research Center, 26 January 2017, accessed 6 February 2020, https://www.pewresearch.org/ internet/2017/01/26/americans-and-cybersecurity/.

- 2 Dennis Fisher, "Online Privacy Act Would Create Federal Privacy Agency," Decipher, 6 November 2019, https://duo.com/decipher/ online-privacy-act-would-create-federal-privacy-agency.
- 3 "Facebook's Commitment to Data Protection and Privacy in Compliance with the GDPR," Facebook, 29 January 2018, accessed 6 February 2020, https://www.facebook.com/business/news/facebooks-commitment-to-data-protection-and-privacy-in-compliance-with-the-gdpr.
- 4 Arjun Kharpal "Facebook lays out changes to comply with a strict new European privacy law," CNBC, 18 April 2018, https:// www.cnbc.com/2018/04/18/facebook-makes-changes-to-comply-with-eu-privacy-law-gdpr.html.
- 5 Adam Satariano, "G.D.P.R., a New Privacy Law, Makes Europe World's Leading Tech Watchdog," New York Times, 24 May 2018, https://www.nytimes.com/2018/05/24/technology/ europe-gdpr-privacy.html.
- 6 For businesses, that would mean personal data-collection methods should be designed and built with safeguards including pseudonymization or anonymization in place. "Security processing," article 32, General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) (2018).
- 7 In detail, the six laws for processing as defined by article 6 of GDPR are as follow: "Processing shall be lawful only if and to the extent that at least one of the following applies: a) the data subject has given consent to the processing of his or her personal data for one or more specific purposes; b) processing is necessary for the performance of a contract to which the data subject is party or in order to take steps at the request of the data subject prior to entering into a contract; c) processing is necessary for compliance with a legal obligation to which the controller is subject; d) processing is necessary in order to protect the vital interests of the data subject or of another natural person; e) processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in the controller; f) processing is necessary for the purposes of the legitimate interests pursued by the controller or by a third party, except where such interests are overridden by the interests or fundamental rights and freedoms of the data subject which require protection of personal data, in particular where the data subject is a child. "Lawfulness of processing," article 6, GDPR (2018).
- 8 "Responsibility of the controller," article 24, GDPR (2018).
- 9 "Rights of the data subject," chapter 3, GDPR (2018).
- "Designation of the data protection officer," article 37, GDPR (2018).
- "Designation of the data protection officer," article 37, GDPR (2018).
- 12 Kari Paul, "California's groundbreaking privacy law takes effect in January. What does it do?," *The Guardian*, 30 December

2019, https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2019/dec/30/ california-consumer-privacy-act-what-does-it-do.

- 13 California Notification of Data Breach Law (2019), available at: https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes\_displaySection. xhtml?lawCode=CIV&sectionNum=1798.82.
- 14 California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA) § 1 (2020), available at: https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient. xhtml?bill\_id=201720180SB1121.
- 15 The CCPA only covers businesses that have more than \$25 million in annual revenue, possess personal information on 50,000 people or households annually, or receive more than 50 percent of their revenue from the sale of personal information. If a company does not fall within these parameters, then they do not technically need to offer the right to opt out. CCPA \$ 5 (2020), available at: https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/bil/TextClient.xhtml?bill\_id=201720180SB1121.
- 16 Julie Brill, "Microsoft will honor California's new privacy rights throughout the United States," *Microsoft* (blog), 11 November 2019, https://blogs.microsoft.com/on-the-issues/2019/11/11/ microsoft-california-privacy-rights/.
- 17 Issie Lapowsky, "New York's Privacy Bill is Even Bolder Than California's," Wired, June 4 2019, https://www.wired.com/story/ new-york-privacy-act-bolder/.
- 18 Christian Auty, "GDPR Privacy FAQs: Is there a private right of action for failing to comply with European cookie laws?" Bryan Cave Leighton Paisner, 9 August 2019, https://www.bclplaw. com/en-US/thought-leadership/gdpr-privacy-faqs-is-there-aprivate-right-of-action-for-failing.html.
- 19 Biometric Information Privacy Act (2019), available at: http:// www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs3.asp?ActID=3004&Chapter-ID=57; Biometric Privacy Law (2019), available at: https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/BC/htm/BC.503.htm; Biometric Privacy Law (2019), available at: https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/ default.aspx?cite=19.375.
- 20 Kashmir Hill, "The Secretive Company that Might End Privacy as We Know It," New York Times, 18 January 2020, https:// www.nytimes.com/2020/01/18/technology/clearview-privacy-facial-recognition.html.
- 21 Makena Kelly, "Congress is split over your right to sue Facebook" The Verge, 13 December 2019, https://www.theverge. com/2019/12/3/20993680/facebook-google-private-right-of-action-sue-data-malpractice-wicker-cantwell.
- 22 Charlie Warzel, "Will Congress Actually Pass a Privacy Bill?" New York Times, 10 December 2019, https://www.nytimes. com/2019/12/10/opinion/congress-privacy-bill.html.
- 23 American Data Dissemination Act introduced by Senator Marco Rubio and Balancing the Rights of Web Surfers Equally and Responsibly Act introduced by Senator Marsha Blackburn are both bundled with this pre-emption clause. Senator Catherine Cortex Masto's DATA Privacy Act and Senator Ed

Markey's Privacy Bill of Rights Act are both similar to GDPR in scope and do not include pre-emption.

- 24 India Mckenny and Gennie Gebhert, "Consumer Data Privacy Advocates to Senate Committee: Here's How to Protect Consumers," *Electronic Frontier Foundation* (blog), 8 May 2019, https://www.eff.org/deeplinks/2019/05/consumer-data-privacy-advocates-senate-committee-heres-how-protect-consumers.
- 25 Warzel, "Will Congress Actually Pass a Privacy Bill?"
- 26 Consumer Online Privacy Act (2019), available at: https://www. cantwell.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/COPRA%20Bill%20Text. pdf.



## Forget the Surveillance State — We're Living in the Surveillance Estate

## Jean-Baptiste Féline

The expression "surveillance state," used to describe the surveillance led today by Western governments, piggybacking the private sector, is no longer appropriate. The reality of surveillance in our societies is more omnidirectional than ever. It fosters a new state of mind and enables new behaviors: this is the "surveillance estate."

### The Surveillance State Is a Fantasy

The so-called surveillance state in democracies - an

overwhelming set of lawful or unlawful activities led by a government upon its citizens and foreigners for security reasons—mostly pertains to fantasy. The vision of an almighty government implementing massive surveillance techniques against the people, monitoring every individual's move and communication, is misleading. Yet this tenacious idea persists in the collective imagination: we tend to associate a public surveillance system with iconic fictional figures like George Orwell's infamous Big Brother in *Nineteen Eighty-Four* or Pre-Crime Unit in Philippe R. Dick's *The Minority Report*.

Hollywood "preaches suspicions of authority," as the author David Brin puts it.<sup>1</sup> The dystopian views propagated by the movie industry heavily exploit the psychological realm of intrusion, which can be symbolized by multiple-camera systems, microphones shaped liked shotguns and pointed at the targets to be surveilled (as in the movie The Conversation<sup>2</sup>), or biometric-reading machines. But however much we may enjoy fantasizing about a dreadful and paranoid future, Minority Report's precogs<sup>3</sup> are, for instance, very unlikely to assist policemen anytime soon. In fact, law enforcement is struggling simply to solve crimes that have already been committed,<sup>4</sup> let alone building a futuristic capacity to prevent them from happening.

We collectively imagine the surveillance state as a monolithic police state, able to surveil, enforce, judge, and imprison. The prominence of this vision has flourished through scholarship itself—especially the surveillance studies—as authors have relied almost systematically on the same famous carceral model of Jeremy Bentham's *Panopticon*.

Despite this omnipotent mythology, in our imperfect but precious democracies, the authorities can collect damning data on people who will nevertheless succeed in carrying out their nefarious projects. Even terrorist attacks, addressed as a top-priority issue, are perpetrated in nearly all cases by known individuals previously marked as national security threats.5 Does this mean that surveillance is not efficient and that all such crimes take advantage of intelligence failures? No. Rather, the collection of a piece of intelligence does not necessarily enable the government to act,6 for a wide range of material, political, and legal reasons. But more to the point, it reveals that while detection is coordinated in the best fashion and eventually allows for the disruption of many attacks,7 monitoring and continuously surveilling the various individuals once flaggedand foreseeing their actions-is a much more difficult task

"Surveillance varies in its intensity but also involves different actors with multiple roles: this is the 'surveillance estate,' where multidirectional surveillance challenges traditional hierarchies of power and implicates all of us in a pernicious game of 'who trusts whom.""

## The Reality of Surveillance: States in Need

To achieve its mission of preserving national security, the US government can run surveillance operations if granted a judicial warrant,<sup>8</sup> but legal frameworks do not prevent all abuses and wrongdoings, especially when a state is eager to track its enemies down. This is not a new phenomenon. Professor Jack Goldsmith, who sees J. Edgar Hoover as the "godfather of the American surveillance state," underlines that "for the six decades prior to 9/11, presidents and attorneys general, under pressure to find and defeat various 'enemies' in American society, had secretly blessed surveillance practices that would be declared illegal when they came to light years later."<sup>9</sup>

The 2001 terrorist attacks put the executive branch back under high pressure, which led to programs such as Stellarwind<sup>10</sup> and PRISM. The unlawful disclosures by Edward Snowden in 2013 made headlines and had a huge impact, corroding the public trust toward the intelligence community.<sup>11</sup> But perhaps the most interesting takeaway from the scandal was not that German Chancellor Angela Merkel's phone line was tapped, along with those of other European leaders,<sup>12</sup> but that the US government largely depends on the private sector to carry out its mission, and especially the big tech companies providing internet services: Google, Facebook, Apple, Yahoo, Hotmail, to name a few.

Today, Western governments are quite candid about this situation and openly recognize their need for the private sector's involvement. Intelligence-community leaders call for closer cooperation with the private sector, as Sir Andrew Parker (MI5 Director from 2013 to 2020), recently did in the Financial Times:<sup>13</sup> "The private sector has way more information and data about any of us than MI5 would ever have about the individuals we're interested in." Such cooperation is not limited to "data relating to terror suspects" but also involves increasing partnerships of all types, including financial investments in startups.<sup>14</sup> This kind of public acknowledgement is quite remarkable, since great powers traditionally strive to communicate an image of intelligence preeminence as part of their national deterrence strategy.

The cooperation between governments craving data to ensure national security and private conglomerates holding immense wells of the new digital oil is sometimes fruitful and sometimes hostile, and always complex and deeply intertwined. In cybersecurity, private firms like FireEye and Crowdstrike sell their products and services to government agencies for routine or exceptional requests, bringing an important and useful complement to the intelligence-community's capacities.<sup>15</sup> But the private sector does not always put national interest at the top of its priority list.16 Some American companies - among the finest and most powerful-have provided China with surveillance hardware and technology, ultimately enhancing the surveillance system implemented by the communist Celestial Empire across its regions, where human rights abuses against minorities and dissidents are observed.17

### Introducing the Surveillance Estate

In fact, the private sector has now developed a knowledge of individuals that is more comprehensive and precise than ever, encompassing social connections, opinions, psychological profiles, cultural behaviors, purchase patterns, health data, geolocation, finances, and more. This huge data collection and monetization by giant tech companies—which are essentially advertisement companies with sound and innovative technologies—are now more understood and, in cases like the commercial and political usage of such data by Cambridge Analytica, have faced public scrutiny.

Since their inception, Facebook and Google's business models have been based on surveillance and boosted by the network effect.<sup>18</sup> Apple's strategy has its own specificities, building a low-cost luxury brand and transforming customers into devotees,<sup>19</sup> but also relies heavily on proprietary formats, artificial intelligence, and sometimes a geolocation option you cannot turn off.<sup>20</sup> These companies operate in this novel business realm by exploiting information directly generated by the users. This specific digital economy loots all available data and creates new forms of information and market opportunities, which sustains the global surveillance-originated big data that Professor Soshana Zuboff calls "surveillance capitalism."<sup>21</sup>

The field of surveillance studies now takes into consideration, by and large, activities operated either by public or private entities. Even the now-preferred term "surveillance societies" is considered to be "potentially misleading" by David Lyon "because they suggest merely a total, homogeneous situation of 'being under surveillance' when the reality is much more nuanced, varying in intensity and often quite subtle."22 Indeed, the reality is more complex than a massive top-down surveillance run by authorities and companies. Surveillance varies in its intensity but also involves different actors with multiple roles: this is the "surveillance estate," where multidirectional surveillance challenges traditional hierarchies of power and implicates all of us in a pernicious game of "who trusts whom."

According to the harsh logic of the surveillance estate, governments monitor their citizens to con-

"Such extreme and historical examples teach us that surveillance, at some points, is always carried out by humans against humans — whichever techniques are used. And the damage, before being economic, legal, or political, is profoundly human."

trol crime, but they must also protect themselves from criminal surveillance, limiting transparency when it comes to critical infrastructure.23 And for data-gathering companies, individuals are both the sources and the targets of surveillance. Many of these companies are highly manipulative, gripping our lives with enhanced marketing techniques.24 Facebook exploits our "deep subconscious needs for belonging, approval and safety."25 And we could argue that the surveillance companies, at the individual level, instrumentalize the same fears-risk aversion and public panic-we observe when our collective security is threatened. Nonetheless, our active role in the surveillance system does not make us mere victims ready to be manipulated, though many social studies tend to describe it in such terms. While we may not see the big picture of the ultimate tradeoffs, we certainly enjoy the convenience of technology, which enables us to meet our personal surveillance objectives.

Old forms of monitoring are now carried out through our connected devices, and new opportunities also emerge: social media,26 now a primary source of information for journalists; horizontal surveillance for security reasons ("if you see something, say something") or moral motives; video captures of mundane happenings in the streets; reality TV polling. . . . The digital citizen is a pro-surveillance activist who likes to share and view: as a consumer (reviews and ratings), as a voter (opinions surveys), as a friend (online connections), as a parent (snooping tools<sup>27</sup> and daycare cameras), as a witness (news reporting by bystanders), as a tenant or landlord (home-automation and security products), as a manager,<sup>28</sup> as a spouse.<sup>29</sup> Do these multiple roles signal empowerment or excessive individual entitlement? Smartphones can be weaponized to quickly denounce or impulsively report others' words and activities, damaging reputations or more.30 With this tendency to pry and self-entitlement, a misconception of whistleblowing has also mushroomed, leading to a confusion between public and private lives: "[Jonathan] Zittrain worries that people have lost sight of the original value behind whistleblowing, which is to make powerful institutions publicly accountable. Now everyone is vulnerable."<sup>31</sup>

# The New and Hard-Fought Boundaries of Privacy

To tackle these new surveillance challenges, and to recover a certain control over privacy and personal data, it may be an appropriate approach to regulate the data-broker industry, as recently suggested<sup>32</sup> by the security researcher Bruce Schneier. But such markets are for third-party data trading. Another, larger issue is the first-party data (users' data) held by the GAFA giants (Google, Apple, Facebook, and Amazon), as well as other companies like Microsoft, Tesla, or Uber.

There is not an obvious and easy regulatory model to recover data control. Hence, the first real efforts undertaken so far have been focused on the monopolistic power of the GAFA. The new markets being so opaque and evolving at a fast pace, it seems necessary-though not sufficient-to challenge their monopolistic abuses. And since the issue is global, our societies must address it with international instruments. Across the Atlantic, the European Union Commission has been striving to frame the Big Four's outgrown appetite, distributing gigantic fines to Apple,33 Facebook, and Google over the past few years, mainly on anti-trust legal grounds, as it had done several times before to Microsoft. Besides sanctions, the European Union took, with the General Data Protection Regulation,34 a major regulatory step that is likely to be followed soon by proposals from the Executive Vice-President of the Commission, Margrethe Vestager, whose new mission for "A Europe fit for the Digital Age" entails the coordination of a "European strategy on data," work on a "new Digital Services Act" and on "digital taxation."35

In addition, a whole array of investigations has been launched within some EU member-state jurisdictions,<sup>36</sup> and other kinds of initiatives, such as the French 3 percent "digital sales tax,"<sup>37</sup> infuriated Washington and Silicon Valley, who would prefer to reach a consensus through the OECD.<sup>38</sup> Despite these efforts, mere regulation and litigation may not suffice to tame the Big Four, especially where other competing national interests impede genuine international cooperation. It is for this reason that people like Professor Scott Galloway<sup>39</sup> or Roger McNamee<sup>40</sup> argue for dismantling the big tech monopolies. This idea of "breaking up" the giants has disseminated, and Senator Elizabeth Warren, a former 2020 Democratic Party presidential candidate, inserted it in her program.<sup>41</sup>

However it takes form, the wrestle promises to be nasty, given the power and money at stake. Although the states have the incomparable privilege of sovereignty, the private digital empires make phenomenal profits, have a small overhead relative to their business scale, and embody innovation—quite the contrary of the governments they face. The big tech companies are ahead, and "their abilities to surveil for profit outrun public understanding and the eventual development of law and regulation that it produces."<sup>42</sup> Most companies are still headed by their founders and owners. By nature, they are relentless, leading offensive strategies,<sup>43</sup> experimenting and forcing their way until they meet further resistance.

# "Hey Google! Show Me the Way out of the Surveillance Estate."

Although the techniques of surveillance are mostly engineered and used by the government and the private sector, the omnidirectional aspect of the surveillance estate is essential to bear in mind, as the human component and our shared responsibility ought not to be downplayed. Even in historical surveillance states, the image of an almighty government, on one side, watching and listening to the citizens on the other side is not accurate. The Stasi exemplifies surveillance states' involvement of civil society to exercise surveillance in multiple directions: the East German Ministerium für Staatssicherheit hired unofficial collaborators (inoffizieller Mitarbeiter) throughout its decades of surveillance and relied on individual citizens in its quest to monitor everyone, especially the government itself!44

Such extreme and historical examples teach us that

surveillance, at some points, is always carried out by humans against humans — whichever techniques are used. And the damage, before being economic, legal, or political, is profoundly human. Over-surveillance destroys personalities. It breeds distrust and, ultimately, shatters self-confidence, impairing the possibility to develop virtue.<sup>45</sup> In other words, today, we might give up our character by giving away our characteristics.

Dystopian literature leads us to imagine a world where our internal freedom is chained, our soul at risk. In this respect, the pervasive nature of surveillance technology appears as a means to radically distract us from what matters. As the author Georges Bernanos wrote: "We do not understand a single thing about modern civilization if we do not first admit it is a universal conspiration against any kind of inner life."46 We do not yet know what the most suitable policies are to address the challenges of this surveillance estate. But true empowerment will not come from being granted more rights by the state but by realizing that we already participate in shaping our present world; essential freedom cannot be achieved merely by defying authorities or corporate giants but rather by contemplating what we can each achieve with our given dignity.

Jean-Baptiste Féline is a lawyer specialized in telecommunications and defense industries. The author of various essays on cinema for a French review on international affairs (*Questions internationales*) and a writer (poetry, novels), he is a fellow at the Harvard Kennedy School's Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs for the academic year 2019-2020.

#### Endnotes

- World of Watson 2016, Mandalay Bay, Las Vegas, NV, 24–27 October 2016. He sees three other key "moral elements": tolerance, diversity, and eccentricity.
- 2 Directed by Francis Ford Coppola, with Gene Hackman and John Cazale (1974).
- 3 Precogs are humans able to foresee future crimes and are instrumentalized as prediction tools by the police.
- 4 According to the 2018 statistics of the FBI's Uniform Crime

Reporting (UCR) Program, 62.3 percent of "murders and nonnegligent manslaughters" were cleared. Rapes have the second highest clearance rate, barely reaching a third of recorded offenses (33.4 percent).

- 5 France is a sad example, with 87 percent of attackers (between 2012 and early 2018) already known as potential terrorists. See "Combien des auteurs d'attentats des dernières années n'étaient pas fichés S ?" Europe 1, 26 March 2018, https://www. europel.fr/emissions/Le-vrai-faux-de-l-info2/combien-des-auteurs-dattentats-des-dernieres-annees-netaient-pas-fich-es-s-3609314. The latest terrorist attack in Paris (October 2019) is even more concerning: four police station officers were killed by one of their colleagues whose Islamic radicalization had been notified to his superiors. See Jean Chichizola, "Face à ses agents radicalisés, l'État est vigilant mais démuni," Le Figaro, 3 February 2020, https://sfrpresse.sfr.fr/article/ d40fc00b-6f5e-45d6-8eda-a92c2af6c54a).
- 6 Federic Lemieux, "Six myths about national security intelligence," The Conversation, 25 January 2017, https:// theconversation.com/six-myths-about-national-security-intelligence-71449. In this article, the first two myths the professor debunks are "intelligence and evidence are the same" and "intelligence can predict the future."
- 7 In France, to keep up with the same example, during the 2015–2018 period, those specific files ("fiches S") were actively used in 75 percent of the 51 prevented terrorist attacks. Sénat, "Rapport d'information sur l'amélioration de l'efficacité des fiches S," N°219, 19 December 2018, 56.
- 8 As required by the Omnibus Crime Control Act and Safe Streets Act of 1968 and the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act of 1978. Additionally, the Supreme Court ruled in 2014 that the search of a cell phone following an arrest requires a warrant.
- 9 Jack Goldsmith, In Hoffa's Shadow: A Stepfather, a Disappearance in Detroit, and My Search for the Truth (New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2019), p. 124.
- 10 The government reluctantly gave up the program Stellarwind in March 2004, following a legal opinion from Jack Goldsmith, working at that time as assistant attorney general in charge of OLC (Office of Legal Counsel). The main issue was that judicial warrants were no longer necessary for conducting surveillance.
- 11 "The road to a better system must be paved with trust," in David Anderson, A Question of Trust: report of the investigatory powers review (UK: Crown, 2015), pp. 245–56 [PDF file].
- 12 Rhodri Jeffrey-Jones, "Allies Have Always Spied on Each Other," New York Times, 25 October 2013, https://www.nytimes.com/roomfordebate/2013/10/24/if-were-spying-are-we-still-allies/ allies-have-always-spied-on-each-other.
- 13 Lionel Barber and Helen Warrell, "MI5 chief sees

tech as biggest challenge and opportunity," *Financial Times*, 12 January 2020, https://www.ft.com/content/f8ef9d84-3542-11ea-a6d3-9a26f8c3cba4.

- 14 "The Treasury has established a security investment fund so that the UK intelligence agencies can nurture start-ups developing the tools they need." See Barber and Warrell, "MI5 chief."
- 15 Philip Ewing, "Election Security boss: Threats To 2020 Are Now Broader, More Diverse," 22 January 2020, in *Morning Edition*, podcast, 9:02, https://www.npr. org/2020/01/22/798186093/election-security-boss-threats-to-2020-are-now-broader-more-diverse.
- 16 Human rights, in general, are impacted by the lack of regulation and effective control in the private surveillance industry, as stated by the UN Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression in the report Surveillance and human rights (A/HRC/41/35; Human Rights Council, 2019) [PDF file].
- 17 Liza Lin and Josh Chin, "U.S. Tech Companies Prop Up China's Vast Surveillance Network," Wall Street Journal 26 November 2019, https://www.wsj.com/articles/u-s-tech-companies-prop-up-chinas-vast-surveillance-network-11574786846. The expanding Entity List further restricts transactions with certain Chinese companies, but the connections through various ventures and supply chains are sometimes indirect. See also Kelley Beaucar Vlahos, "Orwell Goes to China," The American Conservative, July/August 2019, 21.
- 18 "A network effect (also called network externality or demand-side economies of scale) is the effect described in economics and business that an additional user of goods or services has on the value of that product to others." "Network Effect," Wikipedia, last updated 11 February 2020, accessed 20 February 2020, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Network\_effect.
- 19 Scott Galloway, "Apple," in *The Four: The Hidden DNA of Amazon, Apple, Facebook and Google* (New York: Portfolio/ Penguin, 2017), pp. 63–95.
- 20 Nick Statt, "Apple explains why the iPhone II is requesting location data without permission," *The Verge*, 5 December 2019, https://www.theverge.com/2019/12/5/20997338/appleultra-wideband-ul-chip-iphone-II-pro-location-data-requestprivacy-issue.
- 21 Shoshana Zuboff, The Age of Surveillance Capitalism: The Fight for a Human Future at the New Frontier of Power (New York: PublicAffairs, 2019).
- 22 David Lyon, "Surveillance Studies: An Overview," in Surveillance Studies: A Reader, eds. Torin Monahan and David Murakami Wood (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2018), p. 20.
- 23 In the United States, more and more states enact bills to restrict public disclosure through the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) of certain information that could reveal critical

infrastructure vulnerabilities.

- 24 Jon Brooks, "7 Specific Tactics Social Media Companies Use to Keep You Hooked," KQED, 9 June 2017, https://www.kqed. org/futureofyou/397018/7-specific-ways-social-media-companies-have-you-hooked.
- 25 Galloway, "Facebook," in The Four, p. 118.
- 26 For various assessments of how "participatory media destabilizes top-down models of surveillance in fascinating and oftentimes fraught ways", see *Surveillance Studies*, pp. 307–30.
- 27 Marc Fisher and Craig Timberg, "Americans uneasy about surveillance but often use snooping tools, Post poll finds," Washington Post, 21 December 2013, https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/americans-uneasyabout-surveillance-but-often-use-snooping-tools-post-pollfinds/2013/12/21/ca15e990-67f9-11e3-ae56-22de072140a2\_story. html.
- 28 Surveillance at work is studied extensively. Besides traditional monitoring tools implemented for management purposes, some extraordinary surveillance can happen. Lately, in February 2020, Credit Suisse CEO Tidjane Thiam resigned after a spying scandal (covert surveillance of several executives).
- 29 Rhodri Jeffreys-Jones highlights the "divorce work" (as well as the "labor work") undertaken by private detective agencies in "State surveillance is more ethical than corporate spying," *Whred*, 29 January 2016, https://www.wired.co.uk/article/ state-surveillance-rhodri-jeffreys-jones.
- 30 Two different examples both related to sex, although the first one cannot be considered as an impulsive denunciation: (1) Elie Wiesel (1928-2016), Nobel laureate and Holocaust survivor, was accused in 2017 of having had a misconduct in 1989. The accusation spread on the news rapidly without being properly checked. The Washington Post edited a past article (Monica Hesse and Dan Zak, "Who's next? A moment of reckoning for men - and the behavior we can no longer ignore," Washington Post, 27 October 2017, https://www.washingtonpost.com/lifestyle/style/whos-next-a-moment-of-reckoning-formen--and-the-behavior-we-can-no-longer-ignore/2017/10/26/ b273007a-ba5c-lle7-9e58-e6288544af98\_story.html) and removed "those references and Wiesel's photograph ... because the account of his accuser could not be challenged by Wiesel, who died in 2016. In addition, The Post should have taken steps to corroborate the claim before reporting it and failed to do so in this case." (2) In 2019, the investor Kenneth Fisher made a sexually explicit comment that cost him hundreds of millions of dollars. The scandal started with a post in the social media, from a person attending the conference. Matthew Goldstein and Matt Phillips, "Kenneth Fisher Ruled Investing. Then He Made a Sexist Joke," New York Times, 23 October 2019, https:// www.nytimes.com/2019/10/23/business/kenneth-fisher-investments-sexism.html.

- 31 Jonathan Shaw, "The Watchers," *Harvard Magazine*, January/ February 2017, https://www.harvardmagazine.com/2017/01/ the-watchers.
- 32 Bruce Schneier, "We're Banning Facial Recognition. We're Missing the Point," New York Times, 20 January 2020, https:// www.nytimes.com/2020/01/20/opinion/facial-recognition-ban-privacy.html: "The data broker industry is almost entirely unregulated; there's only one law — passed in Vermont in 2018 — that requires data brokers to register and explain in broad terms what kind of data they collect. The large internet surveillance companies like Facebook and Google collect dossiers on us more detailed than those of any police state of the previous century. Reasonable laws would prevent the worst of their abuses."
- 33 The decision taken by the commission in 2016 was not of an anti-trust case but a state aid. Apple benefited from an illegal tax base reduction in Ireland for an amount worth up to €13 billion. Ireland was ordered to recover the taxes from the company plus interest. Tim Cook, Apple CEO, called it "total political crap."
- 34 Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation), entered in force 24 May 2018.
- 35 Ursula von der Leyden, "Mission letter" (Brussels: European Commission, 1 December 2019) [PDF file].
- 36 Elizabeth Schulze, "If you want to know what a US tech crackdown may look like, check out what Europe did," CNBC, 7 June 2019, https://www.msn.com/en-us/ money/markets/if-you-want-to-know-what-a-us-techcrackdown-may-look-like-check-out-what-europe-did/ ar-AACwPTH.
- 37 "Loi n° 2019-759 du 24 juillet 2019 portant création d'une taxe sur les services numériques et modification de la trajectoire de baisse de l'impôt sur les sociétés," Legifrance, 25 July 2019, https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/affichLoiPreparation. do?idDocument=JORFDOLE000038203221&type=general&typeLoi=proj&legislature=15.
- 38 "France agrees to delay new tax on tech giants," BBC News, 21 January 2020, https://www.bbc.com/news/business-51192369.
- 39 Galloway, The Four, pp. 264–79.
- 40 Roger McNamee is an early investor of Facebook and author of Zucked, Waking Up to the Facebook Catastrophe (New York: Penguin Press, 2019).
- 41 Elizabeth Warren, "Here's how we can break up Big Tech," Medium, 8 March 2019, https://medium.com/@teamwarren/ heres-how-we-can-break-up-big-tech-9ad9e0da324c.
- 42 Soshana Zuboff, "Big Other: Surveillance Capitalism and the Prospects of an Information Civilization," *Journal of*

Information Technology 30 (2015): 83.

- 43 Consider Uber's legal strategy for example.
- 44 Sandrine Kott, "Comment la Stasi a mis la RDA sous surveillance," L'Histoire, February 2007, n°317, https://www.lhistoire.fr/ comment-la-stasi-mis-la-rda-sous-surveillance.
- 45 David Matheson, "Overprotection, Surveillance, and the Development of Virtue" (working paper, Carleton University, 2006).
- 46 "On ne comprend absolument rien à la civilisation moderne si l'on n'admet pas d'abord qu'elle est une conspiration universelle contre toute espèce de vie intérieure," in Georges Bernanos, La France contre les Robots (1946).



## Mumbai's Stories in Stone: Urban Heritage Conservation in the Maximum City

## Aaran Patel

Mumbai's urban identity has been in flux since its founding as a colonial port city. Over the course of two centuries, a combination of British officials and Indian merchants and laborers transformed the formerly sleepy archipelago of seven islands in the Arabian Sea into a global hub of commerce.

In the past 50 years, Mumbai's population boomed from 5 million to 20 million, and its economy transitioned from trade based to service based. However, Mumbai's never-ending quest for space threatens heritage structures integral to the city's history, raising questions about the balance between conservation and development.

The Mumbai Heritage Conservation Committee (MHCC) was born from NGOs' participation in the development planning process and their demand for regulatory frameworks to preserve built heritage. Although MHCC is an advisory committee and has few implementation powers, it has shaped regulation and citizens' awareness about heritage. This includes developing a grading structure for heritage buildings based on their history and significance. While this grading has been critical to protecting buildings and raising funding, it also asserts a significant power over what buildings are considered worthy of preservation.

Although by Indian standards Mumbai is quite young, its short history has bequeathed a range of architectural styles. From strategic defenses to places of worship to residences, Mumbai's historic buildings reveal the changing priorities and aspirations of residents through the ages.



Mahim Fort, on the city's west coast, juxtaposed with rising luxury high rises and office complexes Mumbai's coastal forts, established as strategic strongholds between the 16th and 19th centuries, are among the city's oldest man-made structures. They protected residents from enemies and controlled the passage of goods and people among the city, its hinterlands, and commercial shipping channels. Some of these forts have received the highest category of grade I classification by MHCC, ensuring sensitive subsequent developments around the historic structures. However, not all forts have received grade I classification. After years of willful neglect, some are barely able to withstand the forces of tide and time. Unclear land ownership of Mahim Fort has led to squatting and encroachment, further complicating conservation efforts. Because of its vague heritage status, Mahim Fort's foundations are crumbling in the wake of recent coastal erosion.



Building detail on D.N. Road in the Fort precinct

Built by the British in 1769 and positioned close to the city's southern docks, Mumbai's most historically significant and strategic stronghold was Fort George. The fort held the offices of shipping, trading, and banking firms and became known as Mumbai's first business district. As it became a center of global trade, the colonial city outgrew Fort George. The ramparts of the fort were dismantled in the 19th century to make way for new developments. Today, the area is home to Mumbai's largest concentration of heritage buildings. Neoclassical and Gothic Revival buildings line the thoroughfare through the business district.

## **Cities of the Future**



Aaran Patel

Watson's Hotel

As the walls of Fort George came down, real estate speculators realized the potential value of the land that had once abutted its moat and periphery. An Englishman, John Watson, bid for the parcel of land on which he later designed and constructed India's first cast iron building: the eponymous Watson's Hotel. Its components were imported from Bristol, England, and its structure assembled on site. The luxury hotel opened with fanfare in 1871. Over subsequent decades, as the hotel was no longer profitable, the establishment's once-resplendent rooms were leased out to residential and commercial tenants. Today, the iconic hotel is in disrepair. Its facade is a snapshot of how rent-control regulations prevent landlords from raising the funds required to maintain heritage buildings.



Victoria Terminus Station, now known as Chhatrapati Shivaji Terminus Mumbai's heritage conservation movement in the 1980s and 1990s played a critical role in drawing awareness to the architectural identity of the city. As a result of these efforts, landmark buildings including the Victoria Terminus train station, Gateway of India, and Rajabai Clocktower now have grade I heritage status. This grading has cemented their place in the city's urban identity in perpetuity and has helped direct the funding required for their upkeep.


# Victoria Terminus station building details, with the city government headquarters in the background

The Indo-Saracenic buildings, including the headquarters of Mumbai's Municipal Corporation, were built at the zenith of British rule in India, marking a moment of imperial flair and expression. Though the layout of these buildings resembles Gothic Revival structures, the decorative elements drew from Indo-Islamic architecture native to the subcontinent. The Indian philanthropists who built Mumbai's universities and other public institutions largely chose a similar architectural style, with more Indian motifs and designs.



Aaran Patel

Hajiani Dargah

Indo-Saracenic architecture is found in a range of residential, commercial, and religious buildings, characterized by Indian self-expression. Private patrons have recently conserved some of these buildings, like the Hajiani Dargah. Although the plots of land neighboring the Sufi shrine were sold to developers, the family that built Hajiani Dargah restored the monument to its former glory. Vikas Dilawari, a renowned conservation architect and member of the Mumbai Heritage Conservation Committee, led the restoration process. The philanthropists' patronage, he said, has played a critical role in keeping the heritage conservation movement alive.



#### Soona Mahal, one of Mumbai's iconic Art Deco buildings

Between the 1930s and 1940s, Art Deco was the predominant architectural style in Mumbai. Over the past decade, citizens have increasingly developed an appreciation for this style, in particular Mumbai's Art Deco office and residential buildings and movie theaters.

The nonprofit organization Art Deco Mumbai is a citizen-led initiative that documents many of the city's buildings and neighborhoods. Its digital repository, savvy social media use, and programming of lectures and film screenings about Mumbai's architectural heritage have encouraged people to pause and photograph rather than merely pass by iconic buildings. Art Deco Mumbai's founder, Atul Kumar, cites recent engagement from younger Indians as evidence that the group's outreach is working, bringing "curiosity, sensitization and appreciation of the City's Deco architecture, which are crucial steps in enabling conservation."<sup>1</sup>

"Mumbai's never-ending quest for space threatens heritage structures integral to the city's history, raising questions about the balance between conservation and development."

These platforms have the potential to combine research with awareness, which could lead to neighborhoods and precincts receiving heritage status and zoning laws that encourage sensitive development. Mumbai's most significant recent conservation success story was UNESCO recognition of the Victorian Gothic and Art Deco Ensemble as a World Heritage site in 2018, which Art Deco Mumbai helped make possible.

It will take citizens' participation and government planning to incorporate heritage into the future of Mumbai's urban identity. Through his work on MHCC, Mr. Dilawari has concluded that the government's main responsibility is to build a "comprehensive conservation development plan which respects the full ecosystem."<sup>2</sup> This could include public-private partnerships in funding for conservation, citywide zoning guidelines, and recognition of areas as heritage precincts. Though battles for space will continue to define Mumbai, efforts to bolster awareness about and accessibility to the city's built heritage indicate that citizens may prioritize preservation alongside development. Aaran Patel is a master in public policy student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. He is concentrating on social and urban policy and on the intersection between education and the environment. Before HKS, he worked with Teach For India at the organizational and classroom levels. He received his BA from Pomona College in 2015, where he doublemajored in history and politics.

### Endnotes

- 1 Atul Kumar, founder of Art Deco Mumbai, email interview with the author.
- 2 Vikas Dilawari (conservation architect and member of the Mumbai Heritage Conservation Committee) email interview with the author.



# Revitalizing America's Food Deserts

#### Stephanie Nussbaum

There is a food crisis in the United States. In the richest country in the history of mankind, millions of people struggle to access and afford food. In many rural food deserts, communities lack fresh food despite being on some of the most fertile lands in the country. Rather than growing crops for human consumption, industrial agriculture grows crops to feed animals or make processed foods.<sup>1</sup> In urban food deserts, entire neighborhoods may be without a single grocery store or fresh-produce stand.<sup>2</sup>

The challenges of accessibility and affordability go hand in hand. Low-income Americans are less likely to live near a grocery store.<sup>3</sup> Households spend more on food as they earn more, though this represents a smaller share of their overall budgets. The lowest income Americans spend over 35 percent of their budget on food, compared to only 8.2 percent spent by the richest one-fifth of Americans.<sup>4</sup> While the federal government has attempted to address the affordability of food via the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP, or food stamps), there has been considerably less attention paid to the issue of access.

Nearly 23.5 million people live in a food desert in the United States, and approximately 50 percent of them are low income. The US Department of Agriculture (USDA) defines a census tract as a food desert if it meets two conditions: (1) low income and (2) low access. The low-income condition is met if the area has a poverty rate of 20 percent or higher, or a median family income at or below 80 percent of the state average. A non-rural area is considered low access if enough people (either 500 people or a third of the population, whichever is greater) live more than a mile from the nearest food market. In rural communities, the minimum distance to a supermarket expands to 10 miles.<sup>5</sup>

Food deserts can also have serious consequences. Limited food choices often lead to poor nutrition, a critical determinant of health. Living in a food desert increases one's risk of obesity and developing a chronic disease, such as diabetes<sup>6</sup> and high blood pressure.<sup>7</sup>

Revitalizing America's food deserts won't be easy. There are substantial upfront costs to developing and opening a new store. Perhaps more importantly, stores can only survive where sufficient demand exists. In rural or low-income areas, there is often insufficient demand to incentivize private operators. In the absence of a cohesive national policy addressing food deserts, local governments, federal pilot programs, and the private sector are innovating —and innovating quickly.

### State and Local Governments

Across the country, state and local governments are addressing food deserts by lowering the barriers to entry for supermarket operators. However, the mechanisms to do so vary by locality and range from tax incentives to revenue-sharing models.

In 2004, Pennsylvania partnered with a coalition of investment groups, and nonprofit organizations launched the Pennsylvania Fresh Food Financing Initiative. The state seeded the program with a \$30 million grant, and an additional \$145 million was leveraged to provide loans and grants and to subsidize a store's start-up costs.<sup>8</sup> The use of a public-private model gave the program significant flexibility to address Pennsylvania's diverse populations and successfully open 88 new stores in underserved communities in its lifecycle. The supported projects ranged from full-service supermarkets in urban centers to small groceries in rural counties. In total, the program created an estimated 5,000 jobs and 1.67 million square feet of commercial space.<sup>9</sup>

In Birmingham, Alabama, where 69 percent of the population lives in a food desert, current Mayor Randall Woodfin is aggressively addressing food access. In 2019, the city council approved the \$500,000 Healthy Food Fund,<sup>10</sup> which allows the city to provide grocery stores with funds to help mitigate upfront costs.<sup>11</sup> The fund also provides for revenue-sharing deals, in which the supermarket would receive a sales tax rebate.<sup>12</sup> Furthermore, to support the long-term operation of grocery stores in Birmingham, mayor Woodfin introduced the Healthy Food Ordinance to amend the city's zoning codes. The ordinance establishes rules on the clustering of dollar stores within food deserts and loosens regulations on food retail establishments.<sup>13</sup>

Reflecting on the impact of expanded healthy food options in Birmingham, Josh Carpenter, director of the Department of Innovation and Economic Opportunity, noted that improving food access was foundational and argued that "[h]ealthy foods are the cornerstone of a healthy community. What we are trying to do is show our community that healthy residents make healthy workers, which will lead to a healthier economy."<sup>14</sup>

Rather than directly subsidizing stores, New York City's Food Retail to Expansion to Support Health (FRESH) program offers discretionary tax and zoning incentives (such as abatement of land taxes and a 1:1 square-foot bonus up to 20,000 square feet) to lower the cost of developing, renovating, or opening a full-service grocery store. The New York City Industrial Development Agency administers the tax incentives, while the Department of City Planning

"But supermarkets can provide more than just improved food access and economic growth — new investments can change how residents see themselves and their communities." oversees the zoning benefit program. In its nearly ten years of operation, over 30 FRESH-supported stores have opened, creating more than 1,000 new jobs in New York City.

Atlantic City, New Jersey, is taking a different approach. The city has been without a full-service grocery store for approximately 15 years.<sup>15</sup> As a barrier island with a car-ownership rate below the national average, it is difficult for many residents to access supermarkets outside the city's limits.<sup>16</sup> As a result, the entire city has been repeatedly labeled a food desert.<sup>17</sup>

To address this, in the summer of 2019, the Casino Redevelopment Authority (CRDA) and Atlantic County Improvement Authority (ACIA) jointly issued a request for proposals for the development of a grocery store in Atlantic City. Uniquely, the proposed project site is on land owned by both CRDA and ACIA. In August 2019, CRDA voted to certify Village Super Market, which operates 30 ShopRites across four states, to build a 40,000-square-foot grocery store in the city. The project is estimated to cost \$13.5 million and take 13 months to build.<sup>18</sup>

But supermarkets can provide more than just improved food access and economic growth—new investments can change how residents see themselves and their communities. Pointing to the emotional and psychological impact of the new store, former Mayor Frank Gilliam explained, "To have ShopRite say it's willing to be in the City of Atlantic City sends a deeper ripple effect than we can imagine. It's something the community has wanted for a long, long time. The community should have a right to have a supermarket to eat and live in dignity."<sup>19</sup>

### Federal Government

Much like state and local governments, the federal government has developed programs to lower the costs of opening a grocery store. However, more recently, it has explored how SNAP can be used to expand food access to individuals with already-identified needs.

The Healthy Food Financing Initiative (HFFI) was created in 2010 by the Obama administration to bring grocery stores and healthy-food retailers to

"Removing the remote possibility that the government would create publicly run food retail stores, expanding access inherently requires the public and private sectors to collaborate."

underserved communities across the country. The program is a partnership between the Departments of Agriculture, Treasury, and Health and Human Services.<sup>20</sup> Much like Pennsylvania's program, HFFI uses a public-private partnership model to provide grants, financing, and technical assistance. To date, HFFI has helped leverage more than \$220 million in grants and \$1 billion in additional financing for eligible projects. It has supported almost 1,000 stores in more than 35 states.<sup>21</sup>

In April 2019, the USDA launched a two-year pilot in which SNAP participants can select and pay for groceries online.<sup>22</sup> Increasingly, Americans, particularly those in urban areas, are turning to online shopping and delivery for grocery products. The pilot program, which was authorized by the 2014 Farm Bill, expands convenience and access to SNAP recipients.

The pilot originally launched in New York State, and the USDA plans to expand the program to Alabama, Iowa, Maryland, Nevada, New Jersey, Oregon, and Washington. Eligible retailers vary by area but include major retailers such as Amazon, ShopRite, Fresh Direct, and Safeway. Ultimately, the USDA aims to test the online ordering and payment system and address the related security and technical challenges before expanding the program nationwide.

### **Private Sector**

Private sector innovations have largely focused on transportation—either transporting people to grocery stores or transporting food to people.

Lyft, the ride-sharing company, partnered with nonprofits and grocers to launch the Lyft Grocery Access Program. Now operating in 13 American cities<sup>23</sup> and Toronto, Ontario, the program offers low-income residents of food deserts discounted rides to and from participating supermarkets and farmers markets. Adult participants pay \$2.50 each way, while seniors pay a reduced rate of \$1.50.<sup>24</sup> In a pilot of the program in Washington, DC, Lyft estimated that it cut the average commute to a grocery store in half.<sup>25</sup> As of November 2019, Lyft provided more than 18,000 discounted rides.<sup>26</sup>

In recognition of the health impacts of poor nutrition, the Blue Cross Blue Shield Institute, a subsidiary of the health insurance company, piloted foodQ in February 2019.<sup>27</sup> Currently limited to Chicago, the program delivers \$5 prepared meals to residents of nutrition deserts. The foodQ model seeks to overcome barriers to food access and provide high-quality, nutritious meals to in-need households.

# The Path Forward

While the public and private sectors are taking different approaches to mitigating food deserts, a clear and pressing need across the country is still largely left unmet. In developing new approaches or scaling up successful pilots, policymakers should keep three principles in mind:

### Increasing Food Access Requires the Public and Private Sectors to Collaborate

Removing the remote possibility that the government would create publicly run food retail stores, expanding access inherently requires the public and private sectors to collaborate. While this could be through formal or informal partnerships, policymakers must work with the private sector to address barriers to entry and persistence. The success of such partnerships in Pennsylvania and elsewhere should inspire local governments to urgently and intentionally engage the business community in efforts to improve food access.

### Think beyond a Traditional, Full-Service Grocery Store

In some communities, particularly those in rural areas, no amount of direct or indirect subsidy will make the economics of opening a large supermarket make sense. Instead, policymakers should consider other avenues, particularly how technology and hyper-connected logistics networks can address a community's low food access and simultaneously promote healthier eating habits. This type of innovation is already being piloted in the private sector, including through Lyft and foodQ, and should serve as a model to stakeholders in both the public and private sectors.

### Revitalizing Food Deserts Means Addressing Both Access and Affordability

If the government could provide sufficient food access to every underserved community, there would technically be no more food deserts in the country. However, the United States would still have a food crisis—one driven by affordability. To fully address this crisis, SNAP benefits need to be maintained and should play a critical role in expanding food access.

SNAP recipients are more likely to live in food deserts (this is in part by definition, as SNAP recipients meet the food-desert criteria of being low income). Thus, addressing America's food deserts means addressing the needs of SNAP beneficiaries, who without support would not be able to sufficiently feed their families. Policymakers must work to maintain or increase funding for SNAP. If a government-supported store opens in a food desert, it will not make a difference in the lives of those most in need if they do not have the resources to shop at the store.

Ultimately, solutions being proposed and enacted to address food deserts are almost as complex and diverse as the root causes. To fully revitalize food deserts, stakeholders from the public and private sectors need to work together to reimagine how Americans grocery shop.

Stephanie Nussbaum is a second-year master in public policy student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University focusing on business and government policy. She previously worked at the Robin Hood Foundation, New York City's largest poverty-fighting organization and in state and local government.

### Endnotes

- Julia Savacool, "What It's Like to Be Stranded in a Food Desert," Women's Health, 21 October 2013, https://www. womenshealthmag.com/life/a19922318/food-desert/.
- 2 Savacool, "What It's Like to Be Stranded in a Food Desert."
- 3 Rebecca A. Krukowski et al., "Neighborhood Impact on Healthy Food Availability and Pricing in Food Stores," *Journal* of Community Health 35, no. 3 (2010): 315–20.
- 4 "Food Prices and Spending," US Department of Agriculture: Economic Research Service, 20 September 2019, https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/ ag-and-food-statistics-charting-the-essentials/ food-prices-and-spending/.
- 5 The USDA defines a supermarket or large grocery store as a food store with at least \$2 million in annual sales and containing all the major food departments.
- 6 Mary Story et al., "Creating Healthy Food and Eating Environments: Policy and Environmental Approaches," Annual *Review* of *Public Health* 29, no. 1 (2008): 253–72.
- 7 Dong Zhao et al., "Dietary factors associated with hypertension," *Nature Reviews Cardiology* 8, no. 8 (2011): 456–65.
- 8 "Pennsylvania Fresh Food Financing Initiative," Reinvestment Fund, accessed 21January 2020, https://www.reinvestment.com/success-story/ pennsylvania-fresh-food-financing-initiative/.
- 9 "Pennsylvania Fresh Food Financing Initiative," Reinvestment Fund.
- 10 "City of Birmingham establishes Healthy Food Fund," City of Birmingham, n.d., accessed 9 January 2020, https://www.birminghamal.gov/2019/05/10/ city-of-birmingham-establishes-healthy-food-fund/.
- 11 Anna Beahm, "Birmingham City Council approves Healthy Food Fund," AL.com, last updated 1 May 2019, https://www. al.com/news/2019/04/birmingham-city-council-approveshealthy-food-fund.html.
- 12 Beahm, "Birmingham City Council approves Healthy Food Fund."
- 13 Sam Prickett, "Birmingham City Council Approves Healthy Food Overlay District," WBHM 90.3, 11 July 2019, https:// wbhm.org/2019/birmingham-city-council-approves-healthyfood-overlay-district/.
- 14 "Mayor Woodfin secures successful passage of amendment to help reduce food deserts in Birmingham," City of Birmingham, 10 July 2019, https://www.birminghamal.gov/2019/07/10/ mayor-woodfin-secures-successful-passage-of-amendment-tohelp-reduce-food-deserts-in-birmingham/.

- 15 Colt Shaw, "Atlantic City is getting a supermarket. Can the resort keep it?" Press of Atlantic City, 9 September 2019, https:// www.pressofatlanticcity.com/rac/food-access/atlantic-city-isgetting-a-supermarket-can-the-resort-keep/article\_3038cfe8-607e-51bd-b6ce-c7dc25d29577.html.
- 16 "Atlantic City, NJ," Data USA, accessed 10 January 2020, https://datausa.io/profile/geo/atlantic-city-nj/#about.
- 17 Shaw, "Atlantic City is getting a supermarket."
- 18 Shaw, "Atlantic City is getting a supermarket."
- 19 Shaw, "Atlantic City is getting a supermarket."
- 20 "CED Healthy Food Financing Initiative FY 2016," Administration for Children & Families: Office of Community Services, 20 June 2019, https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ocs/programs/ community-economic-development/healthy-food-financing.
- 21 "About America's Healthy Food Financing Initiative," Reinvestment Fund, 2020, accessed 11 January 2020, https://www.investinginfood.com/about-hffi/.
- 22 "USDA Launches SNAP Online Purchasing Pilot," US Department of Agriculture, 18 April 2019, https:// www.usda.gov/media/press-releases/2019/04/18/ usda-launches-snap-online-purchasing-pilot.
- 23 Lyft Grocery Access is currently operating in Atlanta, Baltimore, Charlotte, Indianapolis, Los Angeles, Miami, New York City, Philadelphia, Pittsburgh, Portland, Raleigh, Richmond, Washington, DC, and Toronto.
- 24 Sasha-Ann Simons, "They Relied On Lyft Rides For Groceries. Now These Seniors Must Find Another Way," WAMU 88.5, NPR, 10 October 2019, https://www.npr.org/ local/305/2019/10/10/769071292/they-relied-on-lyft-rides-forgroceries-now-these-seniors-must-find-another-way.
- 25 Simons, "They Relied On Lyft Rides For Groceries."
- 26 Marc DeAngelis, "Lyft expands Grocery Access Program to Baltimore, Chicago and NYC," Engadget, 20 November 2019, https://www.engadget.com/2019/11/20/ lyft-expands-grocery-access-program/?guccounter=1.
- 27 Eddie Arruza, "FoodQ Pilot Program Delivers Healthy Meals to Chicago Food Deserts." WITW, 28 March 2019, https:// news.wttw.com/2019/03/28/foodq-pilot-program-delivershealthy-meals-chicago-food-deserts.



# Lessons from the Mission District to Combat Housing Displacement in San Francisco and Beyond

### Joshua Baltodano

My walk home in the Mission District of San Francisco is a perfect illustration of how income inequality has become part of daily life. Lining Shotwell Street are multimillion-dollar homes with homeless encampments out front, and a homeless navigation center right outside my building on 26th Street. With this juxtaposition, tensions are running high for Mission locals coping with displacement, the defacement of murals honoring leaders like Dolores Huerta (labor leader and civil rights activist), and the shuttering of longtime family-owned businesses to be replaced by trendy stores.<sup>1</sup> "While I understand cities want to be at the forefront of innovation and technology, San Francisco's former Mayor Ed Lee did not consider how it would impact the city."

As a former single-room-occupancy tenant from the Tenderloin, living in a shared apartment in the Mission District has been a privilege, but with each spring comes the unavoidable fear of another rent increase, when I wonder if this will be the year I'm outpriced and forced to leave the city I've called home for the past 16 years.

The Mission District is ground zero for gentrification: the San Francisco Council of Community Housing Organizations highlighted that 10,000 Latinx residents have left the Mission District in the past 10 years, and the Latinx community now comprises less than 40 percent of the population. One could argue that the tech sector was partly to blame when the mayor's office enacted a 1.5 percent cap on payroll tax—versus the state's 6.5 percent—for tech companies to move into mid-market areas, which has generated a loss of \$34 million annually.<sup>2</sup> Unfortunately, the 1.5 percent cap on payroll taxes did not include local hiring mandates.

While I understand cities want to be at the forefront of innovation and technology, San Francisco's former Mayor Ed Lee did not consider how it would impact the city. Big real estate developers like Lennar were looking to build and upscale, fast. As a result, evictions under the auspices of the Ellis Act have increased by 121 percent in six years. The Ellis Act is a 1985 state law that allows landlords to evict tenants without cause if they seek to exit the rental market. This past year saw the highest ever number of evictions: 278, not including another four months to be tallied by the Anti Eviction Project.3 The act was initiated to allow property owners to convert or redevelop their property, but the rise in evictions to then be converted on Airbnb listings suggests landlords are "increasingly implementing the Ellis Act to evict tenants" with the goal of upselling.<sup>4</sup> An amendment to the Ellis Act for San Francisco was proposed in 2014 to restrict property owners to wait five years before they can issue another eviction. Unfortunately, the measure did not pass.

Despite these challenges, the Mission District and the people of San Francisco have demonstrated a resiliency that has generated pioneering practices and policies to combat gentrification. Here's what is being done and why it's working.

### **Expanding Nonprofit Development**

First, the Mission Economic Development Agency (MEDA), a local nonprofit committed to maintaining cultural identity, is stabilizing affordable housing in the district. When MEDA first arrived in the Mission District in 2010, most people had already written off the Mission as a lost cause given ongoing gentrification. Fortunately, MEDA already provides over 1,000 spaces for residents, with 27 affordable housing complexes. This work has been led by Karoleen Feng, who has shifted the program to acquire property through its real estate arm. The organization now oversees hundreds of public housing units and multi-unit apartment buildings and acts as a developer for over 600 below-market-rate units.5 One critique of nonprofit development is that some organizations enter into business with private developers by negotiating a below-market affordable housing unit in exchange for market-rate housing or condominiums and that it thus fails to offset the damage done by private developers. As a result, while it is still a great tool to provide affordable housing, I would strongly caution against relying on it as the only vehicle.

# Gaining Recognition as a Cultural District

The northern area of the Mission District, the heart of the Mission, was recognized as a Latino Cultural District (LCD) by the San Francisco Board of Supervisors in May 2014.<sup>6</sup> Being recognized as an LCD mandates that all new businesses must adhere to the surrounding areas and existing patterns of

## Cities of the Future



Erick Diaz

development. It also ensures the protection of cultural murals, thereby preserving the neighborhood's identity. Calle 24, a nonprofit operated by a volunteer leadership board, works on issues such as land use, arts and culture, quality of life, and economic vitality. Listening to community members, along with MEDA's 2019 report exploring the expansion of the Mission District, they found that respondents want the LCD to "expand further or even preserve cultural assets like the Clarion Alley Mural Project."<sup>7</sup>

### Bolstering Local Housing and Purchasing Policies

In an effort to combat anti-displacement, San Francisco Supervisor for District 1, Sandra Lee Fewer, introduced legislation known as the Community Opportunity to Purchase Act (COPA) that gives nonprofits (like MEDA) five days to send notice of

"The Mission District and the people of San Francisco have demonstrated a resiliency that has generated pioneering practices and policies to combat gentrification." interest to a seller before a property goes on the open market.<sup>8</sup> Since taking effect in June 2019, nonprofit organizations have been able to purchase newly listed property before private developers and convert to half-market-rate affordable housing. In addition, another law (AB1482) was passed in October 2019, "limiting annual hikes in California to 5 percent plus the regional cost-of-living increase, or maximum of 10 percent per year."<sup>9</sup> While the law only caps the increase at 10 percent, as the first statewide rent control, it's a step in the right direction.

Although these practices cannot offset the damage done to thousands of displaced residents, the ongoing community efforts to preserve cultural identify have the potential to make a dramatic difference. Other cities should take note of the work being done by nonprofit, city and state government actors in the Mission District to find solutions to address gentrification.

Joshua Baltodano is in his last semester as a master in public policy candidate at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. At Harvard, Joshua is an emerging leader fellow for the Center of Public Leadership. Prior to HKS, Joshua worked four years as a program manager for the US Department of Labor for the Office of Job Corps. He also served as chair for the San Francisco Juvenile Justice Commission. He attended community college in San Francisco before transferring to UC Berkeley. Joshua received his BA in American studies with an honors thesis researching the school-toprison pipeline with an emphasis on special education. Twitter: @Baltodano415

## Endnotes

- Kiet Do, "Mural Honoring Civil Rights Activist Dolores Huerta Defaced In SF's Mission District," CBS San Francisco, Il November 2019, https://sanfrancisco.cbslocal.com/2019/11/11/ mural-honoring-civil-rights-activist-dolores-huerta-defaced-in-sfs-mission-district/.
- 2 Marissa Lang, "Companies avoid \$34M in city taxes thanks to "Twitter tax break"," *SFGate*, 20 October 2015, https://www. sfgate.com/business/article/Companies-avoid-34M-in-citytaxes-thanks-to-6578396.php.
- 3 "Ellis Act Evictions," Anti-Eviction Mapping Project, accessed

28 February 2020, http://www.antievictionmappingproject.net/ ellis.html.

- 4 David S. Cotsello, "Understanding the Ellis Act: Allowing Landlords the Unconditional Right to Evict Tenants and "Go out of Business," San Francisco Examiner, 15 September 2019, http://realestate.sfexaminer.com/understanding-the-ellis-actallowing-landlords-the-unconditional-right-to-evict-tenantsand-ldquo-go-out-of-business-rdquo-#.XmVPHC2ZMII.
- 5 Laura Wenus, "Meet the woman turning a nonprofit into a developer of affordable housing," *Mission Local*, 4 January 2018, https://missionlocal.org/2018/01/meet-the-woman-turning-a-nonprofit-into-a-developer-of-affordable-housing/.
- 6 "About" Calle 24, 2020, https://www.calle24sf.org/en/about.
- 7 Exploring an Expansion of the Latino Cultural District (Chung Hagen Consulting, 2019) [PDF file], available at: https://www.scribd.com/document/444076691/ Latino-Cultural-District-Expansion-Report.
- 8 Community Opportunity To Purchase Act (COPA) Program Rules (2019), available at: https://sfmohcd.org/sites/default/ files/Documents/MOH/COPA/COPA%20-%20Final%20%20 Program%20Rules-09-03-2019.pdf.
- 9 Alexei Koseff, "California gets its first statewide rent control, eviction protections," San Francisco Chronicle, 11 October 2019, https://www.sfchronicle.com/politics/article/Californiato-get-its-first-statewide-rent-14501172.php#.



# A Rising Tide Sinks Some Boats: Policy Approaches to Reverse the Effects of Tech-Growth-Induced Homelessness

### Simon Borumand

The rise of the tech economy has transformed iconic American cities into magnets for a highly educated, well-paid workforce. While new job opportunities and the constant presence of construction cranes tell a narrative of positive economic growth, the sudden influx of thousands of new residents has strained an already short supply of housing, leading to a rise in homeless men, women, and children.

Seattle's experience with homelessness mirrors up-and-coming tech cities across the country, offering helpful insights into the sequence of events that lead to a rapid increase in homelessness and what steps can be taken to change this trajectory. This article has three sections. First, it will briefly examine the causes of Seattle's homelessness crisis. Next, it will analyze which aspects of Seattle's approach are working and which are falling short. Finally, it will offer policy recommendations to increase development in Seattle, to ensure a stable housing supply for a growing population. These recommendations are applicable to other rising tech cities—Austin, Portland, Salt Lake City—and provide a preemptive roadmap to prevent similar crises from taking root.

### How We Got Here

#### Many Contributing Factors

Homelessness is the result of many disparate and intersecting societal problems. In Seattle, as in many other cities, mental illness, substance use disorder, racial disparities, and a lack of a coordinated city-county response to the regional crisis are contributing factors. However, all of these elements are exacerbated by a single underlying current: Seattle's homelessness problem boils down to a lack of affordable housing.

Housing instability can be a compounding factor and even catalyst for other causes of homelessness. In a report commissioned for the US departments of Health and Human Services and Housing and Urban Development, researchers found that substance use disorder is the leading cause of homelessness in the United States, that individuals with substance use disorder are more likely to be homeless for a longer time, and that they are more likely to become homeless at an earlier age.<sup>1</sup>

Of course, the high cost of living has only exacerbated existing racial disparities in Seattle. Similar to many other northern cities in the United States, Seattle's overtly progressive politics mask a history of systemic racial inequality, compounded through practices including redlining, inequitable distribution of city services, and increasing levels of gentrification. In 2017, more than 35 percent of the applications to the Seattle Housing Authority's Housing Choice Voucher program came from people of color, a number vastly disproportionate to Seattle's demographics.<sup>2</sup>

Finally, the degree to which Seattle has failed to address this problem can be traced in large part to the lack of a coordinated response to what is truly a regional crisis. It was only in the final weeks of 2019, many years into a burgeoning housing crisis, that Seattle and King County came together to establish a joint response: the creation of a Regional Homelessness Authority.<sup>3</sup>

### One Core Issue: Lack of Housing

For the past six years Seattle has been ranked among

the top five fastest-growing cities in the country. In the past decade alone, 114,000 people moved to Seattle. During that same period, Amazon grew from 5,000 local employees to over 53,000. The tech giant estimates its presence alone has resulted in the creation of an additional 245,000 jobs in adjacent industries and tech start-ups.<sup>4</sup>

Unfortunately, the pace of homebuilding has not kept up with the influx of new residents. A new report shows King County built just one new unit of housing for every 3.3 jobs created.<sup>5</sup> As more people seek to buy or rent a dwindling number of homes, the asking price for each apartment or house has steadily risen. With average wages at Amazon of \$179,000, sellers of high-priced homes can find buyers, and sellers of lower-priced homes have an incentive to raise their rates.<sup>6</sup>

But the vast majority of Seattleites can't afford these changes. Wages are stagnant in industries outside of tech, even as rents and home prices skyrocket. From 2017 to 2018, median incomes in Seattle rose by 7 percent, while median property values jumped by nearly double that amount.<sup>7</sup>

The disparities between these diverging segments of Seattle are becoming palpable, as more and more middle- and low-income Seattleites are priced out of their neighborhoods. King County estimates that 156,000 new homes need to be built today to address this housing shortage and bring down housing prices.<sup>8</sup>

### What's Working: Housing First as a Priority

While the situation can seem dire, there are promising responses. One policy successfully used in Seattle is Housing First. This approach is based on the belief that adequate housing is a basic human need, and that other issues, such as maintaining a job or sustaining treatment for substance use disorder, can more effectively be addressed once a person has a roof over their head.

Spearheaded by the Downtown Emergency Service Center (DESC), a nonprofit group focused on ending homelessness, and the Seattle City Council, "Perception is reality, and misunderstanding leads to polarization."

Housing First has become a mainstay of Seattle's model since its inception in the 1990s and has proven its worth in both clinical and financial outcomes. A 2009 study found that one of the DESC-operated apartment buildings generated annual savings of \$4 million in avoided public services, emergency services, and jail costs. In 2012, another study found that residents with alcohol dependencies reduced their drinking by 7 percent for every three months they lived in the building.<sup>9</sup>

A variety of approaches should be incorporated into a Housing First model, to cover the gambit of needs in the community. Below are the three tiers Seattle is employing.

# Rapid Rehousing into Transitional Housing

For people who need an intermediate step before moving into a permanent home, Seattle has created "city-permitted villages." These villages are a safe, authorized destination for those seeking transitional housing and offer shelter that can be locked, access to clean restrooms and showers, and around-the-clock access to a case manager and onsite health resources. The case managers work with individuals on next steps and address barriers to permanent shelter.<sup>10</sup>

# Rapid Rehousing into Permanent Housing

For those who are ready for an immediate move into permanent housing, the city offers diversion services. Diversion gives people experiencing short-term homelessness access to a case worker and temporary financial assistance. The case workers assist the person to sort out any roadblocks they face in finding housing. Often, these services help newly homeless individuals negotiate with a landlord or bridge temporary budget gaps to make rent, so as to ease a quick re-entry into lost housing.<sup>11</sup>

# Temporary Financial Support to Prevent Homelessness

Lastly, for those who have yet to fall into homelessness but are living at the cusp, temporary financial support can be the difference between staying housed or ending up on the street. Seattle's mayor has instituted a series of measures to help families at risk of homelessness, including rental assistance and discounts on utilities.<sup>12</sup>

### What Needs Improvement: Coordination and Perception

Despite progress, there is more work to be done. Operational inefficiencies have hampered Seattle's response, and there is widespread perception that the city is not doing enough to address the problem. Three immediate areas of action can have a high impact in the short term.

# **Coordinated Approach**

First, Seattle needs to fully align its strategy and resources with the broader King County. Seattle's fate is not distinct from its surrounding suburbs. As has become evident in recent years, any attempt by Seattle to singularly address this crisis will fail.

A new proposal to unite Seattle, King County, and outlying municipalities under an umbrella organization, the Regional Homelessness Authority, opens opportunities to take a coordinated and thoughtful approach to tackling homelessness. According to a 2017 report by the Puget Sound Business Journal, the cost to house and care for every person experiencing homelessness in King County should be about \$190 million per year, whereas the actual spending by Seattle and King County is more than \$1 billion per year. This disparity is due to the fragmented response to the crisis, with over 125 organizations currently receiving funds from either the city, the county, or both, without a central entity overseeing the process.<sup>13</sup>

## **By-Name Lists**

A concrete example of what coordination can look like is the use of by-name lists, also known as coordinated entry. A by-name list is a database of individuals experiencing homelessness, accompanied by details of each person's unique situation. This database helps frontline practitioners to quickly identify, assess, and connect homeless individuals to the resources they need.<sup>14</sup>

Seattle and King County have separate versions of a by-name list. Combining these lists into one master and then expanding the list to include all people currently experiencing homelessness will allow the Seattle–King County Regional Authority to better understand what services are most acutely needed. It will also help to identify areas of overlap and waste in the system.

### Moving to Safer Overnight Encampments

Perception is reality, and misunderstanding leads to polarization. In Seattle, a chasm is growing between those on the frontlines of ending the crisis and some residents who feel that nothing is being done. City leaders need to demonstrate the efficacy of their programs through clearly visible changes.

Building short-term goodwill among voters will give policymakers the political capital to push forward longer-term solutions that can be more politically contentious. Short-term efforts include needle cleanups, reductions in unauthorized camping, and an end to RV camping. The city should expand its use of compassionate encampment removal, which involves coordination between social workers and police, voluntary storage of an individual's possessions, and sidewalk trash removal. Using the by-name list, navigation teams can effectively steer people who are homeless to safer, more supportive transitional housing, such as authorized city villages.

City-permitted sites are not only safer than unauthorized encampments for individuals experiencing homelessness, they also create a stronger perception in the community that the city is taking a proactive

"Seattle's homelessness problem boils down to a lack of affordable housing." and compassionate approach to addressing the crisis.

### Long-Term Solution: How to End Homelessness in Seattle and Prevent Homelessness Elsewhere

There is only one surefire way to prevent homelessness: increase the number of affordable housing options in Seattle. But at the moment, state-, city-, and even neighborhood-level roadblocks prevent more construction. Through smart rezoning and streamlined permitting processes, the housing stock in Seattle can be drastically and rapidly increased.

Simultaneously, it's important to be cognizant of the potential harmful effects of rapid development. Seattle should take steps to reduce the environmental and social impact of housing construction on neighborhoods. Development should be undertaken in a way that prevents the worst of its effects: gentrification and the loss of historic or culturally significant neighborhoods.

### Rezoning

Currently, 75 percent of Seattle is zoned for single-family housing.<sup>x</sup> Recently, states and cities including Oregon and Minneapolis have taken the seemingly drastic step of eliminating single-family zoning. While headlines can make these policies seem like too broad of a brush stroke, such steps can be taken in a measured and still effective way.

City officials should rezone single-family neighborhoods across Seattle to allow up to quadplexes—homes with four separate units—allowing for significantly more occupants without drastically changing the architectural layout of neighborhoods or adding considerably more density to any one block.

Additionally, transportation hubs should be rezoned for medium- and high-density housing. In an ideal world, this would be coupled with expansions of the public transit system, to allow people to live further away from cities, in less expensive parts of the county. For now, Seattle should focus on drastically up-zoning those areas that have light-rail stops as well as those that are constructing or planning to construct light-rail stops.

Rezoning needs to be done in all neighborhoods, to prevent the burden of development falling on low-income, often Black, Latinx, and immigrant communities. By changing zoning ordinances citywide, policymakers can avoid the not-in-my-backyard mindset that has led to overdevelopment in disadvantaged neighborhoods and underdevelopment in wealthier neighborhoods.

### Tax Exemptions and Streamlined Permitting for Affordable Housing

Seattle has a grab bag of tax exemptions and preferable rate loans for developers willing to allocate a certain percentage of their units for affordable housing. However, these programs are limited and are difficult to opt into. Permitting and procedural delays also still stymie developers. Seattle should streamline this process to make it easier to find financing for affordable housing. That means having a single front door for developers to learn about the programs available to them and having a simple process to navigate receiving these funds.

Seattle is currently experimenting with fast-tracked permitting for certain backyard cottages. Similar fast-tracked permit processes should be developed for standardized designs of medium- and high-density apartment complexes. This will allow developers to fit their construction plans into a well-defined preapproval template and get permission for their projects faster.

Permit processing should prioritize projects that dedicate a certain percentage of their units to low-income housing. Cities could work with community-design review boards to design architectural features that align with the current design standards and culture of each neighborhood. In this way, development can proceed at a faster pace, with more units dedicated to low-income residents, while still retaining community input into the design and feel of their neighborhoods.

### Conclusion

The hope is that Seattle can act as a case study for other up-and-coming tech cities. The combination of near-term and long-term policies are aimed at helping policymakers craft quick wins—immediate approaches to helping those who are homeless—while building political capital to tackle the more arduous long-term work of increasing development. Bringing about an end to homelessness will not be easy, but through the right policies, it is an achievable goal.

Simon Borumand is a master in public policy candidate at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. He previously worked in health care tech consulting in San Francisco, where he evaluated new health tech start-ups as part of a corporate innovation team. He is a proud native of the Pacific Northwest and graduate of the University of Washington.

### Endnotes

- I Susan G. Pfefferle, Samantha S. Karon, and Brandy Qyant, "Choice Matters: Housing Models That May Promote Recovery for Individuals and Families Facing Opioid Use Disorder," Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE), 24 June 2019, https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/ choice-matters-housing-models-may-promote-recovery-individuals-and-families-facing-opioid-use-disorder.
- 2 "The Roots of the Crisis | Homelessness," Seattle Government, n.d., accessed 28 December 2019, https://www.seattle.gov/ homelessness/the-roots-of-the-crisis.
- 3 David Kroman, "Regional approach to homelessness may require Seattle to give up some control," Crosscut (blog), 12 December 2019, accessed 28 December 2019, https://crosscut. com/2019/12/regional-approach-homelessness-may-require-seattle-give-some-control.\\uc0\\u8221{} accessed December 28, 2019, https://crosscut.com/2019/12/regional-approach-homelessness-may-require-seattle-give-some-control.","plainCitation":"David Kroman, "Regional Approach to Homelessness May Require Seattle to Give up Some Control," accessed December 28, 2019, https://crosscut.com/2019/12/regional-approach-homelessness-may-require-seattle-give-some-control.","noteIndex":3},"citationItems":[{"id":14,"uris":["http:// zotero.org/users/6243854/items/J2J3YKTJ"],"uri":["http://zotero.org/users/6243854/items/J2J3YKTJ"],"itemData":{"id":14,"type": "webpage", "abstract": "The Seattle City Council may pass the new agreement Thursday with an ordinance setting

'expectations' going forward.", "language": "en", "title": "Regional approach to homelessness may require Seattle to give up some control", "URL": "https://crosscut.com/2019/12/regional-approach-homelessness-may-require-seattle-give-some-control", "author": [{"family": "Kroman", "given": "David"}], "accessed": {("date-parts": [["2019", 12,28]]}}], "schema": "https:// github.com/citation-style-language/schema/raw/master/ csl-citation.json"}

- 4 Benjamin Romano, "Amazon tops 53,500 local employees as it begins nationwide hiring push," *Seattle Times*, 9 September 2019, https://www.seattletimes.com/business/amazon/amazontops-53500-local-employees-as-it-begins-nationwide-hiringpush/.
- 5 Manola Secaira, "Report: Washington should have built 225,600 more homes over the past 15 years," Crosscut (blog), 10 January 2020, https://crosscut.com/2020/01/report-washingtonshould-have-built-225600-more-homes-over-past-15-years.
- 6 Romano, "Amazon tops 53,500 local employees as it begins nationwide hiring push."
- 7 "Seattle, WA," Data USA, n.d., accessed 4 February 2020, https://datausa.io/profile/geo/ seattle-wa/#category\_occupations.
- 8 Final Report and Recommendations for King County, WA (Regional Affordable Housing Task Force, revised 2019) [PDF file].
- 9 Erica C. Barnett, "After 15 years, Seattle's radical experiment in no-barrier housing is still saving lives," Crosscut (blog), 25 September 2019, accessed 4 February 2020, https://crosscut. com/2019/09/after-15-years-seattles-radical-experiment-no-barrier-housing-still-saving-lives.
- 10 "City-Permitted Villages | Homelessness Response," Seattle Government, n.d., accessed 28 December 2019, http://www. seattle.gov/homelessness/city-permitted-villages.
- 11 Kamaria Hightower, "Mayor Jenny Durkan Launches New Initiative to Help Prevent 1,000 Households from Falling into Homelessness," Office of the Mayor, 28 March 2018, https:// durkan.seattle.gov/2018/03/mayor-jenny-durkan-launchesnew-initiative-to-help-prevent-1000-households-from-fallinginto-homelessness/.
- 12 Hightower, "Mayor Jenny Durkan Launches New Initiative."
- 13 Marc Stiles and Coral Garnick, "The Price of Homelessness: The Seattle area spends more than \$1 billion a year on this humanitarian crisis (Video)," *Puget Sound Business Journal*, 16 November 2017, accessed 28 December 2019, https://www. bizjournals.com/seattle/news/2017/11/16/price-of-homelessness-seattle-king-county-costs.html.
- 14 "Creating Systems That Work," National Alliance to End Homelessness, n.d., accessed 17 February 2020, https:// endhomelessness.org/ending-homelessness/solutions/ creating-systems-that-work/.

# **A Tale of Two Districts:** A Small Business Snapshot of Economic Inequality

# Jihae Lee



Jihae Lee

### Philadelphia Innovation Small Business Ecosystem Map



Philadelphia Neighborhood Small Business Ecosystem Map

As the daughter of immigrant small business owners who managed a Korean grocery store for the past 20 years, I grew up with a deep awareness that my parents could not build wealth - not with this business. When they tried to expand, there wasn't enough capital. When they tried to improve operations, there was a lack of business acumen. When they tried to create a niche, there were larger companies that sold their products at lower prices. Although my parents were often celebrated for adding diversity to the neighborhood business district, support was restricted to pats on the back. While political, civic, and business leaders often tout small businesses as the "backbone of the American economy," the actual flow of capital and other resources suggests that they only want a certain type of small business to be that backbone – namely, innovation small businesses that tend to be Whiter, wealthier, and well connected.

In the quest to understand what it would take to start or grow a neighborhood small business, I looked to the city that I knew best, creating a list of available resources in collaboration with former colleagues at the City of Philadelphia. Categorizing each stakeholder, we used news articles and public websites to establish connections between them. This led to the creation of two ecosystem maps.

### How to Read the Ecosystem Maps

Ecosystems are multi-entity networks of dynamic relationships, often connected by the exchange of information, services, and money. These ever-changing relationships foster both competition and collaboration.<sup>1</sup> The maps illustrate two types of small business ecosystems in Philadelphia. The "innovation small business" ecosystem map shows stakeholders involved in growing, mentoring, and funding small businesses that tend to require high-level cognitive skills and are usually incorporated.<sup>2</sup> Examples include mobile app start-ups or robotics firms. In contrast, the "neighborhood small business" ecosystem map shows stakeholders involved in growing, mentoring, and funding small businesses that tend to require strong manual skills and are usually unincorporated.<sup>3</sup> These can include nail salons and dry cleaners.

Within each ecosystem map, there are two types of data points. The donut-shaped circles indicate the types of stakeholders,<sup>4</sup> while the solid circles indicate individual stakeholders. Lines connecting donuts and solid circles are used to categorize stakeholders. Some stakeholders serve various functions, as demonstrated by multiple connections to different stakeholder types. Lines between solid circles symbolize a partnership in which financial support is given and/or there is a shared responsibility for a program or event.

### What This Means

The innovation small business ecosystem map is incredibly complex, thick, and intricately intertwined. It is well capitalized with various kinds of debt and equity financing, and it is supported by a collaborative team of public, private, and civic institutions. The biggest types of players in this ecosystem are funders and investors (39 connections),



incubators and accelerators (33 connections),



and civic intermediaries (22 connections).



Meanwhile, the neighborhood small business ecosystem map is relatively thin and bare. It not only has disproportionately fewer stakeholders but also a much less balanced distribution of the types of stakeholders, relying heavily on nonprofit organizations. It is under capitalized and depends more on debt financing.<sup>5</sup> The most dominant types of stakeholders in this ecosystem are civic intermediaries (56 connections),



Jihae Lee

Jihae Lee

funders and investors (14 connections, many of which are community development finance institutions),



and facilities (7 connections, all of which lack ties with other types of stakeholders).



This asymmetry of ecosystems is not particular to Philadelphia. Intentional policy decisions and regulations across America have widened the growing wealth and resource gaps between innovation and neighborhood small businesses.<sup>6</sup> Institutional racism, particularly toward Black Americans in the form of discriminatory lending practices known as redlining, stymied wealth-building opportunities for generations. The growth of monopolism also made it difficult for small businesses to remain economically competitive. The result: The small business framework in America is structurally divided and highly imbalanced.

We segregate these small businesses in subtle ways. "Entrepreneurs" start innovation businesses, while "business owners" start neighborhood businesses.<sup>7</sup> We are quick to associate innovation businesses with passion and neighborhood businesses with "just jobs." The vast contrast in access to resources, as illustrated by the maps, is less subtle.

And the overt racial implications are sadly not surprising but still most concerning. Innovation small businesses are dominated by White males.8 In Philadelphia, where 44 percent of the population is Black, only 25 percent of businesses are Black owned.9 With limited access to capital, networks, and business development opportunities, people of color are systemically disadvantaged when starting and growing their businesses. In fact, if people of color started and owned businesses at the same rate as Whites, the United States would have 1 million more employer businesses and 9.5 million more jobs.<sup>10</sup> More intentional policies need to be implemented not only to diversify the innovation small business owners but also to bolster minority-owned businesses and the neighborhood small business ecosystem. Philadelphia has already made several policy moves, such as creating a \$2-million fund to support businesses owned by people of color, women, and immigrants.<sup>11</sup> But there is more work to do, not just in Philadelphia but in cities all over the country.

With varying challenges and outputs, the innovation and neighborhood small business ecosystems are bound to look different, but different doesn't have to mean inequitable.

Jihae Lee is a master of public policy student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University, focusing on urban economic development. Prior to graduate school, she worked for the City of Philadelphia on small business growth, commercial corridor revitalization, and legislative affairs.

### Endnotes

- Jack Fuller, Michael G. Jacobides, and Martin Reeves, "The Myths and Realities of Business Ecosystems," *MIT Sloan Management Review* 60, no. 3 (2019): 1–9.
- 2 Ross Levine and Yona Rubinstein, "Smart and Illicit: Who Becomes an Entrepreneur and Do They Earn More?" (working paper no. 19276; National Bureau of Economic Research, 2013) [PDF file].
- 3 Levine and Rubinstein, "Smart and Illicit."
- 4 Types of stakeholders: funders and investors, incubators and accelerators, universities, hospitals, research, mature companies, events, government, facilities, civic intermediaries.
- 5 Ross Baird et al., "Towards a New System of Community Wealth," Drexel University Nowak Metro Finance Lab, 2019, https://drexel.edu/nowak-lab/publications/reports/ community-wealth/.
- 6 Baird et al., "Towards a New System of Community Wealth."
- 7 Levine and Rubinstein, "Smart and Illicit."
- 8 Levine and Rubinstein, "Smart and Illicit."
- 9 Michael D'Onofrio, "Black-owned firms make up larger share of Philadelphia's businesses than previously reported," *Philadelphia Tribune*, 1 December 2019, https://www.phillytrib. com/news/local\_news/black-owned-firms-make-up-largershare-of-philadelphia-s/article\_be2lb456-e6e8-5133-b676-126a2lfe834e.html.
- 10 Arnobio Morelix, Victor Hwang, and Inara S. Tareque, State of Entrepreneurship 2017: Zero Barriers: Three Mega Trends Shaping the Future of Entrepreneurship (Ewing Marion Kauffman Foundation, 2017) [PDF file].
- 11 Tribune Staff Report, "New investment supports business growth by people of color, women and immigrants," *Philadelphia Tribune*, 15 May 2019, https://www.phillytrib.com/ news/business/new-investment-supports-business-growth-bypeople-of-color-women/article\_b0ecac25-d96a-5607-8002-0e82cd3cea60.html.

# Fulfilling the Image that Society Creates for Us: A Conversation between Brothers on Criminal Justice Reform

### **Deeneaus Polk and Desmond Polk**

Last year, I signed up for a course on mass incarceration at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. I was curious about how a policy school would navigate the complex layers of the carceral system within the United States. If I'm being honest though, I really took the course because I hoped to better understand the factors that led to my brother Desmond's incarceration. I hoped to gain tools to help him not go back. Right before the course began, my brother found himself in prison again, and I could not help but feel that I had failed him.

My momma raised three children on her own in Pascagoula, Mississippi, a blue-collar community that saw us mired in low-income conditions. As the oldest, I felt responsible for and wanted to protect my brother and sister from the environment, especially because my momma had to work multiple jobs to raise us. As a result of her dedication to our upbringing, my siblings and I all graduated from college. In fact, Desmond and I graduated from the same community college, on the same night, sitting side by side.

Desmond and I always had a deep connection growing up until I moved to Germany, permanently altering our brotherly bond. At the age of 16, I found myself escaping to a brand-new world, gaining experiences that allowed me to be where I am today. I felt as if I left my siblings behind, however, and have struggled with what feels like a dereliction of duty. This was especially the case with Desmond. It all came to a head not long after my time abroad. Desmond began to get into trouble, eventually leading to time spent in Mississippi State Penitentiary, or Parchman Farms—one of the most dangerous prisons in the United States, dating back to its founding in 1905 as a prison that perpetuated convict leasing at an extraordinary scale.

When you read stories about people who have been incarcerated, it is easy to forget the person behind the sentence. Yet, they are so much more. They are siblings, parents, children, and community members. In the following conversation, Desmond and I hope to shine a light on the voices of individuals who have interacted with the carceral system, both to better understand their experiences and learn strategies on how to improve the system as policymakers.

# "Society made an image of me that I tried to complete."

# Desmond, can you introduce yourself—who you are, how you grew up, and who I am to you?

My name is Desmond Darnell Polk. I grew up in Pascagoula, basically the Coast. Pascagoula, Moss Point, Gautier. You, who are giving me the interview, are my brother: Deeneaus Polk. To tell you a little about myself, I'm 32 years old. I've been to prison twice, but I am a certified machinist and welder. I love to learn. I grew up in the streets, so, that's basically what I know.

Desmond, you have spent time at two different correctional facilities, Parchman and Central Mississippi Correctional Facility. Can you describe what life was like for you in prison?

Yes, I can. It's different. Like you have to become

#### **Reimagining Policy for the Next Decade**

a different person than what you are. When we're in there, we say out here it's the free world. When you're in there, it's basically like you a child. It's crazy in there, it's a whole 'nother world.

### Before the interview began, you were telling me about a friend of yours who was out on a weekend pass. What were you saying about him again?

He was telling me how he was at Parchman. He at Pearl River now, but he was at Parchman for six months. And the first thing he said was, "Man I been fighting bro. I been fighting the last six months." Because Parchman has a camp called Camp 29. It's called Castle Grayskull, like it's called that for a reason. Like when you walk in the building it's blood on the walls. With a big X on it and skulls. You smell nothing but blood in the air. Like so if you get into Camp 29 it's already a given that you gonna fight and defend your life.

Desmond's commentary highlights some of the controversies unfolding in Mississippi's carceral system. Since 29 December 2019, 18 inmates have died in Mississippi prisons due to violence and suicide, while videos showing dilapidated infrastructure flood the internet.1 Mississippi's new governor, Tate Reeves, has promised to "right the wrongs of the past" but did not recommend additional funding for a prison system that does not have enough resources.<sup>2</sup> Further, over the past six years, Mississippi has underfunded its prisons by \$215 million.3 Federal investigations have led to prison closures including Walnut Grove, a private prison that was deemed so substandard that it "paint[ed] a picture of horror as should be unrealized anywhere in the civilized world."4 In response to these issues, there have been rallies, protests, and a lawsuit from Jay-Z and Young Gotti protesting the conditions of Mississippi prisons.

### What are some things people may not know about the conditions, especially in Parchman, and life inside prison?

A lot of people don't know that it's really nasty. It's starting to come out because of all the stuff going on the internet and stuff. It's just like the ADC (Pascagoula Adult Detention Center) down here. It's mold in the showers. You take showers in mold, in black mold to be exact. Like I said, it was 140 of us in total. They had ten toilets, but only three or four of them work. They had eight shower heads, but only probably two of them work. Living conditions are bad.

# When you say 140 people, are you referring to the unit that you were in?

Yeah, the building I was in. There's four dorms; you've got B, C, D, and E; there's 140 in each one. And by me being in the same spot so long, I've seen a zone flip two or three times. Which means I've seen 139 people leave and I've seen 139 people come. At least two or three times. Either the people are going where they're supposed to go or people are getting sent home. Because where I was this time, it's the processing center. You have to come there to get classified as an inmate.

Obviously we have talked about prison before. We have men in our lives, such as our father, who have been locked up. But it's really hard for many folks to understand what's going on inside. Do you mind sharing more?

Gangs run the prison. Don't no warden run a prison like they try to make it out to be. Gangs run the system. They run the COs, they run everything about the prison system. There's a whole bunch of violence going on. People getting beat up. People owing money. People catching out, which means they run up a debt and then leave, so it make the zone hot. It's a whole 'nother world in there. You have to become a whole different person. You may not want to become what you have to become in order to survive.

### How effective do you think the carceral system was in rehabilitating you?

It's not effective. (Laughs) You don't go in there and come out thinkin' you've been rehabilitated. You come out worser than what you was. Like I said, you have to become different than what you are. So, you might be a nice person, but if you go in there . . . you not gonna be nice when you come out. I done seen some of the nicest people in the world go in and come out and they switch to a whole different person. Like now . . . I already had trust issues, but my trust issues are extra worse now because I still haven't broke that since my time in prison. It doesn't rehabilitate you none. Were any of the state's mitigation programs effective at all?

(Laughs) Again, I don't know about any programs. They didn't tell us about any programs.

The system didn't rehabilitate my brother nor did it prevent him from entering in the first place. Instead, it left him in limbo, just like many other inmates. After Desmond was released the first time, I don't think I fully understood what he was going through. That is until I saw him homeless, sleeping in a car in over 95-degree weather. He had faced many challenges since being released from Parchman—addiction, unemployment—and it had all led to this. At that moment, I wanted to do everything possible to help him, but I felt like whatever I offered would never be enough. Desmond was incarcerated again less than a year later.

You and I grew up in the same house. Same parents. Same expectations with graduating and all that. We graduated the same night from community college. What happened? Why do you think we went in these separate directions?

I'll put it like this, now ... people, places, things? That's where I went wrong. People, places, and things. I started hanging around these people who were in the streets. Like you said, our father, he's been in and out of prison and I clung to him. I don't know why, but I connected to this stuff at an early age. I started messing with drugs at 16. My first job was basically when I started off into the streets, because everybody was street. Everybody showed me bits and pieces of a life that I wanted and I started living that life ... and it was good. At first. That's where I started going wrong. People, places, things. I started hanging with the wrong people, and they started getting in trouble. I never got in trouble in school, but I was always part of it. Do you think society, or even us as your family, failed you in some way?

I think society did. Because society made an image of me that I tried to complete. I feel like, if Momma pushed me more instead of handling what I gave more, I could have been pushed to be more. Me and you? We should have talked more, but my thing was that you had so much going on I didn't want to add to it. I started going through it at a young age. I started selling crack at 17. So, I went to the streets because, Hell, our pops was in and out of jail. I didn't really have a male figure that I could look to. I had to basically become a man on my own, and the way I figured it out was wrong. As a kid, I've seen a trunk full of money. You see people riding around, selling this, selling that. It's a risk, but Hell, that's a risk worth taking. Instead of going to this 9-to-5, busting my ass, for nothing. For a check that's gone quicker than I can cash it. The streets . . . yeah it's tough, but it's fair. I got a homeboy right now who has 18 years. He had 13 counts of armed robbery, five home invasions, and one attempted murder. He was 18 when he got locked up, and with how messed up our system is, he ain't gonna wanna do nothing but what got him put in there the first time. That's why the system sucks. That's why the system is failing everybody 'cuz when you get out that's all you know is what got you in there. Either you're gonna come out the same way you were, but smarter . . . or you become a preacher. You might come out a little fixed, but if you don't have a good head on your shoulders, when you leave there you won't have a mind anymore.

# "Talk to the inmates and stop talking to the guards."

Despite the ongoing challenges, increasing attention has been placed on Mississippi as a model for reform. In an attempt to reduce the prison population, the state legislature passed its first Criminal Justice Reform Bill (HB585)<sup>5</sup> in 2014, and revised it in 2019 (HB1352).<sup>6</sup> These efforts hoped to accomplish several improvements, including greater discretion for judges when determining sentences, the expansion

### **Reimagining Policy for the Next Decade**

of alternatives to prison, and increased use of drug courts. Each of these interventions have been proven to reduce recidivism and improve outcomes for individuals within the system. These early reforms caught the attention of the Trump administration, which subsequently based many of their national prison reform efforts on Mississippi's policies. The efforts were also meant to cut costs, with the reforms in 2014 set to save the state \$266 million by 2024.<sup>7</sup> While the current effort for reform shows promise, policymakers frequently fail to consider the voices and experiences of those who are incarcerated.

## I'm sure you've heard of prison reform efforts and increased attention from people around the nation. What do you think of all of this? What do you think they should know about this issue?

I just think it's talk until it's been put into action. They've been talking about fixing the system, but hasn't nothing been done. So for people who have actually been in the system, we don't believe it until we see it. Talk to the inmates and stop talking to the guards. That's the only way you're going to be able to change it. You're listening to the staff, but that's not gonna change it because they don't actually know what's going on. Don't ask people who don't actually care about the system—ask people who are in the system about how to fix the system.

#### What should they talk to them about?

Help us help you. How can we stop you from coming back here? People do what they've gotta do. When you get out, they say that you can get a job anywhere. That a person isn't supposed to hinder you from getting a job because you're a felon. That's not true. People tell you one thing and then something else happens. They might tell you that we're not gonna care that you're a felon, but you're going to look into my past. I was about to get a job at McDonald's one time after I got out. I had a good interview. She said it was one of the best interviews she had ever had. She went to the application from the back, I filled it out and it asked if I'm a convicted felon. I don't like to lie, so I told them yes. Her whole demeanor changed, her whole attitude, facial expression, everything changed when she saw that I was a felon, and I didn't get the job. So there'll be people who get out who only know selling drugs and have to come and try to settle for a \$7.25 job. You get tired of answering the same questions. You get tired of explaining yourself. Tired of going into these job interviews breaking down your whole life story about when you went to prison. Everybody makes mistakes. I just got caught.

Deeneaus Polk is a master in public policy candidate at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University where he is a presidential scholar and Cheng fellow. Prior to graduate school, he worked to empower Mississippi's workforce via apprenticeship programs. His work in Mississippi was enhanced via time spent in Germany researching their vocational education training system and dreaming about what a more equitable society could look like.

Desmond Polk is from Pascagoula, Mississippi, and is a machinist and welder. The challenges he has faced in his life serve as a source of inspiration to grow. His hopes and dreams are vast. He hopes his words and perspective can serve as a wakeup call to policymakers and society in general. He is a proud graduate of Pascagoula High School and Mississippi Gulf Coast Community College.

#### Endnotes

- Lici Beveridge, "Mississippi prison crisis: 18th inmate dies, second in 24 hours. He was a Parchman escapee," *Clarion Ledger*, 16 February 2020, accessed 18 February 2020, https:// www.clarionledger.com/story/news/local/2020/02/16/18th-mississippi-inmate-dies-state-prison-since-dec-29/4779554002/.
- 2 Emily Wagster Pettus, "Reeves proposal: Pay raise for teachers, no new money for prisons," *Clarion Ledger*, 1 February 2020, accessed 18 February 2020, https://www.clarionledger.com/ story/news/politics/2020/02/01/gov-tate-reeves-pay-raise-teachers-no-new-money-prisons-mississippi-budget-recommendation/4632250002/.
- 3 Jerry Mitchell, "Mississippi cut corrections by \$215M. Horrid

conditions, violent deaths have followed at Parchman," Mississippi Today, 18 February 2020, accessed 18 February 2020, https://mississippitoday.org/2020/02/18/mississippi-cut-corrections-by-215m-horrid-conditions-violent-deaths-have-followed-at-parchman/.

- 4 Timothy Williams, "Privately Run Mississippi Prison, Called a Scene of Horror, Is Shut Down," *New York Times*, 15 September 2016, accessed 18 February 2020, https://www. nytimes.com/2016/09/16/us/mississippi-closes-private-prison-walnut-grove.html.
- 5 Amendment to the Mississippi Code of 1972. H.B. 585. (M.S. 2014), available at: https://www.mdoc.ms.gov/Documents/ House%20Bill%20585%20as%20approved%20by%20the%20 Governor.pdf.
- 6 Criminal Justice Reform Act, H.B. 1352. (M.S. 2019), available at: http://billstatus.ls.state.ms.us/documents/2019/dt/HB/1300-1399/HB1352IN.pdf.
- 7 "Mississippi's 2014 Corrections and Criminal Justice Reform," Pew Charitable Trusts, 21 May 2014, accessed 18 February 2020, https://www.pewtrusts. org/en/research-and-analysis/issue-briefs/2014/05/21/ mississippi-2014-corrections-and-criminal-justice-reform.

# Preventing World War III in Space with Global Governance

### Chu Wang

To ensure the safe use of space, policymakers, international governing bodies, and civil society must act now to de-weaponize space.

Outer space is a public good<sup>1</sup> used for research, exploration, intelligence, and practical purposes like transmitting simple directional signals. Your smartphone talks to space daily, including each time you turn on Google Maps. Despite the already widespread—and growing—use of space by countries and private companies, there exist few global governance mechanisms to manage activity beyond the Earth's atmosphere. Unlike advanced governance regimes for terrestrial public goods—for example, shipping lanes for open water or environmental assessments used to govern the Antarctica region—those for space remain in infancy.

As the United States, China, Russia, and France implement space defense strategies, the weaponization of outer space is becoming more likely. This trend has already sparked heightened geopolitical tensions and risks outright conflict.<sup>2</sup> Thus, de-weaponizing outer space requires urgent attention and a strategic approach to preventing space warfare and ensuring global security. This paper outlines the importance of a safe outer space, discusses the existing weak global governance processes for space, and proposes practical ways to de-weaponize space.

### Is a Safe Outer Space Necessary?

In December 2019, president Trump signed into law the National Defense Authorization Act that included

a provision to start the US Space Force. Meant to stand alone as an independent service branch, the new Space Force safeguards "American dominance in space."<sup>3</sup> In July of 2019, France announced its own Space Defense Strategy to counter threats of Russian and Chinese interference in space.<sup>4</sup> As global powers race to develop new technologies, states have begun deploying more assets into space<sup>5</sup> to project power (see Figure 1).

Just like offensive and defensive weapons on Earth, offensive and defensive space technologies can escalate geopolitical tensions and risk harming other countries' peaceful space assets with negative externalities. For example, more technologies in space can create more space debris and result in satellite collisions; damaging space assets can in turn harm critical research infrastructure and threaten global commerce.<sup>6</sup> This all has potential consequences for civilians on Earth.7 Moreover, space assets that start off defensive can often be converted into offensive weapons, potentially sparking a new arms race.8 Yet, like the sea or the airspace, outer space is a public good that should be free, open, and most importantly, safe. This makes developing effective global governance processes to de-weaponize space9 all the more necessary.

### Why Are Current Global Governance Processes for Outer Space Weak?

There are three consequential reasons for why outer space governance is underdeveloped. First, technology moves faster than the pace of the necessary interna-

tional regulation. International law remains outdated and ill equipped to manage new technological trends. Today, many laws exist at the national level to govern the use of outer space, but there have been minimal efforts<sup>10</sup> to harmonize them into cohesive international laws. The five United Nations treaties on outer space that exist fail to keep pace with new technological advancements capable of weaponizing space.<sup>11</sup> The Outer Space Treaty (OST)12-passed in 1967 and ratified by 109 signatories including the United States, China, and Russia-is one legally binding international law. The OST requires signatories to maintain international peace while exploring space (article 3), to "not place in orbit . . . any objects carrying nuclear weapons or any kinds of weapons of mass destruction" (article 4), and to use space exclusively for peaceful purposes (article 4)13. However, if a state is "defending" space for international peace, then this different interpretation may encourage that state to launch weaponizable assets into space. A second international law, the UN's 1992 Principles Relevant to the Use of Nuclear Power Sources in Outer Space, is not legally binding<sup>14</sup> for member states and is limited to outlining uranium-enrichment specifications, procedural guidelines, and safety assessments for the use of nuclear energy. Despite these modest measures, current international laws do not restrict the use of defensive or deterrence technologies deployed in space nor exploration-focused assets equipped with weaponization capabilities.

Second, compliance challenges with what international laws do exist persist. A prime example is the implementation of the UN Convention on Registration of Objects Launched into Outer Space. Ratified by 69 UN member states and entered into force in 1976,15 this treaty requires signatories to report their respective space launches to the UN secretary-general, who maintains a central registry.<sup>16</sup> In 2018, the UN Secretariat recorded 452 objects launched into space: 273 UN-registered objects and 179 unregistered<sup>17</sup> objects.<sup>18</sup> Compared to 2014 data, the number of UN-registered objects in 2018 has increased by 30 percent, whereas the number of unregistered objects has increased by nearly 500 percent. This suggests that member states are becoming less compliant.<sup>19</sup> In 2018, the United States, China, and Russia registered 71 percent of all UN-registered objects but accounted for 68 percent of unregistered objects identified by the UN Secretariat. Interestingly, the United States has become less compliant and represented 63 percent of all unregistered objects in 2018.

Lastly, while there are many global norms that govern the sea and airspace, there are few norms for space. Existing capacities shape norms that focus on the peaceful research and exploration of space, but

#### Figure 1: In the past decade, member states have drastically increased object launches into outer space

Source: UNOOSA Online Index and Chu Wang analysis



they do not promote ones around space de-weaponization. Today, there are multilateral and national efforts to shape these norms, but so far they have been ineffective at deterring states' aspirations to militarize space and at reducing the number of assets being launched into space with weaponization capabilities. For example, the United Nations Office of Outer Space Affairs (UNOOSA) organizes workshops with member states to advance space laws and policies<sup>20</sup> and offers a space-law education curriculum.<sup>21</sup> The UN General Assembly also established an expert, intergovernmental working group in 2017 to consider preventative measures against a potential arms race in space.<sup>22</sup> These efforts have unfortunately done little to alter member states' transparency with object launches into space, nor have they resulted in recent outer space treaties or frameworks to address rapid technological developments.

Global governance of space is in its infancy. However, de-weaponizing space should be a priority before more nations make outer space a core component of their military and defense strategies. Space can be de-weaponized if the right actors reframe the issue, set standards, and create norms that allow for all human beings to have access to a peaceful space.

### Reframing the Issue as a Global Public Good that Needs to Be Kept Safe

Public goods merit protection because of their universal benefits. Reframing how governments and civil societies think about the use of space is critical to changing perceptions, behaviors, and actions.<sup>23</sup> Existing laws frame the use of outer space as passively occupying a territory for countries to share and use peacefully. Yet, outer space is becoming militarized. Satellite-mounted lasers, for example, are primarily used for research and for monitoring debris, but they can be transformed into offensive weapons.<sup>24</sup> Reframing how people think about space usage is a first step to reshaping the trajectory of multilateral discussions and lessening the risk of space warfare.

To start, space use should be normalized as a global public good. The principle informing this

move keeps humans at its core. If space is kept safe from weapons, then all of humankind benefits.<sup>25</sup> The Antarctic Treaty is proof that such bold shifts in thinking are possible. The treaty aims to ensure cooperative, peaceful scientific research and frames Antarctica as a public good in need of protection.<sup>26</sup> Introducing new frames such as "ensuring the safety of humankind" and "preventing space warfare" can leverage existing moral world views like "wars are bad" and "global safety is good." For example, nations and non-government organizations (NGOs) can partner with influential individuals to anchor new public frames. Nations can also coordinate with the UN's expert working group<sup>27</sup> and conferences such as the World Space Forum to embed de-weaponization concepts into the global space agenda. One caveat is that space seems less tangible to people than terrestrial public goods; this could cause space issues to receive less public traction. Therefore, UN agencies and member states should develop and implement public education campaigns to teach people about how a safe and de-weaponized outer space can deliver tangible benefits, including better weather information and GPS data.

Some would argue that a public good like space needs to be militarized and patrolled, as navies do to ensure shipping lanes remain open. Yet, militarizing the sea has created significant international tensions and distrust,<sup>28</sup> with unwanted political, economic, and military consequences. The United States may oppose space de-weaponization because of its stated ambitions to improve its space warfighting capabilities;<sup>29</sup> however, China and Russia have a vested interest in reframing outer space because they worry about a potential US space weaponry breakout<sup>30</sup> Domestic NGOs like the Global Security Institute or the Carnegie Endowment

"Existing capacities shape norms that focus on the peaceful research and exploration of space, but they do not promote ones around space de-weaponization."



for International Peace may be effective allies in nudging the United States and other countries to rethink the merits of de-weaponization.

# Setting New Standards for Verification and Inspection

Standards often elicit more compliance and provide a superior solution to global governance challenges.<sup>31</sup> Yet, given international treaty fatigue and low compliance rates to existing conventions, non-binding, de-weaponization standards may be a better way to shape state behaviors regarding space.<sup>32</sup> The International Civil Aviation Organization works with UN member states to develop standards and policies to support a secure, economically sustainable, and environmentally responsible civil aviation sector<sup>33</sup> Similarly, public and non-market standard-setting bodies should set de-weaponization standards to better solve cooperation and coordination problems that may arise.<sup>34</sup>

UNOOSA is an appropriate body for pursuing this change because it already has established networks with member states to design and implement de-weaponization standards. Moreover, in 2019, the

UN's Group of Governmental Experts on further practical measures for the prevention of an arms race in outer space reported that member states stressed the need for legal instruments that regulate behavior and capabilities.35 To start, site inspections can deter states from launching weaponized objects into space. For example, the Secretariat of the Antarctic Treaty has adopted non-mandatory inspection standards<sup>36</sup> to include environmental and disarmament assessments for all parties. In its checklist, it assesses military support activities, emergency response capabilities, and other conditions at sites including stations, installations, and vessels. For outer space, a site inspection checklist could assess an object's military capabilities, offensive potential, and other factors related to weaponization. UNOOSA could also specify standards on an object's maximum level of uranium enrichment, permittable conditions for using jamming technology,37 and the use of last-resort deterrence weaponry.

International standard-setting in a single focal institution tends to be slow,<sup>38</sup> but national agencies, academic institutions, NGOs, and private companies can help research, draft, and propose standards to accelerate the process. The United States will

likely oppose standards if it perceives them to limit defensive capabilities. Previously, the United States did not support a space-weapons-ban treaty proposed by China and Russia.<sup>39</sup> However, in a recent UN First Committee exchange, the United States stated that "[weaponization] risks can be reduced by cooperating on the development of non-legally binding measures."<sup>40</sup> Internationally, if UNOOSA can recruit European countries that believe in a space arms control framework to help outline verifiable instruments,<sup>41</sup> it will have more leverage to convince the United States to partake in setting standards. Given the United States' past unwillingness to adopt legally binding measures, voluntary standards may be an effective interim policy solution.

### Creating Norms to Ban Space Weapons and Promote Compliance

Issue reframing can create a cascade of de-weaponization norms and standards. However, there are other ways to create de-weaponization norms vis-à-vis norm entrepreneurship and repeat actions.<sup>42</sup> For outer space, creating and internalizing de-weaponization norms must be a policy priority to achieve effective global governance mechanisms. Norm entrepreneurs can highlight space de-weaponization and reframe the issue by emphasizing the importance of global safety, the perils of space weaponization, and the consequences of space warfare.<sup>43</sup> Influential norms entrepreneurs could include astronauts such as Chris Hadfield and Mark Kelly, scientists like Bill Nye and Neil deGrasse Tyson, NGOs like EURISY and the Planetary Society, and UN agencies including UNOOSA and the UN Office for Disarmament Affairs.

Furthermore, NGOs can form coalitions with celebrity endorsements to protest and lobby governments to pursue de-weaponization agendas and prevent space warfare. For example, NGOs spearheaded the International Campaign to Ban Landmines and helped establish the Mine Ban Treaty and norms around landmine usage.<sup>44</sup> NGOs could launch an international campaign to ban space weapons and, through protests and awareness campaigns, help society internalize the norm that space is about securing a global public good for the safety of humankind. By stressing the importance of civilian protection and security, these frames can translate into space norms that have transnational resonance.<sup>45</sup> NGOs and academic institutions can also collect and report data on countries' compliance to space conventions and standards and on countries' weaponization capabilities.

In an era of networked governance, norms are complex and dependent on cultural contexts.<sup>46</sup> NGOs and academic institutions must work closely with UN agencies to gain international legitimacy as they create and promote new norms. The United States may not favor these norms, but a coalition of NGOs can work with leaders to launch campaigns that lobby the US government to ban space weapons. This coalition could also lobby the US government to increase object-registration compliance and develop multilateral frameworks.

## Conclusion

As countries continue to develop and launch outer space technology with defensive and convertible offensive capabilities, outer space governance becomes an urgent topic that requires global governance mechanisms. In comparison to terrestrial global governance mechanisms, outer space governance is still elementary. To de-weaponize space, the most relevant and impactful governance mechanisms will be issue reframing, global standard setting, and norms creation. Nations should charter initiatives to de-weaponize space; NGOs and academic institutions should recognize their roles in advancing the movement to keep outer space - a public good - free from weapons. There is an opportunity for countries to get space right while strategically, and peacefully, collaborating on space exploration and commercialization.

Raised in Canada, Chu Wang is a master in public policy student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. He is passionate about foreign policy and promoting diversity and inclusion in organizations. Prior to Harvard, Chu worked at the United Nations Executive Office of the Secretary-General and at Boston Consulting Group. At Harvard, he is the co-chair of the Harvard Canadian Caucus, the Harvard Diplomacy Club, and the 2020 Harvard LGBTQ+ Leadership Conference. In his free time, he enjoys travelling, working out, and attending classical music concerts.

#### Endnotes

- According to Martin Wolf, "public goods are the building blocks of civilization... [and they are] non-excludable and non-rivalrous."; Martin Wolf, "The world's hunger for public goods," *Financial Times*, 24 January 2012, https://www.ft.com/ content/517e31c8-45bd-11e1-93fl-00144feabdc0.
- 2 Nayef R.F. Al-Rodhan, Meta-Geopolitics of Outer Space: An Analysis of Space Power, Security and Governance, St Anthony's Series (New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2012).
- 3 "President Donald J. Trump Is Launching America's Space Force." The White House, 23 October 2018, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/ president-donald-j-trump-launching-americas-space-force/.
- 4 gosnold, "France's new space defense strategy," Satellite-Observation.net, 27 July 2019, https://satelliteobservation. net/2019/07/27/frances-new-space-defense-strategy/.
- 5 See following section that relates to compliance challenges.
- 6 For example, revenues from selling materials to create space stations or space mining.
- 7 Al-Rodhan, Meta-Geopolitics of Outer Space.
- 8 Joseph Cirincione, "Brief History of Ballistic Missile Defense and Current Programs in the United States," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2 February 2000, http://www.carnegieendowment.org/publications/index. cfm?fa=view&id=133&prog=zgp&proj=znpp#starwars.
- 9 Space de-weaponization is generally defined as limiting or banning the use of offensive and offensive-defensive weapons in space.
- 10 Existing efforts by international intergovernmental organizations have focused on providing UN member states recommendations on national legislation to promote peaceful outer space exploration and use.
- For example, space-based lasers can be used to deter or destroy anti-satellites or nanosatellites.
- 12 Formerly recognized as the Treaty on Principles Governing the Activities of States in the Exploration and Use of Outer Space, including the Moon and Other Celestial Bodies.
- 13 "Treaty on Principles Governing the Activities of States in the Exploration and Use of Outer Space, Including the Moon and Other Celestial Bodies," United Nations Office for Disarma-

ment Affairs, accessed 11 December 2019, http://disarmament. un.org/treaties/t/outer\_space/text.

- 14 "Principles Relevant to the Use of Nuclear Power Sources In Outer Space," United Nations Office for Outer Space Affairs, accessed 11 December 2019, https://www.unoosa.org/oosa/en/ ourwork/spacelaw/principles/nps-principles.html.
- 15 Status of International Agreements relating to activities in outer space as at 1 January 2019 (A/AC.105/C.2/2019/; Committee on the Peaceful Uses of Outer Space, 2019) [PDF file].
- "Convention on Registration of Objects Launched into Outer Space," United Nations Office for Outer Space Affairs, accessed 11 December 2019, https://www.unoosa.org/oosa/en/ ourwork/spacelaw/treaties/registration-convention.html.
- 17 The estimated number of objects based on what the UN Secretariat can identify through external research and UN meetings (i.e., objects not directly registered by the state party to the UN secretary-general).
- 18 "Online Index of Objects Launched into Outer Space," United Nations Office for Outer Space Affairs, accessed 11 December 2019, https://www.unoosa.org/oosa/osoindex/ search-ng.jspx?lf\_id=.
- 19 Another explanation for this trend may be the UN Secretariat's ability to better track unregistered objects.
- 20 "United Nations Workshops on Space Law," United Nations Office for Outer Space Affairs, accessed 11 December 2019, https://www.unoosa.org/oosa/en/ourwork/spacelaw/workshops/index.html.
- 21 "Space Law Curriculum," United Nations Office for Outer Space Affairs, accessed 12 December 2019, https://www. unoosa.org/oosa/en/ourwork/spacelaw/space-law-curriculum. html.
- 22 "Group of Governmental Exerts on further effective measures for the prevention of an arms race in outer space," United Nations Office for Disarmament Affairs, accessed 11 December 2019, https://www.un.org/disarmament/topics/outerspace/ paros-gge/.
- 23 George Lakoff, "Frames and Brains," in *Thinking Points:* Communicating Our American Values and Vision, First Edition (Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2006).
- 24 Al-Rodhan, Meta-Geopolitics of Outer Space.
- 25 Wolf, "The world's hunger for public goods."
- 26 Bernard P. Herber, Protecting the Antarctic Commons: Problems of Economic Efficiency (Tuscon, AZ: Udall Center for Studies in Public Policy, 2007.
- 27 Informally known as the Group of Governmental Experts on further practical measures for the prevention of an arms race in outer space.
- 28 Hunter Marston, "The U.S. Navy and Southeast Asian nations held joint maneuvers for the first time. What are the key takeaways?" Washington Post, 13 September 2019, https://www.

### **Reimagining Policy for the Next Decade**

washingtonpost.com/politics/2019/09/13/us-navy-southeastasian-nations-held-joint-maneuvers-first-time-what-are-keytakeaways/.

- 29 "The Trump Administration Is Establishing the United States Space Command to Advance American Interests and Defend Out Nation," The White House, 29 August 2019, accessed 12 December 2019, https://www.whitehouse.gov/ briefings-statements/trump-administration-establishing-united-states-space-command-advance-american-interests-defend-nation/.
- 30 Theresa Hitchens, "Rushing to Weaponize the Final Frontier," Arms Control Today 31, no. 7 (2001): 16–21.
- 31 Tim Büthe and Walter Mattli, "International Standards and Standard-Setting Bodies," in *The Oxford Handbook of Business* and Government, ed. David Coen, Wyn Grant, and Graham Wilson (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010).
- 32 Büthe and Mattli, "International Standards and Standard-Setting Bodies."
- 33 "About ICAO," International Civil Aviation Organization, accessed 12 December 2019, https://www.icao.int/about-icao/ Pages/default.aspx.
- 34 Büthe and Mattli, "International Standards and Standard-Setting Bodies."
- 35 Report by the Chair of the Group of governmental experts on further practical measures for the prevention of an arms race in outer space (United Nations, 2019) [PDF file].
- 36 "Peaceful use and Inspections," Secretariat of the Antarctic Treaty, accessed 12 December 2019, https://www.ats.aq/e/ peaceful.html.
- 37 Jamming is when disturbance techniques are used to interfere with satellite signals and other space-to-Earth communications.
- 38 Büthe and Mattli, "International Standards and Standard-Setting Bodies."
- 39 Al-Rodhan, Meta-Geopolitics of Outer Space.
- 40 "First Committee Delegates Exchange Divergent Views on How Best to Prevent Weaponizing Outer Space, Cyberspace amid Eroding Global Trust," United Nations Meetings Coverage and Press Releases, 29 October 2019, accessed 13 December 2019, https://www.un.org/press/en/2019/gadis3636. doc.htm.
- 41 "First Committee Delegates Exchange Divergent Views."
- 42 Martha Finnemore and Duncan B. Hollis, "Constructing Norms for Global Cybersecurity," *American Society of International Law* 110, no. 3 (2016): 425–79.
- 43 Martha Finnemore and Kathryn Sikkink, "International Norm Dynamics and Political Change," International Organization 52, no. 4 (1998): 887–917.
- 44 "What we do," International Campaign to Ban Landmines, accessed 13 December 2019, http://www.icbl.org/en-gb/about-

us/what-we-do/icbl-in-action.aspx.

- 45 Finnemore and Sikkink, "International Norm Dynamics and Political Change."
- 46 Finnemore and Hollis, "Constructing



# More than a Game: The Untapped Potential of Sports Policy

### Holly Ransom and Adam Barsuhn

"Sport has the power to change the world... it has the ability to unite people in a way that little else does. It is more powerful than governments in breaking down barriers. It laughs in the face of all types of discrimination."<sup>1</sup> – Nelson Mandela

Sports are an unparalleled lever for change. They elicit passion and inspire belief in participants and spectators alike. Sports bridge divisions and reopen dialogue, connect communities and build resilience. In a globalized world, the cultural, political, diplomatic, and commercial influence of sports has taken on a new level of power and primacy. Consequently, the sporting world has become ever more intertwined with contemporary social issues worldwide, including human rights, corruption, and international politics.

As important as these issues are, little attention has been paid to sports' relationship with them. Instead, policymakers and other leaders have widely, yet myopically, viewed sports purely as a vehicle for entertainment. Without the necessary public oversight, sporting organizations have lacked the checks and balances that typify well-functioning governance: they make their own rules, adjudicate their own disputes, and enforce their own penalties.
This opaque exercise of power, combined with a "win at all costs" mentality, often places little value on transparency, social accountability, and ethics, despite the profound public consequences of sporting organizations' private decisions. By recognizing that sport is more than a game, policymakers have a unique opportunity to drive social progress by improving sports' governance. If sport, as Mandela suggests, is a vehicle to change the world, sports literacy and sports-focused policy are essential skills in the toolkit of every public policy leader.

### Old Games, New Money

Welcome to the age of the "sporting superpowers." In 2018, the global sports market reached a value of nearly \$489 billion, having grown at an annual rate of more than 4 percent since 2014. The industry is expected to grow to \$614 billion by 2022.<sup>2</sup> The days of "amateur" sports and athletes are long gone. Sports teams are now big business and need to be regulated accordingly.

The scale and pace of this commercial evolution has been dramatic. In 2012, Manchester United was the world's only sports franchise worth more than \$1 billion; there are now 106 franchises valued at more than \$1 billion each and over 50 worth more than \$2 billion.<sup>3</sup> The Dallas Cowboys, the world's most valuable sports team, is now worth \$4.2 billion and generating a staggering \$700 million in annual revenue. This exponential growth in organizational value is mirrored by the growth in consumer spending—Americans alone spend about \$56 billion on sporting events each year. Further, the annual market for legal sports betting is \$423 billion, while the total for sports betting (including illegal betting) is estimated at approximately \$3 trillion by the United Nations.<sup>4</sup>

A major driver of the exponential growth in sports' economic value is the globalization of sporting revenue bases, as formerly domestic markets have expanded into worldwide-recognized brands with a global following. When the English Premier League first launched in 1992–93, its broadcast deal was worth \$63 million per season. By May 2019, the global competition for "By recognizing that sport is more than a game, policymakers have a unique opportunity to drive social progress by improving sports' governance."

the broadcast rights had bid the value up to \$15.5 billion.<sup>5</sup> The Globalization and TV Sports Rights Report predicts that the worldwide sports broadcast market will grow from \$48.6 billion in 2018 to \$85.1 billion by 2025—a 70 percent increase, led in part by streaming services such as Amazon and China's Tencent.<sup>6</sup>

On the surface, this unprecedented growth has few downsides for the sporting organizations themselves. However, beneath the surface, the immense economic power of these new markets can carry with them inherent conflicts of interests as sporting, commercial, and state interests become increasingly tangled. This tension surfaced in dramatic fashion when a tweet in October 2019 by Daryl Morey, the general manager of the NBA's Houston Rockets, about the Hong Kong pro-democracy protests inflamed US-China diplomatic relations, with widespread public debate about human rights and free speech. Many pundits who were surprised by the situation's rapid escalation missed two key factors. First, sport has increasingly become a source of prestige for the Chinese government in the last two decades;7 second, the NBA's commercial model has become increasingly dependent on Chinese money (to the tune of \$6.5 billion). In this context, a 140-character tweet upset a delicate balance that had allowed both parties to prosper, until their political and commercial interests suddenly diverged.

See How They Run: Sports Governance

Sadly, it is not just emerging issues that are challenging the regulatory frameworks of sporting organizations. Sporting organizations lack modern governance structures (including transparency of information, ethical and democratic decision-making processes, and robust risk management frameworks) tailored to their existing operating environments. A 2018 University of Colorado Boulder review found that the organizations charged with overseeing US Olympic sports from the elite level down to the youth level earned an average "governance score" of 58-a failing grade.8 However, despite their overwhelming "fail" grades, US sporting governance bodies still ranked far better than their international counterparts, such as FIFA.9 It would be inaccurate to conclude that this is exclusively a failure of private decision making. Some of sport's most egregious scandals, such as Salt Lake City's bribery of the International Olympic Committee to win the 2002 Winter Olympics10 and Russia's systemic doping of its athletes to achieve competitive advantage,11 have been state funded and sanctioned. As sports governance expert Borja Garcia put it: "When it comes to governance standards, modern sport is a very young and immature industry and most governing bodies and processes lack robust organizational structures that induce effective ethical governance."12

For better and for worse, the interconnectedness of professional sport and socioeconomic issues means such failures negatively impact substantial areas of social life, while its moments of progress can prove a tipping point for broader societal change.<sup>13</sup> Billie Jean King and the US women's national soccer team enlivened debate on pay equity, and South Africa's 1995 Rugby World Cup win was a watershed moment for uniting the post-apartheid nation. As expectations around social responsibility rapidly evolve, sporting organizations and athletes alike are being challenged more than ever to acknowledge and leverage their unparalleled influence to champion social causes and take a stand on a variety of issues. With great power comes great responsibility, and so too increases the unacceptability of complacency, indifference, and worst of all, blatant abuse of power.

There is perhaps no better example of the consequences of unethical, unregulated governance than the awarding of the 2022 FIFA World Cup to Qatar. With the bidding process still mired in a corruption investigation, the host nation (and FIFA) have never strayed far from controversy: from human trafficking and slavery via the kalafa labor system, discrimination due to anti-homosexual laws and gender equality, to player safety concerns due to the fierce heat and a tumultuous political scene in the Middle East. The Qatar World Cup is truly the poster child for a sports organization choosing profit over prudency.<sup>14</sup>

While awarded before FIFA adopted a statutory human rights commitment in 2016,<sup>15</sup> at the time of writing, these issues remain unresolved. Since FIFA has yet to align its disciplinary procedures to these commitments, global human rights bodies, such as Human Rights Watch, have expressed grave concern at FIFA's "bystander" governance.<sup>16</sup>

"FIFA has deservedly faced a firestorm of criticism for awarding the 2022 World Cup to Qatar without making labor reforms a prerequisite for hosting the tournament. The result is that a million migrant workers building football stadiums and another million migrant workers in the service sector like hotel staff or transit workers are highly vulnerable to wage cheating, unsafe working conditions like extreme heat, and forced labor," said Minky Worden, director of Global Initiatives and Sport at Human Rights Watch.

"Fans increasingly don't want to sit in a stadium workers died to build or to travel to a country that criminalizes their identity as LGBT people. FIFA's human rights reforms are hindered at every turn by the federation's failure to tie human rights requirements that exist in its 2017 Human Rights Policy to governance within FIFA. The 'Supreme Committee for Qatar 2022'—the tournament's quasi-governmental delivery committee—has pledged to improve conditions for workers, but the lack of trade unions to defend workers on World Cup and other construction projects definitely restrains the possibilities for sport to meaningfully improve human rights in Qatar."

The situation has also highlighted the inherent

tensions for competing countries, such as the United Kingdom, whose participation in the Qatar-hosted event is inconsistent with the demands of its own Modern Anti-Slavery Act, passed in 2015.<sup>17</sup> Still, the multitude of issues raised and erratic responses by FIFA and the participating nations has failed to deter preparation, and the tournament is expected again to be the world's most watched sporting event.

# The Critical Perspective Shift: It's Much More Than a Game

Despite the public and pervasive nature of sports governance failures, there has been no public outcry to fix the system nor an effort by policymakers or activists to seize the power of sport to advance social progress. Unfortunately, the narrative that sports are nothing more than entertainment, devoid of any larger implications or contexts, curtails efforts to harness sport for greater public good.

The most charitable perspective of this view is one of escapism: watching your favorite team play can be a unifying and edifying event. Indeed, many fans object to anything that intrudes on cheering for their preferred team. Much of the response to NFL quarterback Colin Kaepernick kneeling during the American national anthem highlighted this willful ignorance. Bringing politics into the sporting mix is like discussing religion at Thanksgiving dinner—liable only to cause strife and, therefore, to be avoided at all costs.

While this escapism has an undeniable pull, it's naïve in its logic and myopic in its effect. To deny the effects of politics, race, and money in shaping every aspect of on, and off, field exploits is to willfully ignore how inextricably interwoven sport is with the exercise of power. Sporting organizations occupy rarefied air—they control the currency of global attention, mobilize tribal and national pride, and monetize both factors to the tune of some \$145 billion in annual collective revenues.

When convenient, sporting organizations act as legitimate businesses but demand complete autonomy in self-management, and even in self-punishment. Often operating as quasi-independent states, they lack effective counterbalances and have vast latitude to remain in power. A "stick to sports" culture enables this lack of accountability. In the famous words of Oakland Raiders owner Al Davis, all is well between fans, owners, and administrators as long as you "just win, baby, win."<sup>18</sup> However, deeply concerning for policymakers is that, as former Australian cricket captain Kim Hughes put it, "winning covers up all manner of sins."<sup>19</sup>

Conversely, the "it's only sport" view of many policymakers compounds the "stick to sports" status quo. Tinged with elitism, this response implies sport is not befitting of "serious" policy attention and scholarship, leaving it to the consumption of the masses. A quick survey of ten of the top public policy schools shows no curriculum devoted to sports.<sup>20</sup> Despite the global reach of sport, few in academia seem to have recognized its immense potential for driving social change. By deeming sports not worthy of being taken seriously, policymakers have permitted it to avoid serious governance.

### Policymakers and Sports: Accountability, Improved Governance, and Social Progress

Regardless of policymakers' lack of interest, these governance failures are not the result of the absence of proposed sports policy guidelines and governance principles. Since the beginning of the 21st century, more than 30 models of best-practice sporting governance principles have been formulated and in some instances mandated industry wide.<sup>21</sup> Despite this, there remains scant robust, empirical, independent evidence to suggest these policies have fundamentally altered the day-to-day governance practices and performance of sporting organizations. Unfortunately, it appears that sports policy is more often than not confined to paper and relegated from practice.

Piecemeal governance, with poor implementation and lackluster adherence to sport-wide standards, is a threat to improved governance outcomes, perpetuating the status quo of social, economic, and political "To deny the effects of politics, race, and money in shaping every aspect of on, and off, field exploits is to willfully ignore how inextricably interwoven sport is with the exercise of power."

challenges. At an organizational level, few federations have established basic corporate governance practices, such as independent audit and ethics committees with sufficient authority to execute efficient financial controls, conduct risk management, and monitor the application of an ethics code (if it exists). Additionally, the lack of term limits in many international sports federations increases the risk of abuse of power, lack of accountability, and a weak internal democracy.

To address these shortcomings, government, sporting institutions, and academia need to work collaboratively to create bespoke sports governance and policy courses focused on skilling up sports administrators, directors, and public sector officials as well as facilitating greater networking and collaboration between the sectors. Additionally, collaboration between civil society, sporting organizations, and policymakers is needed to develop a practical "balanced scorecard," a rubric that could help sporting clubs and decision-making processes involving sport (such as major event bids and large-scale public infrastructure decisions) in creating consistent and transparent standards. Finally, accountability structures and sanctions need to be aligned to ethical commitments, whether in the form of international treaties or internal codes of conduct, to ensure public legitimacy and trust.

In conclusion, the world of sport has become too rich and too influential for policymakers to ignore its profound role in shaping and driving social outcomes. Fighting corruption, removing racial barriers, eliminating gender inequality, and practicing responsible geopolitics are in the best interest of sporting organizations. Those that effectively straddle their commercial and social responsibilities will set themselves up for long-term success. What's required now is for policymakers and sports leaders to embrace their interdependence and to collectively create robust, consistent sporting governance structures. On the road to social progress, policymakers have few greater drivers than sport and its cross-cutting cultural power. For sports organizations, facing sprawling agendas and harnessing unprecedented power, flippant governance threatens to erode their social license to operate. Critically, the whole is greater than the sum of its parts: improved sports governance, aided by passionate policymakers, has the potential to fulfill Nelson Mandela's vision of sport positively changing the world.

Adam Barsuhn is a master in public policy candidate, class of 2021. His concentration is international and global affairs with an emphasis on national security and foreign policy. He is an active duty US Army military intelligence officer. Before the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University, he was the commander of C Company, 741st Military Intelligence Battalion at Fort Meade, Maryland, supporting the National Security Agency. Upon graduation, he will teach international relations to cadets at the United States Military Academy at West Point. A lifelong sports fan, his dream is to have one of Detroit's pro sports teams win a championship in his lifetime.

Holly Ransom is a John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University MPP class of '21 fellow and the recipient of the Fulbright Anne Wexler Public Policy scholarship. An accomplished company director, Holly has advised upon and implemented strategic transformation programs across in partnership with corporate, nonprofit, and public sector stakeholders globally and has been recognized as a "Future Game-Changer to watch" by Sir Richard Branson.

## Reimagining Policy for the Next Decade

#### Endnotes

- Rob Hughes, "Nelson Mandela Grasped to Power of Sports," New York Times, 11 June 2013, accessed 10 February 2020, https://www.nytimes.com/2013/06/12/sports/soccer/12iht-soccerl2.html.
- 2 The Business Research Company, "Increasing Sports Sponsorships Will Drive the Clobal Sports Market to \$614 Billion by 2022: The Business Research Company," CISION, 17 July 2019, accessed 10 February 2020, https://www.prnewswire. com/news-releases/increasing-sports-sponsorships-will-drivethe-global-sports-market-to-614-billion-by-2022-the-businessresearch-company-300885512.html.
- 3 Kurt Badenhausen, "The World's 50 Most Valuable Sports Teams 2019," Forbes, 22 July 2019, accessed 10 February 2020, https://www.forbes.com/sites/kurtbadenhausen/2019/07/22/ the-worlds-50-most-valuable-sports-teams-2019/#355b5c7f283d.
- 4 Sam Mitchell, "Global sports betting a \$3 trillion dollar business," World Casino News (blog), 10 April 2015, accessed 10 February 2020, https://news.worldcasinodirectory.com/ global-sports-betting-a-3-trillion-business-6347.
- 5 Stefan Szymanski, Money and Soccer: A Soccernomics Guide, International Edition (New York: Bold Type Books, 2015), p. 104.
- 6 "Clobalization lifts TV sports rights past \$85 billion future," Rethink Reports, 27 September 2019, accessed 11 January 2020, https://rethinkresearch.biz/report/ globalization-lifts-tv-sports-rights-past-85-billion-future/.
- 7 Jinming Zheng et al., "Sport policy in China (Mainland)," International Journal of Sport Policy and Politics 10, no. 3 (2018): 469–91.
- 8 Jean-Loup Chappelet, "Beyond governance: the need to improve the regulation of international sport," *Sports in Society* 21, no. 5 (2018): 724–34.
- 9 Chappelet, "Beyond governance."
- 10 Tim Wigmore, "British sports governance is rotten to the core, here is how to fix it," iNews, last updated 9 September 2019, accessed 10 February 2020, https://inews.co.uk/sport/ british-sports-governance-rotten-core-fix-518620.
- 11 Lisa Riley Roche, "Salt Lake Olympic scandal 'set a precedent' for U.S. prosecution of FIFA," *DesertNews*, 28 May 2015, https://www.deseret.com/2015/5/28/20565575/ salt-lake-olympic-scandal-set-a-precedent-for-u-s-prosecutionof-fifa#tom-welch-leaves-federal-court-after-a-motion-todismiss-was-made-by-the-defense-thursday-dec-4-2003-insalt-lake-city-the-judge-will-announce-his-decision-fridaymorning-former-salt-lake-olympic-bid-committee-memberswelch-and-dave-johnson-are-charged-with-15-counts-in-connection-in-the-bribery-trial-ap-photo-douglas-c-pizac.
- 12 Nicole Perlroth and Tariq Panja, "Microsoft Says Russians Hacked Antidoping Agency Computers," *New York Times*,

28 October 2019, 10 February 2020, https://www.nytimes. com/2019/10/28/sports/olympics/russia-doping-wada-hacked. html.

- 13 Chappelet, "Beyond governance."
- 14 Josh Hammer, "Report: Qatar Paid \$880 Million In Bribes To FIFA To Secure The 2022 World Cup," *The Daily Wire*, 11 March 2019, accessed 10 February 2020, https://www.dailywire.com/news/ report-qatar-paid-880-million-bribes-fifa-secure-josh-hammer.
- 15 "FIFA publishes landmark Human Rights Policy," FIFA (blog), 8 June 2017, accessed 10 February 2020, https://www.fifa.com/about-fifa/who-we-are/news/ fifa-publishes-landmark-human-rights-policy-2893311.
- 16 Aimee Lewis, "Migrant workers subjected to heat and humidity being put at risk, says Human Rights Watch," CNN, 27 September 2017, accessed 10 February 2020, https://edition. cnn.com/2017/09/27/football/qatar-2022-world-cup-workersheat-humidity-human-rights-watch/index.html.
- 17 "Football Association Limited (The)," Modern Slavey Registry, added on 18 December 2018, accessed 9 November 2019, http://www.modernslaveryregistry.org/ companies/22417-football-association-limited-the.
- 18 Associated Press, "NFL mourns passing of Raiders owner Al Davis," Sporting New NFL, 8 October 2011, accessed 10 February 2020, https://archive.ph/20130202170302/ http://aol.sportingnews.com/nfl/story/2011-10-08/ nfl-mourns-passing-of-raiders-owner-al-davis.
- 19 Steve Wilson, "The long road from Bradman's moral lesson to Bancroft's ball tampering," ABC News, 1 April 2019, https:// www.abc.net.au/news/2018-04-02/how-australian-cricketwent-from-bradman-to-ball-tampering/9608314.
- 20 Using US News and World Report's 2019 ranking of "Best Graduate Public Affairs Programs," we reviewed the curriculum of the top ten schools. Several schools had undergraduate courses addressing the sociology of sport, there was no graduate level courses in two year programs (either master in public policy or master in public administration) that comprehensively addressed sport. While several public universities, including the University of Michigan and University of Florida, have degrees in sports management, these are primarily focused on the business of sport.
- 21 Chappelet, "Beyond governance."

# Democracy in Mexico Needs a Law Enforcement Oversight Body

### Daniel Hernández Aldaco and Daniela Philipson García

Joaquín "El Chapo" Guzmán and Jesús Reynaldo Zambada were the leaders of the world's most infamous drug cartel, the Sinaloa Cartel. During El Chapo's 2018 trial in Brooklyn, Zambada was the prosecution's main witness against his long-time business partner and friend.<sup>1</sup> His testimony revealed the cartel's inner workings, including details on how he bribed the former secretary of Public Security and head of the Mexican Federal Police, Genaro García Luna, with \$3 million in cash. García Luna was arrested in December 2019 and is expected to be tried this year.<sup>2</sup>

The allegations against García Luna put the Mexican police at the center of an investigation into collusion between officials and cartel leaders. García Luna was the leading champion of the Mexican War on Drugs, the strategy initiated by former President Felipe Calderón in 2006. Calderón argued that the military was necessary to combat the cartels and avoid police corruption. Before 2006, authorities would sometimes order the military to eradicate marijuana and poppy fields and deny access to illicit markets. Since then, the number of military officers fulfilling civilian public security tasks has increased substantially. In some cities, they replaced police forces entirely. Two presidents and 14 years later, the military is still waging the war, but the root causes of police corruption remain unaddressed.

Law enforcement in Mexico is decentralized, meaning federal, state, and municipal entities each have police departments. The federal arrangement defined by the constitution gives local governments the authority to manage their own security and law enforcement departments with some help from the federal government. Yet over the past two decades, the federal government has abandoned local3 solutions to crime and prioritized a military approach to combat and prosecute federal crimes, even though 95 percent of crimes occurs locally.<sup>4</sup>

By substituting the military for civilian law enforcement, the use of military force has been normalized and human rights violations have skyrocketed, causing widespread violence. Last year was the most violent in six decades, with over 35,000 homicides, more four times greater than in 2007.<sup>5</sup> The justice system has been unable to pursue violations,<sup>6</sup> leaving crimes unaccounted for and eroding Mexican democracy. Pundits argue that to reverse these trends, soldiers must return to their barracks and a trustworthy and efficient police force must be supported. But none of this is possible without robust law enforcement oversight.

The abandonment of local agencies is evident in their lack of funds, abilities, and capacity. A 2010 report showed the staggering shortfall in resources dedicated to state-level public security.<sup>7</sup> According to the government, about a quarter of municipalities lack a police department entirely,<sup>8</sup> and among those that exist, none has a robust oversight structure. Finally, the police also lack investigative abilities, instead relying on the courts to report and prosecute crimes. Yet, the local judiciary tends to be inefficient, overlooking most crimes.

Along with low wages and constant pressure

"Along with low wages and constant pressure from organized crime, the lack of supervision and accountability for police creates negative incentives."

from organized crime, the lack of supervision and accountability for police creates negative incentives. Honesty becomes a liability, with no consequences for bad behavior. Officers engage in petty corruption, collude with criminals, and neglect opportunities to improve services. In 2019, just 29 percent of Mexicans said that they trust local police, which suggests an urgent need for oversight mechanisms to rebuild trust and protect police from external threats.<sup>9</sup>

Currently, police have a two-part oversight structure. First, within each department there is an internal affairs unit that certifies officers and controls for misconduct. Second, some regions have civilian-run external oversight structures. Some departments helped create *mesas de seguridad*, <sup>10</sup> pro-bono structures led by community leaders. Alternatively, businesspeople in northern cities such as Monterrey and Chihuahua have created nonprofit organizations to help fund local police and demand accountability.

These organizations lack two elements of oversight: autonomy and resources. Internal affairs units are prone to conflicts of interest and are thus incapable of leading investigations. They are also frequently understaffed and poorly resourced. Nonprofits and *mesas de seguridad* focus more on publicizing trends and providing feedback and resources rather than on supervision.

Some cities in the United States have innovative police oversight models that suggest how to enhance accountability. These watchdog organizations fall into three types: investigator-focused, review-focused, and auditing. The first investigates complaints against officers, the second oversees internal affairs, and the third makes recommendations regarding patterns of misconduct.<sup>11</sup> These models are complementary, not mutually exclusive. Over the last decade, these overlapping structures have allowed cities like Seattle to improve police conduct.

Seattle agreed to reform its police following 2010 allegations of bias and excessive force.<sup>12</sup> The Office of Police Accountability (OPA) was established as the Seattle Police Department (SPD) internal affairs unit, investigating allegations of misconduct and making recommendations to the chief of police.<sup>13</sup> The Office of Inspector General (OIG), housed in the mayor's office and appointed by the city council, reviews and audits the SPD and OPA.<sup>14</sup> Simultaneously, it oversees OPA's investigations and recommends policy to the mayor. Finally, the Community Police Commission (CPC), appointed by the city council, provides community input and oversees the SPD, the OPA, and the OIG.

Though Seattle provides a potential model for reform in Mexico, there are obstacles to adaptation. First is applying one approach to 1,840 police departments, with varying local conditions, resources, capabilities, and threats. Increasing staffing would incur costs most cities cannot afford. This model is also an uncomfortable fit for the design of Mexican local government. While community liaisons sometimes exist, they have little authority.

Yet the ongoing public security crisis demands that Mexico consider international best practices to build police oversight structures compatible with local institutions. This should be guided by three principles. First, internal oversight bodies should retain autonomy to avoid conflicts of interest. Ideally, heads of external bodies would be appointed by neutral actors with no political ties. Second, oversight bodies should have adequate resources and capabilities to enforce recommendations. Finally, the oversight structure should be designed as a system of overlapping bodies supervising each other.

Gradual reform, starting with larger cities, is a realistic starting point. Alternatively, state-level structures could be designed to oversee municipalities with limited capacity. Local funds could be complemented by federal subsidies and donor-based contributions, conditioned on implementing reforms.

Using the military to restore public security is

a temporary solution that ignores the root causes of violence, namely corruption. Three presidential administrations and 14 years since the Mexican War on Drugs began, over 120,000 people have died and many more gone missing.<sup>15</sup> Meanwhile, police lack the means to protect themselves and the communities they serve. Ensuring transparency and accountability through oversight is a crucial first step.

Daniel Aldaco is a master in public policy student at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. He previously worked in the National Commission of Security of Mexico as an analyst of security policies as well as an advisor to the undersecretary of Security. Last summer, Daniel was a policy intern at the Office of the Inspector General for the NYPD. Currently, he is working with the Mexican federal government for his dissertation on a proposal of coordination mechanisms between federal and local law enforcement agencies.

Danniela Philipson García is an expert on security and law enforcement policy and works for a women's civil society organization in New York. She recently completed a master in public policy from the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University, where she studied as a Fulbright Scholar. Prior to that, she worked as a policy advisor to the President of the Senate of Mexico.

#### Endnotes

- Alejandra Ibarra Chaoul, El Chapo Guzmán: El Juicio del Siglo (Aguilar, 2019).
- 2 John Burnett, "Arrest of Genaro García Luna," NPR, 15 December 2019. https://www.npr.org/2019/12/15/788261140/ arrest-of-genaro-garcia-luna-shocks-mexico.
- 3 We use "local" to refer to the state and municipal levels.
- 4 For the years 2015–2019, this relationship has ranged between 94.5 and 95.7 percent. The number was calculated using the data by the Secretariado Ejecutivo del Sistema Nacional de Seguridad Pública using "Delitos del Fuero Común" and "Delitos del Fuero Federal" for this period. Accessed 6 February 2019, available at: https://www.gob.mx/sesnsp.

- 5 Alejandro Hope, "Sobre los datos de homicidios," El Universal, 22 January 2020, https://www.eluniversal.com.mx/opinion/ alejandro-hope/sobre-los-datos-de-homicidios.
- 6 "Mexico: Events of 2018," Human Rights Watch, accessed 3 February 2020, https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2019/ country-chapters/mexico#043288.
- 7 Resumen Ejecutivo de la Consultoría para Realizar evaluaciones del ramo 33, SHCP y BID, 2010. http://www.shcp.gob. mx/EGRESOS/PEF/sed/Ramo%2033.pdf.
- 8 "Hasta 600 municipios mexicanos carecen de agentes de policías locales," Notiamerica, 3 September 2018, https://www. notimerica.com/sociedad/noticia-600-municipios-mexicanos-carecen-agentes-policia-locales-20180903192242.html.
- 9 "Percepción del desempeño de las autoridades de seguridad pública y justicia," INEGI, accessed 3 February 2019, https:// www.inegi.org.mx/temas/percepciondes.
- 10 Mesa de seguridad translates to "security worktable" in English.
- Olgubenga Ajilore, "How Civilian Review Boards Can Further Police Accountability and Improve Community Relations," Scholars Strategy Network (blog), 25 June 2018, https://scholars. org/brief/how-civilian-review-boards-can-further-police-accountability-and-improve-community-relations.
- 12 "About Us | Community Police Commission," Seattle Government, accessed 19 January 2020, https://www.seattle. gov/community-police-commission/about-us#commissioners.
- 13 "About the Office of Inspector General | Office of Inspector General," Seattle Government, accessed 19 January 2020, https://www.seattle.gov/oig/about.
- 14 "About the Office of Inspector General," Seattle Government.
- 15 Laura Y. Calderón et al., Organized Crime and Violence in Mexico: Analysis through 2018 (San Diego: Justice in Mexico, University of San Diego, 2019) [PDF file].

# Abandoning the "Failed State"

### **Esther Brito Ruiz**

The United States has shown increased aggression in the Middle East in recent months, exemplified by the assassination and attempted killing of Iranian Revolutionary Guard Corps leaders Qassem Soleimani and Abdul Reza. Such intervention often spills into neighboring states that already suffer from internal strife. For example, the United States has recently targeted individuals in Afghanistan, Pakistan, Libya, Sudan, Somalia, and Yemen.<sup>1</sup> These countries have something else in common: they are failed or fragile states, according to recent iterations of the Fragile State Index, a private research initiative from the Fund for Peace.

Coinciding with elections around the world favoring hardline politicians, there has been an increase in military exhibitionism and extrajudicial killings. With these aggressive responses on the rise, the post–September 11 era of social militarization, violations of international law, and weaponized political speech may return.<sup>2</sup> This is visible in the parallels between Trump's recent assertions that he is willing to violate international law<sup>3</sup> and Bush's 2002 order unilaterally and illegally exempting the United States from its obligations under the Geneva convention regarding the country's conflict with Al Qaeda.<sup>4</sup> Today's rebirth of the narrative of the danger of failed state may prompt and justify American intervention abroad.

### What Is a Failed State? Definition, Cracks, and Bias

The notion of the failed state first emerged in the 1992 Foreign Policy article "Saving Failed States," written by then–US State Department employees Gerald Helman and Steven Ratner in response to new types of armed conflicts following the Cold War.<sup>5</sup> Failed states are spaces where governmental authority and power structures providing institutional and political guarantees of law and order have collapsed.<sup>6</sup> As a result, the governing body is unable or unwilling to provide political goods to its citizens<sup>7</sup> or exercise control over its territory.<sup>8</sup>

The concept was solidified and heavily invested in within academic and public policy debates after the September 11 attacks, when failed states were framed as security concerns because they, willingly or unwillingly, harbored transnational threats, such as terrorist organizations, within their borders.<sup>9</sup> The concept of the failed state bridges the paradoxes between the formal sovereignty possessed by states and their de facto control and capacity within their territories.<sup>10</sup> The failed state has subsequently been renamed fragile, vulnerable, weak, at risk, failing, or collapsed.<sup>11</sup> Yet, at its core, its definition remains the same.

The immediate issue arising from such a definition is its broadness. Academics, policymakers, and politicians freely use the term failed states, even though there is no formal procedure to declare a state as failed. Many cases can be categorized as failed, and elements that indicate a state has failed are very subjective.<sup>12</sup> This has brought forth debate on practical or theoretical utility of labeling states failed<sup>13</sup> and the need to properly identify quantifiable or more objective indicators of failure. To this day, there is no agreement between scholars on how to consistently define the concept or variables of state failure.<sup>14</sup> The Fragile State Index is one of the most-referenced sources of identification of failed states. It uses political, social, and economic indicators to evaluate states' fragility.<sup>15</sup> But even this index remains controversial.<sup>16</sup>

The ambivalence of what it means to fail has led analysts and policymakers to label a wide array of countries failed states. Today's so-called failed states have experienced anything from genocide to revolution, despite the fact that many political crisis don't correlate with a breakdown or weakening of state institutions.<sup>17</sup> The result is a "super-aggregation" of very diverse states and their issues under the label of state failure.<sup>18</sup> Analysts and policymakers "throw a monolithic cloak over disparate problems that require tailored solutions,"<sup>19</sup> stifling efforts that seek to contextualize what are, by definition, extremely complex social phenomena.<sup>20</sup>

Beyond this, the idea of failed states remains problematic due to its inherently politicized and ahistorical nature and the implicit Western bias in identifying such states. Most of the cases of failed states have been historically defined and restructured by colonialism,<sup>21</sup> yet the ripple effects this holds on institutional breakdowns and violence is often minimized or disregarded.<sup>22</sup> Further, a failed state necessarily subscribes to the conception of state defined by dominant Western powers<sup>23</sup> and is inevitably subjected to both Western bias and state interests.<sup>24</sup>

We might ask: How will this affect security at an international level? The answer is twofold. Because the idea of a failed state is ambiguous, it is remarkably easy to instrumentalize, and because it is generic, it leads to over-simplified responses that may worsen the situation at hand.

# The Failed State as an Ambiguous and Generic Concept

The concept of failed or fragile states impedes critical evaluations of how certain countries or regions may be more intrinsically tied to different types of security risks<sup>25</sup> or engrained in regional or global patterns and processes of collapse.<sup>26</sup> This absence of awareness active-

ly harms state building. Thus, generalizations derived from the idea of failed states generally do not provide meaningful insights or guidance for policymakers. Consequently, it is accompanied by policy proposals that disregard important circumstances and practical challenges. Such is the case in Yemen, which has been in a stalemated civil war between Houthi rebels and an internationally backed government for half a decade.27 In Yemen, military intervention has been masqueraded as efforts to assist in state reconstruction and peace.28 The manner in which the category is politicized evidences it as a non-objective indicator in terms of security and emphasizes its operationalization rather than utility. Given the particular delicacy of current international security, these are shortcomings the international community cannot afford.

"Because the idea of a failed state is ambiguous, it is remarkably easy to instrumentalize, and because it is generic, it leads to over-simplified responses that may worsen the situation at hand."

### The Failed State as an Instrument Rather Than a Tool

The instrumentalization of the concept has made the failed state narrative a potentially harmful tool that regional or global powers use to further their interests and justify their actions.<sup>29</sup> Politicians and policymakers argue failed states are security challenges because they could harbor perpetrators of transnational violence.<sup>30</sup> Thus, states labelled as failed or fragile can favor more aggressive policy response.<sup>31</sup> This can be seen in the aggressive policy responses to counter terrorism in Afghanistan, Liberia, and Somalia after they were labeled failed states, but the lack of a comparable response in Nigeria, which, although it also struggles to combat terrorism, has not been labeled a failed state.<sup>32</sup>

In her 2009 TED Talk, the "Danger of a Single Story," Chimamanda Adichie asserted that "the

#### **Reimagining Policy for the Next Decade**

single story creates stereotypes, and the problem with stereotypes is not that they are untrue, but that they are incomplete. They make one story become the only story."33 At its core, this underlying issue renders the failed state not only useless in practice but harmful in analysis of and response to intrastate conflict. The failed state has led to over-simplified responses to conflicts.<sup>34</sup> These responses are dictated by Western powers, which are primarily concerned not with the welfare of the people living in such states but with the transnational security threats that may emanate from non-governed spaces.35 Consequentially, the failed state concept may create a conceptual barrier to understanding the dominant transnational dynamics that actually drive conflict within these states,<sup>36</sup> hindering appropriate policy responses.<sup>37</sup> By creating a single vision of one of the most complex phenomena in politics and offering little more than a standard step-by-step guide in order and security, policymakers, analysts, and academics continue to prescribe overly simplistic policy solutions and enable the harm of intrastate conflicts to flourish.

# How to Rethink the Failed State Narrative

If policymakers and governmental actors seek to promote effective policy responses to intrastate conflict, they must avoid falling into the trappings of old foreign policy mistakes. The first step is to abandon the failed state narrative and instead embrace less pejorative approaches to conflict-afflicted states. A new model is emerging, allowing a transition from a fragility to resilience paradigm, focused on identifying multifaceted, interacting risks and strengthening diverse domestic capacities to address them locally.<sup>38</sup> Multilateral institutions including the African Development Bank, the World Bank, and the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development are making this transition, but there is a way to go before it enters the mainstream political lexicon.

The next step is to prioritize multinational policies that improve the internal standards of affected states through pragmatic and context-specific objectives. There are five key principles to achieve this: promoting local ownership, keeping politics at the core, supporting a few country-led priorities rather than donor priorities, confidence-building through the process, and local engagement from idea to implementation.<sup>39</sup> By advancing the living standards of communities affected by intrastate conflict, there can be a sustainable state building, not determined by the objectives of foreign powers but by those of the population.<sup>40</sup> To move toward these objectives, it is necessary to abandon the existing vision of the failed state.

Esther Brito Ruiz is a master graduate in women, peace, and security at the London School of Economics, specializing in genocide cases and women's rights. She was previously a global shaper within the World Economic Forum, where she co-founded the Empowering Diversity in Tech and Entrepreneurship (EDiTS) initiative, seeking to increase diversity in the entrepreneurial ecosystem. Esther has lived and studied in six countries across four continents and is passionate about generating positive social impact.

#### Endnotes

- David Carment, "Increased use of drones by Trump's regime signals a disturbing change in military policy," *The Peterborough Examiner*, 14 January 2020, https://www.thepeterboroughexaminer.com/opinion-story/9807028-increased-use-of-drones-bytrump-s-regime-signals-a-disturbing-change-in-military-policy/.
- 2 Taxi to the Dark Side, directed by Alex Cibney (Image Entertainment, 2007).
- 3 Mia Swart, "Trump, his tweets and international law," AI Jazeera, 8 January 2020, https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2020/01/ trump-tweets-international-law-200107064935688.html.
- 4 Michiko Kakutani, "How Abu Ghraib Became the Anything-Goes Prison," New York Times, 14 May 2008, https://www. nytimes.com/2008/05/14/books/14kaku.html.
- 5 Neil Renic, "Is Failed State a Useless Term?" *E-International Relations*, 7 December 2012, https://www.e-ir.info/2012/12/07/ is-failed-state-a-useless-term/.
- 6 Daniel Thürer, "An Internal Challenge: Partnerships in Fixing Failed States," *Harvard International Review* 29, no. 4 (2008): 42–5.
- 7 Morten Bøås, and Kathleen M. Jennings, "Failed States' and

'State Failure': Threats or Opportunities?" *Globalizations* 4, no. 4 (2007): 475–85.

- 8 Edward Newman, "Failed States and International Order: Constructing a Post-Westphalian World," *Contemporary Security Policy* 30, no. 3 (2009): 421–43.
- 9 Carlos Sánchez, "Un Concepto Bajo Reflectores: Estado Fallido (The Concept in Front of the Reflectors: Failed State)," 24 August 2016, available at SSRN: http://ssrn.com/abstract=2829208.
- 10 Newman, "Failed States and International Order."
- Nick Grono, "Fragile States and Conflict," Crisis Group, 27 March 2010, https://www.crisisgroup.org/global/ fragile-states-and-conflict.
- 12 Charles T. Call, "The Fallacy of the 'Failed State'," *Third World Quarterly* 29 no. 8 (2008): 1491–507.
- 13 Ilona Szuhai, "Rethinking the concept of failed state," Central European Papers 3 no. 2 (2015): 99–110.
- 14 Kimberly Marten, "Failing States and Conflict," International Studies (2010), available at: https://oxfordre.com/internationalstudies/view/10.1093/acrefore/9780190846626.001.0001/ acrefore-9780190846626-e-176.
- "Home," Fragile States Index | The Fund For Peace, 2018, https:// fragilestatesindex.org.
- 16 Bøås and Jennings, "'Failed States' and 'State Failure'."
- 17 Charles T. Call, "Beyond the 'failed state': Toward conceptual alternatives," *European Journal of International Relations* 17, no. 2 (2010): 303–26.
- 18 Szuhai, "Rethinking the concept of failed state."
- 19 Call, "The Fallacy of the 'Failed State'."
- 20 Shahar Hameiri, "Failed states or a failed paradigm? State capacity and the limits of institutionalism," *Journal of International Relations and Development* 10, no. 2 (2007): 122–49.
- 21 Marten, "Failing States and Conflict."
- 22 Call, "The Fallacy of the 'Failed State'."
- 23 Gülise Gökce, "Phenomenon of Failed State and Refugee/ Immigration Problem: Analysis on Syria Example," *Inquiry - Sarajevo Journal of Social Science*, no. 1 (2017): 9–18.
- 24 Call, "The Fallacy of the 'Failed State'."
- 25 Stewart Patrick, "Failed' States and Clobal Security: Empirical Questions and Policy Dilemmas," *International Studies Review* 9, no. 4 (2007): 644–62.
- 26 Hameiri, "Failed states or a failed paradigm?"
- 27 "Yemen crisis: Why is there a war?" BBC News, 10 February 2020, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-29319423.
- 28 "Chaotic Yemen: The Deconstruction of a Failed State and Regional Interferences," Al Jazeera Centre For Studies, 11 April 2018, https://studies.aljazeera.net/en/reports/2018/04/ chaotic-yemen-deconstruction-failed-state-regional-interferences-180411082414319.html.
- 29 V.I. Bartenev, "From 'Failed States' to 'States of Fragility': Logic of Conceptual Balancing," *Polis. Political Studies*, no. 2 (2017): 26-41.

- 30 Renic, "Is Failed State a Useless Term?"
- 31 Bøås and Jennings, "'Failed States' and 'State Failure'."
- 32 Bøås and Jennings, "'Failed States' and 'State Failure'."
- 33 Chimamanda Ngozi Adichie, "The danger of a single story," TED, available at: https://www.ted.com/talks/ chimamanda\_adichie\_the\_danger\_of\_a\_single\_story/ transcript?language=en.
- 34 Call, "The Fallacy of the 'Failed State'."
- 35 Call, "The Fallacy of the 'Failed State'."
- 36 Bøås and Jennings, "'Failed States' and 'State Failure'."
- 37 Renic, "Is Failed State a Useless Term?"
- 38 Jonathan Papoulidis, "Fixing fragility: Why it's time to rewrite the rulebook," The New Humanitarian, 10 April 2019, https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/opinion/2019/04/10/ fixing-fragility-why-it-s-time-rewrite-rulebook.
- 39 J Alexander Their, Transforming fragile states: Forging a new consensus (London: ODI, 2019) [PDF file].
- 40 George Ingram and Jonathan Papoulidis, "Fragile states and the search for 'what works'," *Brookings*, 8 November 2018, https:// www.brookings.edu/blog/future-development/2018/11/08/ fragile-states-and-the-search-for-what-works/.

# A Case against Legalization

### Nalini Tata

While marijuana should be decriminalized, legalization of recreational use marijuana should wait until we have more robust scientific research and a better medical evidentiary base.

It is important to acknowledge, at the outset, the historical evidence of how criminalization of marijuana has resulted in the heavily disproportionate incarceration of people of color. This concern, along with the inflexibility of federal sentencing guidelines, lends strong support for the decriminalization of marijuana. However, this article's position against legalization arises from uncertainty and even grave concern about the potential physiological effects of the drug.

One day on the psychiatric floor of a hospital is all it takes to dispel the popular notions that marijuana is neither addictive nor harmful. Associations of recreational marijuana use with psychoses and exacerbating certain mood disorders (mania, schizophrenia) are relatively well accepted by medical providers through experience but not yet researched or, in turn, proven at the neurobiological level. We should not legalize marijuana until we better understand what it really does to the brain.

Here's what we do know: Marijuana, a product of the cannabis plant, contains two key substances, or cannabinoids, THC (tetrahydrocanabinol) and CBD (cannabidiol). Evidence suggests that THC is the primary psychoactive component of cannabis, while CBD may be associated with the plant's analgesic, anti-epileptic, anti-inflammatory, and other potentially beneficial properties. CBD is sometimes referred to as the "protective component" of the drug.

The ratio of THC to CBD in marijuana has soared in recent years. Before the 1990s, THC concentration in recreational use marijuana was under or at 2 percent; during the 1990s, it climbed to 4 percent, and by 2017, skyrocketed to 17.1 percent, which represents a 325 percent increase in concentration of THC in recreational marijuana in about 20 years, by conservative estimates. The concentration of CBD has correspondingly dropped<sup>-1,2</sup>

Proponents of legalization, particularly for medical use, contend that marijuana has beneficial properties that warrant its legalization. However, these effects, which themselves require more research, seem to be associated with CBD rather than THC. Inconsistent standards across states around marijuana for medical use, and a threadbare regulation around concentration and indication, represent a complicated patchwork of policy challenges.

### THC and the Brain

The latest joint report from the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine cites substantial evidence that cannabis use is associated with development of schizophrenia and other psychoses.<sup>3</sup>

"One day on the psychiatric floor of a hospital is all it takes to dispel the popular notions that marijuana is neither addictive nor harmful." More and more studies have demonstrated that patients who use marijuana frequently or heavily have a higher risk of developing psychotic symptoms than nonusers. In those already predisposed to developing psychoses, evidence demonstrates an increased risk of early-onset psychotic symptoms in those who use marijuana.<sup>4</sup>

Even over a decade ago, there was a reasonable body of evidence demonstrating that regular cannabis use predicts an increased risk of schizophrenia, which at the time led to the conclusion that use of cannabis can precipitate schizophrenia in those vulnerable to developing the disease (such as those with familial predisposition).<sup>5</sup>

In response to the inevitable question of correlation—whether those patients with psychiatric mental illness are just more likely to use marijuana—evidence is emerging that marijuana may play a causal role in development of psychosis<sup>6</sup>; more research must be done to confirm these results. In any case, it is important to note that across these studies demonstrating the relationship between marijuana use and psychiatric symptoms, the risk of psychiatric effect seems to increase with higher THC concentration.

Even beyond psychosis, the interactions between cannabis and the brain remain largely unknown. Preliminary studies show that THC binds to cannabinoid receptors in the nervous system, resulting in changes in mood and appetite, and perhaps long-term changes in verbal learning and memory; imaging studies have also demonstrated changes in structure and function of the brain with regular cannabis use.<sup>7</sup>

# The Punchline? We Need Real Research

### Roadblocks

Since 1970, marijuana has been classified as a schedule I substance, a category the Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA) maintains for "drugs with no currently accepted medical use and a high potential for abuse." Marijuana shares this designation with drugs like heroin, LSD, and MDMA, among others. As one might imagine, "We should not legalize marijuana until we better understand what it really does to the brain."

this characterization has come under particular fire from proponents of medical marijuana use, who argue that the drug has demonstrated medical benefit for certain indications.

For the past 50 years, the only source of marijuana for federally funded research is one marijuana farm at the University of Mississippi, contracted through the National Institute on Drug Abuse. The limitations of this arrangement are many, including that the concentration of THC in the plants grown at this facility is not even close to representative of the concentration in recreational-use marijuana today. The scientific community seems unified in its expressed desire for more robust and thorough research. Francis Collins, director of the National Institutes of Health, has been particularly open in calling for fewer restrictions on research. In addition to his concerns about limitations in amount and quality of the plant available for research, he has also expressed the importance of studying the drug in its pure form, an effort that has been hampered by its DEA scheduling.8 According to Collins, "we know far too little about the benefits and risks of smoked marijuana" because "there have been very few studies that have actually rigorously tested that."

#### Facilitating Real Research on the Drug

One oft-discussed avenue for increasing research is reclassification of marijuana out of schedule I. In theory, this change could help lift logistical barriers and signal a shift in willingness to allow and support research. However, the DEA seems to be caught in a self-defeating cycle of justifying schedule I classification based on lack of scientific evidence of medical value, while hampering efforts to obtain this scientific evidence through schedule I classification.

Evidently, the DEA does not think reclassifying marijuana is the only way to facilitate research. In an

August 2019 press release,<sup>9</sup> the agency shared plans to register more growers (ending the half-century hold of the University of Mississippi program), revealed a 40 percent increase in approval for marijuana research project approvals between 2017 and 2019, and announced that certain forms of marijuana, including hemp and CDB products with no more than 0.3 percent THC concentration, are no longer controlled.

While these are promising advances, little progress has been seen in the subsequent months. In December 2019, Senator Elizabeth Warren was joined by seven other senators in formally demanding an update from the DEA on the progress of their efforts to register more growers.<sup>10</sup>

While the movement toward legalization marches forward, a turn toward medicine gives us reason to pause. Instead of signing the next bill to legalize, let us first make sure we do the research.

Nalini Tata is an MD/MPP student, in her final year of medical school, currently pursuing her policy degree. She holds BSc and MPhil degrees in neuroscience and plans to train as a surgeon.

### Endnotes

- Mahmoud A. elSohly et al., "Changes in Cannabis Potency Over the Last 2 Decades (1995–2014): Analysis of Current Data in the United States," *Biological Psychiatry* 79, no. 7 (2016): 613–9.
- 2 Suman Chandra et al., "New trends in cannabis potency in USA and Europe during the last decade (2008–2017)," *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience* 259 (2019): 5–15.
- 3 National Academies of Science, Engineering, and Medicine, The health effects of cannabis and cannabinoids: The current state of evidence and recommendations for research (Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2017).
- 4 K. Ally Memedovich et al., "The adverse health effects and harms related to marijuana use: an overview review," CMAJ Open 6, no. 3 (2018): E339–46.
- 5 Wayne Hall and Louisa Degenhardt, "Cannabis use and the risk of developing a psychotic disorder," *World Psychiatry* 7, no. 2 (2008): 68–71.
- 6 Marta Di Forti et al., "The contribution of cannabis use to

variation in the incidence of psychotic disorder across Europe (EU-GEI): a multicentre case-control study," *The Lancet Psychiatry* 6, no. 5 (2019): 427–36.

- 7 Murat Yücel et al., "Hippocampal harms, protection and recovery following regular cannabis use," *Translational Psychiatry* 6 (2016): e710.
- 8 Craig Caplan, "NIH Director Francis Collins on Marijuana Research and Funding," C-SPAN, 5 January 2020, https://www.c-span.org/video/?c4843054/ nih-director-francis-collins-marijuana-research-funding.
- 9 "DEA announces steps necessary to improve access to marijuana research," Drug Enforcement Administration, 26 August 2019, https://www.dea.gov/press-releases/2019/08/26/ dea-announces-steps-necessary-improve-access-marijuana-research.
- 10 "Senators Request Update from Federal Agencies on Progress Towards Issuing Long-Delayed Licensing of Marijuana Manufacturing for Research Purposes," Elizabeth Warren, 12 December 2019, https://www.warren.senate.gov/oversight/ letters/senators-request-update-from-federal-agencies-on-progress-towards-issuing-long-delayed-licensing-of-marijuana-manufacturing-for-research-purposes.



# **Creative Governance:** How Artists Can Build Pathways for Civic Participation

## Eva Heinstein

If you were to drop into the Boston Center for Youth and Families Grove Hall Senior Center in Dorchester on a Tuesday afternoon, you would find a hall full of women in their 70s–90s chanting, swaying, and striking Japanese Taiko drums in power poses. This group, self-titled Older and Bolder, is led by Karen Young, a Japanese Taiko drummer who served as a 2018 Boston artist-in-residence. The Boston Artists-in-Residence program (AIR), which will soon enter its fourth cycle, places artists in municipal departments or centers for 10 months to explore the way that art and media can bolster city initiatives.<sup>1</sup>

In the summer of 2018, Young and the Older and Bolder participants staged a musical rally to bring attention to road safety and mobility issues in the Grove Hall neighborhood. Partnering with Project Zero and Boston's Age Strong Commission, Older and Bolder was able to draw attention from many inside City Hall. Eventually the Older and Bolder members were able to meet with Department of Transportation staff, and ultimately, new safety remediation measures were instituted for the crosswalk outside Grove Hall.

Young's work with the elders at Grove Hall extends far beyond musical instruction—she has helped them use music to bring awareness to issues that impact their community. The participants of Older and Bolder have grown their civic capacity in critical ways, developing new skills, awareness, and knowledge while also expanding their network of relationships and sense of agency.

Artistic practice offers opportunities for civic engagement that political or social activity alone cannot: building community through co-creation, giving voice to diverse experiences and perspectives, cutting across spatial and cultural boundaries, and offering spaces for individual and communal healing. These outcomes are deep and durable and can outlast election cycles or timebound campaigns to build a stronger, more participatory civil society.

Artists in the AIR program realized many of the outcomes mentioned above, but relatively few were able to meet the program's original goal to change city policy. The evolution of AIR program goals and insights from Young's case offer a framework for understanding artistic practice as a pathway for deepening civic participation in our cities and communities.

# The Boston Artists-in-Residence Program

The Boston AIR program launched in 2015 with a grant from the National Foundation for the Arts' Our Town initiative.<sup>2</sup> The program is led by Karin Goodfellow, the director of the Boston Art Commission, and has evolved considerably over the course of its initial three-year pilot. Today, the program is funded through the budget of the Mayor's Office for "Artistic practice offers opportunities for civic engagement that political or social activity alone cannot."

Arts and Culture, which means that Boston taxpayers now directly support the initiative.

In its first year, three artists were selected to work in tandem with liaisons from 12 Boston city departments to generate ideas for integrating art and creative thinking into city government processes and policy development. In the second year, ten artists were selected and based in Boston community and youth centers (BCYFs) for their residencies to examine the impact of city policies on local communities. In the third year, seven artists developed residencies some in collaboration with BCYFs and others with government departments or initiatives—to examine city policy through a racial equity and resiliency lens.<sup>3</sup>

The 2020 cohort will include five artists, who will be paired with city departments that have applied to participate in the program, to co-create projects and solutions to advance city goals.<sup>4</sup> This evolution in the scope and structure of the program underscores an important reality: you can't simply place an artist in a city department or center and expect that new creative solutions will emerge. It takes thoughtful design, iteration, learning, and most importantly, the right partners and conditions to empower artists like Young and her city counterparts to achieve real impact.

# Supporting Creative Engagement in Government Settings: What Works

Over the course of academic year 2018–2019, I participated in a pilot Reading and Research program led by Jorrit de Jong, faculty director of the Bloomberg Harvard City Leadership Initiative, and Cecily Tyler (MC/MPA'16), founder of Docutribe, to explore how film could be used to enrich field research and better understand policy problems at a local level. Through this course, I interviewed program leaders and arts policy makers in Boston and at the national level, city staff, Boston AIRs, and community participants.

I explored the implicit and explicit assumptions that drove the design of the program, the necessary conditions for success, and how program leaders could articulate the goals and outcomes to more closely align with the range of activities that artists lead. First, program leaders believed that embedding artists in city departments would bring a "culture of critique" or creative problem-solving, in which artists and city partners would have conversations about where changes were needed and explore solutions to work around challenges.<sup>5</sup>

In parallel, they hoped that the collaboration would broaden city staff and residents' understanding of what an artist is and does. The AIRs believed that engaging in artistic processes could lift up community voices and empower traditionally marginalized citizens, which would in turn expand civic engagement and grassroots activism to shape city policy. In conversations with artists, city partners, and community members, there was broad agreement about the necessary conditions for success: artists need to have previous experience with community practice or organizing and feel welcomed by city partners, and city partners need a basic comfort level with exploratory processes and to commit time and resources to the collaboration.

Similarly, artists and city partners articulated a core set of barriers that can inhibit impact: lack of buy-in between agencies and artists; city staff who have a narrow view of what an artist does and aren't open to letting their agenda shift; and lack of clarity around Boston AIR goals, which inhibits alignment and shared purpose.

Older and Bolder: A Recipe for Success Returning to Young's case, we see that she had the right conditions and background to facilitate successful community action. Young is both an artist and community organizer who has worked with youth in Boston for decades. She brought this skillset to her residency and quickly formed trusting relationships with city partners and the elders at Grove Hall. She also used her organizing skills to facilitate participatory processes and build alliances with city partners beyond Grove Hall, working with the director of the program, Karin Goodfellow, to broker connections in City Hall core to the project's mission. Her partners at Grove Hall were open, collaborative, and invested in her success.

Young was certainly not the only artist who was able to inform policy or drive municipal response to local issues, but the majority of artists in the program struggled to do so. There were critical gaps between the design of the program and its intended goals. When artists were embedded in community centers, as opposed to city departments, they struggled to leverage their community-based work to form collaborative relationships with city decision makers to shape policy conversations.

However, the residencies did serve as effective vehicles to incubate socially informed community projects and grow artists' capacity to do civic work over time. While this approach may not lead to direct policy change in the short term, it empowers artists to build bridges between residents and city staff and creates contexts for participatory processes and collaborative problem-solving. Over time, this kind of work can contribute to a stronger, more participatory civil society in Boston, facilitated by artists who are engaged in socially informed creative work. In order to fully realize the value of artistic engagement in government, we need a framework for understanding it, articulating it to others, and measuring its impact.

# A Framework for Artistic Collaboration in Government Contexts

One of the key challenges in seeding artistic collaboration in government contexts is communication. How do you provide a clear value proposition for government agencies to engage with artists, and how do you build shared language and understanding

"Artists serve as agitators and facilitators, linking residents to their city government and spurring discovery, exchange, and action."

#### **Reimagining Policy for the Next Decade**

between artists and city staff to enable effective collaboration? Developing a clear framework for artistic engagement in government contexts cannot answer these questions fully, but it can offer a springboard for partners to think through the possible scope and intended outcomes of their work together.

Artists, city staff, and residents developed two primary resources through the Boston AIR program: information in the form of new skills, knowledge, or awareness; and organization, in the form of deeper social anchoring, new relationships, networks, or sense of agency.<sup>6</sup> At the end of Young's residency, she had a much firmer grasp of city governance and the range of initiatives that support the local elder community. She also learned how to join community organizing strategies with creative expression to build an impressive network of city collaborators, including her community center hosts, leaders of city agencies, and other nonprofit organizations focused on creative aging initiatives.

Ayana Green, an elder service worker at Grove Hall, reported that her engagement with Young enabled her to better understand the issues that impact the members of the Center and appreciate the elders' desire to have a voice in the civic realm. When interviewed, Ayana underscored the impact the program had on her growth, helping her to "dream bigger" and expand her network of collaborators to enrich the Grove Hall elder community.<sup>7</sup>

The residents who participated in the residency program developed new creative skills and outlets, but more importantly, they grew their agency to nominate problems, advocate for solutions, and exercise their voice through performances and other civic engagements. Donna Redd, a Boston resident and member of Grove Hall, said that the activities of the residency "made you feel like you own your space in the city and you're working to make it better. . . . And, performing and going out in front of people, it just brings you out, it makes you feel special, and like there is so much you can do that you didn't realize you had in you."<sup>8</sup>

As Donna so clearly articulates, information and network resources can be deployed to deepen residents' civic participation and build stronger ties between city decision makers and the communities they serve. In this frame, artists serve as agitators and facilitators, linking residents to their city government and spurring discovery, exchange, and action. Using this framework, the success of an artist residency



Kristina Carroll

program no longer has to be measured in terms of direct change to city policy or processes, but rather, it can be framed as a vehicle to promote participation of residents, expand artists' civic capacity, and enliven city initiatives through creative practice.

### Looking Forward

Artist residencies in municipal government settings are on the rise, with leading examples in San Francisco, Los Angeles, New York City, Austin, and Saint Paul, among many others. In early 2020, A Blade of Grass and American for the Arts' Animating Democracy initiative released a new website that houses guides, tools, and resources for forging strong and sustainable creative partnerships between local governments and artists. In order to grow the impact of "creative governance" work, we need analytical tools to understand how design, context, resources, and community needs affect outcomes. Articulating a clear theory of change-that artist residencies will grow the capacity for city staff, artists, and residents to engage in collaborative civic action-provides a roadmap for partners to understand and commit to what can be a nebulous and iterative process.

With an understanding of the necessary conditions to facilitate this kind of creative collaboration, roadblocks can be removed and partners can come to the engagement clearer about what it will take to achieve success. Artists bring many innate strengths that can spur innovation and new modes of working in government contexts, including thinking creatively, leading collaborative processes, and building communities, among others. Without the right pathways and resources for them to contribute these strengths, some of the value of artist residencies may be lost. The lessons learned from Young's work and Boston AIRs more broadly can provide a helpful toolkit for city leaders looking to initiate or strengthen creative governance work and, hopefully, entice many more city leaders to consider how arts and culture can bolster their impact.

Eva is a mid-career MPA candidate at the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. Her career has focused on cross-cultural dialogue and social change through the arts, with past roles at the New England Conservatory and New Center for Arts and Culture.

#### Endnotes

- "Boston Artists-in-Residence (AIR)," City of Boston, 28 September 2017, https://www.boston.gov/departments/ arts-and-culture/boston-artists-residence-air.
- 2 Jennifer Hughes (director of Design and Creative Placemaking, National Endowment for the Arts), interview with author, 18 March 2019.
- 3 Karin Goodfellow (director, Boston AIR), interview with author, 10 January 2019.
- 4 "Boston AIR Webinar: Applying for Year 4," YouTube video, posted by "Boston AIR," 9 January 2020, https://www.youtube. com/watch?v=oxo0JkETA8E.
- 5 Goodfellow, interview.
- 6 Based on Quinton Mayne's NATO (nodality, authority, treasure, organization) framework for deploying assets to exercise leadership.
- 7 Ayana Green (elderly service worker, BCYF Grove Hall), interview with author, 19 March 2019.
- 8 Donna Redd, interview with author, 19 March 2019.

## harvardkennedyschoolreview.com

## Support Student Journals at HKS

The *Kennedy School Review* depends on loyal readers and supporters like you.

If you appreciated this publication, please consider purchasing additional copies or previous volumes for friends and colleagues.

http://harvardkennedyschoolreview.com/buy-a-copy

## Subscribe to Our Weekly Newsletter

The *Kennedy School Review* continues the conversation year-round at http://ksr.hkspublications.org. Never miss a story by subscribing to our newsletter and following *KSR* on social media.

http://harvardkennedyschoolreview.com/email-subscription

## Join the Conversation Online

http://www.facebook.com/harvardksr http://www.twitter.com/harvardksr

## Submit Your Ideas for Publication

The *Kennedy School Review* welcomes pitches on policy topics from across geographies, ideologies, and lived experiences. To be considered for publication in our print or digital editions, please visit our website for timelines and additional guidance.

http://harvardkennedyschoolreview.com/submission-guidelines